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PREFACE

The poet Carl Sandburg wrote a long poem about Chillicothe. A few lines of it go:

“There was a man walked out
Of a house in Chillicothe, Ohio,

Or the house was in Chillicothe, Illinois,

Or again in Chillicothe, Missouri, 

............

He said, and to himself.

I have never seen myself live a day.’”
This is a book about such a man, his wife, and his children who live in Chillicothe, Missouri or in Livingston County. It is a microcosm of the way life is lived, written in the words of the people who have lived it, today or in the past one hundred and fifty years in Livingston County, state of Missouri, United States of America, planet earth.

We hope the book will reflect the progress, the joys and the sorrows of these citizens of Livingston County as they go about their everyday tasks of making a living, relating to their families, spending their leisure time in organizations and in worshiping in their churches. -- Ruth Seiberling

INTRODUCTION

This book is the result of many hours of work from many volunteers. The idea originated in the Retired Senior Volunteer Program with its director, Ruth Seiberling. She discussed it with the Grand River Historical Society and the RSVP Advisory Council, and both encouraged the undertaking. She began soliciting RSVP volunteers.

Having recently retired as librarian of the Livingston County Memorial Library, I volunteered at the right time and place to become involved. It has been a fun project sharing the work and enthusiasm with so many interested people.

If you have ever researched the history of the hinterlands of America, you will discover how limited is the material available. Livingston County is fortunate to have two histories which at least have some early history. They are: History of Caldwell and Livingston Counties, Missouri and Past and Present of Livingston County Missouri. The family histories in this new book as well as in the old histories were written by each family who were responsible for their accuracy. The early volumes were financed by a fee paid by those families who were included. In this history there is no charge for a minimum coverage. For additional space the family has paid extra.

The intent of this book has been to emphasize the social history of Livingston County from 1890 repeating previous history only in a limited form to give background and continuity. Ideal original sources were history minded old-timers, but these people are in short supply. The local history collection of the Livingston County Memorial Library was used extensively, and the cooperation of the staff was beyond the call of duty. The micro-filmed Chillicothe Constitution Tribune, available at the library, must be acknowledged as the greatest single source of social history of the area. Its untapped treasures are available to future historians.

It would be impossible to list all of the people who have assisted with this book. The typing has been done by Beverly Schultz and Lisa Crawford of the RSVP office. Sue Jones has lent her expertise as a historian to the project and served as assistant editor. The job of proofreading has been undertaken by Margaret Frith, Winnifred Evans, Virginia Page, Virginia Wall and her senior English class, Jean Miquelon, Mary Gwin, Ethel Whitney, Genevieve Flenniken, and Mr. and Mrs. Earle S. Teegarden, Senior, Mary Lemon, Dorothy Hoaglund, Lena Bowen, Mildred Bozdeck, George Seiberling, Margaret Oliver, Geneva Goucher and Mary Carroll. Thanks, indeed, should go to people who have researched and written the history: Janet Hartline, James Nashan, Marna Cole, Mildred Cole, Ermine Newbolt, Vivian Haas, Bill Coleman, Margaret Oliver, Grace Saale, Dolly Shipley, Mildred Bozdeck, Linda Thomas, Oakland Douglas, Ola Young, Grace Stone, Patricia North, Dr. James Eden, Earle S. Teegarden, Senior, Leo Hopper, Cleo Johnson, Lucian Walkup, Roy Hicklin, Eva Troeger, Elsie Pray, Marian Lewis, Judith Shoot, Eileen Scholls and Leo Saale.

We wish to express our appreciation to the Constitution Tribune, the Grand River Historical Society and the Livingston County Memorial Library for lending us photographs for the book.

A special acknowledgement is made for the clever and appropos drawings of Mildred Allen. Finally, this book would never have been possible without the unique talents and seemingly easy going nature of Ruth Seiberling as she has hovered over the project. -- Lillian DesMarias
EARLY HISTORY OF LIVINGSTON COUNTY
On January 6, 1837, Livingston County came into existence when Governor Daniel Dunklin signed a piece of legislation enacted by the Missouri Assembly. The county was named for the Hon. Edward Livingston, the eleventh Secretary of State of the United States under President Andrew Jackson.

The land that came to be called Livingston County dates back much further than 1837. Before settlers came to the area the land was populated by its natural. inhabitants - coyotes, beavers, squirrels, panthers, deer and rabbits. The Grand River flowed from the northwest to southeast, shagbark hickory, cottonwood, and white oak growing on its banks. Beneath the prairie grass covered hills a sub-soil of clay and thin veins of coal lay hidden.

An old Indian trail crossed what is now known as Medicine Creek and went north to the mouth of Honey Creek. The Chippewas, Sacs, Fox and Pottawatomies used the trail. They camped for brief times near the watercourses; when the game became scarce they moved on.

The Missouri Indians settled Livingston County in the early 1800’s. An example of their burial mounds can be found near the bank of the Grand River just upstream from Bedford. They were the first known occupants of Livingston County. The Indians settled a number of towns and villages in this county. One city was located a mile west of the present site of Chillicothe; another was located on Medicine Creek; another on the bluffs on the east fork of Grand River. One village was located three miles southeast of the present town of Springhill, another west of Farmersville. According to a treaty drawn up in 1833 the Indian title to the land in the Grand River Valley was nullified, and the Indians were to move north and west. The Shawnees were the last tribe to leave. They left behind the name of their town - Chillicothe.

French trappers are known to have explored and written of the Grand River as early as 1724. About six miles below the mouth of the river the French had held a fort; their trappers covered many miles trading with the Indians for beaver and otter.

In the late 1820’s settlers from Carroll and Ray counties came north in search of honey said to be found here. The “bee hunters”, as they were called, set up camp in the timber bottoms between the two forks of Grand River. In a few days, they returned to their homes with a wagon filled with barrels of honey.

In the spring in 1831, Samuel E. Todd chose a spot west of Utica as his home; other settlers soon followed. Numerous families reported seeing the giant meteor shower on the night of November 12, 1833.

Joseph Cox built the first log cabin in the Chillicothe area in the summer of 1832. Indians coming through Ray County had stolen one of his horses, and he traced them to Livingston County. He got his horse back, and was so impressed by the rolling countryside that he moved here. It was at the Joseph Cox house on April 6, 1837, that the first term, of the county court was held and the county divided into four townships - Shoal Creek, Indian Creek, Medicine Creek, and Grand River. The first term of the Circuit Court for Livingston County was also held later that summer at the Joseph Cox home. The judge, jury, lawyers, witnesses and defendants all boarded at the house free of charge. Corn pone, butter, and venison were served on log tables set up under the trees.

In August, 1837, the Livingston County Court took the first steps in laying out the town of Chillicothe. John Graves was appointed trustee to lay off lots by September 4th. He resigned and Nathan Gregory finished the surveying and platting in time for lots to be sold in October. The name Chillicothe comes from the Shawnee Indians and means “the big town where we live” or “our big home.” It was not until July, 1839, that Chillicothe was designated as a county seat.

Livingston County’s first courthouse was built in 1838, but because of an oversight in the plans it had no windows. A second courthouse was built in November, 1841, on the southwest corner of Webster and Cherry Streets. It was a two story brick structure with all rooms warmed by fireplaces. The original courthouse without windows was used as a school.

By this time Livingston County was becoming a much-traveled area as wagon trains and pioneers went west. One route led through the northern half of the county crossing East Fork of Grand River at Cox’s Ferry, then up through Navetown and on to the northwest. Another route came across the southern part of the county and crossed Shoal Creek at Josiah Whitney’s Mill in what is now Dawn. The southern route was the route the Mormons chose to take. The Mormons and their practice of polygamy angered settlers in Livingston County. A group of settlers from the forks of the river petitioned the Governor to expel the Mormons from the county. Josiah Whitney took matters in his own hands halting all wagons, at his mill and demanding that the Mormon men give him their guns and ammunition or turn back to Illinois.

Since they could not survive without guns to hunt for food they protested, but Whitney insisted that he was the law and determined to keep bigamists out of Missouri.

Whitney succeeded in turning some of the Mormons back, and others went on without their arms to Caldwell County. Sentiment against the Mormons ran high in Livingston County and a militia of two hundred men was organized. They encountered the Mormons at Haun’s Mill in Caldwell County. The Mormons offered no resistance and were told to move west. Before they could move, a second group attacked them and seventeen Mormons were killed. The militia looted the houses and stables and brought the bounty back to Livingston County.

In the spring of 1846 the first move was made to establish the Hannibal & St. Joseph Railroad. As A. J. Roof noted in his History of Livingston County, “The newspapers of the towns through which it was thought the road would be built favored it; those located off the line were opposed to it, and the people divided with the newspapers.” When it was finished in 1859 passenger trains left Hannibal at 10:30 a.m. and reached St. Joseph, 206 miles away, at 9:30 p.m. Hannibal, Hudson (Macon), Brookfield, Chillicothe, and St. Joseph were the principal stations.

In 1858, Chillicothe had 1000 residents, two dry goods stores, a livery stable, a drug store, a hotel, an eating house, and a newspaper, “The Grand River Chronicle.” The town boasted of one physician, four lawyers and regular stagecoach service. The sixty mile trip to Bethany was one of the most popular. There were no paved streets or sidewalks and few fences in town. The pigs and chickens ran all over. The local Thespian Society, for men and boys only, put on a play called “Tootles” and charged twenty-five cents admission.

Through the beginning of the Civil War, Livingston County was uniformly Democratic in politics. In 1860 the Democratic vote was split by different candidates; but of the 1469 votes cast only twenty went to Abraham Lincoln.

In the winter of 1860 and 1861 the men began a series of Friday night meetings to discuss such questions: “Resolved: That the inaugural of President Lincoln means war.” The meetings were brought to an abrupt end in April when Fort Sumter was fired upon. Soon afterward, the first Federal cannon was moved to the square in Chillicothe.

Sentiment in Livingston County at the beginning of the war was strongly Secessionist. In 1862 all persons liable to military duty were asked to enroll themselves as loyal or disloyal. Several hundred in Livingston County registered as disloyal.

An example of the feelings of the county residents concerns a certain Reverend J. E. Gardner. In the election of 1860 only twenty people in the county stood up and by voice vote voted for Lincoln, fifteen in Monroe township and five in Blue Mound. Utica had voted for Bell, Breckenridge and Douglas. Rev. Gardner had been one to vote for Lincoln but then he went to Utica as a Northern Methodist minister, and on a camp meeting, the Reverend Gardner was “found in the wrong tent” at the revival. There was a meeting of citizens in Utica about December 20, 1860, and at that time thirty-seven residents gave the minister three days to leave their county. This time was extended and they finally forced him and his family out of town by January 4, 1861. He was rescued by a Mr. P. Rudolph from Monroe township.

By 1863, when Lincoln issued the Emancipation Proclamation, sentiment was divided. At a public meeting discussing the Proclamation two supporters were arrested. One was Mr. Harbaugh, editor of the Constitution Newspaper; the other was Reverend T. B. Bratton, Presiding Elder of the Methodist Episcopal churches in this area. The officers of the Harper Union Ladies Encampment of Utica decided to rally to the cause of Reverend Bratton and Mr. Harbaugh.

The Harper Union Ladies Encampment had over 250 members and included most of the women from Utica and the surrounding areas. Carrying a Union flag and wearing red, white, and blue sashes, they marched on Chillicothe to call on Judge McFerron. When the judge appeared the ladies introduced themselves and said they had come to demand the release of Reverend Bratton and Mr. Harbaugh. The judge asked them by what right, and the ladies replied, “By our rights as loyal Americans.”

The judge reminded them that they did not have the vote and challenged their right to tell him what to do, but the women replied that free speech is guaranteed to men by the Constitution and the Reverend Bratton and Mr. Harbaugh were only venting their right to free speech and should not be imprisoned. Further discussion ensued and the women were told to roll up their flag, take off their red, white and blue sashes, and go home where they belonged. The judge eventually gave in, the two men were freed, and the meeting ended with the women singing “Rally Around the Flag Boys.”

In the three years from Lincoln’s election in 1860 until 1863 the sentiment in Livingston County had changed. In 1860 only a few had wanted to do away with slavery, but by 1863 only a handful stood against the Union and emancipation.

City pride began to be aroused in Chillicothe in the 1870’s and 80’s. The city park was rid of black locust sprouts and an attempt was made to keep the cows and pigs away after the City Council passed an ordinance that said livestock must be fenced in. Dr. Green helped to get an Opera House started. Tickets for Opening Night cost $10.00 and a ball was held afterwards at the new Leeper Hotel.

Disasters hit the county, too. In 1873 a bank robbery was made on People’s Bank, and an attempt was made to kidnap the bank president. The Wheeling Railroad burned in 1881. A tornado killed four persons, wrecked thirty-seven houses and did $65,000 worth of damage in 1881 in the Blue Mound area. An earlier tornado in 1880 had wiped out most of the town of Bedford. In 1886 the tower of Central School was struck by lightning.

Electric lights came to Chillicothe in 1885. They ran until midnight six days a week, no electricity on Sunday. The street railway was begun with four cars and ten little mules to haul people from one depot to another or up to the square. The first telephone system in Chillicothe began with sixteen phones in 1886. The Chillicothe, Milwaukee and St. Paul railroad built a new line through Chillicothe. The innovations in the coming years would bring swifter changes than could be imagined. -- Janet Hartline

Sources used in this summary were the History of Caldwell and Livingston Counties, Missouri, 1886; Past and Present of Livingston County, Missouri by A. J. Roof, 1913; A History of Livingston County, Missouri published by the Centennial Committee, 1937, and Progress of Chillicothe and Livingston County since 1832 compiled by W. L. Cox, 1911.

LIVINGSTON COUNTY

1890 - 1900
Livingston County closed out the nineteenth century with much of the energy, optimism and gayety of the period. In April 1891 the New York Store flourishing with success celebrated its 25th anniversary. It was recorded in the Chillicothe Constitution as “an evening of aesthetic abandon.” (1) The following Oct. a Matilda Fletcher was giving her noted lecture in city hall, “is man an angel?” (2)

If you wished to rent a hack or carriage for a wedding or pleasure party Wilson Bros. Buggies and Carriages had stables on north Locust (Chillicothe). They were advertised as “neat and clean with teams stylish and safe.” (3)

The Chillicothe Commercial Club (4) in 1891 publicized the city: population - 8,000 - three trunk lines: C.B.&Q., Wabash, and Chicago, Milw. and St. Paul, three daily and weekly newspapers, good hotels, opera house of 800 capacity, improvements for 1890 - $300,000.00 fair grounds (65 acres) with one of the best race tracks in the state, and home of 62 traveling men. The location is so handy of egress and ingress that it is made a Sundaying point.

A new business in May 1891 was a soap factory, Velker, Johns and Son (5) located one mile northwest of Chillicothe on Springhill Road. Farmers were asked to bring in their rendered or unrendered tallow and all grease and save their wives the trouble of making soap. They could get cash or trade for soap.

The city fathers were letting a brick paving contract (6) in Apr. 1891 for the east and north sides of the square. H. G. Getchell & Co. of St. Jo. received the bid @ $1.82 per sq. yd., 10 cents for grading and 15 cents for curbing, a total of $5,168.00 for entire work. Property owners paid $1,200.00 and the city $3,876.00. The $7.00 difference was unaccounted for.

Paid advertising of medical cures for any and all ailments filled the newspapers. Lavishly proclaimed were the merits of Smith’s Bile beans, Dr. Dye’s Voltaic Belt for nervous debilitated men, Prickly Ash Bitters (7) (for liver and kidneys), St. Jacobs Oil - great German remedy for pain, and Orange Blossom (8)  - a positive cure for all female diseases.

The Chillicothe Normal School (9) was founded by Allen Moore I in 1890. Courses included pedagogy, science, music, business. The school grew to a 3 building campus. Educational changes brought the end of the private normal school. The Chillicothe Business College which emerged in 1910 achieved an enviable record drawing students from all over the country. Again changing educational patterns brought a decreased demand for business colleges. After 23 years service to Livingston County this school too closed.

The importance of the business college during this period is indicated by the founding and growth of another school, The Maupin Commercial College, (10)  by Dolph Maupin in 1898. It was located on the 3rd floor of the New York Store Bldg, at the corner of Clay and Locust. Walter Jackson joined Maupin in operating the school. In 1909 Jackson purchased the school, changed the name to Jackson Univ. of Business,” (11) and moved the operation to the 3rd floor of the present Penney Bldg. on the southeast corner of Locust and Webster. By 1944 this school too shared the fate of other private business colleges and closed its doors.

Ice was still delivered by wagon from the year’s winter harvest (12) taken out of the Grand River in the cold months. In Feb. 1899 thousands of pounds of cat and buffalo fish (13) were being caught from the Grand River at Graham’s Mill. A hole was cut in the ice and the fish surfaced for air.

An employee disgruntled at being fired from Jake Frank’s Bakery (14) opened faucets on molasses barrels and provided an ankle deep syrupy floor for his employer.

In 1893 free mail delivery began in Chillicothe (15) and in 1899 rural (16) free delivery arrived. The rural carrier could take passengers in his buggy, collect subscription money for papers - in fact generally make himself useful for $400.00 a year and whatever patrons gave him for doing their errands.

The hot summers attracted customers to the Mooresville Springs (17) where the pure water and invigorating air restored the bloom of youth. The Fiske Hotel did a brisk business. In fact Col. W. B. Leach was dickering to buy the Springs, but Mr. Moore who owned adjoining land said no deal. In the fall of 1899 a worthy entertainment was a barn raising (18) at the Nutwood Farm when 50 friends gathered for the all-day project including plenty of feasting.

Forty boys returned from the Spanish American War (19) in Feb. 1899 and were given a public banquet and reception. The ladies of the M. E. Church South served the tempting meal to 100 at 50 cents a plate. 

As the nineteenth century closed, signs of change were in the forecast. The Chillicothe city council (20) in Aug. announced the days of wooden sidewalks were almost over promising an ordinance to that effect. In July the governor (21) had promised more mail carriers but only if new walks were built and houses and streets numbered. Brick sidewalks were the coming thing. 

Livingston County had grown from 20,668 in the 1890 census to 22,302 in the 1900 census. The Livingston County Court in its annual report for the closing year accounted for the building of more than 40 good bridges (22) at the cost of $15,000.00. The Court was preparing for the increase in trade and prosperity in the 20th century ahead. -- Lillian DesMarias

1. Chillicothe (Missouri) Constitution Tribune, April 8, 1891

2. Ibid., October 17, 1891

3. Ibid., October 17, 1891

4. Ibid., October 10, 1891

5. Ibid., May 19, 1891

6. Ibid., April 12, 1891

7. Ibid., Feb. 15, 1891

8. Ibid., September 7, 1891

9. A History of Livingston County, Missouri, published by the Livingston County Centennial Committee. 1937. 130-131.

10. Chillicothe, Missouri: the City With edited by J. A. Perry. 1909

11. A History of Livingston County, Missouri, published by The Livingston County Centennial Committee. 1937. 129.

12. Chillicothe (Missouri) Constitution Tribune, December 12, 1898

13. Ibid., February 20, 1899.

14. Ibid., March 16, 1899.

15. A History of Livingston County, Missouri, published by the Livingston County Centennial Committee. 1937. 80.

16. Chillicothe (Missouri) Constitution Tribune, April 3, 1899.

17. Ibid., July 17, 1899.

18. Ibid., November 30, 1899.

19. Ibid., February 20, 1899.

20. Ibid., August 21, 1899

21. Ibid.. July 3, 1899.

22. Ibid., November 27, 1899

CHILLICOTHE BUSINESS

IN LATE 1800’s and EARLY 1900’s
In 1886 L. J. and Louis Jarrett obtained a 25 year franchise from the city of Chillicothe permitting them to erect a telephone plant. This was started with 16 phones. Five years later it was sold to Col. W. B. Leach and Dr. A. W. McArthur. At this time all patents were owned by the Bell Telephone Co. and a few years later Col. Leach was one of the first telephone men to break away and purchase independent apparatus, installing a new board of the American Electric Co. The growth of the plant continued steadily and in 1903 the switchboard was again renewed, Leach and McArthur purchasing a Stromberg-Carlson Visual Signal Board. In December 1904, Dr. McArthur’s interest was sold to W. H. Ellett and C. L. Waite. The People’s Telephone Company, was organized and property incorporated for $40,000.00. In 1908, the capital stock was increased to $50,000.00 and bonds issued to the amount of $35,000.00 and C. L. Waite was selected for manager. An office building was erected at 610 Webster St. (now Chillicothe Beauty Academy).

The Leeper Hotel, now the Lambert Hotel, was built by Andrew Leeper and S. McWilliams in 1884 and was Chillicothe’s largest hotel for many years.

The Luella Hotel and Luella Opera House were big entertainment, named for Mrs. Luella Myers, wife of Zibe B. Myers. The Luella Hotel stood where Strand Hotel does now, Opera House where Coffee Shop is. The Opera House was very elaborate, it had nice plush seats, beautiful stage scenery, and a balcony. A stock company would come to town and might stay a week putting on several shows. The Luella Opera House was also used for high school graduations. In 1901, there were seven graduates; they all made speeches. The parquette was at the street side of the opera house where they sold tickets; the front had beautiful colored glass. A Will Rogers movie was being shown at the Opera House in 1933 when it caught fire. Smoke started coming up through the floor, and the fire department asked everyone to leave. After that the theater moved into the Ritz Theater in the Masonic Building.

The Henrietta Hotel occupied space in the 600 block of Locust Street; 0. P. Clark purchased the hotel building in the early 1900’s from the Henry family and for many years operated the Clark’s Pharmacy, better known as the Rexall Drug Store at the southeast corner of the square. The building was destroyed by fire in the 1920’s. It was replaced by Mr. Clark.

From 1871 to 1887, the New York Store occupied the three story building on the west side of the square, which in turn became too congested for the increased trade and in later years moved into the spacious new home known throughout the north of Missouri as the “Big Store” located at 501 Locust. Fifty people were 10 regularly employed throughout the store of 60 odd departments. Overhead cash carriers were installed. The firm’s buyers made from three to five trips to New York every year to keep the stocks replenished. The basement was given over to a stock of notions, tinware, graniteware, glassware and china. The carpet department contained a wonderful assortment of carpets, rugs, linoleum, mattings, etc. The main floor was lined with shelves that contained a complete assortment of high grade materials from the foremost mills of the world. The south side of the main floor held shoes, underwear and hosiery stocks. The “Daylight Annex” across the alley in the rear was the ladies ready-to-wear department. The founder of the establishment was A. McVey and his associates were J. H. Barclay, vice-president and treasurer and M. W. Little, secretary. Howard’s and Junior Life Styles are now located in the first floor of the building.

The gentler sex wore hats in the early 1900’s more than now and there were many millinery shops. One of the early ones was the Ault Millinery Company on the east side of the square. The business was established by Mr. and Mrs. Ault in 1905. The celebrated Gage line of pattern hats Was carried as well as the products of their own workshop. Katie and Mary Maguire also had a millinery shop in the 500 block of Locust and designed most of their own hats. Another designer of hats was Alpha Stephens, who also had a millinery shop.

It was upon the basis of “Quality” that the Crow Cigar Co. was organized for the manufacture of cigars in Chillicothe in 1879. Employed from 19 to 25 hands the year around. The leading brands were “Chillicothe” a ten-cent cigar and “Our Crow”, “Arbitrator” and “Commercial Club”, 5 cent cigars. The factory was located at 419 Monroe St.

In the early 1900’s, three brothers and two sisters from Illinois opened their business, “The Farrington’s”, just off the square on Webster Street. Nearly every evening the merry throngs of grown ups and children congregated at the popular ice cream parlor and refreshed themselves with the firm’s own make of ice cream, candy and the delights of the soda fountain.

The only commercial greenhouse in North Missouri was located on West Calhoun St. This institution was started in 1904 by R. L. Isherwood. It supplied the demand for cut flowers in Chillicothe for many miles around.

Sipple Clothing Co. established in 1886, grew from a small store to one of the largest in North Missouri. The store carried Hart, Schaffner & Marx, Stetson hats and shoes, Manhattan shirts, Munsing underwear, and boys clothing. It was located on the north side of the square.

Chillicothe Steam Laundry owned and operated in the early 1900’s by John Slifer, employed 14 persons. An advertisement in a local paper reads: “The only country laundry in the world using a Troy No. 5 collar and cuff ironer. The only small town laundry in the world having its own water and gas plant. Our equipment is extensive and expensive and was bought for you.”

The Tootle-Campbell Shirt and Overall Co. of St. Joseph, owned a branch factory here, around 1915 - location where the Boss MFG Co. is.

Frank Way’s Foundry and Machine Shop, one of the oldest as well as one of the largest general machine shops, had its beginning in 1877. The plant occupied almost an entire block of frontage on Elm and Calhoun St.

In 1858 a branch of the State Bank of Missouri was established, with John L. Leeper as president. In 1886 it was succeeded by the People’s Savings Bank.

The First National Bank was originally organized in January, 1887 with a capital of $50,000, located at the northeast corner of the square. Serving as presidents during the years were J. M. Davis, T. C. Beasely, and J. T. Milbank.

The Citizens National Bank was organized in the spring of 1889 and officers were Thos. McNally, president; L. A. Chapman, vice-president and Dr. W. Edgerton, cashier. The bank was located on the southwest corner of square.

Other banks were: Chillicothe Trust Co, Farmers and Merchants Bank, they were also referred to as the Mansur bank and the Boehner bank.

Doctors in early 1900’s were Dr. W. R. Simpson, Dr. R. Barney, Dr. J. C. Shelton, Dr. H. M. Grace, Dr. W. M. Girdner, Dr. L. E. Tracy, Dr. B. N. Stevens, Dr. David Gordon, Dr. J. W. Trimble and Dr. Arthur J. Simpson.

MacDonald Jewelry on the east side of square, operated by A. B. MacDonald featured attractive displays of rich cut glass, silverware, and diamonds. It also had an optical department. The Wm. E. Crellins Jewelry Store was also on the east side of square.

The Jenkins Hay Rake and Stacker Co.’s factory came to town in 1907. M. R. Jenkins was one of the pioneers in the invention of sweep hay rakes and stackers having received his first patent on them in 1880. The product of the factory was handled by the Moline Plow Co. and that great firm’s many branches. The factory was located where the Milbank Mill now has its plant.

The firm of Brownfield and Hubbard manufacturers and wholesaler of confectionery and ice cream was on North Washington Street in the late 1880’s. They later purchased three buildings on West Jackson, which they remodeled into factory, storeroom, and offices. In later years the business went under the name of Brownfield-Bird and was located at 508-510 Webster Street.

Chillicothe in the early 1900’s boasted having one of the finest and most modern veterinary hospitals in the state and was appreciated by owners of valuable draft horses as well as roadster and carriage horses. Drs. James J. Bennet and D. F. Williams founded the institution in 1907 and the hospital was located on the 500 block of Elm St.

In 1876, S. A. Stone began the sale of pianos in Chillicothe in the 500 block of Washington Street. They did one of the largest music businesses in the state. The first floor of the building was given over to piano, sheet music, small instrument and graphophones departments as well as the office. The upper floor was fitted into rooms for the demonstrations of the pianos and organs. The building was equipped with elevators and boxing and shipping departments, and the company made a specialty of sales in carload lots in smaller towns. They sold a lot of sheet music and did a good business in piano tuning.

The merchandising firm of “Botts and Minteer”, whose place of business was known as the “Farmer’s Store” was organized in 1883 with three partners under the firm name of Gunby, Stevens and Botts. The store was located on the north side of the square and the firm went through seven changes of partners in the seven years up to 1900 when it finally became the partnership of Botts and Minteer. In 1887, the firm moved into the three story building on west side of the square where it continued to operate for many years. The three floors were each 40 x 112 feet and a passenger elevator gave customers rapid and comfortable transit to several departments. On first the general dry goods stock and immense shoe department; second floor clothing and ladies’ ready-to-wear, each complete with the latest creations for correct out-fitting for men and women; third floor carpet department with latest designs in carpets, rugs, matting, curtains and linoleum. The Farmer’s Store had the only elevator in town and the children loved to ride in, it.  -- Mrs. Ed (Grace) Saale

1900 - 1930

Livingston County reached the zenith of its population growth with a population of 22,303 as reported in the census of 1900. The region was prospering and small towns were doing well. Chula, Sampsel, and Ludlow were still considered new towns and the old towns of Springhill and Bedford had not declined appreciably. Chillicothe had three railroads to provide excellent transportation for the time. In 1909 there were 24 passenger trains and 30 freights through Chillicothe each day. Education had improved and higher education was available locally at the Normal or at Maupin’s Commercial College.

Because agriculture was the basis of the livelihood of most of the local citizenry, the weather was most important. Hot, dry seasons such as were experienced in 1901 and 1918 and the great flood of 1909 affected everyone.

The end of one tradition came with the flood of 1909. The ballast pit that had burned for years to provide ballast for the railroad beds was put out by that flood and never rekindled. Ballast is made from the burning of the dark gumbo-like soil of the river bottom land. Trenches were dug where it was to be burned, and coal was filled in the trenches and set afire. As it burned, the gumbo started to burn. It turned red and hard and served about the same purpose that gravel does today. The old ballast pits are still in the bottom not far from Shoal Creek. Gravel was substituted for the ballast, and today the gravel pits are even more widely known. When the new auto craze came along, the gravel also became important for the highways.

Transportation by auto started in the county in 1902. The first auto purchased in the county was by Dr. A. J. Simpson. It was an Oldsmobile. Other autos of note were Dr. Barney’s 1909 four cylinder Auburn touring car and A. B. McDonald’s 1909 twenty-horsepower Ford touring car. Col. A. W. Cies was also an early auto owner.

Although automobiles were introduced, it was necessary to reorganize the Anti-Horse Thief Association to protect the most useful type of personal transportation. The association first organized in the county in the 1880’s but was reorganized January 26, 1910.

Protection of another kind was improved when the local hospital, St. Mary’s, was enlarged in 1903. Another social institution changed at about the same time when the county poor farm was phased out and an infirmary was built one mile south and west of the Chillicothe City limits.

While the hospital and infirmary were for the unfortunate, jobs were available for the young people in search of work. There were often advertisements for workers. An example was the shirt and overall factory that advertised for 100 girls to go to work immediately in 1909. There was also a need for railway mail clerks. The requirements included a common school diploma and an exam with prospects of $800 to $1400 per year. There was a dearth of farm labor, and editorials often belabored the need for good farm hands.

Schools were expected to prepare children for future work. Between 1901-05 the state apportioned funds gave about $1.10 per student while the school levy in Chillicothe was $1.00 per $100 valuation. Outside the city there were 99 school districts with 101 schools. The towns of Utica and Mooresville had two schools, one each for white and black children. There were 113 teachers in these small schools with twenty percent being men. A major issue at the county teachers meeting was “What is the cause of poor reading?” The local newspapers reported school census in 1909 at 5,047 and noted that there had been quite a drop since 1898 when the county had been 7,128.

Those same children often enjoyed the circus which used the extensive rail facilities to come and go. Watching the circus unload was almost as much fun as going to the show. Various circuses from Barnum and Bailey to the Cole Brothers Circus visited the region. Three local black musicians played with the Cole Brothers Circus. They were James Wolfskill and his sons Troy and Roy; they made an appearance locally in September, 1909.

Other types of amusements available to local residents included a visit from Sousa’s Band, Buffalo Bill’s Wild West Show and the annual Chautauqua. This annual meeting was held for a period of at least 8 years at the west end park on Calhoun Street. One of the most notable speakers, William Jennings Bryan, spoke on “The Signs of the Times” during the week of July 19, 1910. The Chautauqua held in August of 1918 featured war work.

The Oriental Billiard Parlor and Bowling Alley had entertainment for both gentlemen and ladies since they reserved Monday and Thursday evenings for women. Electric fan ventilation was advertised and enjoyed in the summer at the establishment. One type of recreation was not allowed due to a county election in 1908. At that time, by a vast majority of votes, Livingston County became dry and saloons were all closed.

At this time new improvements were occurring in Chillicothe. The National Government appropriated funds to build a federal building at Clay and Locust in 1909. The light and power plant for the city was completed on November 13, 1911.

Patrons of the improvements were kept aware of the progress of these and other future plans by the press. Chillicothe had a number of newspapers including the Chillicothe Daily Democrat, the Missouri World, Chillicothe Weekly, Constitution, and Evening Tribune. There were small town papers in the other parts of the county, such as Utica, Dawn, Chula and Ludlow. In most cases these were weekly newspapers.

Not only was there sufficient coverage of the news but the county had some well known authors who have received regional and national recognition. William B. Hamby listed many of these in the material he wrote of Livingston County in History of North-West Missouri, a two-volume edition. Homer Croy, born in Maryville but a resident of Chillicothe, leads the list. Others include Catha Wells, Laura Schmitz, Elizabeth Palmer Milbank, Frances H. Brenneman, Mable Hillyer Eastman, Dr. Wm. K. Crellin, Ed Smith and Olive Rambo Cook.

As the county moved toward the “Roaring Twenties” the end of the decade brought some very serious problems to the area. World War I sent many of the young men to camp to train for war. Camp Funston in Kansas was their site for training and soon they were headed on to France. Meanwhile, those at home faced war work, shortages, extra farm production quotas, bond drives and Red Cross work. An avid interest in geography of France was created.

Just before the war was over, a new type of influenza hit the population of the United States and it created serious problems for the families of the county. Whole families were ill at the same time and often the weak and ill did not recover from the bout with the “flu.” Other illnesses caused difficulties. Schools often closed due to epidemic-like rounds of diphtheria, scarlet fever, whooping cough and some small-pox scares.

Livingston County often had commercial visitors. The very fine transportation made it easy for drummers (salesmen) to sell their wares from town to town by stopping for a while in each town or city along the rail line. At times they would hire a local resident to take them and their wares to a town not served by the rails.

Peddlers who carried their goods in a buggy, on their backs, or in an auto made their way around locally during the summer. Some sold spices and flavorings such as Raleigh and Watkins Products. Brooms and patent medicines were sold this way. Linens were often sold from back packs. Often goods were bartered. It was not unusual for goods to be traded for a few hens, a dozen eggs, or a meal and bed.

Two types of visitors were here only for short stays. The railroad hobo and the gypsies traveled through Livingston County with a stop for a meal, a bit of horse trading, or perhaps a camp site. Livingston County was not their goal, but the county seldom allowed a visitor to go away hungry.

A family record book serving from 1895 to 1914 provided the following: Goods bought for the family in 1909.

Shoes $2.00

Shirt $ .50

Hose $.20

Cap $.50

Waist$.30

Tie $.25

Overshoes $1.35

Suit $5.00

Fan $.25

Pants $.50

Cloak $7.50

Overalls $.50

Corset Cover $.35

Pencils $.12

Having a horse shoed was 40 cents.

Goods sold in 1909 included butter, eggs, chickens, turkeys and milk. Eggs varied from 16 cents per dozen to 26 cents. Butter was 25 cents per pound. Total income from these for the year was $234.04. Trading goods and work were all recorded and hired labor was usually 75 cents per day. “Bob Mace worked on the barn,” from April 2 through April 13, in 1897 for 3 full days and 5 half days for $4.12. Rent was paid in cash, hogs and hauling wood. The man recording the facts worked for Will Davis, W. Dowell, J. L. Wood and a Mr. Phillips. Mr. Phillips paid $1.25 per day.

Sources for this material are Chillicothe and Ludlow Newspapers from this time period, Roof’s Past and Present in Livingston County, The Centennial Edition of the Chillicothe Constitution Tribune, personal interviews with many local citizens and the record book in my possession. -- Mildred Sue Jones

The fountain on the William Browning Memorial in the City County Plaza on the north side of the courthouse was first placed in 1921, dedicated to William Browning, the son of William Browning who owned the Browning House hotel, which stood on the east side of the square next to Webster Street.

The hotel was torn down in the 1890’s. William Browning Jr. began his work as a handyman with the McCormick Company in Chillicothe and in 1903 he became district manager for the International Harvester Company and rose to manager of domestic sales. Following his death friends planned to honor him with the fountain memorial which was accepted by Frank Sheetz for the county and Mayor Ashby for the city.
THE 1930’s
Livingston County could not escape the impact of the Great Depression of the thirties. With a predominantly rural population of 18,619, farming was the major occupation. The average size farm was 141.7 acres valued at forty dollars per acre. The main crops were corn, wheat and oats; the livestock: cattle, swine and horses. The horse was still the main source of farm power. The county also had a brick plant, iron and steel works, steam and sheet shop, and a number of smaller industries connected with the automobile. The depression conditions of the 30’s began to affect the county by March 1930. The failure of property owners to pay their taxes caused the Girdner and Happy Hollow schools to close. In December, the Strand Theater was having charity night with 25% of the proceeds going to the Rotary and Kiwanis Clubs for distribution to the poor. In 1931 the Red Cross, with a goal of $200, was able to collect only $31. Blaming the Republicans for the depression, the Democrats gained every position except one in the city election of Chillicothe (May 1931). In October the Farmers and Merchants Bank in Chillicothe closed. The Citizens National Bank advertised they had plenty of money and installed a machine gun to prevent a robbery when they opened three windows for withdrawals.

In May 1931, the District Rotary met in Chillicothe where a parade, a governor’s ball and a banquet were part of the entertainment for the delegates who arrived by automobile and Pullman sleeping car. Later in the month, the Chillicothe High School band attended Sousa day in Tulsa, Oklahoma. Also in 1931, another type of entertainment in the making was interrupted when Shorty Hines was arrested and fined $100 for making home brew at Jimtown Bridge south of Chillicothe. Hometown girls were able to compete for $20 in prizes in a bathing suit contest at the Dickinson Theater.

In 1932 Chillicothe school taxes were lowered from one dollar to ninety-five cents, and the number of teachers was reduced by ten; their salaries were also cut. Homecoming at the Chillicothe Business College provided the area with a parade, a dance and a big game with Kemper.

In 1933 “Protective Associations” were organized in Livingston County to stop mortgage foreclosures. The bank holiday, called by President Roosevelt, was joined by Citizens National Bank. Following the holiday, money started flowing from lock boxes and cubbyholes to the banks.

Violation of the liquor laws appeared to have been one of the largest criminal problems in the county. Four liquor raids in February 1933 resulted in one arrest; a raid in March meted a jug of liquor and a boiler hidden in a straw stack.

Shucking corn contests were a popular entertainment in 1933. Eleven competed at Ed Smith’s farm for the county championship. At the Dickinson Theater the movie “I’m No Angel” featured Mae West and Cary Grant; the price for admission was thirty-five cents for adults and ten cents for kids.

Relief projects were started in Livingston County the latter part of 1933. Projects included road graveling, dirt moving in Simpson Park, woodcutting, and statistical information gathering. The Civilian Conservation Corps took young men for jobs in national and state parks. In 1934, eighty boys from Livingston County were sent to reforestation camps; the boys received $30 a month with $20 to be sent home to a dependent. This added $1,600 a month for spending in the county. Community gardens were also used to help provide relief and the produce was canned by relief workers. Gardens and the canning factory provided healthy foods to the reported 909 persons on relief in the county in 1934. Aid to the farmers was given in the Agricultural Adjustment Act. The hog-corn program was an attempt to curtail production.

Prosperity letters were the fad in 1935. These were dime chain letters where you were assured of riches if you did not break the chain. They were illegal, but very difficult to stop….”you can’t put everyone in jail.”

Government relief projects continued and increased in size and number. By January 1936 the Works Progress Administration was sponsoring 16 projects that employed 260 people at a cost of $56,627. Federal money helped to relieve the poverty condition in Livingston County.

The big event of 1937 was the centennial celebration. Livestock judging, horse shows, bank contests, fire works, football games, and a complete outdoor floor show provided entertainment for the crowds. The weekly celebration ended with services in all churches and the grand finale of the pageant.

By election day in 1938 the county was ready for a change. Republicans made a come-back winning six out of nine offices in Livingston County.

Livingston County resident’s life changed during the depression. They received aid from state and federal agencies like other sections of the county. There was no evidence of youth roaming the country side, and since it was a rural community, few if any went hungry. Banks did fail and people were unemployed, but the life style of the county changed little from what it was in the twenties. This rural community had provided its own entertainment in the twenties, and it did the same in the thirties. Though the county did not suffer as much as other areas, it was affected by the depression.

Condensed from a paper written by James R. Nashan. Domestic life during the depression 1928-1938 in Livingston County, Mo. May, 1974.

1940’s

When the decade of the forties started, Livingston County was still struggling out of the Depression which ended with involvement in World War II. After Pearl Harbor the war affected nearly all aspects of life and local activities centered on the war effort. The post-war years brought general prosperity and rapid growth in building and business.

Federal government work projects were still active in the county during the early 1940’s. A major WPA project completed in 1940 was the construction of the new Armory which was built using hand labor only and cost $100,000.00. The National Youth Administration office for a thirty-five county area came to Chillicothe that same year. A CCC camp was in Chillicothe for two years, starting late in 1939. Much of its work was under the Soil Conservation Service ,and consisted of aiding farmers in soil erosion projects and in reforesting. These programs ended with the start of the war.

During World War II the Livingston County area sent more than 1,100 men into the armed forces. Lawrence Gray of Wheeling was killed at Pearl Harbor on the USS Arizona. By the end of the war approximately fifty men from Livingston County had died while in active service. Those from Livingston County who served included Brigadier General Roy Owens and Lieutenant Colonels Ross Diehl (former county sheriff), H. S. Beardsley, J. J. Shy, and Karl Blanchard. Captain Richard West was the fourth ranking ace in the Southwest Pacific.

In the fall of 1942, the Army Air Force established a technical school at the Chillicothe Business College. The contract called for a maximum of 900 students at any given time, staggered with 125 graduating each week from their eight week course. This lasted until June 1943 after twenty-three classes had been graduated. During this time the entire Strand Hotel, including the coffee shop, was leased to the college and utilized as temporary army barracks.

When war was declared in 1941 Livingston Countians took immediate action for defense. State highway employees and volunteers guarded bridges on the two main highways of the county over which troops or equipment might pass. Shifts of 30 men, each armed with shotguns, patrolled the bridges to guard against sabotage and to keep traffic moving.

Guards were also stationed to prevent sabotage against the city water supply. Re-evaluation of the situation soon deemed these actions unnecessary.

Livingston County had one of the most active “home fronts” in the state. The Livingston County Council of Defense was organized within two weeks following Pearl Harbor and remained active throughout the war period. Randall Kitt, Livingston County representative in the legislature, was appointed by the governor to form the council and subsequently was elected its chairman. Soon afterward, a volunteer board of defense was formed with a membership of approximately seventy citizens representing every community in the county. Prentice Barnes was elected chairman; Judge L. F. Bonderer, first vice-chairman; Judge Elmer Kerr, second vice-chairman; Dr. Gladys Ingram, secretary; and James W. Davis, legal advisor.

Registration for civil defense volunteers was started in various communities of the county. By the end of 1942, the number of volunteers had reached 2200. Over two hundred auxiliary firemen, auxiliary officers, air raid wardens, and fire watchers received training during the first year. Others took classes in first aid, home nursing, sewing, and other subjects. An aircraft warning service was organized to be called out to sixteen unpublicized stations in the county should enemy bombers appear in the Mid-west.

J. D. Engleman, commanding officer of the Civilian Defense Corps, directed the formation of defense activities until he entered the Navy in 1944. He was succeeded by C. C. Cooke. In the fall of 1942, Chillicothe held its first practice air raid alert and blackout. Both Chillicothe and rural Livingston County participated in a nine state blackout later that year. By the end of 1943, the tide of the war had turned and Civilian Defense activities gradually diminished.

Farmers were asked to step up food production. People living in town were urged to help on the farms after their regular working hours - and many did, receiving 40 cents an hour (then the standard wage). A canning center was opened in the Central School kitchen as part of the effort to save food.

Under the sponsorship of the Red Cross, local citizens knitted clothing for servicemen and donated blood. The first Red Cross mobile unit collected blood here in 1944, drawing nearly nine hundred donors. Prior to this, donors had traveled to Kansas City, Cameron, or Carrollton.

The Livingston County salvage committee, chaired by Henry Boehner, collected a wide variety of scrap materials for the war effort. One of the most needed materials was scrap iron. Over seven hundred tons were collected and shipped out of the county by May 1942. During National Scrap Harvest the following fall Livingston County led all other Missouri counties in collecting metal, bringing in some 829 tons. About two hundred tons of this amount was collected on one day, September 10, designated as MacArthur Day. On that day all businesses in Chillicothe were closed for scrap collection.

Rubber in any form could be redeemed at local service stations for 1 cent per pound. Over twenty-eight tons had been sent from the county by August of 1942, with thirteen more tons being collected by a call-in of extra tires.

All types of items were collected and then recycled for war materials; silk and nylon stockings into powder bags, cooking fats into glycerine for dynamite, waste paper into new paper products, tin cans and toothpaste tubes into machinery.

There were drives for books, playing cards, and records for serviceman’s personal use. One of the most interesting collections was inexpensive jewelry to be sent to servicemen in the South Pacific. It was said that these trinkets could be traded to the natives for food, shelter, or work.

Livingston Countians bought over $5.2 million in war bonds during the war period. Elementary and high school students throughout the county pledged to buy defense stamps, which could be purchased in amounts as low as 10 cents. A door-to-door campaign was carried out to sell bonds as well as booths for bond sales being set up around the square each Saturday in July and August of 1942. Seven special War Loan Drives raised much of the total amount sold in bonds. These were under the direction of Edgerton Welch, county chairman of the War Finance Committee.

Rationing became a way of life following the outbreak of war in 1941. Rubber was the first product restricted. (A news release indicating the impending unavailability of all rubber products from erasers to volley balls caused an immediate run on Chillicothe stores by women crowding counters to buy girdles). The tire rationing board of Livingston County was appointed January 1, 1942, and consisted of Don Chapman, chairman, Claude Botsford, and W. B. Jennings all of whom served throughout the war. Their duties soon expanded to include additional items put on the rationed list: cars, typewriters, farm machinery, shoes, sugar, coffee, gasoline and other petroleum products, and eventually many foods. As a result of the shortage of gasoline, the Crookshanks Bakery returned to a horse drawn delivery wagon.

Early in 1942, price ceilings were placed upon basic commodities. This was also under the jurisdiction of this same board, now called the War Price and Rationing Board which was expanded to include Ralph Winans, Robert A. Smith, Walter Goins,

Mervin Cies, Emery Burton, W. G. Kent, and Luster Carter. By late 1945 most rationing had ended, the exception being sugar which was rationed until June 1947.

The evening of August 14, 1945, a crowd jammed the business section of Chillicothe in anticipation of the official end of the war. A great celebration broke out, including a bonfire at the corner of Jackson and Washington. The next day businesses were closed and postmaster Joseph Stewart delivered the address at a special Victory program downtown.

During ‘the war years very little building was done due to the scarcity of materials. An interesting exception was the Lutheran Church, which was built of materials considered by the government to be non-essential to the war effort. Most of the work was done by members of the congregation.

The post-war period was an extremely active time for building and business in the community. At the end of the war there was an acute housing shortage. In 1946, twenty emergency housing units were allotted Chillicothe by the Federal Public Housing Authority. Seven buildings, the wood coming from former prisoner of war camps, were built near Chillicothe Business College for families of veterans at $30 a month rent with utilities paid. Also, CBC opened a temporary dormitory for veterans. During this time many homes were converted into apartments to alleviate the shortage. After much controversy, rent control became effective in the county in November of 1946. That year thirty or more private homes were constructed. The following years also saw rising construction with estimated fifty new homes built in each 1947 and 1948.

Many new business buildings were constructed and existing business buildings received additions or remodeling. One major construction project was the new Ben Bolt Theater completed in 1949.

Business was booming in the second half of the decade with 1946 retail sales up 65% over the previous years in Chillicothe. At that time, farmers in the county were reporting grain harvests that were the best in memory. Corn was estimated at 40-45 bushels per acre compared to an average of 26 bushels per acre in previous years. New manufacturing included a gun stock factory, a manufacturer of playground equipment, and a manufacturer of refrigerator doors. The first self-service laundry in Chillicothe was established, and later in the decade two new supermarkets opened for business. In 1948, the Chillicothe Development Corporation was organized to deal with prospective industries.

There was an increased emphasis on transportation. In 1940, the Chamber of Commerce began making plans for a municipal airport. After abandoning one site, a new site was purchased, two miles east of Chillicothe and construction was begun in June 1945. On the fourth of July 1947, an air show marked the dedication ceremony for the new airport. In 1946, a franchise was granted to a bus company to provide service within the city of Chillicothe. For a time there were four routes in operation. In 1946, traffic was said to have doubled on the two highways going through Chillicothe. About this time, parking was eliminated from the center of Washington Street (Highway 65). In 1947, the first parking meters were established in the downtown area and parking was prohibited in the center of parts of Jackson Street.

There were other changes in the community. The first trash collection service was established in 1946. It was first under contract by a private firm but later was taken over by the city. Labor unions made an expansion drive in Chillicothe and were successful in organizing workers at the Farmers Electric Co-Op and a local creamery. Chillicothe’s first labor strike was in 1947 at the telephone company, reducing service to emergency calls only. It was part of a nation wide strike and lasted forty days.

In 1947, voters of the county passed a one mill levy for a county-wide library and bookmobile service. This was an outgrowth of the Memorial Library, then operated by the Federated Women’s Clubs. The following year the location was moved from Calhoun Street to a remodeled building on the corner of Jackson and Washington.

Chula High School was closed in 1946. Utica began construction on a new school in 1947, to replace a building which had burned in 1944. During the intervening three years, classes were held in store buildings. In Chillicothe, a new classroom building for the vocational agriculture department was built west of the high school building and a need was expressed for other new buildings in the district. In 1948, after several attempts over the past two years, a bond issue and an increase in the levy finally passed insuring the construction of Central, Garrison, and Dewey Schools.

Nineteen hundred-forty-seven was a year of floods. Following floods in April and May, the Grand River again flooded on June 5. Its crest, June 9, at 33.82 feet, surpassed that of the 1909 flood. All federal highway entrances into Chillicothe were cut off by flood waters and water covered the highway all the way from the Red Ball Restaurant to Utica. Railroad washouts disrupted train service and some families had to be evacuated by boat.

The river flooded again on June 13, cresting June 16 at 29.38 feet, and again on June 18, cresting on June 24 at 33.35 feet. Frank Hutchinson met the mail carrier by rowboat and delivered mail to patrons on the other side of Graham’s Mill Bridge. Four young paper carriers were rescued from flood waters after they lost control of their boat. Persons flying over Northern Missouri reported fifty-two homes and sixty-one large barns either under water or surrounded by water. Forty-one Livingston County bridges, including two on Grand River, were washed out or damaged, to an extent that use was impossible.

The 1940’s brought important changes to rural Livingston County through electricity. In January of 1940, the REA began stringing wire east of Chillicothe. Beginning in April with a few families east of town, the REA gradually brought electric current to rural homes and had reached the majority of farms by the end of the decade. Progress was interrupted at the beginning of the war by a wire shortage which suspended construction of new lines. In 1943, enough wiring material became available so that some farms along existing power lines were able to be connected for service, providing that the recipient make efficient use of the electricity to increase food production. Near the end of the decade a survey of the REA customers indicated that the most frequently owned electric appliances were irons, radios, and washing machines, with refrigerators heading the “most wanted” list. -- Mildred Cole and Marna Cole

KILLED IN SERVICE, WORLD WAR II

Bazel Allen, Buell Beever, Noah Barron, Marion Bench, Jr., Bernard Bonderer, Charles Boulware, Robert Boude, Paul Brown, Joe Burson, Robert Cies, Sam Cummings, Charles Dome, Lindley Doolin, Francis Englert, Max Fordyce, John Gibson, Harley Garrison, John Gerhart, Henry Goodman, Willard Goos, Joel Grubb, Jr., Robert Grant, Lawrence Gray, Lloyd Holcomb, Louis Holt, John Harvey, London Herr, Buford Hudson, Vernon Johnson, Otis Kennison, Robert Kester, Harold Kille, Elliott Kitt (in the Royal Canadian Air Force), Alfred McCollum, Jesse McNally, J. W. McLallen, Wilber McKenzie, James McClure, Lee Merrick, Howard Miller, George Patterson, James Pennington, Leroy Place, Roland Pepper, John Plaster, Herman Reich, Milo Rogers, Edward Saale, Charles Sprague, Claude Sperry, Robert Scruby, Albert Mervin Singleton, Robert Slee, Arthur Taylor, Howard Vorbeck, and John White, Herbert Acree and Donald Thompson.

1950’s

1950 through 1959 were characterized as years of development and construction for Chillicothe. The town had two mayors during this period, Bob Staton for the first three and R. B. Taylor for the next ten years.

The Chillicothe Industrial Development Company, the C.I.D. was organized in 1955 with the original purpose of assisting the Boss Manufacturing Company, manufacturers of gloves. It continued in trying to bring more industry to the area. In 1958, it helped with the establishing of Donaldson’s a company that manufactures filters for heavy equipment.

Donaldson’s helped bring in the Reynolds Tool and Engineering Company. The C.I.D. assisted with the land. The C.I.D. has helped in some way with other projects. Among them are the Livingston Manor, Mid-West Gloves Co. and the R. A. Sales. Chillicothe had been in need of new schools for some time. In the 50’s four public grade schools and one parochial school were built. In 1951 Central school was dedicated. It was followed by Garrison a school for black children. When integration took place in Chillicothe and the children of Garrison were placed in other schools, Garrison became one of the town’s elementary schools. The name was changed to Dabney. A new Dewey school was completed in 1953. The first four grades, called Dewey, were at that time housed in the high school. The new school was built on Dickinson, between Polk and Cooper streets. In 1954, the town voted to build a new Field school and to add a second floor and cafeteria to Dewey. The school board, Superintendent Raymond Houston and Ed Walters, who headed a committee for the drive to pass bonds, were responsible for this educational achievement.

Bishop Hogan was the new parochial school built during this decade. It was begun in 1957 and dedicated in 1958. The first plans called for a high school also, but they were discarded and the old Academy building improved for high school use. There were several new churches built during these years. Two of which were built in 1951. The First Presbyterian Church, at the corner of Elm and Ann was dedicated. The Rev. James McNeilly was pastor at the time. The congregation of the Church of Christ built a new place of worship. It also was located on Elm Street, one block south of the Presbyterian Church. In 1957 the United Methodist Church with the Rev. Don Cook as pastor, voted to build a new edifice on north Walnut Street. Plans for a building were approved a year later and construction took place. The Salvation Army was housed in an old house on Elm. In 1957 it was reconditioned and expanded into a functional brick building.

Other changes were being made in the community. The Ben Bolt Theater, under the management of John Newcomer, had been completed just prior to the fifties. During the first period there were three theaters in operation, the Ben Bolt, the Ritz and the Grand which specialized in westerns.

Woolworths was expanded by taking in the building to the south and a lunch counter was installed. This was in the middle of the block across from the east side of the Court house.

In 1953 the Producers Creamery built a new milk processing plant. There was a sand strip mining operation from a sand bar in the Grand River. Rural schools had been closing and it was necessary for a reorganization of the district. A new R-II district was formed with Chillicothe the center. In January 1957 the school board for the new R-II district was organized with Mr. B. W. Jones as president. Other members were Dr. Lee Jackson, Kirk Winkelmeyer, Merle Jones, Bryce Allen, and Russell Potter.

Mr. and Mrs. Horace (Bud) Mills gave the land for what is now Clay Street Park. In 1955 Jerry Litton, a senior at the high school, won the national F.F.A. oratorical contest in Kansas City.

As Chillicothe grew with new schools and new businesses it also began to grow with expanding residential areas. In northwest Chillicothe 16 and one half acres or 39 lots known as Sunset Heights, were opened for development by Leonard Nibarger. Six acres or 23 lots to the south and west off third street, bounded on the west by Grandview, were opened by Kenneth L. Rhinehart. Burnam Road was growing to the north and other construction was moving in that direction.

One disappointment for the area was the closing of the Chillicothe Business College in 1952. It was a school known throughout the United States and around the world. It began as a Normal School in 1890 and remained as such until 1909 when it become a business college. During the years, 120,000 students were enrolled, many of them from foreign countries. In 1955 a school known as Belin University acquired the property and operated for three years.

A glance through the Chillicothe Constitution-Tribune gives some interesting facts. Prices from another era are always of interest. We read that pork chops were 50 cents a pound, beef roast 49 cents, ham also 49 cents. Coffee sold between 79 or 80 cents. Four 46 ounce cans of Libby tomato juice were $1.00, 2 cans of frozen orange juice were 25 cents. A pair of girls jeans cost $1.00. An ad in the paper quoted the price of 145 acre farm for $8,000.

The average teacher’s salary in Missouri was $2,626 compared to a national average of $3,160.

In 1958 Chillicothe was plagued again with too much water which flooded basements. One woman found her washing machine floating in the water and fruit jars bobbing around.

Also in 1958 there were 10,475 acres in the soil bank with a payment of $420,764 to 499 county farmers.

Women were recognized. Mrs. Elizabeth Tiberghein was chosen as driver of the week and the award given by Bob White.

A committee was formed for the purpose of encouraging the use of highway 36 and to gain more tourist.

Each decade has something about it that gives it a name. The years from 1950 to 1960 are known as the fabulous 50’s. The Chillicothe area lived up to that name by its accomplishments. -- Ermine Newbolt

1960’s THROUGH 1980’s

At the beginning of 1960, John F. Kennedy was the Democratic president-elect. Many felt a guarded optimism, looking forward to the new administration, while at the same time looking with alarm at the situation in Cuba. Diplomatic relations with Cuba had been broken and the U.S. Embassy closed in Havana. Later, Mr. Kennedy would be heavily criticized for his ill advised and unsuccessful invasion at the Bay of Pigs. In November, 1963, he died, after being shot in Dallas, Texas.

Locally, Virgil Brown, manager of the five-county divisional office of the Missouri Division of Employment Service saw an upward trend for jobs in the area. Girls were wearing dirndl skirts with crinoline petticoats and flat ballet-type shoes; boys had butch, or flat-top haircuts. Prices of some of the staples were: flour, 5#, 39 cents, weiners and ham, 49 cents per pound; coffee, 49 cents per pound; potatoes, 10#, 29 cents; sugar, 10#, 89 cents. A new Chevrolet Impala Sedan sold for about $3500.

Early in 1961, the Chillicothe Junior Chamber of Commerce conducted a survey to find out what the citizens felt were the ten most urgent needs of the area in the 60’s. Topping the list was industrial development. This will be covered in another portion of this history. The need for a junior college was considered next most important. It was unlikely that this would come about since there was one at Trenton, just 25 miles north. A vocational-technical school has been added to our system, however. Off-street parking was high on the list. The town-county plaza on the courthouse square was developed in 1963. A lot at the corner of Vine and Jackson Streets, the former location of a lumber company and heating company, was leased by the city from Ken Rinehart and converted into a parking lot. The lot was later sold by Mr. Rinehart and was used to build a government subsidized apartment complex.

In the survey, the condition of the streets was of concern to many. This seems to be an ever-present problem but, in spite of the toll the unpredictable Missouri weather takes, the streets are constantly being resurfaced and repaired by the city street department.

Many felt the need for a community center. While many ideas have been considered, the acquisition in December, 1974, of the old Montgomery Ward Building afforded space to develop such a project. This building, located in the 400 block of Locust Street was donated to the city by Richmond C. Coburn of St. Louis. Part of the building is already being used by the senior citizens of the community. Congregate meals are served there and space is available to display handiwork and crafts to be sold. This type of facility was also a need expressed by the survey. There is a senior citizen low-income housing development with a community room located near the Park Center shopping center on North Washington Street.

A water recreation area is not likely to be developed in the foreseeable future. While there are several appropriate locations in the county, there has been much opposition from those whose land would be flooded by such a project.

A county health organization is one of the expressed needs that has come about. Established in 1976 after a mill-tax was approved by voters for such a purpose, it has since provided many services for county residents such as home visits to those in need of nursing care as requested by a physician, immunization clinics in county schools, school health programs and screening clinics, communicable disease control, and many others. The staff consists of a registered nurse, a licensed practical nurse, and a secretary.

A year-round recreation program was mentioned as a need to be developed. Sports events are being reported in another part of this history. Construction of a larger, modern swimming pool at Simpson Park was begun in March, 1963. New tennis courts were built near the armory on Washington Street and in Simpson Park. In 1980 the Dale Surber Memorial Ball Park was developed in the southeast part of town. The summer play ground activities, swimming pool, tennis courts, golf course, bowling alley, men’s and women’s softball and basketball leagues, exercise classes, and many other activities offer a wide range of sports for almost anyone who wishes to participate.

The last item on the list of needs was a citizens’ information program. The services of the “Constitution-Tribune” Chillicothe’s daily newspaper, and the radio station KCHI, AM-FM keep the citizenry well informed on current issues.

Many other developments have taken place in the community, which, according to Ralph Moore, former Secretary of the Chillicothe Chamber of Commerce, have been a part of the steady growth and improvement of the community. After much groundwork and planning, a Chillicothe Fine Arts Council was established early in 1964. John Irvin was elected the first president; other officers were Joan Krautmann, vice-president; Bob Smith, second vice-president; Elsie Eschenheimer, secretary, and Billie Fair, treasurer. When it was first organized a board of twenty people concentrated their efforts into one full week of presentations involving concerts, craft shows, and theatre. Our local council was first to bring the Kansas City Lyric Opera on area tours and also helped to fund the Arrow Rock Lyceum Theatre on its first tour. Since then, each summer for sixteen years, the Lyceum has presented a production to Chillicothe theatre goers. “The Council is strongly supported by a local subscription series and numerous contributions, and is partially funded by the Missouri Arts Council and the National Endowment for the Arts. This is a proud success story made possible by many local individuals’ determination to provide a variety of aesthetic outlets for the entire community.” (Dan Smith, current Fine Arts Council President.)

Much support has been given to the aid of physically and mentally handicapped children and adults in the community. Peter Pan Center is a non-profit center sponsored by Livingston County Development Center for Handicapped Children, Inc. Started in 1958, more than two hundred children have been helped through Peter Pan and sent on to other schools of special education or to normal kindergarten in the public schools. It is now operating in a new building on land donated by the Knights of Columbus. It was constructed by free labor, and materials were purchased with money donated by the people of Chillicothe and surrounding communities. It is supported by contributions of churches, civic organizations and private individual donations. (information provided by Colleen Clinefelter, director).

Hope Haven, a sheltered workshop, furnishes the opportunity for handicapped persons to work. Incorporated in 1966, actual work was begun in March, 1967. A non-profit organization, it is partially self-supporting and receives state aid for each worker. Harold Wood, director, heads a staff of eight, and presently there are fifty people employed. They do contract work for local businesses such as manufacturing shipping skids and boxes, aluminum can recycling, assembling booklets and bulk mailing, ironing, and many other tasks.

As a result of the St. Joseph State Hospital Outreach program, a Chillicothe Counseling Center was established in 1979. The staff consists of case workers, mental health counselors, and a nursing care coordinator. Counseling is done in such areas as marital problems, family relations, mental depression, financial matters, and educational and occupational advice.

In December, 1973, at a meeting of the county court, a steering committee was appointed to lay the groundwork for the formation of a county nursing home district. Members of the steering committee were Cecil Campbell, chairman, Ralph Ross, Lee Peniston, Gene Cousins, Frances Carroll, Dave Biggerstaff, Pat North, Ralph Kissick, Fr. Luke Becker, and Grace Smith. In May, 1974, petitions containing 1974 names were presented to the county court requesting that the proposition be put on the August ballot. At this election the district was voted in, and in November the directors were elected. They were Virgil Mason, Rex Wheeler, Opal Baldwin, Lester Timbrook, Stanley Scruby, and Dave Biggerstaff. Later, Connie Smith and George Newbolt filled the vacancies caused by the deaths of Virgil Mason and Rex Wheeler. Six acres of land near the northeast part of Chillicothe were purchased from Ivan Thompson. Three bond elections failed to furnish the money for construction of the building. At that time, a 120 bed facility would have cost $1,800,000. In the spring of 1980, application for funds were made to the Federal Home Administration and a $1,100,000 loan was approved. The district is to supply $242,000. Ground was broken on April 30, 1980, and construction is now underway on a 60 bed nursing home. It will be a non-profit, government subsidized facility.

The Livingston County Memorial Library, has become one of the outstanding county libraries in the state. See separate section for details.

Transportation has been important to the area. With two federal highways intersecting here, there is easy access to markets in larger cities. In contrast to 1916 when there were twenty-six passenger trains passing through Chillicothe, the last passenger service on the Burlington Railroad was ended in 1962, leaving only two Wabash night trains. These were discontinued in the late 60’s. Bus service allows only east-west travel with four busses passing through Chillicothe each day.

The Chillicothe airport, located five miles east of Chillicothe on Highway 36, began in 1945 during Frank Lang’s term as mayor. Through condemnation proceedings 273 acres of land were bought. In 1952 the Federal Aeronautics Administration and the military designated it as an auxiliary emergency airport and hard-surfaced the 3200 feet of runway. In 1967 a proposal for improvement of the airport was made, but it was not carried out. However, the facility is presently undergoing phase one of a three-phase improvement program. The runways are being extended by 700 feet and an asphalt overlay of the center 75 feet of the present runway will be put down. Electrical improvements will also be made. Later more approaches and taxiways will be added, the present buildings will be relocated, and more hanger space will be provided. Plans, subject to FAA approval, are underway to construct a softball diamond on part of the ground for the use of the church leagues of the area. The airport is partially tax-supported, but derives part of its income from the rental of the unused portion of the land for farming purposes. The present board of directors are Ed Turner, president; Norman “Bud” Neptune, secretary; Jeff Churan and Bob Staton, Sr.

A tragic yet inspiring figure of this period is the late Jerry Litton. He was born on a farm near Lock Springs May 12, 1937, and was graduated from Chillicothe High School and the University of Missouri (B. S. in agriculture journalism and economics).

Early in his career he successfully engaged in the scientific breeding of purebred cattle becoming vice president and co-owner with his parents (Charley and Mildred Litton) of the Litton Charolais Ranch, Incorporated.

With a healthy ambition and a seemingly natural talent for the art of communication, Jerry aspired to politics and a desire to serve the citizens of Livingston County as well as the State of Missouri. In November 1972, he was elected as a Democrat to the 93rd Congress from the sixth district. He was reelected in 1974. Jerry Litton was particularly interested in the agricultural interests of the country. He perfected a successful monthly televised dialogue with his constituents through an open meeting where he introduced prominent personalities in the national political arena.

On August 3, 1976, he was a successful candidate for nomination to the United States Senate when a fatal airplane accident took the life of Jerry Litton, his wife Sharon Summerville Litton, and his two children, Linda and Scott, as well as the pilot and friend, Paul Rupp and his oldest son, Paul Rupp III.

Charley and Mildred Litton, who encouraged and ,worked with their son in their business ventures, continued to be interested in the political scene. On June 28, 1980, Charley succumbed to cancer.

Charley and Mildred, too, have left their mark on the Livingston County scene. Two annual scholarships of $1,000.00 each were established in the name of Jerry Litton. One is for an outstanding student in the Future Farmers of America Program and the other to an outstanding senior in the Chillicothe High School. In 1979 the Litton’s paid $150,000.00 for the renovation of the badly deteriorating Chillicothe football stadium and the name was changed to the Jerry Litton Memorial Stadium. In addition, the Jerry Litton Memorial Foundation voted in 1980 to contribute each year an amount needed to keep the stadium in repair. (information furnished by Bonnie Mitchell and her book, Jerry Litton 1937-1976 a Biography.)

Prices of the staples mentioned before remained about the same until the middle 70’s. Now in 1980, flour cost 5#, 69 cents; weiners, $1.00 per pound; coffee, $3.10 a pound; potatoes 10# for $1.39; and sugar, 5# for $1.99. A new Chevrolet Impala today costs about $8,000.00.

Girls have gone through the mini-skirt and sloppy jeans to a neater look of straight, split-skirt knit dresses, designer jeans and high heels. Boys, for the most part, have given up their long hair of a few years back, and now have shorter, styled haircuts.

As the 80’s draw to a close, there is a great deal of concern about the economy. Locally, the drought of the past summer will cut severely into the farm income of the county. Nationally, high interest rates, high prices, increasing unemployment, a shortage of petroleum and other natural resources, and the holding of fifty-two American hostages by Iran tend to make us uneasy about the future.

In an article in the June 26, 1980 issue of the “Kansas City Star”, financial writer, Jack Etkin, describes Chillicothe as a community facing hard times, with the weighty problem of a reeling economy. He cites heavy lay-offs of workers and sluggish retail sales. He, indeed, paints a very glum picture. In answer, Bob Hawkins, a long-time resident of Chillicothe, sent a letter to Mr. Etkin which was also printed in the “Constitution-Tribune”. In it he says, “I saw nothing optimistic in your article such as mention of our new high-rise-low-cost apartments, our new county jail, our new county rest home presently under construction, how our second largest bank is modernizing its facility, how our merchants have remodeled and modernized their stores, how all over the city remodeling of homes is progressing and new homes are being built. No mention was made that Chillicothe is a good place to live; that it has a fine school system, fine churches and good stores. Please compare the crime rate, assaults, rapes, muggings and slayings with Kansas City and I suspect that on a percentage basis we would be way down the ladder. Also, our unemployment rate would probably compare most favorably with that of Kansas City.”

Certainly most of the residents of this area would agree with Mr. Hawkins. Chillicothe and Livingston County is a good place to live. -- Vivian Haas

NEGRO HISTORY IN LIVINGSTON COUNTY

Garrison School

The first Garrison School was a store building on Conn Street in the 200 block, rented by the school district; it was a one room elementary school. The second school was another rented store building on Madison Street. The first teachers were white because Negroes were not allowed to secure an education until after the Emancipation Proclamation. The first Negro principal was H. C. Madison from Illinois.

A new building was started on Henry Street in 1881. The building consisted of five classrooms, a basement, heating and plumbing equipment. The building served not only as a school but as a community center for many years. There were two grade school rooms, one for lower grades, and one for upper grades. There were two rooms used for High School classes such as home economics, history, English, Latin, algebra and mathematics. Restrooms were located in the basement as was a room that doubled for a shop and a lab for science class. Only two years of high school were offered until 1935 when a four-year high school rating was granted.

Some of the teachers were John W. White, William V. Williams, Alonzo Redmond, Julia Cox, and Eileen Walker Price (now Mrs. Jack Scholls). Mrs. Price taught home economics; in the fall the students canned home grown vegetables; later they learned to sew on treadle sewing machines.

Because of limited space, graduation was always held in the Central School Auditorium. In 1953 -the school district built a new building which was used by Negro students for four years. The new building consisted of five class rooms, basement, modern heating and plumbing equipment. Total desegregation of schools in Chillicothe did not come until 1957 when a committee of seven was appointed from the NAACP to meet with the local school board relative to implementing the 1954 Desegregation Decision.

THE N.A.A.C.P.

The Chillicothe Chapter of the National Association for the Advancement of Colored People was organized January 26, 1952 at the Mt. Zion Baptist Church, 201 Asher Street, with approximately 100 persons in attendance. Attorney Carl Roman Johnson of Kansas City was the principle speaker; he said, “The Association’s ultimate goal is to establish full equal rights for Americans of all races.” The officers elected at that meeting were: Benjamin F. Bland, President; Mary Rogers Johnson, Secretary, and L. A. Sawyer, Treasurer.

Meetings were held twice a month at alternating meeting places between Bethel A.M.E. Church and Mt. Zion Baptist Church. Projects included lawn socials, a Lincoln Day Banquet, dinners and Achievement Day. The N.A.A.C.P. was active in desegregating the Simpson Park pool in 1954.

The second president was Oliver Vincent Shields, elected in 1955. In 1957 a committee met with the local school board relative to the Supreme Court decision of the 1954 Desegregation law. Committee members were: Mr. and Mrs. Wyman Palmer, Mrs. Lucille Kerr, Mrs. Darline Botts, Mr. Vincent Shields, and Mr. Benjamin Bland.

In 1962 gains were made in public accommodations; the fight for public accommodations and employment continued through 1964 and 1965. In 1966 the Chillicothe Chapter served as host at a State Convention, held at the Strand Hotel. Business establishments which were in violation of the Missouri Public Accommodations Law we’re investigated by the Human Rights Commissions and negro applicants were hired by area businesses.

Vincent Shields was elected state president of the N.A.A.C.P. in 1968 and served until 1973. Under his term the N.A.A.C.P. became involved in the Poverty Program, O.E.O.

CHURCHES

There have been four Negro churches in Livingston County, some of which are listed under the section of the book for churches. Mt. Zion Baptist was founded in 1854. The Bethel A.M.E. Church was built at 200 Henry Street following the Civil War. Beal Chapel Church at Utica was built on land given by Peter Allen, ancestor of Patricia Taylor; Albert Lee, another ancestor, gave the first load of lumber to build the church. It served Negro members in Utica for

many years but membership dwindled and the building was eventually sold. The Church of God in Christ, was started in Chillicothe in 1926 by Elder and Sister Fisher. It was the first integrated church in Chillicothe and was a Holiness Church.

NEGROES INVOLVED IN THE COMMUNITY

Henry Williams, who married Fannie Hicklin of Lexington, Missouri, in 1874, was a settler. At the time of their marriage they lived at 1208 Fair Street, but later they purchased land and built their home in 1910 at 707 Graves Street. They had three children, Nina, Virgil and William Vernon. Virgil and William were long time teachers in the public schools at Garrison High School.

Clyde W. Banks was born in Chillicothe, and after finishing school at Lincoln University, operated a cleaning and pressing shop. He was also a tailor except for 13 years when he served as school principal in Brookfield and Salisbury.

Many negroes from the community have served in the armed services in World War I and World War II. Bazel Allen was the first serviceman from the Negro community to die fighting for his country in World War II.

Mr. and Mrs. John Lee ran a restaurant in Utica, Missouri, on the second floor of a building on Main Street during 1929 and 1930. They served meals in the afternoon and evening and brought in musicians to play piano, trumpet and saxaphone. Round and square dancing were enjoyed.

Edward Gilbert ran the first pool hall for Negroes near the Wabash railroad. It was located in a small building at First and Elm Street. Dan Monroe had the first lunch counter near Locust and Clay; he served ice cream cones. Oliver Shields, Sr. had a restaurant with a walk-up counter for quick sandwich orders. Reverend Fred Boone had a dairy delivery service.

Mr. and Mrs. Bill Anderson had a restaurant and grocery store. Alex Winifred met mail trains with his own team and wagon and transported the mail to the local post office; he employed men to help at busy times.

Dr. G. W. Brown, a licensed M.D., had a large clinic and practice in the front of his home on Slack Street. David Douglas ran a pool hall and entertainment center in the same building.

John Denning raised tobacco on Lily Street. Clarence M. Brown, Sr. was the first negro to be a switch brakeman at the Utica Brick Plant, now Midland Brick and Tile Company.

Reverend Harlon Campbell, a local pastor, was the first to carry hot sandwiches and homemade pies, made by his wife, up and down Washington Street. Allen Bland was the only Negro bricklayer in the Chillicothe area. He worked for Meek contractors in 1900 and built homes and chimneys. Thomas Banks was custodian for Central School for 40 years. Other custodians have included Harvey Montgomery, Sill Sawyer, Jack Scholls, William Wilson, Warrenton Pettigrew, James Price, Thomas Banks, Leon Steward, Charles Crain, O’Dell Taylor and Mary Taylor. Laura Wright did cleaning for Judge Davis in the courthouse and other business places.

McLinda Lewis was a midwife, who lived to be ninety. Eugene Eubanks was a graduate artist with a degree from Lincoln University at Jefferson City; he taught art at the State Training School for Girls. Others who worked at the State Training School in various capacities have included: Mrs. Henrietta Johnson, Mrs. Odera Burns, Mrs. Lucille Williams, Mrs. Florence Banks, Mrs. Mary Johnson, Mrs. Maggie Browne, Mrs. Dottie McGlothen, Mrs. Jessie Allen and Mrs. Charlotte Helm.

Kay Kyles was a steward for the Burlington Railroad. Benjamin Longdon was a noted writer; he was a member and custodian at the Christian Church. Several members of the Negro community were involved in food services such as restaurants and bakeries, and those not previously mentioned included: Edward Gilbert, Oliver Shields, Mae Lee, Mary Scholls, Mr. and Mrs. Lorenzo Harris, Mr. and Mrs. Paul Anderson, Ralph Anderson and Minnie Estes.

Fred Doxey, James Pettigrew and Lester Williams worked for the Bell Telephone Company. Mechanics included: George Allen, Carl Kerr, Raymond Kitchen, Max Allen, Francis Midgyett, Joe Bentley, Alonzo Cooper and Edward Akers.

The Negro community has produced several registered nurses. Included in the employees at the Chillicothe Hospital or Hedrick Medical Center are: Mrs. Clyde Moore, Miss Bessie Banks, Mrs. Edna Shields, Reverend Lewis Jefferies, Mrs. Martha Ann Bentley, Mrs. Alice Hill and Mrs. Iva Fairley.

Those clerking in stores have included: Mary Redmon, Lorraine Pettigrew, Catherine Rucker, Oscar Jones, George Parker, Wanda Doxey Wilson, Patricia Greene Taylor and Leroy White.

Those employeed by the Green Hills Human Resource Corporation Agency have included: Lucille Kerr, Darline Botts, Mary Johnson, Mary Kinyoun, Melvina Scott, JoAnn Pittman and Linda Dodd.

Jerome Botts and Robert Jordon work for H.U.D. Post Office employees have included: Victor Alex, Bert Anderson, Vincent O. Shields, and Ed. Gilbert. Present teachers in the Chillicothe School system include Charles and Rosalie Epps.

NEGRO CEMETERIES

Forest Hill Cemetery is located in Edgewood Cemetery. Landon Johnson, a free slave when his former master died penniless, collected money from door to door so that he could bury him in Forest Hill. Later when Landon died, special permission was granted for him to be buried beside his former master.

South Cemetery is located at the edge of town, southeast of Highway 36. This cemetery belonged to an organization known as the Old Benevolent Lodge. After the members died, Mt. Zion Baptist Church obtained the ground. It has been a burial ground for Negroes for many years.

The North Cemetery, located northeast of the Milwaukee tracks, formerly belonged to the Aide Society. Later Bethel A.M.E. Church became sponsor and many of the old settlers are buried there.

NEGRO MUSIC

The Mt. Zion Baptist Church choirs have sung at many towns for revivals and celebrations. In the early 1960’s a community choir was formed including members from Bethel A.M.E. and Mt. Zion Baptist Churches; this group toured and sang in many places. Soloists included: Vivian Midygett Hutchinson, Frances Midgyett, Linda Dodd, Rodney Crain, Betty Crain, Robert Midgyett, and Patricia Taylor.

The Hendersons and the Lees formed an orchestra and played for special occasions at churches and lodge affairs. Dennis Wolfscale played his banjo in small towns; he was rewarded with applause and coins.

Tom Scott played and taught others music lessons on the fife. He had been born in slavery in Greenville, Kentucky, and was head of the fife and drum corp in the Civil War. After the war he made his home at 115 Henry Street until his death in 1933; he had one son Earl Sidney Scott who worked at the livery stable. Tom formed a trio with Louis Waller who played snare drum, and Henry Blackwell who played the bass drum; they performed at weddings and celebrations. Henry also played the bass drum for political meetings at the courthouse. -- Eileen Scholls

AVALON

The pleasant little village of Avalon is situated on the southeast quarter of section 14, about 2 miles east of the center of the main portion of Fairview Twp. It was established and laid out by David Carpenter, Nov. 12, 1869.

The town was entered by Wesley Scott, Aug. 8, 1845, who came to Missouri from Jefferson County, Ohio in 1841. At first, he located in the bottoms, but the location was unhealthy, and he built a log cabin where the town of Avalon now stands, which long bore the name of Scott’s Mound. He died in 1852 and in 1869, his widow sold the land to David Carpenter, who, as stated before, laid out the town.

In 1845, the country all about Scott’s Mound was unpeopled and virgin. Herds of deer bounded over the prairie and wolves came out to howl and prowl.

The nearest schoolhouses were at Fairland, three miles east and “Crow Point” the same distance northwestward.

Avalon, somewhat like its ancient namesake in France, stands on the considerable eminence before noted. It commands a view of the surrounding country for 10 or 15 miles, and, in a clear atmosphere, for a greater distance.

In 1869, the Avalon Academy was founded. In June, 1881, it was advanced to a college and remained as such until approximately 1910. For quite a period of time, the college was used as the Presbyterian Church but was sold in 1964 to Paul Barnhart, who converted it into a home, where his widow now lives. The Avalon grade school and high school was a large frame building, located in the center of town. School was held there until schools were reorganized and the larger Tina-Avalon District was formed with the school on highway 65 south of Avalon in Carroll County.
Long time businesses in Avalon were Finks’ General Store and Shields Hardware. June Johnson ran a grocery store and locker until the building was destroyed by fire. At one time there was an Avalon Bank.

At the present time there is the U.S. Post Office with Mrs. Frances Mitchell postmistress, a restaurant operated by Calvin Lawson, and a machine shop operated by Donald Deardorff. The Avalon and Wheeling Telephone Company owns an equipment building and underground telephone lines. The United Methodist Church has recently been remodeled. Church School is held every Sunday and preaching services every other Sunday. Reverend Ray Willis was pastor through 1980.

Several mobile homes and about fifty houses are located in Avalon, with four or five having been built in the past seven or eight years. More are expected as people return to the better way of life. -- Dolly Shipley

BEDFORD

Fact and fiction merge in stories of the early history of Bedford. As recorded by William LeBarron, a ‘Frenchman from St. Louis, the plat was identified in 1838 as located on the northeast 1/4 of section 4, a few miles below the shoals of the Grand River. A similar plat on the same site was found in 1837 for a town called Laborn. The origin of the name is commonly associated with a steamboat wrecked on the shoal, but the date of the wreck is thought to be 1840, and by 1839 the Bedford name had been recorded.

The first ferry was operated by John Custer, this being the only method of crossing the Grand until 1866 when the first bridge was erected. In early days goods were brought to Bedford via an old wagon road from Brunswick, except for a few consignments by steamboat. The river channel never proved dependable. About 1870, what is now known as the Wabash Railroad established a Bedford station a mile north of the town. In 1877 a horse railway (often a mule) connected the town and the railroad station, but this link only lasted about 5 years.

During the years Bedford grew to include a school, church, bank, hotel and miscellaneous stores; at least 2 mills were located on the river, in addition to 2 tobacco factories and a chair factory. The cyclone of 1880 was destructive of property, destroying the mill and badly damaging about 15 other buildings as well as the bridge.

Bushwhackers terrorized the area during the Civil War, presumably because of the sympathetic attitude toward the South.

By the 60’s Bedford had only one store, a filling station and garage. In 1965 a grass fire destroyed all the one-time business buildings. While the business is gone, this part of Grand River Township is still one of the richest farming areas in the county. 

CHULA

Before the advent of good roads and automobiles, Chula was quite a thriving little town and the people who live in Chula now think it still is one of the best little towns on map.

The Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railroad was completed through this area in 1886. Two men gave a three block square plot of ground each to the railroad for starting a town in 1889. The first plot of Chula was January 2, 1890. The town was incorporated by Livingston County Court on October 7, 1893, and called the City of Chula.

In the meantime Chula was growing and prospering. The first post office, located in the postmaster’s home, and a general store were started in 1889; then a blacksmith shop, a lumber yard and a mill. The stockyards and a new depot nearby with a brick platform were built in 1891. Three churches - Methodist in 1890, Presbyterian in 1893, and Baptist in 1895 - were built.

Some of the merchants who advertised in the 3rd annual fair booklet, September 22, 1898, were: Long and Moore, hardware; C. M. Powell, lumber, implements and vehicles; Chula Milling Company; E. L. Treadway Cash Store; J. H. Owen and son, furniture and undertaking; George A. Gardner, general hardware; Lilly and Scovil, groceries, clothing orders taken for tailor-made clothes; W. P. Woods Commercial Hotel; H. B. Williams, blacksmithing; Earnheart and Harris City Meat Market; T. J. Woods Barber Shop; The Schneider Drug Store; Chula Hotel; C. O. Wilson, Photographer; A. M. Broyles, harness and saddles; F. C. Veseart, blacksmithing; W. K. Thompson, jeweler and optician; Fowlers Restaurant; E. F. Ogan, physician; J. W. Alexander, physician; J. N. Ballenger, notary public; M. Broyles and Son, first class livery. Chula also had an excellent ball team and the ball games were played at the fair grounds. Remembered players were Ruby Gibson, Ruby Veseart, Chester Powell, O. S. Leavell, Glenn Wright.

Chula always printed a newspaper - first remembered editor was Ed. Smith; in later years it was called “The Chula News,” printed by C. S. Steele. The original name of the paper was “Chula Home Press” and the subscription price in 1929 was one dollar per year. In 1929 C. M. Powell, who had been in the lumber business in Chula forty years, sold the business to Chula Farmers Mercantile Company. Some of the merchants who advertised in the Chula Home Press, June 28, 1929, were as follows: C. A. McGee, notary public and insurance; Garr’s Gardens, for cut flowers and potted plants, 25~ to $1.00; J. B. Kilburn, hardware; L. L. Lauderdale, dry goods, groceries; M. C. Booth, furniture and undertaking; Carlyle’s Drug Store; H. P. Tharp and Company Groceries; Elmore’s Poultry House; W. E. Payton, insurance; V. Sayer, harness and shoe repairing; W. E,’O’Hara, barber shop; J. S. Schneider, dry goods and groceries; and Hogan and Veseart garage. Billy Owens owned the movie theater; Manning and Schneider bought hogs and cattle for shipping. If they couldn’t buy the livestock they would ship them to Kansas City for seven cents per hundred weight.

The Milwaukee depot was torn down several years ago but at one time it had four passenger trains which stopped at Chula each day. The Southwest Limited would stop morning and night if passengers desired. Depot agents were Billy Wright, Walter Carson, “Shorty” Phillips and Ross Adkins. Telegrams were sent from and received at the depot.

There were four rural mail routes out of Chula and the mail went through in all kinds of weather. Sometimes the roads were so bad the carriers rode horseback to deliver the mail. Carriers were Sam Gibson, L. L. Harris, Rollie Gentry, John Kelley, Bill Fanning, Vern Parker, Reggie Garr, Archie Gale, O. L. (Brick) McCoy.

Mr. and Mrs. O. B. McCoy and family owned and operated the telephone exchange for many years. Later they sold it to Mr. and Mrs. Arthur Bartruff. Millinery store owners were Katie Doolin, Mrs. Oliver Wilson, Clara Moore, Kathryn O’Conner. Postmasters were “Uncle” Bob Thompson, “Uncle” Bob Davis, Stanley McKemy, Alfred Jenkins, Wade Manning, Lucy Manning and the present postmaster Donald Raney.

Chula had several doctors until later years. Dr. Alexander, Dr. Ogan, Dr. Carlyle, Dr. Broyles and Dr. Graham took care of their patients, day or night. Price of house calls was $1.50; babies were delivered at home for $25.

For many years Chula had Presbyterian, Methodist and Baptist Churches. The newest church in town is the Catholic Church. The Methodist Church disbanded during the 1970’s. The Eastern Star and Masonic Lodge had their lodge hall above L. L. Lauderdale’s store. The Modern Woodman Lodge met every Monday night. The lodges are now all disbanded.

“Uncle” John Cummings owned a livery stable where you could hire a horse and buggy or one could have his own horse cared for while he went to Chillicothe or Kansas City on one of the passenger trains. Wagons which were called drays delivered all freight and express to the merchants. Dray men were “Uncle” Ben Calloway and Ernie Gift. Billy Owens had an ice house and put up ice in the winter and delivered it to homes and stores during the summer or it could be bought at the ice house. There were two banks in Chula at one time. Billy Payton was cashier of the Exchange Bank of Chula and helpers were Ruby Gibson, Jimmie Graham, and Fern Payton. The Farmers and Merchants Bank’s cashier was Floyd Ross, and his helper was Arthur Broyles. Both banks were closed by 1927.

In 1952, Chula Farmers Co-Op bought the Chula Farmers Mercantile Corporation lumberyard. The Co-Op built their initial grain elevators in 1956. Storage tanks and the fertilizer plant were built later. More elevators have been added within the last year.

Gone from sight but not from the memories of many are the windmill, the well, and the watering trough that were located in the center of Mansur “Main” Street. These were relocated when the state hiway department did resurfacing of that street in 1936. The hitchracks that people used to tie their horses and teams to are no longer here. They were located along the east side of the Presbyterian Church and along the west side of the Baptist Church.

The initial one room school was used until 1895 when it was replaced by a three room building. That building was replaced in 1915 by a two story brick building, which housed grades one through twelve. In the summer of 1958 a new school was built but wasn’t ready for regular classes until January 1959. This school houses kindergarten and grades one through eight. High school students are transported to near by high schools by bus.

Chula residences are especially fortunate to have both natural gas, which was available in 1955, and city water for use since 1959.

The truck bed manufacturing company that was in operation during the 1960’s has been replaced by an antique storage. Since passenger trains terminated their stops here during the 1950’s and so much express was transported by trucks, the depot closed its doors in 1962. Five years later the building was razed.

The Chula Rural Fire Department was organized December 4, 1963. In 1964 the fire house was built and a more modern fire truck replaced the older model. In 1971, the post office was completely remodeled and made modern with air conditioning. The community center built in 1975 is beneficial to all age groups. During the fair each year one can find displays of 4-H groups, hand crafts, country store and foods. The “Young at Heart” club have their monthly meetings there. Many families have family reunions at the center also. Chula’s newest project is a city sewer system which is already in progress.

Chula has a mayor, town council, and committee members. -- Cleo Johnson and Marian Lewis

DAWN

Early Settlement

Earlier histories of the county state that “the origin of Dawn was the old institution on Shoal Creek known as Whitney’s Mill, which was built by Joshua Whitney in the year 1837.” (A special edition of the Dawn Clipper published on July 3, 1886, suggested that some early settlers, helped build the mill dam as early as 1829.)

The Dawn Clipper (editor, Frank Brooks) continues: “Here also was built the first public bridge in Livingston County, or in fact, the first bridge of which we have any knowledge, north of the Missouri River and west of Chariton County, in the winter of 1841.”

The settlement remained “Whitney’s Mill” until 1853 when William Hixon laid out the town and named it Dawn. He built the first dwelling in the village limits of native lumber, and was the only merchant until 1867.

The Welsh

Immigration and movement across the country increased following the Civil War, bringing from Iowa in 1865 the first Welsh settlers, Thomas and Mary Lewis and family. Thomas Lewis’s son, Joseph A. Lewis, was an agent for the Hannibal and St. Joseph Railroad and wrote many letters to Y Drych, a Welsh newspaper publisher in New York, and it is believed these letters influenced Welsh people from other states to come to Dawn. A letter from R. M. Richardson of Dawn written in the 1900’s to an editor, describe the Welsh as “model farmers” and states it would be an advantage for farmers “from the bare hills of Wales” to come to Missouri to farm. At the end of 1970 there were about eighty-five Welsh families in the Dawn area, a population of 425 in all. Gravestones in the Welsh Cemetery, located southeast of Dawn, name some of the early settlers who were born in Wales and inscriptions in Welsh are engraved on some of the markers.

Early Business Establishments

William Hixon was succeeded in business by George Dancingburg. G. H. Clark from New Hampshire purchased the firm, locating in Dawn in 1865, and was later joined by H. Bushnell, a native of New York. These were small one-story wooden structures, and Bushnell and W. A. Fisher later built two-story brick buildings. Fisher also built “The Fisher House” hotel. Mattingly Brothers of Virginia erected a large steam flouring mill, which was destroyed by fire in May, 1884. The Dawn Creamery Company was organized in January, 1884, with D. W. Lewis as president of the stock company.

At the time of the Clipper’s report in 1886, a partial list of the business directory included: H. Bushnell - dry goods, hardware, clothing, farm implements and harness shop; W. A. Fisher - began drug business and three-story Fisher Hotel managed by David E. Liewellyn; James A. Fisher and A. J. Carr - hardware and groceries; J. J. James - general merchandise and farm implements; Charles B. Reed - drug business; Thomas Griffiths - groceries, queensware, notions; R. L. Patrick - drug and grocery stores; G. H. Clark - livery; Bridge Graham - bus and hack line to Utica; Anna M. Jones - dressmaking; Edward F. Schroeder - saloon; William Stagner barber; and L. E. Tracy - Physician and surgeon.

The public schoolhouse in 1886 was a frame building of two rooms, built by Travilla and Reed, contractors, of Dawn. The primary department was conducted by Miss Frances Barry and the grammar department by Prof. William C. O’Neal at that time.

In 1886 there was only one church building, built by the Presbyterians in 1872, but used by several denominations. Sabbath School, according to the Clipper, “is among the most successful in the country, being attended by all denominations, superintended by E. J. James.”

WELSH CHURCH

The Welsh Baptist Church (later the Cambrian Baptist Church) was rural, located a few miles east of Dawn, originating in about 1868. Services were first conducted only in Welsh, later in English and Welsh. The ministry of Rev. T. M. Griffiths began in 1891 and lasted 25 years. The church was shared with the Welsh Methodists and Reverend Hugh X. Hughes served as pastor alternately with Reverend Griffiths.

The Clipper report speaks of a demand for a larger and more suitable building than the schoolhouse for entertainments. A building was erected for this purpose by Bushnell and Elliott in 1884, about 40 by 60 feet in size.

BAND

A band was organized in 1879 with J. Drake as leader. Charles B. Reed was leader in 1883 and 1884 and Peter Glick assumed the leadership in 1885. Members of the band in 1886 included Reed, Glick, J. H. Price, James Roberts, Joseph Culver, Ben Owens, Jeff Fouch, Frank Fouch, Frank Elliott and Thomas Snyder, and an instructor, J. E. Hill, “a thorough musician, recently of Yale College.”

LATE 1920’s

W. H. Phillips of Chillicothe wrote a description of Dawn in the late 1920’s in which he mentions the Federated Church and Reverend S. G. Gutensohn, pastor. Records show that the church was established in 1927. The federation was formed by the Methodist, Presbyterian and Congregational churches. The

building used for the church (and still in use) was formerly an “opera house” for traveling Chatauqua

programs and other entertainment events. 

Phillips also writes about the business firms of the community. Stores were operated by W. L. Warnick, Lowrey and Vanzant, and Mr. and Mrs. B. W. Purcell (Purcell Mercantile Co.). The R. E. Lee Lumber Co.

had been functioning for five years, with John Hinkle as manager and J. G. Bridenthal as assistant. The garage of U. G. Shields provided a filling station and a repair department. J. K. Edwards had been postmaster since 1923 and there were four rural routes. Druggist was Dr. F. R. Fullerton, assisted by daughter Ellen, a registered pharmacist. There was a blacksmith shop, harness shop and a restaurant. A gravel pit at the edge of town had recently been acquired by Cooley Gravel Co. Important to the community was the Farmers Produce Exchange, in charge of George A. Evans, and the Dawn Shipping Association, James Baxter, manager.

Orla Creach was principal of the consolidated school, “a handsome building, situated on a rising swell of ground in the southwest part of town.” A. T. Cunningham and A. J. Riedel were running the Community Bank, with deposits running “over $200,000.”

Mrs. Minerva Evans was operating the city “hotel” or boarding house.

At this period in the town’s history, a weekly newspaper, The Reporter, was headed by Albert Cullen, with Miss Pearl Wooden gathering news, (as she did later for many years as correspondent for The Chillicothe Constitution- Tribune.)
Recent Years

The by-laws of the Dawn Community Improvement Association were adopted by the board of directors on December 26, 1957, a non-profit corporation charter having been issued by the Secretary of State on December 2, 1957. The association was the result of concerned and determined planning for some type of organization to assume responsibility for community needs and activities, especially for the youth, after the former Dawn school was consolidated into the Livingston County R-I district. The site of the school was

removed to a central location to serve the four towns of Dawn, Ludlow, Mooresville and Utica. It was hoped that some former project of the local PTA could be incorporated into the plans of the new community organization. Purposes stated for the Association were: (1) To advance the economic, social, cultural and citizenship interests of all the people in the Dawn community; (2) To serve as a clearing house and correlating agency to help community organizations develop more effective activities in their respective areas of interest.

In March, 1958, The Missouri Farmer magazine published an article entitled “Dawn Begins New Day,” and in March, 1959 published an article entitled “These Folks Did What They Set Out To Do!” The subject of both was the town of Dawn and its Dawn Community Improvement Association. There was also a write-up, “Dawn is on the Move,” in the Missouri Ruralist for October 25, 1958.

D.C.L.A. sponsored the low-income housing project, the Dawn Retirement Home, Inc., which opened for occupancy in January 1970. It was behind the establishment of Dawn Firefighters, Inc., the rural fire department, to which was added trucks, smoke inhalation equipment, a fire house, first aid equipment, and fire training meetings for its volunteer personnel.

The Dawn community assumed the leadership in working out a plan for a central water system to serve the four-community area of Dawn, Ludlow, Mooresville and Utica. The system went into operation in 1965 and contributed much to the successful implementation of a number of other projects and improvements.

Original D.C.I.A. board members were Donnell Carey, C. J. North, Dale Wood, Melvin Watkins, Reverend James Hazen, Hugh Pat Anderson, Mrs. Jean Jones, Mrs. Virginia Mead, and Mrs. Ethel Evans. 

-- Patricia North

FARMERSVILLE

On January 10, 1870 a plot was made for Farmersville, Missouri which is one-fourth mile south of the Grundy-Livingston County line. Farmersville is only on the west side of the road and is one fourth of a mile long. The ground was donated by Joseph Kinney and his wife Esther.

Sampsel Hessenflow was a huckster who traveled over the country buying chickens and eggs. His father, Francis was a preacher in Farmersville. Sampsel’s children and grandchildren lived with him. Jim Brown ran a general store, selling it later to Link Wolfe. Bill Kinney was a carpenter and ran a steam engine to pull a threshing machine for W. R. May.

At one time Farmersville had a post office and a drug store operated by Jerd Varney. The town had two Doctors, Dr. Huff and Dr. Badorf. The Farmersville garages were operated by Mr. Prewitt, Oscar Mace and Andy Kilburn, (partners), Fred Kinney and Ernest Carr.

In August 1923 Ted and Celina Hatfield opened a grocery store. They bought cream, eggs, poultry and at one time wild rabbits, for which they paid eight to twenty-five cents each. They sold bread for ten cents a loaf, coffee for twenty-five cents per pound and $1.98 for a forty-eight pound sack of flour. They also sold feed.

John (Chuck) Williams used to run a bus from Chillicothe to Trenton and back. He picked up passengers at Hatfields store and a ride to Trenton or Chillicothe cost twenty-five cents.

The west half of the highway was paved in 1928, and the east side was paved later. Electricity came in 1941 from the REA and water came in 1970 with the water district.

The only business left in Farmersville in 1980 is a store operated by Bob and Flossie (Butcher) King. They sell staple goods and sandwiches.

In 1980 the highway 65 was re-routed west of Farmersville. -- Mrs. Vernon Pray

LUDLOW

Livingston County was already past fifty years old when one of its villages emerged along the new raMoad that was being built across the county. The new town was named for the post office that had recently been established for Monroe Township by a prominent attorney and congressman from the district, Henry S. Pollard. He sponsored the bill creating the new post office in 1877 and after approval, he named it Ludlow, in honor of his birthplace in Vermont.

A settlement had grown up around the churches and cemetery at Monroe Center but all buildings were moved one mile south in 1887-88 when the Milwaukee Railroad was completed. This was the beginning of Ludlow. There had been at least two earlier settlements in the township, one called Austinville and the other Bluff City. Austinville was described thusly in the Chillicothe Constitution Jan. 23, 1873.

Mr. Editor: I write from an old village that flourished in our neighborhood some 20 years ago. V.1% then, had a post office, a grocery and a “still house.” We generally met at this place once a week, bought our groceries, received our mail matter and drank, if we chose to do so, some pure rye whiskey . . .

The site of Ludlow had been the location of the old Treat School but when the railroad went through a new school was built, a more modern three room building, and the old school was sold to the Christians of the area for a church. The Baptists moved their church from the cemetery to a site across from the new school, one block west of main street.

One of the earliest stores in Ludlow was owned by Henry Walburn, James Wilson and A. A. Bryan. It carried a line of general merchandise. New homes were quickly constructed. One of the finest was built by Judge Brock and he followed this with a town hall just south of his residence.

A list of early residents of Ludlow is: Mr. and Mrs. William Harold, Mr. and Mrs. Culling, Judge Brock and Family, the Sanford Jones family, the Smith Toners, Mr. and Mrs. Frank Donald (agent for the railroad), the Hatchitts, Lenharts, Miss Belle Tracy (teacher), Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Bryan, Mr. and Mrs. Hiram Skinner, the Rudolph family, the Copples, the Alonzo Wells family and the Sanford Smiths.

In 1890 the population was 100. There was a hotel whose proprietor was Pierce Copple; the physician and druggist was Dr. C. O. Dewey; a general store was operated by Proctor and Wilson; a livery stable was operated by Wm. Copple; Postmaster was H. C. Snider; Justice of the Peace was R. E. Gudgell; a grocery was operated by B. H. Kile; and a grain dealer was Sanford Smith.

The R. Lee Lumber Company was organized in Ludlow in 1893 and it later expanded to Mooresville, Dawn and Chillicothe. Another line of business was the newspapers of Ludlow. There have been three: The Daily Herald, editor, C. R. Fleming, that was publishing by 1905; the Ludlow Nation; and, the Weekly Chronicle published by Martin and Miller in the late thirties. Few copies of these are still in existence.

Dr. Dewey returned to his home in Breckenridge and Dr. Fisher Johnson moved in to take the practice. He was accompanied by his brother and sister. Two other doctors who soon made Ludlow their home were Dr. George Morse who arrived in 1902 and Dr. R. W. Murray who was practicing by 1910, and who was reported to own the first auto in Ludlow.

A branch of the W. C. T. U. was organized in 1890 and continued to be active into the 1920’s. Secret organizations included the Masonic Lodge, Odd Fellows, Rebekahs, Royal Neighbors, Eastern Star and Woodmen of the World.

Engineering reports were made in 1909 concerning a drainage project on Shoal Creek. The contract for building the ditch called Dredge Ditch was let August 4, 1910, and was about nine miles long starting just west of Ludlow.

The summer of 1910 saw the census enumerated by Ward A. Norman. Population of Monroe township was 992. Land was sold just south of Ludlow for $53 per acre. Hogs sold at the market in Kansas City for $9.40 and they were expecting 80-bushel corn that fall.

By 1913 there were two banks, The Farmer’s Bank with R. J. Lee president, and the First National Bank with Scott Miller president. Jo Dusenberry was cashier of the former and D. J. Ballantyne was cashier of the latter. The grain elevator was built in 1912-13 by Noah S. Warner with an interest in the business held by Jo and Elmer Dusenberry.

The local banks were each robbed. The Farmer’s Bank was robbed before 1918 and the robbers were caught quickly. The First National Bank was robbed in the ‘20’s. It appeared to be a well organized plot. Telephone lines were cut and the night operator, Mr. Fred Toner, was tied up and held. The robbers blew open the safe and got away.

In the first twenty years of the century, residents became used to automobiles for transportation. Livery stables were slowly being replaced by garages. Since the advent of the railroad local residents used the rail facilities for shipping livestock to market in Kansas City and for personal travel. It was not unusual for Ludlow residents to go by train to attend to business in the county seat by using the passenger service that took them to Chillicothe before noon and returned them to Ludlow by 4:00 p.m. Trips to Kansas City left early in the morning with a possible return by 9:00 p.m. the same day. Attendance at Kansas City auto shows, livestock shows, shopping trips and visiting were often reported. It was very easy to work in Kansas City and return home each weekend.

Fourth of July picnics, elections, family gatherings, church socials, plays and parties were the fun things people enjoyed. They worked together to make quilts, harvest grain and hay, cut wood or do the work of a neighbor who was ill or injured.

Teachers in the community in the early teen years included the following: Saide Close, Davie Critchfield, Mary Gilliland, Nettie Harlow, Ada Mossbarger, J. L. Vincent and Ethel Kinzy.

Ludlow loaned a number of her young men to the U. S. military service toward “the war to end wars.” Everett Bryan, Carl Goll, Herbert A. Ledwell, Grover Boggs, Edgar Lewis, Everett Wm. Mann, William Slater, Raymond F. Smith, Jess Ward, Frank Welker, and Ira Wells were among those who served from the Ludlow area.

The roaring twenties saw continuing growth in the area. Sports were enjoyed by the fans and participants alike. Basketball softball, baseball and croquet were the most often played. Maurice Hatchitt was the most well known pitcher in the locality.

When the depression hit late in the 20’s the First National Bank closed its doors but the Farmer’s National became the Ludlow National Bank. As banks were failing or closing to keep from failing (often more than one per day in the state) the Ludlow Bank was reported as very sound.

By the late thirties some of the businesses in Ludlow included the Ludlow Elevator owned by A. N. Bailey, The Ludlow Chronicle (published by Martin and Miller, edited by Mrs. Ray Smith), the Ludlow National Bank, Hatchitt’s Grocery, Robinson’s Grocery, Jamison Produce, Copple Oil, Ludlow Market, Ray Smith’s, the Farmer’s Store (owned by Inez Miller), Davis Cafe, Borrusch’s Drug Store, Lee Johnson’s Shoe Repair, Jess Ward Garage, the Ice Plant (managed by Grover Boggs), Ludlow Hotel (managed by Mable Stewart), R. Lee Lumber Co. and Stewart’s pool hall. The telephone office was owned and operated by Fred Toner. The railway depot was operated by Marvin Pollard who was also the local lawyer. Dr. George Morse was the physician, while the post mistress was Mabel Mossbarger and the carrier was Mr. Baker.

The spring of 1938 saw the roads being graveled from the railroad north to the cemetery, distance one mile. Traveling play troupes came through and performed plays once a week. An example was the Sid Kingdon Troupe and one of the plays was Jesse James, performed in December, 1938. By the spring of 1940 the merchants were providing free movies once a week. They were shown outside on a mowed vacant lot and each patron provided his own seat (often a blanket or quilt). Soon, the town hall purchased by H. T. Wolcott, was the location of the weekly movies and it was possible to show them year round, but inside they did cost a small sum and popcorn was available for purchase.

Fire was feared by most town business and home owners. There was no fire department or organized fire fighting plan. Most houses and buildings were wooden and the walkways in front of many businesses were wooden planks. In the brick buildings the floors were wooden and often oiled. Many businesses did burn; but, probably the worst fire occurred March 22, 1939 about midnight. The conflagration completely burned the two-story frame hotel and a brick garage. Inside the garage four autos were burned, two owned by the mail carrier, one by Ray Smith and one by Russell Toner. The businesses were a total loss but there was no loss of life.

In the summer of 1938 there was a big picnic held in honor of Dr. George Morse, the local physician who had served the community for 36 years. It was held in the Ludlow Park near the depot and there was a special register to sign for all those who attended that Dr. Morse had delivered at birth. There were more than 100 of Dr. Morse’s babies there.

World War II was costly to the community but it did unite the population in the war effort. Bond drives, Red Cross work, scrap drives for grease, metals and tin cans as well as collections of old tires and milkweed pods were made. Probably the greatest contribution of the local area was the food produced on the farms of the community.

Some of the local boys who served in the military were the following: Russel Beckley, Minnis and Virgil Buntin, John Busby, Gordon Hawkins, Charles Holden, Charles Hughes, David Hughes, Lee Johnson, Edwin Johnson, Donald, Richard and Robert Lee, J. Willard Stewart, Hubert Welker, Clifford Webb, Chancey Smith, Billy Dean Slater, and Lee Wolcott.

After the war was over several businesses burned. The ice plant was no longer needed as electricity was available to the rural population. Use of the railroads for travel also declined due to the proliferation of automobiles. Many of those who had gone to serve did not return and the town’s population slowly receded.

Today, the Ludlow National Bank, the Elevator, Post Office, Schoeller’s Market, Gladys’ Beauty Parlor, Jones’ Gas Station, the Lion’s Club, Shoal Creek Association and the Baptist Church and Community Church make up the area of downtown Ludlow. The school has been moved outside Ludlow. Ludlow High School was closed in 1951. The old school was torn down in 1979 but a consolidated school was established in 1956 to include the towns of Ludlow, Mooresville, Utica and Dawn and it has served the area almost 20 years. The new school is known as Southwest and includes grades kindergarten through senior high.

A water district has been organized and served the same area as the school district wiith safe public water service. There is fire protection provided by the volunteer fire department from Dawn but a number of local Ludlow residents are volunteers.

Present population is about 175 and the farmland is selling for about $1200 per acre. A retirement home was completed in May, 1980, and there are plans to build a sewer system.

The railroad still is in operation along the tracks of the Milwaukee but passenger trains no longer serve the area. The town and the railroad area still support each other. -- M. S. Jones

MOORESVILLE

The town of Mooresville lies north of the present Highway 36 and South of the west branch of Grand River. The Burlington Railroad goes through the town but for several years, the mail was just thrown off and the train did not stop.

In 1860 the town of Mooresville was platted and named for W. B. Moore. Mr. Moore came to the county in 1844. He lived in a rough cabin, which was already there, located just across north from where the old depot was built. When he arrived, he brought a small stock of goods and kept store for a short time.

Moore left there and went to California but returned in 1849. He built a new home soon after his return and gave some land for the first school house for the newly organized district. The location was where the former Vadnais garage was located.

In 1860 the first post office was established and the postmaster was S. A. Brock. The first regular 30 depot was built in 1865. The town now had a Brock Store, post office, and blacksmith shop.

The town grew slowly after the Civil War. New dwellings were built, some in the springs and some “uptown”.

In 1874, Mooresville was incorporated because of fast and reckless driving through the town street by horse drawn rigs.

In 1871 the Cumberland Presbysterian Church was organized. In 1872 they built a frame building costing $800. In 1886 they had a membership of 25. In 1864 the Methodist (South) Church was organized. In 1888 a building was built costing $1400, In 1886 the membership was ninety. The church is still located there and used.

In 1874 the Christian Church was started. They built a building in 1875 and in 1886 had twenty-four members. The church still serves the community and just a few years ago they added a fine new edition.

The bank was organized about 1904 and its president was Mr. Cusick. It closed about 1930 and not one cent was lost as every depositor was paid in full.

By 1912 Mooresville had street lights, two garages, one general store run by Mr. Edson and as often as once or twice a week, they had a picture show. Nearly every home had a radio and car. The first car was owned by Mr. Mayhew in 1901. From near the first of the 20th century a private telephone system was in use for 35 years. Later, there was a community telephone system. About 1950 this was bought by the Green Hills telephone system. This is still in service.

The town, in 1912, had a community well, using a bucket and pulley to secure clear sweet water for town use. This was located just south of the Burlington Depot.

Mooresville Springs or first called Sulphur Springs was located 1/4 mile north and 1/4 mile west of Mooresville. In 1842 Mr. James Lawson, traveling from Kentucky, found several springs and needing a rest, stopped. He was disturbed by a thick mineral coating on the cooking utensils and moved to another spring of fresh water.

Mr. E. J. Moore decided the sulphur water might cure the dreaded disease of hog cholera. There the hogs drank and not a one was lost from cholera.

About 1901, the spring was analyzed and found to contain valuable minerals to combat diseases of the stomach and liver. The water became famous as a “cure” and a large frame hotel was built there by D. T. Fiske. The hotel had a balcony around two sides and a central hall. Accomodations were superior, rates were reasonable and the hotel gave curative baths, both hot or cold. Dr. Fiske had many satisfied patients for many years.

A pop bottling company located near by, had bottled a health giving drink from the spring water. They had routes to every town to sell the bottled water until about 1905.

About 1925 the hotel burned and was not replaced as spring water, bath and drinking water use had declined everywhere. The site of the Spring hotel and dance floor became a picnic grounds and many reunions and 4th of July picnics were held there. A few people came to drink the curative waters until 1936, where a pump and little shelter house still stood over the springs.

The Mooresville cemetery was laid out in 1870. In 1878 a Masonic Lodge No. 407 was organized, in 1886 the membership was twenty-seven.

The United Workman Lodge was organized in December of 1877. The lodge had forty members.

In 1920 the town boasted of a cooperative general store, Hudgins Grocery and post office, four sandwich shops or eating places, a garage, lumber yard, Vadnais and Zullig General Produce (chickens and eggs), Austin’s Meat Market, Bank and Depot.

In 1980, Mooresville has a post office but the mail carrier comes from Ludlow, two churches are in use, and many fine people live there. The population is about 150 and the citizens drive to work on relocated highway 36. Grocery shopping and doctors are located in Chillicothe or other large cities.

Since 1958 all school students are bussed to Southwest school located near Ludlow at a central location of four small towns which were consolidated in 1957; they were Dawn, Utica, Mooresville and Ludlow. Before the new building was made the students went to Mooresville for high school and the grade school students stayed in their local schools. Mooresville school was first consolidated about 1920 with the surrounding districts for the education of high school pupils; because of controversy over the election, the new building couldn’t be built until 1926. It was located just south of the old frame one-story building and several additions were added over the years. -- Mildred Bozdeck and Linda Thomas

SAMPSEL, MISSOURI

The town of Sampsel, Missouri, is located in Sampsel Township in NE 1/4 of section 28 township 58 range 25. This is part of the 15 sections deeded to the State of Missouri by the U.S. Government for the construction of railroads in June, 1852.

This land was deeded to the Hannibal and St. Joseph Railroad in January, 1858. In 1863, the railroad company sold this land to John C. and Elizabeth Whitaker and William and Emily Whitaker and James H. Britton, Trustee of St. Louis, Missouri. The Chillicothe, Mo. to Omaha, Nebr. Railroad was built in June, 1867. The plot of the town of Sampsel was made July 31, 1871, by John C. and Elizabeth Whitaker, James H. Britton, City of St. Louis, Trustee and William and Emily Whitaker of Livingston County, in State of Missouri, proprietors. The land contained between North R. R. Street and South R. R. Street was donated to St. Louis, Council Bluff and Omaha Railroad Co. for the purpose of depot grounds, side tracks, stock pens, warehouses, coal sheds, water tank, and any other like purposes to which said railroad company may desire to put the same.

The town was named for J. E. Sampsel, an employee of the railroad. The depot was built in 1871. The post office was opened and later two rural mail routes out of the Sampsel office served the northwest part of Livingston County until the late 1940’s when they were dissolved and the residents were served by Chillicothe rural route mail carriers.

A general store was built and operated by several different families until it closed in the 1960’s. During this time the town occasionally had two stores. Occasionally a restaurant would operate for a period of time.

A telephone exchange was installed and served the community until about 1940. Stockyards were built and buying and shipping of livestock was a progressive business for a period of time. A grain elevator was built, where farmers of the area sold and shipped grain to market. Other businesses were barbershops and a blacksmith shop.

W. E. Morgan was the railroad station agent. He also operated a general store. Orville and Barbara Jones operated a store as did George and Perlee Wagner. In 1913, they sold their store to W. R. and 

Florence (Allnutt) Walker. In 1914, it was sold again to George and Florence Allnutt.

Guy Owens and Everett Roberts were blacksmiths. J. E. Raulie bought and shipped grain. Bryan Tout was cashier of the bank which closed in 1931.

One room schools were built teaching grades 1 thru 8. In 1920, six of the rural schools consolidated to form a high school district for a two year high school in Sampsel. It grew to a three year school in 1921, and a full four year school in 1922, with the first class graduating in May, 1923. Superintendents who served the Sampsel School were Charles Greenwood, Ray Ramsbottom, Jewell McClaren. The school closed in 1933, and the students were taken by bus to Chillicothe High School. The grade school operated until 1961, when it was closed and children taken to Chillicothe on school buses.

A gravel pit opened in the early 1920’s on the Dan Walker farm, east of Sampsel, near the railroad track. Gravel and sand were transported from there until the 1960’s. This provided employment for several people in this area.

In 1933, a road was graded and surfaced with gravel making the first all weather road from Sampsel to Chillicothe.

The small towns were a great service to people in rural areas in the days when means of transportation were much slower than they are today. -- Oakland Douglas

ONE HUNDRED FIFTY YEARS OF SPRINGHILL

In 1831 Jesse Nave and his wife, Isabella, left Tennessee, to explore the wild lands of Missouri. They came up the Missouri River to the Grand River and then on the east fork they began clearing a spot to build a log cabin and to look for food. Three years later, Levi Goben and his wife Catherine were the first settlers to come to the Nave’s settlement. Hunters passing through, called it Nave town and soon other settlers came, built one room cabins, and hunted fur bearing animals.

One day Jesse and others of a hunting party came across fresh, cool water bubbling out of the ground. They returned to Nave town on the river to tell the settlers about the springs. By 1840 most of Nave town had moved to the place of the springs.

By 1837, traders and settlers had settled out and around the village. In 1840 the village officially became Springhill.

Northwest of Springhill was an area of more hills and hollers, inhabited by every kind of wild life including panthers and rattlesnakes. The people who settled there came from Kentucky. They called their new location “Poosey” from the place they had lived in Kentucky. They learned that by the Homestead Act, the government would give forty acres if they lived there one year. Accordingly the hunters went back to Kentucky and brought their families into the wild country. Many families came to live in Poosey. The older generation died; the young live elsewhere; and now in the year 1980 Robert Daugherty, owner of that part of Poosey that lies within Jackson township, has sold it to the state. It is now Poosey State Park, set aside for the habitation of wild life.

West of Springhill was Indian Creek whose bottom lands afforded rich soil, and south lay Grand River bottomlands. Into this area came German people, who had left Germany to find better living conditions in America. They were thrifty and industrious; they were not hunters and traders; they came to make homes and to till the soil. These people secured the land, had it surveyed and cleared. They brought their logs to the Springhill sawmills.

By 1848 the village had become a town. The settlers began to feel the need for-a schoolhouse. One of the settlers, William F. Miller, had built a log house for himself and his family. The people thought that Mr. Miller had enough education to teach. They built a brick schoolhouse on the southeast corner of the Mass place. It became the first schoolhouse and William F. Miller was the first schoolteacher in Jackson township.

Within the next ten years, places of business were established. John Stewart built a log house with one room for receiving furs, the other for general merchandise. He was the first merchant in Springhill to pay cash for furs and for products from the farm. Levi Bogin, realizing the needs of hunters passing through, built a hotel. By 1860 Main Street was busy with wagons coming and going, carrying supplies and making exchanges. Hunters brought their fur for cash or trade. Springhill had become a trade center. Even yet people bartered because money was scarce. The farm women traded butter and eggs for flour and sugar. Men would say, “I’ll trade you my horse for yours, if you’ll throw in two coon skins to boot.”

John Simpson built a tanning yard across the brook southeast of Main Street. At the lower end of the town, John N. Sidner was running a mill, sawing lumber and grinding grain. Across from the mill, James Nave had “a rope works”, George Wingo kept a blacksmith shop, Robert Stewart was a stone mason, John T. Wilson ran a saloon, Sam Baxter had a shoe shop; Mr. Duncan manufactured wagons and ABD Martin had a packing house (slaughter house).

By 1862 all of Jackson township was in a state of war. People took sides and families were divided, father against son, brother against brother.

In 1863 Captain Barnes’ Company of Militia was stationed in Springhill. It was called Fort Lumpkin. Lieuts. Gibbs and Hargrave were in command. Lieutenant Hargarve was wounded in a skirmish, losing his right arm. John Stewart, the leading merchant and trader of Springhill, was shot and killed by a woman, Mrs. Barlow, who had been paid to kill him.

Around Springhill were people who were in sympathy with the Confederates and they were called bushwhackers. They thought the Union soldiers were quartering in the church house, one night the church house burned. It was thought that the bushwhackers did it. They kept people who favored the union in constant fear because the bushwhackers hid in the bushes.

When it was over, both sides tried “to bury the hatchet” and to live together in peace.

Among the first things most necessary to rebuild, after the war ended, was a new bridge across the Thompson River. The first bridge had been burned by the Confederate Army to retard progress of the pursuing enemy. By the close of the year 1866, a new covered bridge had been built to connect the Springhill area to Chillicothe, the new trade center. In the same year John M. and James Graham erected a mill and had a dam built by the bridge. The bridge, ever since has been known as the Graham’s Mill bridge and was condemned to traffic in 1940.

Three years after the Springhill church was burned by the bushwhackers, the members of the Methodist Church wanted a new house. The people, in and around Springhill, made donations of labor and material. Bill Moss, a non-member, had quarried rock for his new barn, but instead of using it for his barn, he gave the rock for laying the church foundation. Marion Hughes was the main carpenter. Uncle Johnny Simpson loaned the money to the trustees to buy lumber and other building materials.

Dr. John D. Vincil was the first pastor and circuit rider. From 1872 to, 1892 the Springhill Methodist church belonged to the Chillicothe Conference. Its members were from Red Brush, Poosey, Owl Creek, and Indian Creek until those areas built churches of their own. Some of these churches were Zion, Bethel, Central Chapel, Mt. Pleasant, Mt. Olive, Pleasant Ridge and Lilly Grove.

Some of the earliest pastors were: Reverend Dockery, father of Governor Dockery; Harry Graham of Chillicothe; Reverend Rice - 1891; Reverend Wade 1885; Ruby McLeod; D. R. Davis; G. G. Seforth; W. M. Rutherford; Olive Fay; J. W. Nelson; A. P. Mathas and F. S. Stonger. By the year 1966 the membership had dwindled away. The last pastor was George Borgeson. In the year 1980, grass grows where the church house once stood.

The Masons of the Blue Lodge built a two story building in Springhill on Main Street in 1870. The Masonic Temple was and is the tallest building in Springhill. A stairway was built on the outside leading to a door at the top. The Masons and the Woodmen Lodge used the upstairs as their regular lodge hall. The downstairs was leased to persons who wanted to keep a store. Horace Rampsey and his brother kept a store there at the beginning of the 20th century. Penn and Annie Lewis and Vernon and Maggie Northnagel were the last.

In the year 1899, the people of Springhill built a larger school building for their children. No longer need the buildings be built of logs, for there was plenty of native lumber being sawed right there by Springhill saw mills. This building had a hallway built in its front, black boards across the front wall, a wood stove in the corner, and a row of windows on the light side. The school house became a social center and the community looked forward to the annual school program and pie and box supper. Sometimes the most popular young lady’s box would bring as much as $40. The Wednesday night Literary Society was a well attended event. Local debaters would try their oratory. One question debated was, “Did man and monkey have a common ancestor?” Also, “Which is more important to the farmer, the horse or the tractor?” Usually the teacher would give an afternoon tea during the first of the school year for the mothers who could express their likes and dislikes about the school program. The climax for the school year would be a basket dinner followed by a closing program given by the teacher and her pupils. Teacher’s salaries then were $50 a month. Rural schools of the Springhill area were closed by 1954. By that time teachers salaries had become $124.00 monthly.

The Springhill Fair Association was an annual event sponsored by John David (Red), Mike Cusick, Ben Young, Bill McCarthy and John Tout. The fair-grounds were a half mile west of Springhill on the Dan Williams farm. There was an entrance on both. the north and the south side. Red. Davis had his merry-go-round there which was a delight to all children. Col. William Mast showed his saddle horse and did stunts on and off his horse. Harry Young borrowed Frank Jordan’s horse and won first prize on horsemanship. The race of the big wagons made quite a noise and raised quite a dust. Mark White, the constable, rode a white horse. Hub Haynes was winner of the potato races. The contestant rode a horse, picked one potato at a time from a bushel basket and rode to the other end to deposit it in a basket there until all the first basket was empty. Prizes were given for quilts; there were booths for shooting galleries and tossing the balls into fruit jars at 100 a throw. The last fair was in 1912; after that the grounds were used for a ball diamond.

The Royal Neighbor Camp No. 6611 received its charter in 1910. Springhill Camp 6611 has 38 adult members and 13 junior members. The camp first used Mast Hall to meet in and to practice their drills until the building was sold; then they moved to the upstairs of the Masonic Temple. The outside stairway had to be torn away and the upstairs sealed off. The floor of the downstairs had to be repaired, a new roof put on, some windows taken out, and the whole outside refinished so the members decided to buy the building and make the repairs. They borrowed the money from Ernie Sneden; the note was paid off by serving lunch at sales and by quilting quilts.

A whole page should be dedicated to the memory of the old country doctor, Dr. W. L. White who served this area for more than three decades. He would come on call anytime of day or night, bad weather or fair. He would say to his wife, “Nance, get my bags ready, I must go.” He rode many miles on horse back; later he drove a top buggy pulled by one horse. He made his patients feel that he had a special interest in them which of course supplemented the medication prescribed. In the year 1912 Alva Mast and Charley Mast built a two story building with a stairway on the backside. It was not so tall as the Masonic Temple but quite a bit wider. There was a small shed like building between the two buildings that Charley Mast used as a grain mill. The upstairs of the Mast building was used for dances. The square dance was most popular; Bill Raulie with his fiddle and Bob Moss with his guitar furnished the music. In later years Faye Strait and Archie Crumpacher played for the dances; Lawrence B. Saale was one of their callers. The Writer of this used the, hall to give plays that she had written for her pupils. One was from the story book “Mrs. Wiggs of the Cabbage Patch.” Hazel Miller played the part of Mrs. Wiggs and Marie Grouse was her little girl. The entire school, had a part to play. The Royal Neighbors also gave plays in Mast Hall. Mrs. Mont Dowell, then in her early fifties, played the part of a sixteen year old girl. Other amateur actresses were Lena Mast, Eva Rench, Scottie Mast, Florence Williams, Ella Dowell, Ola Young. The downstairs was Mast’s store; it afforded a place for men to loaf and spin yarns. No newspaper could print as much gossip and no newspaper would have dared. Mast store closed its doors in 1937. The building was sold to a St. Joseph Construction Company who tore it down and hauled it away.

In 1919 a brick building was built on Main Street for the bank to be established in Springhill. It was divided into two rooms, one for a bank, the other for a store. A burglar proof vault was built inside the bank room. Bill McCarthy was the first president and Fred Williams was the last president. The bank did well until 1930 when farmers were hurt by what was called “grasshopper year” along with chinch bugs and dry weather and political maneuvering which caused the year 1934 to become the worst in history; then the Springhill Bank closed it doors.

A cooperative store occupied the other part of the bank building. Olin and Dorothy Stevens were the first managers employed for the new store. Other managers were: Jesse Lay, Rude Grouse, Francis and Fern Boyle. L. B. Saale bought the store from the Coops and appointed Joe Saale as manager. He later sold the building and store to Ray and Eilene Miller who closed the store. In 1980 Ernie Akers bought the building which is now being used by Springhill Enterprises. It is a storage place for insulation material.

Orchards are a part of the history of Springhill. Marsh Moss had a large peach orchard on the northern hillside above the springs. It was noted for the fine flavor of the peaches. People came from a distance to buy peaches on the Moss place. A large apple orchard grew on what was the Griffith farm, to your right, as you entered Springhill; it covered twenty acres. To the southwest, three miles from Springhill, Old Uncle Jim Wilson had three orchards; apples, pears, peaches, plums, berries and vegetables of all kinds. In the fall of the year buyers would come and bid on the entire orchard.

In 1974 Linnie Sneden deeded the vacant school house in Springhill to the Community. It is now the Springhill Community Hall.

In 1946 the 4-H Club of Springhill was organized by Ola Young. She was 4-H community leader for five years. Gradually the club grew under several different leaders and now, after 34 years of progress, the 4-H has become a very strong organization. The Go Getters 4-H Club, The RNA Camp No. 6611, and Springhill Enterprises are all active organizations in Springhill.

Now, in the year 1980, Lawrence B. Saale is living in a house built 100 years ago by Margin Van Buren Piper. Lloyd McCracken and family are living in the old Simpson house, built by the first generation of the well known Simpson family. The old home of Jimmy and Eva Stith has been made entirely modern by Opal and Johnny Zullig. Mari and Larry Joe Zullig have chosen to begin their young married life in the Marsh Moss beautiful home. Ralph, Roberta, Robyn, Randy and Daniel Summers have made a modern home of the old John Mathews’ place. Linnie Sneden, a widow, lives in a four room cottage near the old school house. Ray and Ilene Miller live in a small, completely modern house they built on the spot where Lena and Alva Mast lived. Max and Kathy Smith and two little daughters live in a house where Doctor White and his wife, Nanny, once lived. And just across the street another young couple, the Plowmans, have moved in.

In 1917 the legislature allowed road funds to lift Missouri out of the mud. The Cooley gravel pit near Sampsel and the Fred McVey gravel pile, close by Springhill, supplied gravel for the most travelled roads in Jackson township. The Hannibal Railroad built in 1895 made transportation by rail easier and quicker.

Better roads diverted traffic to larger markets, and that may have caused Springhill to lose its trade. Who knows? Let’s call it fate. By Ola Stewart Young

STURGES HISTORY

The town of Sturges was born of the railroad and died because of better roads and the advent of the automobile. Section Four Township 58, range 13 was a part of the land given to the Hannibal, St. Joseph Railroad at the time it was built across the state.

In 1875 the Northwest Quarter of Section Four was purchased by P. Kreckle of Osage County and D. Bosehert of St. Charles County. In April 1882 they sold the farm to S. P. Hopper from Shelby County; he moved to Livingston County by covered wagon. In October 1885 at corn shucking time, a surveying crew of the Chicago, Milwaukee and St. Paul Railroad came from the north, cut a hole in the hedge fence and set their stakes in a south by southwesterly direction, near the ridge that is the division between Medicine Creek and the East fork of Grand River. The railroad made an agreement with the city of Chillicothe to come through the city if Chillicothe would give them a depot and free right of way through the county. In the spring of 1886, committees purchased the right of way from the landowners, buying a strip 100 feet wide from S. P. Hooper for $500. and a strip across 80 acres from the Kappus family for $200.00.

Grading contracts were let in 6 mile sections. Cuts and fills were made and the roadbed put in shape many local men and teams were hired. Wheeled scrapers were used and an extra team was put on in loading. A steam engine was used to assist in loading, at the cut north of Cottonwood Grove. After the grading was completed the track laying crew came. It was a railroad engine pushing flat cars loaded with ties, rails and other parts. Ties were placed on the ground and rails spiked to them, then the train would move forward. The track was completed April 1, 1887. The railroad cut off about 30 acres of the best land on the farm, and this was seen as a possible town site. The town of Sturges was named for a railroad official. 

Mr. Hopper formed a partnership with W. E. Gunby of Chillicothe, a real estate man, to lay out the town into streets and lots. Later other crews came through laying passing and switch tracks, building a depot, stockyards, granary, section house and putting down wells. The first depot had a waiting room, freight room and living quarters for the agent upstairs. After a number of years the depot burned and was replaced by a one story depot moved from Stockdale. This building was damaged by a windstorm, and was replaced by a small one room building; Passengers had to flag the train.

The first store was a one room building a block west of the depot. It was built and operated by Hopper and Cal Tracy, later purchased by C. N. Boorn who enlarged it to two large rooms and second story. He added a warehouse on the north and a lumber yard across the street south. This business was known as C. N. Boorn, General Merchandise.

Dr. Freeman built a smaller store about half a block north and the Veserat Brothers, Frank and Charles, built a blacksmith shop on the north side of town, west side of main street. Their father was a blacksmith in Chillicothe, originally from Paris, France. J. S. Riley from Macon County, built a house east of Freeman’s store and operated a brick yard one-fourth mile west of town. His bricks were initialed J.S.R.

The Peoples Exchange Bank was built in 1903, a fine brick building with a vault, a slate roof and iron door treads. C. N. Boorn was president in 1913. W. M. Beal was cashier for 27 years all the time the bank operated; his salary was $75.00 a month. The bank closed in 1930 paying 100% on deposits.

The Post Office was established in October 1887 with William Tracy as first postmaster. It was located at the depot, then in a small building from 1900 to 1915 and in stores after that. William J. Eakin, who was postmaster in 1900, was a prominent early settler in the county, coming to Livingston County from Tennessee in 1854. He operated a wagon factory at Springhill until the Civil War, served in the army during the war, returning to operate Slagle’s Mill until 1884. The post office was discontinued in 1937 when Carl Boorn was postmaster.

Freeman and Boorn operated a coalhouse, S. P. Hopper assisted by H. A. Roberts, bought and sold grain, hay, and apples. The stockyards were located north of the granary. In 1917 they shipped more than 140 cars of livestock out of Sturges.

Tom Roberts gave the land on which the school house was built, a block west of the bank. Mrs. Sadie Gibson was the first teacher. The telephone central was located in the Charles Ricket home with Mrs. Ricket as operator. Other businesses include a millinery shop, 2 barber shops, a produce house and a blacksmith shop. Charles Benskin operated a grocery store; in 1919 the store burned. Dr. Newbury and Dr. Rafter practiced medicine for a time. Medicine shows stopped occasionally and the Anti-Horse Thief Association held meetings. On the Fourth of July, Mr. Boorn fired shotgun shells from his cannon. Charles Ricket was bandmaster of the Chula Band. On summer evenings the young men would sit at the store and watch the “Dude” and the “Limited” come in.

Dr. John Freeman, who came to Livingston County in 1854 from Ohio was a school teacher, farmer, and attended medical lectures at Keokuk, Iowa. He moved to Sturges in 1877 and practiced medicine and operated a store. He kept a barrel of whiskey in the back room, with a pitcher and glass nearby; partakers were supposed to put a dime on the counter for each glass they drank. There was never a saloon in town.

Charles Ricket ran the Blacksmith shop after purchasing it from the Veserat brothers. He owned the first car in town, an International with chair drive, high wheels and hard rubber tires. The first automobile accident occurred when Mrs. Charles Benskin and Miss Georgia Uhrmacher, both driving Model T Fords collided. In August 1919, there was a freight train wreck, spilling crude oil and a car of gasoline exploded. The 1909 flood affected Sturges; although not on the creek, a large part of the track was flooded, and heavy rains upstream caused boxcars to come floating downstream. A tornado occurred the evening of September 14, 1914, blowing off the roof of Centenary Church; since there was no church in town, Centenary, two miles to the east, was the closest church. -- Leo Hopper

UTICA - GREEN TOWNSHIP

“Utica is a quiet little village, situated on the St. Joseph branch of the Burlington Railroad in the best fruit growing district of Missouri. Its apple orchards rival those of any state in the union. Utica has six churches and is a thoroughly religious and educated community.” (copied from a 1900 edition of the Utica Herald, Harry Webster, Editor.)

According to county records, Samuel E. Todd was the first white settler. In 1833 he put up a horse mill and in 1836 he built a water mill on West Grand River. Roderick Matson is given the distinction of founder of the town. In the spring of 1836 he came to Livingston County from Utica, New York. In April, 1837, when the original town of Utica was laid out and the plat was filed for record in Chillicothe, it was named by Mr. Matson for his old home in New York.

In 1880 the population was 660. Besides the churches, there were a newspaper, two lodges, a brick school, a flour mill, seven stores, several shops, four attorneys, two physicians, two saloons and an opera house.

In 1980 the preliminary census lists the population of Green Township as 407. There are two churches, a post office, and two garages (A machine shop owned by Bill Stamper and son, Patrick and Pete’s Auto owned by Garry Peterson).

Few of the original buildings still stand. One is the building known as the “old hotel”. It was built in 1836 by Edward and Susan Mead and has changed hands frequently over the years. Its present owners are Stephen and Wilda Locke who have made extensive restoration. Another is the Masonic Hall. The Masonic Lodge is the only lodge in Utica now and meetings are still held in the original building.

Edgar Kohl is the postmaster. For years the post office had been located in various stores around town until Edgar purchased the former Bank Building and it has been located there since. Mrs. Mike Clark is the clerk. Mail is brought in week day mornings by truck and is picked up each evening.

In 1970 the Utica Community Betterment Association was organized by a group of interested citizens. They have sponsored projects such as July Fourth Celebrations, a ball park for youths, and a fire department. Money making projects have been chill and ice cream suppers. Meetings are held in the fire house. Present officers are Mrs. Keith Wheeler president, Mrs. Bill Hightower secretary, and Mrs. Junior Ireland treasurer.

The Green Township Fire Protection #40666 was organized September 20, 1971, and Jerry Baldwin was elected the first fire chief. A used fire truck was purchased and the men worked many nights to repair and put in new parts. Fifteen men received fireman cards after a short study course. A store building was purchased from Mike Clark as a fire house. The group decided to rent the building for worthwile causes for $10, with the promise of no alcohol on the premises. Bill Hightower is the present fire chief and Edgar Kohl, Mike Clark, and Paul McIntosh are on the board.

Formerly there were acres and acres of orchards in the area but the trees have died out. The only orchard now is the Central States Orchard located west of Utica on the highway. Bob Brozovich is the present owner.

Utica has two industries - The Midland Brick and Tile Co., owned by the Patek family with Paul McIntosh as the present plant superintendent and the Trager Industries made up of several divisions located at the western edge of town.

Utica is unincorporated. Vencille Jones (trustee), Ralph Ratliff, and Charley Allen are on the Green Township Board. Other elected officials are Keith Wheeler assessor and Mrs. Frank Romeiser, collector.

One of the most interesting buildings in Utica, which still stands is the old Utica Hotel. It’s present owners are Stephen E. and Wilda (Peters) Locke. They have restored it and graciously take interested persons on a tour of it. They are retired builders from Gary, Indiana. Mrs. Locke is a native Chillicothian and upon retirement became interested in this building she had known as a child. The house was built approximately in 1836 by Roderick and Catherine Matson, who was given the distinction of being the founder of the town of Utica. It was sold to and occupied by Edward, George, and Wm. Van Zandt. It changed hands frequently with over 30 owners to the present time.

The original house consisted of three rooms downstairs with two upstairs. Every room had a fireplace. The inside and outside walls are 18 inches thick solid brick. Each room on the first floor had its own solid rock foundation and a crawlway large enough for a person to crawl through it. Heavy quarried rocks were used for the fireplaces. Only two fireplaces were in good enough condition to restore them and be used now. The architecture is that of the Greek Revival period. The woodwork throughout the entire house is of native black walnut and parts are beautifully carved. The original key holes in each door were made of coin silver and some remain.

An additional four rooms were built on approximately 1856. These rooms had lower level flooring and ceilings. The house consists now of nine rooms and a large attic; an outside porch on both floors; and a look-out.

It is believed the first time the residence was used as a hotel was by Mrs. Ann Waters, a widow, in 1890. This was a way in which a woman of her day could earn a livelihood. Records show that Lucy Lemon, purchased it and operated a boarding and rooming house from 1904-1930. Since that time it has been used as a single family residence. Some of Mrs. Lemon’s descendants have owned and resided in the hotel. Many of her descendants have visited and shown much interest in the Lock’s restoration of the building. 

-- Grace Stone

WHEELING, MISSOURI

As much as 27 years before the town of Wheeling was started, part of the prairie had already been settled. In 1859 the Hannibal - St. Joseph railroad was built and towns sprang up all along the new railway. These railroad towns provided area customers with goods and services that had previously required many more miles of travel to obtain. The new town prospered and grew and their promoters made profits on the sale of supplies and services, and on the sale of town lots.

The town of Wheeling is located in a fertile glacier deposit area on the east side of Sec. 5, Twp. 57, Rg. 22. It was laid out by John Nay on October 7, 1865, on land the (south part) bought by his father Henry Nay and the (north part) owned by Josiah Hunt. The town was named after Nay’s native State Capital of Wheeling, West Virginia. On June 1, 1866, the town was plotted and recorded by John Jay and Josiah Hunt.

Henry Nay built the first house in May of 1866. It served not only as his family home but also as the first store, the post office, and the site of the first religious organization. It was located on the S. W. corner of the intersection of Lincoln and Market Streets. Early business buildings expanded west from the Nay home on Market Street south of the railroad.

By 1893 the population had grown to over 250 and was expanding rapidly. A business for nearly every need and a market for farm products and produce were now located on Grant St. north of the railroad.

The first buildings were all built of wood until 1891 when Gregg and Fell built a brick building of brick which was produced locally. It burned the night the Maine blew up in Havana Harbor in 1898, in a fire reportedly started by bank robbers next door. In the fire, several other business buildings burned and all the early cemetery records were lost.

The first birth in Wheeling was Riley Nay, June 2, 1866 and eight months later the first burial was Mrs. Linnie C. Barkley, age 27 on February 4, 1867. The first physician was Dr. James Gish, a member of the large Gish family from north of town.

The first depot was built in 1866 south of the railroad but it burned in 1881. A temporary building was used until a new depot was constructed in 1882 on the north side of the railroad. Rail service became less prominent in Wheeling as in many other communities in later years and the depot was torn down in July 1979.

In the early days, land around Wheeling was being patented from the U. S. Government for $2.50 per acre. The 80 acres which the north half of Wheeling sits upon, was bought by R. G. Swinburne for $200.00 ($10 per acre) in June 1865, about ten years after it had been patented. R. G. Swinburne sold it in March 1866, less than a year later, to Josiah Hunt for $1200.00 ($15 per acre). Josiah Hunt was a railroad surveyor and lawyer. He also figures in other towns along the Hannibal - St. Joseph Railroad.

Although Wheeling’s main function was to provide supplies and services to the surrounding agricultural communities, it had its own manufacturing such as: two brick plants, paper mill for a short time, cigar factory, stave factory, loop factory, sorghum mills; during the early forties there was a tomato canning factory and in the late forties and fifties, a truck body factory.

Wheeling has had several papers and publishers. The first was J. S. Graves who started publishing the “Wheeling Herald” August 28, 1888. Eight changes of Editors and names of the paper took place in the next 18 years. The last town newspaper the “Wheeling Star”, was started in 1921 but burned out almost immediately.

On July 30, 1896, Wheeling was first incorporated with a 34 page book of ordinances for enforcing punishment of law-breakers; a jail was built near the depot. The incorporation soon fell apart and the jail was taken by private citizens for use as a clubhouse on Grand River. Many of the ordinances might today be considered unreasonable and stifling. One of them restricted all vehicles, including trains, to speeds of not over six miles per hour except in case of fire or need of a doctor. No person was allowed to holler, shout, scream, sing, whoop, or quarrel, such as to disturb his neighbor, and so the list continues.

For entertainment there have been various enterprises such as Old Maid’s Convention, Ice Cream Suppers, Church Suppers, Chrysanthemum Shows in the fall, Band Concerts, movies both indoor and open air, Traveling Medicine Shows, Circuses, and “Homecoming” on Labor Day for a number of years. Baseball drew a large crowd in 1884 when the Wheeling baseball team defeated the St. Louis Browns in all 3 of a 3 game match.

On election years in the early days each party held pole raising rallies on the block west of the city park. Poles were often 90 ft. tall, raised by the use of steam engines; speeches were given followed by a picnic dinner. Some folks stayed for two days until the food ran out. Political issues carried strong feelings so that spontaneous explosions of fighting were often sparked.

The Saturday night visit to town was the traditional highlight of the week in small towns before 1929. The young people paraded up one side of the street and down the other, eyeing those of the other sex, and finally getting enough nerve to talk to them and maybe taking a short drive in the family auto. Each store had seats out in front of its business. Farmers came to town to relax from a week’s work and to discuss with neighbors their work, their neighbors’ work, news of the day, politics, religion, and maybe a bit of gossip. This was the main entertainment as there were no radios, nor televisions and the auto didn’t make trips farther than town unless it was absolutely necessary.

A memorable event for Wheeling occurred when Herbert Wiley, commander of the Los Angeles dirigible and the son of a Wheeling citizen, received permission to stop over Wheeling and communicated by blinking lights with his father. Everyone from miles around was in town that night of October 10, 1928.

The next year the German Dirigible Graf Zeppelin raced through our sky in the daytime frightening the horses of those in the field that day.

Wheeling had slight connection with early air traffic but was right in the mainstream as far as overland travel. The old “Pikes Peak Ocean to Ocean” Highway, also called “No. 8”, that cornered the northeast corner of Wheeling, was a main thoroughfare for many years. Highway 36 was built in 1928 as a gravel highway and was paved the next year. Number 8 then was partially abandoned upon the completion of 36. Grant Street was cut straight through south to the new paved highway for convenience.

Wheeling modernization has included the addition of electricity in 1914, natural gas in 1954, modern fire equipment in 1960, dial telephones in 1961, and commercial water in 1965.

The auto brought many changes; first sales were by Henry Smiley about 1909. Since no one had had any previous experience at driving, or even observing anyone else driving, Smiley hired Luther Wisehaupt to teach prospective customers to drive before they bought. Frightened horses along the road were a problem. Later, garages for the repair of those temperamental machines, came into being with gas pumps, to service both local autos and those coming in from the highway north of town.

One old gentlemen north of Wheeling bought a new car about 1914 but didn’t understand its temperaments; as he was going home one afternoon it labored and wouldn’t pull itself. He called a mechanic who raised the hood as the old gentleman tried to start it. Mechanic said “Why Mr. - Your motor is missing”. The old gentleman jumped around the car excited and exclaimed, “it was in there a few minutes ago.”

Tubeless tires became standard equipment on new cars about 1955. One man from near Wheeling drove an old car that was giving him some trouble. His sons dealt in used cars, but the old gentleman would not accept another car as a gift, so the boys made him a good deal he couldn’t resist. After a time of good driving he finally had a flat tire; to his amazement there was no tube in the tire. As he bought a tube, he remarked that he knew his boys were shrewd traders, but he was surprised that they would steal the tubes out of the car tires.

Wheeling always furnished its quota of young men to the wars of our nation, and each time there were those who did not return, as well as those who did return but suffered from their wounds the rest of their lives.

Due to the changing needs of the times and the death of the operators, many businesses started closing their doors following World War II. In 1969 and again in 1972 because of vacant deterioration, three of our main business brick buildings were torn down. Since so many services and businesses have closed more and more business transactions are done in Chillicothe.

The school in town was the successor of a log school built in the fall of 1859 and organized in January 1860. If one extended State Street south to cross Highway 36, this log school would have been south east of this intersection of State and U.S. 36 Highway. The school was taught by Mr. and Mrs. Daniel Bowers. They later operated the large hotel known as the “Bowers House”, one of four hotels in Wheeling. A frame school house (1867-1882) was built on the N. W. corner of State and South Second Street and taught by F. M. Brown. The next school built in 1882, was a two room building located N. W. of intersection of North 4th and Grant Street. From this school in 1898 the first graduating exercises were held by Superintendent Jeff Malloy. Before this time schooling was terminated by students’ satisfactorily completion of certain books or simply dropping out of school. Total operating expenses of this school in 1898 was $1,167.41

In 1920 a new brick school building was built south of south Second Street at the end of Lincoln Street and a four year high school was instituted. This building had a gym, stage, dressing room, office, kitchen and modern restrooms added to the east and it was dedicated in 1954. In the fall of 1972 an industrial arts building and a dining hall were added southwest of the gym. A kindergarten building was purchased July 11, 1973 and placed south of the original brick school building.

Wheeling School produced some outstanding basketball teams in the middle twenties. Due to much practice on the part of some students, Wheeling has again produced some outstanding basketball teams. Wheeling girls were Conference Regional Winners in 1972-73-74-75, third in the State in 73, second in 74, and State Champions in 1975. Wheeling boys were second in Regional in 1975.

Although Wheeling has many of the traditional frame structures, apartment buildings and trailers have become the homes of some citizens in recent years.

Wheeling had a large turnout for its Centennial year celebration in 1966. There were numerous activities both by civic groups, and public gatherings. The Centennial activities ended with the burying of a capsule in the City Park, put in place by the Centennial Queen, Dawn Walkup, with Minnie Howe the Queen Mother and Princess Cathy Bowyer, looking on. It contained records of the Centennial, to be dug up and opened in the year 2016. We hope to add to it and rebury it then. Our oldest citizens living in town at the time of the Centennial, Minnie Howe and Will Coleman, both lived beyond 100 years.

Wheeling will doubtless look quite different to its citizens of 2016 from the way it looks today, just as its present appearance and activities only faintly resemble those of 1866. -- Lucian Walkup

A BRIEF HISTORY OF LIVINGSTON COUNTY COURTS

Under the laws of the state of Missouri County Courts control finances, set taxes, order buildings to be erected, audit accounts, serve on the board of equalization, and, in general, control county property during their terms of office.

In writing this I have consulted Livingston County history books, county court records and the recollections of various individuals.

The first Livingston County court judges were commissioned by Governor Lilburn Boggs on February 4, 1837. They were William Martin, Joseph Cox and Reuben McCoskrie.

On April 6, 1837 these judges convened to transact county business at the home of Joseph Cox, located four miles north of Chillicothe, section twelve, township fifty-eight, range twenty-four, and west of present highway 65.

William Martin was chosen to be the president of the court.

The first entry of Livingston County court records is an order dividing the county into four townships. These were Shoal Creek, Indian Creek, Grand River, and Medicine Creek townships.

The boundaries of these townships were as follows; Indian Creek township was the present day Sampsel and Jackson townships known as the “forks of the river”. Shoal Creek township was bordered on

the north by Grand River, on the west by Caldwell County, on the south by Carroll County, and on the east was the line between ranges twenty-three and twenty-four. On the east of this was Grand River township which was bordered by Carroll County on the south, Grand River on the north, and the county line and Grand River on the east. Medicine Creek township, not to be confused with the present day Medicine township, was bounded on the west by the Thompson River, on the south by Grand River, on the east by Linn County and on the north by Grundy County.

The first designated seat of justice, the Joseph Cox home, was located in Medicine Creek township. On August 7, 1837 the judges took steps to lay out into lots the city of Chillicothe, which was to be the county seat. John Graves was hired to perform this work. He later resigned and Nathan Gregory was appointed to complete the work of platting and surveying.

The first courthouse of Livingston County in Chillicothe was begun in October, 1837. The cost was not to exceed $50.00, it was intended to be only temporary. The first county court session in Chillicothe was held in this building in May, 1838.

The first jail was ordered built by the court in 1838. The commissioners were ordered to expend no more than $1,000.00 in erecting this building.

The construction of the second courthouse was ordered by the county court in August, 1838. This building was estimated to cost no more than $5,000.00 and was to be finished in two years. The building was finished in November, 1841. It stood until after the Civil War. This building was located on the site of the present courthouse.

In February, 1839 the county court changed the name of Medicine Creek township to Chillicothe township and in addition created some new townships and changed the names of still others.

County courts of the 1840’s and 50’s were busy, bridges had to be built, roads were laid out, and elections were held. Business of the court was routine as the county progressed from the wilderness into an orderly government.

Three commissioners were appointed in 1841 to study the need for bridges across streams. In the early 1840’s bridges were ordered built over east Grand (Thompson) River, Medicine Creek and Shoal Creek.

The first County court judges were appointed by the governor to transact business after the formation of the county. The General Assembly appointed three commissioners to select the location of the county seat. The land could be obtained either by purchase or donation and had to be no more than 160 acres if purchased and no less than 50 acres in any case.

This land was divided into lots and the governing body of the county retained lots suitable for county buildings. The remaining lots could be sold by a land commissioner appointed by the court.

Schools were financed in part from sales of lands donated to the counties. Swamp and overflow lands and swamp indemnity lands were held by the county and when sold the proceeds were used for school purposes.

There was a road and canal fund which was the proceeds of three percent interest on the net proceeds of the sale of public land in the state of Missouri. These monies were distributed among the several counties of the state. Such funds were to be used for the construction or repair of bridges, roads and canals.

In addition to these sources of income there was taxation of real estate and other property. Personal items such as watches and chains, livestock, and shares of stocks in banks were taxed. All free males over twenty-one and under fifty-five years of age paid a tax of thirty-seven and one half cents.

The county court appointed the treasurer in the first few years of the county and the sheriff was designated as collector of revenue.

To sum it up, the county functions were supported by taxes and by the sale of land. As more settlers arrived land and lots became more valuable both for sale and for purposes of taxation.

During the Civil War, conditions were chaotic and Livingston County courts were affected. Union troops occupied the city of Chillicothe part of the time. No regular term of court was held between June, 1861 and January, 1862. James Davis, A. Wallace and Abel Cox were the members of the county court at this time.

Beginning in 1862 a great deal of order was restored and the government of Livingston County proceeded more peacefully. Judges were required to take an oath of allegiance to the provisional government.

In 1862, the judges of the county court offered a bounty of $100.00 to anyone who would enlist in the Union Army before a certain date. No court was held between September, 1864 and February, 1865.

On August 6, 1868 they awarded a contract to J. O. Hogg for the erection of a new jail and attached living quarters. The cost of the building was to be $18,540.00 and was to be completed by August, 1869. This was the jail which was torn down in recent years and replaced with the present county jail.

September 8, 1869 the jail lot was purchased. The purchase price was $400.00 and the seller was John W. Boyle. This entry was of interest to the writer since Boyle was his great grandfather.

From 1837 to 1877 county courts varied some in their makeup. Generally, but not always, they were composed of three members with one member as its president or presiding judge. In some courts the probate judge was a member of the court. In July, 1872 a court composed of twelve members took office. These twelve members were a justice from each of twelve townships. (Sampsel township was created in 1874). Three of these judges were named Davis. Not surprisingly the man selected as president of the group was named Davis. This was followed by a court in 1873 of five members which consisted of a presiding judge and four district judges.

After the constitutional convention of 1875 was finished with its work, and on July 6, 1877 three men were presented their commissions from the governor and became the new court. They were Jacob Houx, R. B. Williams and Archibald Thompson. This was the beginning of our present form of county court.

The 1889 state statutes stated that beginning in 1880 and every two years thereafter two district judges shall be elected from two districts as nearly equal in population as possible without dividing municipal townships. This was a statute that was to be the cause of a law suit against the Livingston County court nearly a century later. It also stated that in 1882 and every four years thereafter the presiding judge from the entire county was to be elected. All judges were to serve until a successor was elected or otherwise qualified.

The names of the presiding judges in their line of succession from this point were: R. B. Williams, William Davis, Charles Stewart, P. Waite, J. C. Minteer, Samuel Forrester, D. A. French, James Hale, Chris Boehner, T. K. Thompson, John Hill, Andy Prager, R. D. Russell, Luther Williams, Lee Tiberghien, Fred Grouse, Frank Bonderer and Bill Hoyt. Judges of the Eastern District in this time span were: J. R. Houx, John Donovan, Charles Stewart, William Littrell, George Rohrer, J. F. Howard, G. W. Beauchamp, Charles Gates, C. L. Collins, James McCleary, John Waydelich, Ira Donovan, Joe Blazell, John Yeomans, John Alexander, W. E. Beat, Charley Young, J. F. Winans, William Bales, C. F. Powelson, J. E. Winn, E. L. Lang, Elmer Kerr, Bert Hoyt, Sterling Vanlandingham, Reuben Turner, Herman Shiflett, and V. H. (Jack) Wilkerson. From the Western District in this same time span, beginning in 1877, were: William Spears, Joseph Patton, A. A. Stone, Archibald Thompson, James Patton, J. H. Copple, G. A. Allnutt, R. J. Lee, J. M. Peniston, George Purcell, L. F. Bonderer, Andy Prager, William McCarthy, James Vanzant, Luther Williams, Andy Prager, Lee Tiberghien, J. E. Raulle, Fred Grouse, Albert Dickman, Arthur Treon, Charles Sidden, Ross Cooper, Otis Hurst, Charles Zullig, Bill Hoyt, and Roy C. Hicklin.

It may be noted that some names appear more than once. Several district judges became presiding judges and in a few cases district judges served at various times. In these cases the names appear more than one time.

By the turn of the century most government lands had been disposed of, but in 1899 C. W. Asper, Land Commissioner for Livingston County reported to the county court that Livingston County owned eighty acres of swamp indemity land in Christian County, southeast of Springfield. Other lands belonging to Livingston County, had been sold at $1.25 per acre.

This was the last mention of eighty acres for the next seventy five years.

On April 1, 1912 a petition was presented to county court judges F. K. Thompson, Lawrence Bonderer and John Yoemans asking they present to the voters a proposition for voting $100,000.00 in bonds to pay for the building of a new courthouse. The courthouse at that time was located across the street from the present jail. The bond issue was to be paid off in four years with twenty-five cents increase in the county tax rate. The election was held on April 10, 1912.

Results of that election, as certified by the county court, were 1845 for the proposition and 812 against. Since this was more than the necessary two-thirds majority the bond issue was successful.

The Dumas Construction Company had the lowest bid to build the courthouse. Warren Roberts and George Sasse were the architects. The courthouse was built and stands to this day.

The years of the thirties were the years of the “Great Depression”.  Some of the prices and conditions of those times are unbelievable to later generations. There was a problem to county government in that owners were not able to pay taxes levied against their property. County records reflect the attempts of property owners to survive. In many cases they would appeal to the county court to compromise or reduce taxes. The reason given was that the property was not worth the taxes owed on said property. In some cases they were reduced fifty percent without the dollar amount involved mentioned.

The county court was paying $3.45 per hundred board feet for bridge lumber, $4.19 a ton for coal and the bridge on west Third Street across Thompson River was bid in at $2,240.00.

The county at this time had a pauper fund which was used often. A great many court orders were for $2.00 and $3.00 for groceries. The county also maintained an infirmary or “Poor Farm”. The following is a bid turned in by the Springhill store for furnishing supplies to the infirmary; 1,000 pounds flour at $17.00, accepted; 1,000 pounds sugar $51.25, bid rejected as too high; 300 pounds coffee $49.50, also rejected as being too high.

In spite of the depression, or perhaps partly because of it, the county seemed to fare reasonably well. Taxes came down more slowly than did the price of products. At the beginning of 1934 the county’s financial condition was said to be in excellent shape, according to newspaper reports.

Low prices did not end with the thirties. As late as 1942, after World War II was well underway, the county court, on a split vote, raised the daily wage of the bridge employees from $3.00 to $3.50 per day.

In 1963 a state law was passed forbidding a county from owning any land except in adjoining counties. In 1970 persons from Christian County, Missouri made inquiries concerning land in that county owned by Livingston County. In 1972 the county court was notified that Livingston County did own eight acres of land in Christian County. In May, 1973 the court made a two day trip to Christian County, located the land and made an inspection of it and brought back pictures of typical hill land. The land was duly advertised and sold at the Livingston County courthouse door. The purchase price was $100.00 per acre with the schools receiving the money.

The seventies, saw several other events of importance recorded in the county court records. The courthouse at this time was nearly sixty years old and while still a magnificent building, was in need of some repair. The jail was over 100 years old and was still in service.

In 1971 the Livingston County jail and its living quarters were vacated by the sheriff and the prisoners moved to Carroll County.

In 1972 the county voted on a ten cents increase in the tax levy to replace the electrical system in the courthouse. The proposal did not carry. Shortly after this the county received federal aid in the form of grants and revenue sharing. This placed the county in a stronger financial condition than in many years. The courthouse was rewired, the circuit courtroom was air conditioned as was the magistrate courtroom. A new boiler was installed and $1,000.00 was spent on the steam pipes.

In February, 1978 the county voted on bonds totaling $550,000.00 for the purpose of building a new jail. This proposal passed by a nearly three to one margin. In the spring of 1979 the new county jail, a modern forty prisoner capacity, was ready for use.

In 1976 the Livingston County court were defendants in a lawsuit which claimed that the two districts from which county judges are elected were unequal in population and therefore unconstitutional. The county court’s reply was that the districts were unequal, but that the statutes forbid dividing a municipal township and unless this was changed the county could not be divided in any manner to have two equal districts. At the hearing the statute was declared unconstitutional and the county court was ordered to redistrict. This was to be done immediately since it was in the midst of an election year.

Also in the seventies the problems of reassessment were resolved. The supreme court of the state of Missouri ruled that the entire state must be reassessed in order to equalize property taxes. The order went to the Missouri State Tax Commission who in turn passed it down to the various assessors and boards of equalization. Livingston County received its notice in July, 1980 for a plan to be submitted by September 2. The reassessment is scheduled to be finished by January, 1, 1984.

By 1979 inflation was causing much concern in many counties over the state. Livingston County was no exception. At the end of 1979 the county borrowed a small amount of money against incoming taxes. This was the first time in several years that this had happened. It would appear at this writing that the county may be forced to ask the voting public for additional funds in the future. A sales tax or an increase in the present tax levy is a possibility. Either one requires a vote of the public. Counties generally seem to be facing difficult times in the near future.

It would perhaps be appropriate to mention several judges of Livingston County courts who have achieved something unusual. Frank Bonderer served longer than any other member of the court. He served twenty years from 1951 to 1971. All of this was as presiding judge.

Andy Prager served one term as associate judge, then was elected presiding judge, and later served as associate judge. He appears to be the only one to have done this. P. Waite, in 1891, served only one month. This was possibly the shortest term.

Jacob lbec, in 1873, won election by two votes. In 1878 Archibald Thompson was elected by three votes, but these cliffhangers are surpassed by William McCarthy who, in 1917, came out the winner in an election tie. Each candidate received 975 votes.

Joseph Slagle of 1846-50 was a man of action. He served as justice of his township as well as judge of the county court. He was married five times or more, owned a large tract of land, owned the first water mill in the county, was indicted for murder by a grand jury and subsequently cleared, and freighted in the west several years. He also studied for the ministry at one time.

Thomas Hutchison probably has the record for longevity. Born in 1800 and died in 1901, he lived every year of the nineteenth century. -- Judge Roy Hicklin Western District, County Court

CHILLICOTHE CITY GOVERNMENT

On August 7, 1837 the Livingston County court, then in session, took the first steps toward establishing the town of Chillicothe and the lots were laid out. Because of the location it was to be the county seat. At this time it was given the name Chilicothe, spelled with one l and was named for Chillicothe Ohio. It later took the present spelling because of an error made by a deputy county clerk who wrote the records. The name Chillicothe is a Shawnee Indian name and means “the big town where we live.”

Chillicothe was first incorporated by the county court August 13, 1851 on a two-thirds petition of the inhabitants. The next incorporation was by an act of the Legislature February 26, 1869 and the town became “the City of Chillicothe.”

The municipal government is a charter form of government with powers to operate vested in a mayor, one councilman-at-large and one councilman from each of the four wards in the city. The municipal government looks after the care of the streets, enforcement of sanitary measures, operation and care of public parks and playgrounds, maintains and operates a police and fire protection department and ambulance service. The care of the trees and shrubbery and upkeep of the Court House Plaza are municipal responsibilities.

Elected officials of the city government besides the mayor and council are the clerk, whose duty it is to be the custodian of the city sea[, keep all records, prepare commissions, file deeds, publish ordinances and annual reports; the City Treasurer handles the finances which includes collecting taxes, general and special licenses and revenues of the city, and keeps an account of all monies received and spent; The City Auditor, who is the accountant and as such receives and preserves all books, vouchers, contracts, and accounts pertaining to the city, purchases city supplies, makes monthly reports and assists the mayor in preparation of the annual budget; the Constable who is appointed by the council to act as chief of police and an Attorney who handles all legal matters.

The members of the Public Utilities Board, Hospital Board, Airport Board, Zoning Board and the Federal Housing Authority are appointed by and operate under the jurisdiction of the council. Besides members of the various Boards the council appoints the City Assessor, the Fire Chief, the City Engineer, Animal Control Officer, Public Health Administrator, and the Street Commissioner.

The city owns the Public Utilities which includes the Light and Water Plant and the Garbage Disposal System. It owns the Hedrick Medical Center, Simpson, Gravesville, Clay Street and East Side Parks, an airport located three miles east of Chillicothe and will own two low rent housing complexes when the Federal loan is retired. In 1978 the city purchased the Robertson building located in South Chillicothe on Highway 65 which is used to house the street department maintenance equipment. An aerial ladder fire truck was purchased in 1979 at a cost $212,000 to supplement the two pump trucks in use; in 1980 one new ambulance was bought which, in addition to two old ones, serves that system. Five police cars are owned by the city. The Coburn building was given to the city by Mr. Richard Coburn to be used for community services.

The city charter contains nine Articles which delegate the duties and powers of the city government. The Articles contain all the code of Ordinances that the charter provides and under which the city receives its power to operate.

Until 1901 city officials were elected to serve one year, but since that time all terms are for two years. The First city hall built in 1869 and all its records were destroyed by fire in 1875. A second City Hall of brick veneer was constructed in 1876-77 at a cost of $20,000 and stood until it too was destroyed by fire on May 18, 1925. Most of the records from that fire were saved and were housed in the Sipple building until on May 6, 1926, when a contract was let at a cost of $72,997 to build the solid brick structure which now stands and was dedicated in 1926.

The mayors and city council members who have served the city since 1875 are on record at the city Hall. We list only the mayors and their terms here: Mayor J. 0. Trumbo, 1875; H. M. Pollard, 1876; F. W. Trent, 1877; W. E. Gunby, 1978; J. T. Johnson, 1879; Henry Hatch, 1880; John W. Butner 1881, 1882 and 1883; Archibald McVey, 1884; Wm. E. Crellin, 1885; James L Buford, 1886; Moses Alexander, 1887; J. L. Schmitz, 1888; David Gordon, 1889; L. J. Broaddus, 1890; Charles F. Stewart, 1891; Frederick H. Hoppe, 1892; John T. Milbank, 1893; W. H. Booth, 1894; W. D. Leeper, 1895; Frank S. Miller, 1896; Isaac Hirsh 1897,1898; Robert S. Hall, 1899; Thomas J. Hoge, 1900; Isaac Hirsh 1901-03; W. W. Edgerton, 1903-05; Isaac Hirsh, 1905-1907; Charles F. Adams, 1907-1909; John H. Taylor, 1909-1911; Chris Boehner, 1911-1913; Stephen Hawkins, 1913-15; and again in 1915-17; L. A. Chapman, 1917-1919; Burdette V. Gill 1919-21; Frank Ashby, 1921-23; A. R. Coburn, 1923-25; William Scruby, 1925-27; Harry H. Pardonner, 1927-29; and 1929-31; John H. Taylor, 1931-33; William A. Rensch, 1933-35; G. C. Carnahan, 1935-37; and 1937-39; Murray N. Windle, 1939-41 and 1941-43; Beal Shaw, 1943-45; Frank Lang, 1945-47; Oscar 0. Cooke, 1947-49; Robert A. Staton, 1949-51; and 1951-53; R. B. Taylor 1953-55 - 1955-57 - 1957-59, 59-61, 61-63; Louis H. Stein, 1963-65; Frank C. Lang 1965-67; Woodrow Kline, 1967-69; 1969-71; Roy Rodebaugh, 1971-73; Ralph L. Moore, 1973-75; Mary E. Smith, 1975-77; Cecil Campbell, 1977-79; J. T. Oliver, 1979-81.

Miss Willa Jane Smith is Councilwoman-at-large for the present term of 1979-81, Charles O’Hara is first ward councilman, Richard Garr is second ward councilman, Richard Knouse is third ward councilman, and Darrel Rinehart, Jr. is fourth ward councilman.

SCHOOLS IN LIVINGSTON COUNTY

The one room school had an early start in Livingston County. Some of the early records show the earliest schools were Chillicothe, Black, and Blackburn. There were at least ten rural schools in the county before 1855.

Descriptions of schools show the early ones were very similar. They were built of rough logs with dirt or split log floors and a clapboard roof. Benches were split logs with pegs for legs. Often there was only one or two desks where students could write. Slates were used. Fireplaces were the only heat and wall reflector oil lamps were used occasionally for night meetings. Schools were used on Sunday and during the summer for church and Sunday Schools and later for community meetings such as the Grange.

There were at least 99 school districts within the county, excluding the Chillicothe district, at the height of population about the turn of the century.

Many of the earliest schools were subscription schools where payment was required for each student and books were provided by the family, each according to what they had available.

Classes were not always divided according to eight grades or classes. Ages varied from five to twenty years, with schools having an enrollment as high as fifty to seventy-five students. If the teacher kept order and taught the three “R’s” they had met the local requirements.

School terms were often five months in winter with a two-three month spring term. Salaries in the ‘80’s varied from $20 to $40 per month with few earning the higher salary. Janitorial work was expected of the teacher; this included sweeping, fixing fires and emptying ashes.

Not only were reading writing and arithmetic taught, so were geography, grammar, history and government. Goose quills were often used as pens and ink was made from local berries.

Many of the early schools were named for the people who donated land for the school. A few examples would be Smith, Gibbs, Slagle, Warner, Wye, Baxter and Hicks. One of the most unusual school names was Hog Skin Hollow. It had two other names, Brassfield and later, Happy Hollow. The origin of the name is unclear.

General Enoch Crowder of military fame was a teacher at Sneed School in the early 1870’s before he attended West Point. Another national figure was included in the history of a school. Grover Cleveland visited Stone School south of Dawn on October 18, 1887, during his first term as president. The teacher at the time was R. Morgan Jr. Why he stopped has been lost as far as local history is concerned, perhaps a study of the president’s papers might show why.

Memory chords are often struck by mention of McGuffy Readers, basket dinners, Christmas programs, Spencerian writing, games played at recess, ciphering and spelling matches, box suppers and school board elections. A red letter day at school was the visit of the county superintendent because the teacher wanted to make a good impression.

The State Department of Education developed as the years went on and provided a state guide for the teachers. Students who completed the eighth grade had to successfully pass a state examination before they could go on to high school. High Schools were organized in most of the villages in the county; at first they were only two-year schools, but by the 1920’s, there were several four-year high schools. The first twelfth grade graduation in Dawn was in 1919, and in 1922, in Ludlow.

About the time that high schools were expanding, the movement toward consolidation started. There was a great deal of conflict within some districts over the move. One consideration that led to dissatisfaction was that consolidation often resulted in higher school taxes.

Another change that came with consolidation and high schools was more educational requirements for the teachers to be qualified. Early teachers only needed to convince the school’s patrons that they could teach. As time went on college credit became a requirement. Local tests, administered by the county superintendents, were given each summer for prospective teachers. Passing the test and a summer of college was all that was required for a high school graduate to teach the following year in a rural school. The teachers were given a county certificate if they had passed the exam; a passing grade in college classes exempted them from parts of the test. Sixty hours of college credit were considered necessary for teaching high schools, but as time passed, a college degree in education became the goal of the consolidated districts and the high schools.

Information of specific schools and their individual history can be found in several places in the area. Chillicothe Constitution Tribune in its centennial edition (1937), had a great deal of information about the area schools. This paper is laminated and available in the county library and is also on microfilm there. In Roof’s Past and Present in Livingston County, published in 1913, there is material in volume 1, pages 174-190. It includes the names of most of the districts and who the teachers were and the presidents of the school board. In 1958-59 the Chillicothe Constitution Tribune published Mrs. Luther Boone’s histories of local schools. These have been collected by the library and are available there as well as on microfilm. The county clerk has the old records of the rural schools on file and they are available for research. -- M. S. Jones

CHILLICOTHE SCHOOLS

Following the great American tradition the early settlers of Livingston County were interested in the education of their children, thus the schools followed the homes and the churches in this area.

The first mention of a public school in Chillicothe is in 1841, when the first county courthouse, erected at the cost of $50.00 was turned over to the citizens of Chillicothe for a “Public School.” This log structure was located on Lot 5, Block 11 of the old survey of Chillicothe. This site was between Cooper and Calhoun streets on the west side of Walnut Street.

Evangelists and “walking preachers” taught many of the boys and girls of the pioneers. They started schools in abandoned hunter’s shacks, in homes and other available buildings where the pupils learned their A.B.C’s, read Aesops Fables and the Bible.

The subscription schools where the parents paid according to the number of children from the family that attended the school followed the early preachers. This type of school was the general accepted practice until the General Assembly in 1853, provided for a uniform system of public schools throughout the early state and set aside funds for their maintenance. This rule governed Chillicothe schools until after the Civil War but in 1865 a special charter was given which exempted it from many provisions of the general law.

The building of new grade school buildings immediately followed the passing of the special charter and in 1865 the second, third and fourth ward schools were built but the first ward pupils attended school in the Garr building on the corner of Locust and Calhoun. At the same time the high school met in the basement of the First Methodist Church which stood at the corner of Webster and Cherry.

In 1876 the new public high school was completed at a cost of $35,000 on the square bounded by Ann, Elm, Vine, and Third streets. That new building was regarded as the finest public school building in the state outside of St. Louis. It was three stories high, of brick, with a tower at the front and one at the back and high basement where the library was installed. This building was in constant use from 1877 until the close of school in 1923 when it was condemned and shortly afterwards razed.

On the same lot with Old Central in the year 1900, a new high school building was built at a cost of $25,000. In 1914, an addition costing $33,000 completed the structure. This building was razed in the summer of 1951.

In 1923 bonds in the amount of $300,000 were voted to build the present high school building which was opened for use January 5, 1925.

The board of education in 1875 was authorized by a vote of the people to issue bonds to the amount of $30,000 for the erection of “old Central”. In 1878 some question came up about the legality of the issuance with a view of having the ten per cent rate of interest reduced by compromise.

The holder of the bonds, Mr. W. B. Hazelton of Tarrytown, New York, proposed to donate two percent of the interest upon all of the bonds then unpaid, upon the condition that such donations should be used in the purchase of a library to be known as the Hazelton Public School Library. The proposition was accepted.

In 1880, the Library had 5,000 books purchased from this fund. The close of the school year in May, 1937, 11,980 books had been accessioned according to Miss Josephine Norville, English teacher, who was in charge of the library. There are 2,000 books not accessioned from the original library.

In 1924, the school board was advised that in the estate of Ellen V. D. Hazelton of New York was a bequest of $25,000 to the Hazelton Library. Early school librarians were Miss Annie Broaddus, Miss Coral Ellett, and Miss Carrie Brant. 

“The Cresset” which is the high school yearbook was first published in 1905 by the Senior class. The following year the Junior Class edited the annual. Mrs. Belle (Hogan) Reed suggested the name “The Cresset”.

1937 Centennial edition

Constitution Tribune

Many dramatic changes occurred to the Chillicothe Schools during the past thirty years. The “one room” schools were reorganized with the high school districts within the county, and riding the yellow bus to schools became a way of life for the rural children.

Student enrollments gradually increased following World War II and reached its peak of 2,690 in the 1972 school year. A gradual decline followed with 2,186 students being enrolled at the beginning of the 1980 school year.

The cost of education, like most other economic areas was caught in the inflation spiral of the past three decades. The Board of Education minutes of 1949 state “The per pupil cost of instruction was studied . . . The figures show that the high school per pupil cost was $150., also that the elementary student was over $100. With this information in mind, on the motion of Mr. Frith, seconded by Mr. Scruby, it was unanimously voted to increase the elementary tuition to $90. per year and the high school tuition to $95. per year.” By comparison, the tuition during the 1980 school year is $1,520. for elementary and $2,130, for high school students.

Members of the Board of Education, during the past thirty years, have included: Lee Jackson, Merl Jones, W. L. Shaffer, Jr., George K. Minershagen, Joseph Gale, Robert Frith, Stanley Scruby, Melvin Grace, Kirk Winkelmeyer, Bruce Allen, Russell Potter, Ben Wood Jones, Earl Hill, Gilbert Olenhouse, John R. Neal, Sam Long, Bill Coleman, Dale Ream, Joe Singer, Lloyd Cleaveland, Dale Whiteside, W. L. Altheide, Billie Fair, Merle Doughty, Don Chapman, Jr., John E. Cook, David Macoubrie, Clithro Anderson, Kitty Hofheins, Edwin Clark, Melvin McDonnal, Paul Steele, and Betty Preston.

Since 1947, the Chillicothe School District has had two School Superintendents; Raymond E. Houston, 1947-1969, and James E. Eden, 1969 to the present. -- Dr. James Eden

CATHOLIC SCHOOLS

Father J. J. Hogan opened the first Catholic school in Chillicothe in 1861. The public school had been closed because of dissention during the Civil War and the children were running the streets. His school lasted for two years and taught a wide variety of subjects to Catholics and non-Catholics.

A parochial school was started by the Sisters of the Holy Humility of Mary, known as the Blue Sisters. They came to Chillicothe in December, 1869, and taught school in an abandoned church south of the railroad tracks. They left Chillicothe in December, 1870, leaving some of their materials in an old hotel, the Redding House. In January of 1871, the Sisters of St. Joseph of Carondelet came to establish a school in the Redding House, which was located east of Central School. They had to spend some time readying the old building to make it usuable, and school opened in February, 1871. The same year the sisters purchased a lot at Ninth and Vine Streets, and started building St. Joseph’s Academy. The Academy opened in January, 1872. It was open to young ladies only, no boys were allowed until 1917. The Academy taught grammar, French, German, Latin, evolution, history, algebra, physiology, literature, philosophy, chemistry, botany, astronomy, geometry, trigonometry and music. St. Joseph’s Academy was fully accredited by the University of Missouri in 1921. It was closed for two years in 1929-1931.

The first parish school, St. Columban’s School, was built in 1880, when Father Francis Moenning was pastor and, due to structural damage, was rebuilt on the same site in 1913. In 1958, the high school, St. Joseph’s Academy, was moved to the St. Columban’s School building and remained there until its closing in 1969. The grade school, St. Columban’s, was renamed Bishop Hogan Memorial School in 1957 when the cornerstone was laid for the new building. The principal of Bishop Hogan Memorial School in 1980, is Sister Kathleen Reichert, O.S.F.

“TINY TOT” KINDERGARTEN

Mrs. C. W. Robinson, one of Chillicothe’s most beloved school teachers, organized the “Tiny Tot” Kindergarten, a private kindergarten, the first one in Chillicothe, in September 1922 at her home on 1803 Calhoun street. It moved to 905 Washington street, when the Robinson’s moved there in 1936. Mrs. Robinson was instrumental in starting hundreds of children, who progressed thru the years and have gone forth to achieve fame in different walks of life. Some of her students were Allen Moore III, Charles G. Adams, Don Chapman, Jr., Nolan Chapman, Jr., Vincent Moore, Dr. Ken Rinehart, Jr., Jim Fish, Dr. Charles Melvin Grace and Don Gordon, and his daughter Karen. Now, Elizabeth Tiberghien is teaching his grandchildren.

Mrs. Robinson was past president of Central School Parent Teacher Association, where she was a faculty member. She played an active part, in all community projects and was instrumental in the organization of The Visiting Nurse Board, Livingston County Memorial Library Board, held many offices in the Missouri Federation of Women’s Clubs and was an active member of the First Methodist Church. She was a person of high ideals and was known for her meticulous workmanship, in anything, she undertook.

Mrs. Robinson was born in Villisca, Iowa in 1876, the daughter of Honorable Franklin Pierce and Alice R. Greenlee. She graduated from the Villisca High School, University of Nebraska, served as a principal and teacher in Iowa, Georgia, and the Chillicothe Public schools.

Mr. Robinson was born in Neward, Ohio in 1865 and was Traveling Freight and Passenger Agent with the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad. He died February 2, 1954.

Mrs. Robinson continued to teach the “Tiny Tots” until her death July 28, 1964. The “Tiny Tot” Kindergarten has since been operated by Mrs. Robinson’s daughter, Mrs. Donald (Elizabeth) Tiberghien at her home on 701 West View. The traditions of the kindergarten have been continued with celebration of holidays, participation in the March of Dimes, Red Cross and other community projects. Each year Mrs. Tiberghien has nine months of school for twenty or more, four and five year olds.

Mrs. Tiberghien’s daughter, Betty Don, is also a teacher. She received her B.S. degree from Northeast State University at Kirksville, Missouri. Mr. Tiberghien was born in Chillicothe, July 10, 1913. He was foreman at the North American Aviation Company in Kansas City, Missouri, and owner of the Chillicothe Upholstery Company, at the time of his death, February 16, 1969.

STATE TRAINING SCHOOL FOR GIRLS

The State Industrial Home for Girls was established by an act of the General Assembly in March of 1887. In July of that year the commissioners, appointed by the Governor accepted a donation of $5,000 from the Chillicothe Board of Trade.

The first cottage was built in 1888 known as Marmaduke Cottage. Succeeding cottages were known as Missouri, 1895, Slack, 1901 and Folk, 1907. The first girl was sent to Chillicothe in 1889. By 1910 more than seven hundred girls had lived in the institution. The first superintendent was Miss Emma Gilbert.

In the early days of the Home, industrial work was emphasized such as: cooking, bakery, laundry, and sewing. The Home had its own dairy, garden, laundry and bakery. A power plant was added in 1910, and in 1922, a steam laundry and Hyde School were built. In the 1930’s Park Cottage was built and Stark Cottage was built as an infirmary. In the 1920’s and 1930’s elaborate May Day fete’s were held, the school had an orchestra and a peak enrollment of more than three hundred girls.

The sewing department of the school at one time made all of the clothing worn by the girls and stressed needlework. A beauty shop was started and training was given to the girls so they could pass their State Board of Cosmetology Examinations.

Mrs. Kitty Shepherd Griesser was superintendent for a number of years in the 1930’s and early 1940’s.

Stella Hall Thompson was superintendent in’the early 1940’s. She was followed by Lena Ruddy Smithson. During her superintendency Marmaduke Cottage was torn down, and Donnelly was built. The Board of Training Schools was set up in 1945. Dorothy Forest Roberts was superintendent for a brief time and was followed by Florence Dennis. A nursing course was added during her superintendency and in 1956 Negro girls were moved from Tipton to Chillicothe.

Myrtle Weber was superintendent in 1960 and 61. During her superintendency Blair Cottage was built. Girls started working as aides at Peter Pan School during this time.

She was followed by Mary Jane Gokbora. Vocational certificates were issued for pre-vocational training and a Class AA school with 34 and one half units of credit was maintained at this time.

Janet Van Walraven was the next superintendent. An Intensive Care unit was established in 1969 to provide intensive individual help to meet the increase in number of seriously disturbed, impulse ridden girls.

She was followed by Margaret Jones as superintendent. In 1975 the Division of Youth Services came into being, and the overall treatment program includes both academic and remedial education and pre-vocational courses along with group therapy. Jerry D. Wilmath is at present superintendent of the school.

LIVINGSTON COUNTY MEMORIAL LIBRARY

The Livingston County Memorial Library owes its beginning (1920) and early years to the dedicated efforts of the members of the City Federation of Women’s Clubs.

In 1920, inspired by the State Legislature’s offer of a matching $1000 contribution to a memorial honoring First World War Servicemen, the clubs with community help raised the $1,000; the project was the Livingston County Memorial Library. The library opened August 1921 in 2 rooms of a house on the corner of Calhoun and Washington; Miss Ann Broadclus was the first librarian.

In 1923 the library moved to a room in the courthouse, and from there in 1936, to a house at 813 Calhoun purchased by the Library Association. The book collection had increased to over 8,000. Funding during these years had been mainly by regular drives, special donations and many hours of dedicated service.

By the 1940’s it was evident a tax base was needed. With the additional effort of the County Extension Clubs a library district was voted in 1947 and a one mill tax for the library. The library then moved into the building on the corner of Washington and Jackson, which the Library Association had purchased, selling the Calhoun building and using those funds for remodeling. The building and operation of the library were turned over to the newly organized county library districts voted by the taxpayers.

In the early 50’s the library made great strides, becoming one of Missouri’s progressive pioneer county libraries with a professional librarian, Katherine Devereaux. Adding a bookmobile the services were extended throughout the county and provided rural schools with their first real library service. Frances Elliott came as librarian in 1952. In the 60’s the library took another forward stride; Elizabeth Coffman, a native Livingston Countian had become librarian after receiving her Masters’ degree in 1964. Through tremendous effort and support the acquiring and remodeling of the old Federal Building at Clay and Locust was accomplished and opened in 1966. By 1967 the inadequacy of the one mill tax was evident and again through the dedicated efforts of the librarian, board and many organizations and individuals, the tax was increased to 2 mills. In the 70’s the library continued to grow in books and services. The collection of books reached the 50,000 mark. The reference department had expanded including the cataloging of the valuable Somerville Missouri history collection and the addition of the popular genealogy section. Lillian DesMarias came as librarian in 1970 and in 1972 Anitra Steele was added as a professional children’s librarian.

The continued growth of the library is promised in the youth and vitality of the new (1980) librarian, Janet Hartline, and the children’s librarian, Judith Shoot.

Guiding the growth and success of the library over these many years since 1921 has been the dedication and determination of the many board members; all made their contribution. Mrs. Raymond Russell represents her fellow members in the 48 years she served - 38 of those years as president. Others included: Ronald Somerville, Mrs. Jean Miquelon, Mrs. I. W. Waffle, H. R. Rickenbrode, Miss Grace Stone, H. W. Leech and Mrs. Ray Douglas. Present board members are: Mrs. Oscar Cooke, Dr. James Eden, Mrs. James Baker, Mrs. Lena Bowen and Ben Wood Jones.

SOIL & WATER CONSERVATION

DISTRICT OF LIVINGSTON COUNTY

Interest in the formation of a Soil and Water Conservation District in Livingston County developed early in 1962. An organization meeting was held in Chillicothe, July 20. After petitions were approved, a hearing was held by the Missouri Soil and Water District Commission of December 11, 1962, followed by a referendum on January 26, 1963. Five hundred landowners and representatives voted in favor of the establishment of a Soil and Water Conservation District. Fifty-two opposed. At the same time, the following were elected to serve as Supervisors.

Area I, Jackson, Sampsel and Cream Ridge Townships - Virgil Mason

Area II, Medicine, Wheeling and Rich Hill Township - W. W. Lowe

Area III, Chillicothe, Grand River and Fairview Townships - Jerry Litton

Area IV, Mooresville, Monroe, Green and Blue Mound Townships - John Warren

On March 14, 1963, the Board of Supervisors was organized as follows:

Chairman -- Virgil Mason, Chillicothe

Vice Chairman Treasurer -- Jerry Litton, Chillicothe

Treasurer -- John Warren, Dawn

Member -- Wilmer Lowe, Wheeling

The Extension Director serves as Secretary to the Board. The term of office is four years.

The Livingston County Soil and Water Conservation District incorporates all of Livingston County.

The total land area is 341,320 acres. The Conservation District carries on its program by securing cooperation and assistance from other organizations, agencies and individuals. The district furnishes technical help to land-users in planning and applying conservation practices on their land.

The first SCS personnel assigned to the District was Warren George in 1968. Lowell E. Grimm transferred in 1964 and Hal Norwood in 1965. Lyle Noblitt replaced Warren George as District Conservationist in January 1966. Other farmers elected to the Board include: Area I, Merle Doughty; Area II, Melvin Littrell, W. C. Wombles, Voyle Grothe Area III, Everett Williams, Graham Alter; Area IV, David Gilliland, Charles Morse, Kent Mouser and Jay McVicker.

In 1972 the State Commission allocated each Conservation District money to hire a clerk part time. Valeta Jones was hired in September of 1972. Debbie Bowe replaced her in April 1976.

Extension personnel that served as secretary include Frank Miller, Hubert Headrick and Clem Koenig. Livingston District has served as a training location for the SCS, due to the varied conservation work being done. C. L. Carter, Gary Peterson, William Gilliland, Rex Moore, Diane Reinhardt, Ted Utz, Unja Martin, Darrell Shiply and Shelly Emmons all trained or worked part-time in the Livingston Conservation District. The Goal of the District is to use every acre within its capability and treat it according to its needs.

UNIVERSITY OF MISSOURI EXTENSION

Extension Work in Livingston County began in 1918 when the University of Missouri sent Brett Harris to Chillicothe to impress upon Livingston County farmers the need for them to grown more food to satisfy wartime needs. He established an office in the Courthouse and showed farmers how to test seed corn with the rag doll seed test. Germination tests on some prominent farmer’s farms were not as good as anticipated; they blamed the new County Agent and he was terminated.

In 1920 a Farm Bureau organization was started in Livingston County and under its auspices Vance Hershan came as County Agent. Officers of the Farm Bureau were L. F. Bonderer, F. W. Rickenbrode, A. W. Gale and J. S. Hooper. A pig club was started with 38 boys and girls. In 1921 Dick Forrestor came as County Agent and he began farm demonstrations. In 1922 the office was moved to the new Federal Building, now the Livingston County Memorial Library.

Mr. Forrestor, with a flair for the dramatic, staged “The Burial of Timothy Hay”. A follow up was a Beauty Contest for farm girls competing for the honor of “Queen of the Hays”.

In 1927 the County Agent was Elmer McCollum; in 1928 the Livingston County Agricultural Extension

Association was formed. Women were included for the first time in 1927 when Miss Bina Slaughter came to Chillicothe to hold a meeting on kitchen improvement. In 1927 The Co-Op Creamery was built and boys and girls clubs were organized in dairy.

A questionnaire sent to farm wives in 1928 showed that while 105 had some kind of water in the house, only 13 had bathrooms and only 47 had lighting systems. Only 45 had some kind of built-in cabinets. In 1928 farm wives had a hen culling school.

In 1929 the first home ec girls clubs were started: 4-H clothing began that year with 28 local leaders. The first 4-H clothing club was Rich Hill with 70 girls enrolled. The Rainbow, Sturges, and other women’s clubs sponsored girls’ clothing clubs. Among the first winners were Ruth Kissick, Elouise Saale, Juanita Hopper and Geneva Bowman. The first girls achievement day was held in 1931. There were three women’s extension clubs in that year with a membership of 66.

In 1931 and 32 the emphasis was on “Remodeling Garments”; 4-H girls also learned to make their own bloomers, slips and brassieres. There was a canning demonstration in 1932 at the State Industrial Home where methods of pressure canning and hot pack 49 were demonstrated.

In 1933 Eugene Lee became Ag Agent; the county bought a movie projector and film strip projector. Early extension clubs still in existence are New York, Rainbow and Sturges.

In 1934 there was emphasis on record keeping in raising chicks. Extension clubs had increased to eight with 154 members. They learned to make mittens and to waterproof shoes. A booklet was compiled for school lunch recipes.

In 1935 the County Council of Women’s Extension Clubs was organized; Mrs. Ira Hanks was the first president. The first Achievement Day for adults was held in August with 140 in attendance. The Council held 134 clinics and also immunization clinics for typhoid and diphtheria. In 1936 Mrs. E. W. Timmons, Council President, was sent to Washington as a delegate to the Association of Countrywomen of the World. Projects for the year were making aprons, collars and cuffs, and yard beautification. There were demonstrations of floor coverings and dry cleaning. This was the year of grasshoppers and drouth; trench silos were used to try to save the crop.

In 1937 the first Home Demonstration Agent, Marguerite McClelland came to Livingston County. 4-H Club work grew and three Livingston County 4-H boys and girls went to National 4-H Congress that year. There were 39 4-H clubs and 36 Women’s Extension Clubs. Extension Clubs helped observe the Livingston County Centennial with a float “Better Homes”. Twelve clubs began to sponsor hot lunch programs in country schools.

Popular projects in the late 1930’s were making wooden beaded purses, leather purses and leather gloves. Yeast breads, raw vegetables and homemade rugs were also made. In 1939 REA came to Livingston County; Rural Youth Organizations were started in 1939. Recreation schools were held; extension clubs made pressing equipment, sleeve boards and rolls. 4-H Community Clubs were begun in Rich Hill, New York and Sturges communities. Extension women had a one-act play and music contests and a County chorus was started.

In 1940 Ruth Burke came as Home Demonstration Agent; in 1941 the first 4-H Sundays were held in 9 communities. With the war beginning, stress was on greater home food production and preservation and nutrition. Clothing projects were making housedresses and children’s clothes. Red Cross sewing and knitting classes were held.

A school was made to make cotton mattresses and 475 were made; furniture repair and slip covers was also a project. Women were encouraged to attend Soil and Crops Conference. Club members were asked to sign the consumer pledge and practice good consumer buying. Cooperative canning projects were begun during the war; hot school lunches were started at Chula, Mooresville, Wheeling and Bedford with WPA help. USO Clubs came to town and Extension Club women baked cookies and enrolled their daughters as USO hostesses.

In 1943 Geneva Todd came as Home Agent. Lessons were held on recaning chairs, doing home tailoring, sharing the meat, and wartime meals. A canning center was held at Central School.

In 1944 there was a shortage of Farm labor. A favorite lesson was “Desserts under Rationing.” Miss Cleta Brundidge and Mrs. John Hill started a canning center at the Vocational Ag Building. Other canning centers were at Mooresville and Wheeling.

In 1945 Bob Kaye was the County Agent; Ruby Ice was Home Agent with S. Taylor Dowell as 4-H Agent. 87 dress forms were made that year and 53 chairs and divans were slip covered. 64 women participated in sewing machine clinics. The first interstate 4-H Show was begun in St. Joseph. Frozen foods became possible, Balanced Farming Programs were introduced in the county.

In 1947 the agents were Abe Early, Ruby Randall and Frank Miller. Textile painting was popular.

In 1949 Vernon Whistler and Clark Lewis were added to the Extension Staff; everyone was getting home freezers. Aluminum tray making was popular.

In the 1950’s the home agents were Shirley Clowdis, Ruth Leiberam, Maurine Stephens and June Lamme. In the 1960’s came reorganization of the Extension Service with Kay Wade as nutritionist and Delois Buswell as clothing specialist.

In the years since the war most farm homes have become modernized and farm income has risen beyond the subsistence level. The backyard privy is gone and has been replaced by two or three modern bathrooms. Many farm homes have dishwashers and garbage disposals; automatic washers and dryers have replaced old wash tubs and wash boards. Farmers get their information from T.V. and have less need for bulletins and books and meetings. Modern farm machinery has taken the drudgery out of farming and farms are specialized to such an extent that most farms no longer have chickens or a cow.

The 1960’s brought specialization to the Extension Staff; Hubert Hedrick was named Area Director, Kaye Wade worked with nutrition, DeLois Buswell with Clothing, Clem Koenig with farm management, June Lamme with continuing education and Bob Barnet with 4-H. Later Jack McCall came on as Community Development Agent, Barbara Hughes Burton as Family Life, Ron Stoller as Continuing Education, Ed Gann as Business specialist, and Art Schneider as Youth Agent.

In the 1970’s, Extension worked with the entire community, not just 4-H families. With more women working outside the home, smaller families, lower birth rate, women’s liberation, more senior citizens, T.V. dinners, fast food restaurants and the acceptance of pant suits, women’s lives have changed and there is not as much interest in women’s extension clubs. Television not only educates the children but the parents as well. Farming is big business; the small marginal farmer has been squeezed out. A farmer must have big acreage to support his expensive tractor and multi-rowed machinery. Inflation has brought other changes though as the 1980’s decade begins; there is a back-to-the-land movement and once again young families are moving out to small acreages where they may want to raise a few chickens, milk a cow, and raise a garden.

Farm people still get together once a year at the 4-H FFA Fair. The first county fair was started in 1962 and was held at the Litton Charlais Farm. In 1963 and 1964 the County 4-H FFA Fair was held at the Milbank Mills, then in the late 1960’s arrangements were made to get a long term lease on land at the Chillicothe Airport for a County 4-H FFA Fair. Improvements have been made each year until now in 1980, the 4-H FFA Fair Ground boasts two enclosed buildings, a Hog Barn, a Sheep Barn, a Cattle Barn, a Horse Barn, a fenced in arena and other improvements. The fair is held annually the third week in July. -- Ruth Seiberling

LIVINGSTON COUNTY 4-H CLUBS

About the year 1903 various farm leaders began sponsoring boys and girls agriculture clubs. In 1902, A. B. Graham, a county superintendent in Ohio began one of the first clubs. 4-H club is a program for young people who take part in farming, home-making and community service, personal improvement and other activites. The 4-H motto is “Make the best better”. Club members learn by doing. The 4-H colors are green and white and the club emblem is a green four leaf clover with a white H in each leaf. The 4-H’s stands for Head, Heart, Hands, and Health.

4-H clubs were first started in Livingston County in the late 1920’s and early thirties. Ed Popham was in charge of the livestock projects. The first Achievement Day was held at the C.B.C. college and the livestock show at Simpson Park in the ball park. The clubs began to grow in number with young people and projects, so Achievement Day was moved to the Chillicothe High School for several years, then to the armory, Litton Ranch, Milbank Mills and then because of continued growth, it was decided that they needed a permanent place to have 4-H shows. A group of 4-H leaders started by organizing a Fair Park board and solicited from the businesses of Chillicothe and individuals to raise enough money to build the first green building on land leased from the airport. It since has added another building adjoining the green building, and has built three stock barns and a horse barn. They have their own food and refreshment building, have prepared bleachers for livestock and rodeo and horseshows.

Until the,last ten years the Achievement Day was only held for two days but due to the growth in membership, projects and activities it is now held for four days. Since the Future Farmers of America members also participate in the fair it is now known as the 4-H and FFA Fair.

In the last few years many more projects have been added, some of which are bees, rabbits, pets, horsemanship crops, ceramics, painting, crochet, knitting, quilting, flower arrangements, quilting,

macrame, cake decorating, all kinds of crafts, refinishing furniture. Project requirements are a measure of the work to be done, the boy or girl selects his own projects with the help of a project leader.

One of the standards of a 4-H Club is that it includes a 4-H activity in its program, some of which are courtesy, good grooming, first aid, wild life conservation, safety, marketing, community improvement and community service.

Each year from annual reports sent into the leaders of 4-H, the member who has the best record is selected to attend thp National 4-H Congress at Chicago. Members are also sent to 4-H State Club week at the University of Missouri in Columbia. Each year in October, different clubs get up displays in merchants windows and vie for ribbons.

When 4-H first started in Livingston County, money to support the 4-H Council was raised by having a carnival at the City Hall, square dances, talent programs put on by the clubs at the high school. Now the money is raised by selling membership in the 4-H FFA Fair and renting out booths to the town merchants who display their products, and by having programs at the fair, such as a carnival, horseshoe pitching, and rodeos. A part of the fair each year is a pet and costume parade for the small children.

For several years a county wide picnic was held at Simpson Park for all 4-H members and their families. Games were provided and prizes were given. For many years the clubs set up a booth at the State Fair and every project which had won a blue ribbon at the county fair was sent to the state fair and judged again where it received ribbons and money which were given on a point system. Now there are so many 4-H club members, that they no longer judge the articles, they are sent more as a display to show people in Missouri what 4-H members are doing. They receive a state blue ribbon and a small monetary gift for articles sent.

The county fair at one time was judged by Home Economics Extension Agents, but now project leaders and parents do the judging.

The 4-H clubs elect their own officers, appoint committees and with help select their leaders. They meet once a month and conduct their own meeting and programs and give demonstrations and talks on their activities. 4-H Sunday is observed each year by the clubs at the church of their choice.

A council made up of the older boys and girls who with the help of the youth leader, meet several times a year and set up rules and regulation for the club members. They plan training meetings and also fun times. They are called Junior Leaders who are given specific leadership jobs.

4-H clubs started out as rural clubs but time has changed and there are more town clubs than rural. The 4-Leaf Clover Club in Chillicothe was the first urban club in the county. It was organized in 1947 and was sponsored by the Chillicothe Extension Club. The leaders were Mrs. George Traeger and Mrs. Leonard Huff.

The most important job of a 4-H Club is to give every boy and girl in the community a chance to learn something and develop his own particular talents. Some of the extension agents who have worked with 4-H clubs during the early years up until the present time are: Eugene Lee, Bob Kaye, Abe Early, Frank Miller, Clark Lewis, Don Schooler, Nelson Trickey, Rex Rhoades, John Burkholder, C. W. Browning, and some of the home economics agents were Ruby Randall, Ruby Ice, Eloise Harryman, Ruth Lieberam, Shirley Tye, June Lamme, and Barbara Burton. -- Eva Troeger

LIVINGSTON COUNTY MULTI-PURPOSE SENIOR CENTER

The Livingston County Multi-Purpose Senior Center was established in Chillicothe in February 1974. The primary purpose is to provide direct services to the senior citizens, such as the congregate meals, recreation, transportation, etc. The Senior Center and the Congregate Meals programs were made possible by utilizing federal funds provided by Title III of the Older American Act of 1965. The first Congregate Meals were served in the Cornerstone, corner of Church & Leeper Street under the direction of Mrs. Pam Russell, director of Livingston Co. Multi-Purpose Senior Center.

In September 1975, Linda Craig became director. In Oct. 1976, Lucille Klinefelter was named director.

The Congregate Meals program is presently serving 100 meals per day for senior citizens sixty years and older.

The Senior Center is now located in the Coburn Building at 440 Locust Street. Wanda Thomas is head cook, Rosalie Hoyt is assistant cook, Grace Inman is activity director, and Thaddieus Jackson is handy man. Lois Mantzey is custodian and substitute cook. Shirley Moore is volunteer bookkeeper.

The senior center is also staffed by fifty RSVP volunteers who work at the reservation desk, the gift shop, the kitchen, and other special projects. -- Lucille Klinefelter

RETIRED SENIOR VOLUNTEER PROGRAM

The Retired Senior Volunteer Program, more commonly known as RSVP, started in Livingston County in September 1973, when Ruth Seiberling was hired as director and Patricia North was hired as secretary- bookkeeper. The program is federally funded by ACTION, a federal agency, which also has Peace Corps and Vista Workers. The local program must match federal funds with a 30-70 match.

The purpose of the program is to recruit, train, place and recognize senior citizens who are over age sixty and retired but who can still make a contribution to the community through their volunteer efforts. Since the start of the program in 1973 more than six hundred volunteers have been enrolled and contributed volunteer hours.

Volunteers work in the County Library, and have worked in every school in the county; they work with Head Start, and the State Training Center for the Retarded. They work in Peter Pan School, in nursing homes, with Hope Haven Sheltered Workshop, at the State Training School for Girls, in Hedrick Medical Center, at the Grand River Historical Museum, on the genealogy program, on the Mobile Meals Program, at the Senior Center at the reservation desk, in the Congregate Meals Program, and in the gift shop. They figure property tax refunds, they do telephone reassurance for shut-ins, they assist the Livingston County Health Center and the Blood Bank. They work with the Community Therapeutic Resocialization Program of Ex-Mental Patients; they carry on a crime prevention program by marking valuables in homes. They have assisted in day nurseries, run the OATS BUS program, and have done many neighborly good deeds. In a typical year RSVP volunteers do close to 40,000 hours of volunteer work.

Not the least of the tasks that RSVP volunteers have undertaken is the publishing of this book. More than fifty volunteers have been involved in telephoning, collecting material, doing research, typing, proof-reading, and all of the other tasks involved in getting this much material together.

Under the leadership of Lillian Des Marias, RSVP volunteer who has served as editor and Sue Jones, who has served as assistant editor they have worked diligently to accomplish in a few short months the compilation of “150 Years of Livingston County History”. The staff of the RSVP office Beverly Schultz, and Lisa Crawford have spent many hours typing and retyping these pages in addition to carrying on the regular programs of the Retired Senior Volunteers.

RSVP volunteers work for the love of others; they enjoy making a contribution to the life of the community. They work for no pay but an occasional thank you and a smile or a warm hand-clasp. Twice a year there are RSVP Recognition parties when RSVP volunteers congregate to eat, and to be entertained, but their biggest pay comes from the love of a child, the smile of an elderly patient, or just the knowledge that they have lived life more fully making someone else happy. Space does not permit us to list all of the 230 RSVP volunteers who are now active in the program, but they know who they are and what their contribution is.  --Ruth Seiberling, Director

OATS

This year OATS celebrates its ninth year of operation in the state of Missouri. It began in August, 1971, and has greatly expanded from its humble beginnings in Callaway County to its present area of service which includes eighty-eight of the one hundred fourteen Missouri counties. OATS began as a cooperative transportation service for the disadvantaged senior citizens, handicapped, low income and others, and was called CTS. In 1972, when it came to Livingston County, the name had been changed to OATS, (Older Adult Transportation System) and from the very beginning it was accepted and used throughout the county as a means of transportation.

In December 1973, the service became known as Older Adults Transportation Service, Inc. It is now known officially as OATS, Inc., a private not-for-profit corporation of the State of Missouri. The money from the $1 shares of stock sold in the beginning was absorbed by the new corporation, and went towards payment of the debts of the old corporation.

This county began with a blue Plymouth bus and the first driver was Margaret Vestal. She was replaced by Alvin Stretch in December, 1972. Other drivers have been Don Kenney, Hamilton, and James Childs, Chillicothe, and the present driver, Grace L. Smith of Chula, who is beginning her fifth year. Mrs. Smith drove a 1976 Dodge until OATS and Livingston County purchased a new Plymouth in February of this year.

OATS features a unique system of transportation. It offers personalized service designed with each riding member in mind. OATS will take the rider from the doorstep of his choice and back home again. Destinations range from the doctor, dentist, shopping centers, grocery stores, or a sight of interest in Missouri, and the nutrition site.

Mrs. Hazel McWhirter along with many others in this county worked many hours in making the OATS transportation a success. Mrs. McWhirter has served on the state board as well as on silver haired legislation. Mrs. Jennie Strong of this city is the present chairman of the committee which conducts the business affairs of the bus. Serving with her are Rachel Young, Bessie Pfaff, Anna Wells and Ruth Graham of this city; Novella Robinson and Pauline Stamper, Ludlow; Grace Stone, Utica; Mayme Thorne, Chula; Tennis McNally and Berta Cooper, Wheeling; Mina Denham, Dawn and Etha Barnhart, Avalon. This committee meets monthly and schedules the bus.

The contracting social service agencies that fund OATS and set requirements for riders are Division of Aging, Department of Mental Health and Area Agencies on Aging and Nutrition Sites who certify their clients and require OATS to observe guidelines for the individuals subsidized by that particular agency. All other persons that are eligible to ride OATS buses are asked to contribute full fare contribution to cover the cost of the trip.

“It has truly been a rewarding four years of work,” says Grace Smith. “A person may get on the bus to go, in tears or maybe ill from pain or loneliness, in the morning but by the time she returns them to their home all have enjoyed laughter and their troubles and pains seem to fade away.” -- Grace Smith

SPORTS

After the turn of the century, Wheeling produced some fine amateur baseball players. Herman Shiflet was an excellent baseball player and track athlete. He once won 9 firsts and 2 seconds in a Livingston County track meet. Leon Norman developed into an outstanding left-handed pitcher. In 1918 he pitched for the Kirksville Teacher’s College. At about this same time he was offered a professional contract to pitch in the Western League, but turned down the offer to stay at home to help with the farm work. He continued to pitch in North Missouri for many different teams. Another Wheeling young man, Joel Ralston, was an outstanding baseball outfielder in this era.

In the early years of the century R. Warren Roberts was playing football for the University of Missouri at Columbia. Earl Steele lettered in track at M.U. in 1908-9-10 and set records in the two mile that stood for many years. In 1914 Horace Scruby began a collegiate track career at Rolla School of Mines. Joseph J. Shy, Sr. was a member of the Missouri Tiger football team beginning in 1916.

Bertram Clark, a very dedicated athlete, was graduated from Chillicothe High School in 1922 and that fall went to Principia College near St. Louis where he played football two years. He then transferred to Missouri University for his final two years of football and was a starting back.

The early years of the 20th century also found a super baseball pitcher in another part of Livingston County by the name of Maurice Hatchitt from Ludlow. “Hatch” pitched for St. Joseph in the professional Western League at the age of 17. In 1930, at Lincoln, Nebraska, he pitched in the first night game ever played in the State of Nebraska. When the new game of softball came along in the early 1930’s Hatchitt turned to the new game and was an immediate success. He was the first pitcher to ever use the “windmill” wind-up and led Chillicothe to the State Softball Championship in 1934.

During the 1920’s several Chillicothe High School graduates developed some fine athletic skills and played at the collegiate level. No less than four Chillicothe young men were playing at colleges in the 1926-27 school year. Nolan Bruce was playing football and running track at Maryville Teacher’s College. Brothers, Arthur Norman and Ralph Norman were at Culver-Stockton College in Canton where Ralph played football and basketball and “Art” played basketball and baseball. Russell White was in his first of three outstanding football seasons at Westminster College in Fulton. Charles Steele lettered in track at M.U. in 1924-5-6 and brother Francis followed suit in 1928-9-30-31. In 1927 and 1928 Ralph Norman played with Kirksville Osteopath’s Football Team. Arthur Norman continued to play for four years at Culver-Stockton.

Football became well known at Chillicothe Business College in the early part of the 20th century. Two athletes who became nationally known played with the C.B.C. Ducks. Although neither Cal Hubbard nor John Levi were native Livingston County young men, they both played for the local college team and later became All-American Football player’s when chosen to Grantland Rice’s Dream Team. John Levi went from Chillicothe to Haskell Institute and Cal Hubbard became a starting tackle with the professional Green Bay Packers. Hubbard later became an American League Baseball umpire for many years.

S. Taylor Dowell began his teaching and coaching career in Livingston County in 1920 at Utica. He coached the first Junior High basketball team in this area at Chillicothe in 1926 and continued to coach the Junior High team for more than 25 years. Mr. Dowell originated the idea of forming a softball league in the early 1930’s and was the Softball commissioner for three years. Beginning in 1924, he officiated at basketball and football games throughout North Missouri until 1951. His influence and good work with young people in Livingston County has been evident since the 1920’s.

Owsley Welch, a 1927 graduate of Chillicothe High School, after attending William Jewell College one year, went to Missouri University where he was an outstanding track athlete. He broke the record in the low hurdles running on the curve in the Big Six Conference and he was a member of the University Short Relay teams that placed first at the K.U. and Drake Relays.

Edgerton Welch won football numerals at Missouri University in 1927.

Harry Hayden was a semi-pro pool and baseball player through the 1920’s and 1930’s.

Chas. L. (Chuck) Morse from Ludlow played on the Missouri University Polo team in 1926-7-8.

1929 was the first year of American Legion Baseball for teenage young men in Chillicothe and the first was one of the best. Under the leadership of H. S. “Hal” Beardsley, the 1929 Legion team finished second in the state to St. Louis. Team members included Leland Anderson, Dryden Dowell, C. R. “Buck” Gatson, Gordon Jenkins, Bob Ludwig, Richard McDowell, Clarence Potts, Joe Rensch, Preston Rensch, Ross Simmons, and John White.

The dawning of the 1930’s brought new sporting activities as well as renewed interest in some old sports.

Duane Barnett of Wheeling was playing college football at Missouri Wesleyan College in Cameron without the benefit of any prep school football experience.

Simpson Park had become a beautiful and functional recreational area for the people of Chillicothe, Livingston County, and the surrounding area. Manuel Drumm was president of the Park Board for many years from the 1930’s to the early 1950’s. He was very instrumental in the development of the Simpson Park ball field. A new game of softball came along at this time and S. Taylor Dowell, Bolis Campbell, and Mr. Drumm were-some of the people who were active in organizing the first Softball League in the County in the early 1930’s. The softball league doubleheaders were very popular with Livingston County citizens and these games attracted large crowds that paid 50 each to see two softball games on the Simpson Park diamond.

James Stubbs enrolled at Northwest Missouri State Teachers College in the fall of 1930 and was a member of the track team there.

Missouri Valley College, beginning in 1931, had Chillicothe’s Jimmy Runkles playing as one of their fine football linemen.

Bob Ludwig of Avalon began playing professional baseball in Arkansas in 1930 and continued to play with several teams, including the New Orleans Pelicans of the Texas League, through the 1941 season. He was selected to All Star Teams several times.

An old game took on a new look with some tense and competitive croquet games at Wheeling in 1933. A smooth sand covered court built within solid bankboards was used regularly six nights a week. Wickets of solid steel rod, hard rubber balls, and custom home made short handled mallets were the equipment used. Only one-handed shooting was allowed. Some of the most active members and best shooters were Claude Albertson, Frank Arthaud, Lawrence Arthaud, Chris Glamser, Dora Kimmis, Richard Kimmis, and Jack Love.

It was in Chillicothe in the early 1930’s that Gus Karras began a long career of promoting boxing and wrestling matches.

Chillicothe held the first Golden Glove Tournament in the state of Missouri in 1935. Charles “Buck” Thompson became the first boxer, from the state of Missouri, to be successful in boxing his way to the National Golden Gloves Tournament in Chicago. He accomplished this in 1935 in the 126 pound class. Woody Vinson of Wheeling and George and Kenneth Riddle were also outstanding boxers at this time.

James M. Smith, Jr. known as “Junior”, went to Westminster College in Fulton in the fall of 1930 where he played football two years. Westminster discontinued football after the 1931 season and “Junior” transferred to George Washington University where he played football during the 1932 season. It was back to the “Show-Me” State the next year to Cape Girardeau where he completed his college football in the fall of 1934. He was an assistant coach at Cape during the 1935 season and then coached high school football for five years at Chaffee, Missouri.

Ray Saale was active in Livingston County sports beginning in the mid-30’s. He worked with the softball league and helped promote Golden Glove Boxing through the late 1930’s and 1940’s.

In 1933 Elton Norman went to Culver-Stockton College at Canton, Missouri, where he participated in football and basketball for two years.

Two 1936 Chillicothe High graduates went on to college to have fine football years and later became excellent coaches. Charles “Dutch” Moser became an all conference center at the University of Missouri in 1939. He coached the Abilene, Texas, High School football team to state Championships in 1954, ‘55, and ‘56. Later he became an assistant coach at Texas A and M University where he coached until retiring in 1980. Elgie Posey was the other 1936 graduate who played, and later coached, at Culver-Stockton College. He also coached at Chillicothe High School in the late 1940’s before going to Illinois to coach.

Dick Gale of Chillicothe went to Missouri University in 1937 where he was an outstanding football running back.

The late 1930’s saw the beginning of Joe Shy, Jr’s fine track career. He was an all-state track man for three years in high school, 1937-39. In 1939 he won the state 60 yard low hurdles, 220 yard dash, long jump, and was a member of the winning 880 yard relay team. He led the Chillicothe Hornets to the state indoor and outdoor championships in 1939. Other members of this championship team were Robert Babb, Junior Darr, Jim Fish, Gary Fordyce, Bill Franklin, B. Jones, Robert Perry, Claude Trammell, Bill Vorbeck, Dick West, Max Williams, and Joe Zweifel. The coach was J. E. Bradshaw.

Ted Adams was the best golfer to come from Livingston County. In 1939 he won the Canadian open championship and later won the Missouri and Arizona State Amateur Golf Championships.

The 1939 Chillicothe Post 25 Legion Baseball Team finished fourth in the state under the guidance of H. Earl Barnes and Oscar Case.

One of the county strong men, Lee Steen, wrestled professionally through the 1930’s.

Charlie Fisher of Sampsel became the wrestling coach at Missouri University in the late 1930’s.

The decade of 1940 had been open only a few short weeks when the Chillicothe High School track team brought a state championship trophy home. Team members were: Art Bloss, Dick Broadclus, Jim Bucher, Junior Darr, Leland Fair, Gary Fordyce, Paul Freed, Robert Lewis, Allen Moore III, Jack Saale, Jim Stewart, Vic Walker, Jim Walley, Joe Zweifel, and Coach J. E. Bradshaw.

Leland Fair won the state 165 pound wrestling championship in 1940.

Among Livingston County graduates in college and professional athletics in the early 40’s were: Junior Darr (football) at Missouri University and Baltimore; Allen Moore III (football and tennis) at Wentworth Military in 1941-1943; James Walley (football and basketball) at Central College; Dick West (football and track) at Chillicothe Business College; and Bill Franklin (track) at William Jewell.

In 1943 Joe Shy, Jr. again made track headlines up to the national and international level. He became a world record holder in the 60 yard low hurdles, ran on the Missouri University 440 yard and 880 yard relay teams that finished first in the National N.C.A.A. meet. In addition, he was the Big 8 Conference winner in the 100 yard, 220 yard and low hurdle races.

The 1941 American Legion Baseball team, coached by Oscar Case, finished second in the state to St. Louis. Team members from Livingston County were Bill Coleman, Meredith Dowell, Steve Eastman, Roger Englert, Leonard Fair, Charles Frizzell, Earl Gibson, Charles Hughes, and Jay McCully.

A novelty athlete playing football and running track at Chillicothe Business College was non-native Hamp Potts from Mississippi who always participated bare-footed. He ran on the cinder track, kicked and punted the football without footwear.

Linnie Phillips, a local baseball enthusiast, organized the Chillicothe “Big Red” Semi-Pro Baseball team immediately after World War II. He personally sacrificed much of his own money and time promoting and sustaining the team with “Buck” Thompson assisting him; many traveling teams and Kansas City teams were brought to Chillicothe for well attended games during the late 1940’s and early 1950’s. Max Lanier and Hall of Famer, Satchel Paige, were among those coming to Chillicothe to play.

In the late 40s and 1950s an intense rivalry developed between baseball teams captained by Mike Clark, Utica and Sam Bowe, Chula.

In the late 1940’s the following native Livingston County young men were participating in college athletics: Charles Frizzell (football) at William Jewell College; Roger Englert (baseball) at University of Missouri at Columbia; Paul Danclovic (football and track) at Central College, Fayette; Fred Stephens (basketball) at Central College, Fayette 1948-50 and Springfield Teachers College 1950-52. Fred Stephens was a member of the 1950 Central College team that finished third in the National N.A.I.B. Basketball Tournament. In 1952 the Springfield team, of which he was a member, were the National Champions.

Through the efforts of Edgerton Welch, a Summer Playground baseball program was organized in the spring of 1949. Bill Coleman, teacher and assistant coach at Chillicothe High School, was hired as the first supervisor.

As the 1950’s became a reality, Jack Patchett and Bob Frederking were playing baseball at Missouri University. Patchitt was a regular on the Missouri National Championship team.

Larry James was one of Chillicothe High School’s most versatile and outstanding athletes. He was graduated in 1950 and then played basketball at Chillicothe Business College. Bob Fairchild, also a 1950 graduate, delayed attending college until 1956 when he went to Tarkio College and played football. In 1958 he was at Maryville State College and was a strong tennis player on the college team.

Charlene Coleman was selected supervisior of the new Chillicothe Girls Summer Playground in 1955.

Countians attending colleges and participating in various athletics during the 1950 decade included: Albert Runge (basketball) at William Jewell in 1952; Ron O’Dell, a high school All State football player at C.H.S. in 1952, played football and baseball at Maryville State College 1952-56; Dale Cramer, basketball and baseball at Westminster and Maryville; Larry Plumb, High School All-State football player in 1953, was at Missouri University playing football beginning in 1954; Richard Fairchild, (basketball) Tarkio College 1956-60; Jack Hanson, (football) William Jewell College 1957-61; Hugh Allen Carlin, (football) William Jewell College 1957; James D. Lemon, (basketball) Rolla School of Mines 1958-62; Jody Conrad, (freshman basketball) Notre Dame 1959-60; and Bill Welch, (baseball) University of Arizona 1959-63.

Cliff McKiddy, a 1957 graduate of Wheeling High School, was an outstanding prep track athlete who did not attend college. Ray Davenport of Avalon achieved All State basketball honors in 1953 playing for Chillicothe High School.

Vince Turner began four years of football at Missouri University in 1960 and played for the professional New York Titans following his career with the M. U. Tigers.

Other college participants in the 1960’s included: Jerry Parrish (High School All-State basketball player in 1960) played his sport at Memphis State; Edwin “Butch” Clark, (football) Missouri Valley 1960-64; David Austin, (wrestling one year, football four years) at Cornell College, Mount Vernon, Iowa 1961-65; Larry Hamilton, (football and track) William Jewell 1965-69; John “Butch” Davis, (All-State football player 1965) went to Missouri University and was a starting defensive back; he also played professionally with the Chicago Bears. The Willard boys, cousins Melton and Phil, both played football for Missouri Valley, Melton beginning in 1967 and Phil in 1969. Another William Jewell player beginning in 1967 was

All-State football player (1966) Jay Simmons.

A croquet club was organized in 1966 with regular summer playing dates and an annual tournament every Labor Day weekend with players from Wheeling, Chula, Utica, Chillicothe, and the Pleasant Grove area participating. The first championship in 1966 was won by Lawrence Arthaud of Wheeling. Winners through 1980 included: Clarence Arthaud, Bill Coleman, Glenn Coleman, Voyle Grothe, Bill Gutshall, Harry Hayen, Bill King, Johnnie Marnmen, and John Ed Yeomans.

The 1970’s could be termed “Super Seventies Sports” years for our county athletes. The Chillicothe High School football team won State Championships in 1970, 72, and 78. All three teams were coached by Bob Fairchild, a county native. The Wheeling girls basketball team, in 1975, won the state title and a 13-15 year old Chillicothe girls’ softball team won first in the state and second in the national tournament the same year.

The 1970 football Hornets of Chillicothe High won 11 and lost none as they easily won the state championship. Starting team members were Brent Anderson, Mark Putnam, Ardell Johnson, Steve Bruce, Gehrig Coleman, Larry Shields, Scott Lindley, Sherm Smith, Jr., Mike Fair, Don Murrell, David Grouse, Pat Ellison, Sam Metz, John Parks, James Carr, and David Moore. Anderson, Smith, Fair, and Johnson were selected to the All-State team.

The 1972 High School football champion team starting members were David Baker, Troy Cranmer, Ron Neely, Steve Coult, Doug Gutshall, Chad Glover, Larry Clarke, David Neal, Steve Gastineau, Chip Vanlandingham, Jim Lionberger, Mike Wood, Billy Keith, Scott Morts, Steve Koehly, David Ginther, Ben Willard, and Mark Putnam. The state championship game was in Chillicothe against St. Louis Chaminade on a rainy, dreary day in the mud. Chip Vanlandingham’s two successive super punts, late in the contest, saved the game for the Hornets against the much bigger St. Louis team. Kicking from his own end zone in the fourth quarter with the Hornets ahead 12 ‘to 8, Vanlandingharn got off a 71 yard kick in the mud with no return. A few minutes later he kicked again for 55 yards, backing the visitors near their own goal line and they had inadequate time to mount a final drive under the miserable field conditions giving the lighter Hornet team the championship. All-State players on the squad were Putnam, Koehly, Vanlandingham, Neely (1972 and 1973), Cranmer (1973). Team members of the championship 1978 team were Tim Lightner, Dan Ross, Dennis Gutshall, Rick Benson, Mark Hanan, Buddy Logan, Scott Stephens, David DeVaul, David Macoubrie, Bill Bouziden, Allen Heck, Mark Fitchett, Gary Case, Rich Young, Doug Switzer, Rick Craighead, and Scott Durham. All-State players were Benson, DeVaul, Switzer, Macoubrie, Young, and Lightner.

The Wheeling High School girls’ basketball team finished second in state play in 1963, third in 1974, and won the class A State Championship in 1975. Wheeling had the second smallest enrollment in the state in 1975. The team was coached to first place by Dick Halterman and went undefeated with a 32-0 record. Team members were: Teresa Albertson, Marilee Buckner, Patty Buckner, Laurie Littrell, Paula Littrell, Debbie Ishmael, Cathy Seuell, Mary Smiley, Debbie Stith, Alice Thomas, Mary Timmons, Julie Waite, and Susan Lowe. Julie Waite, Paula Littrell and Mary Timmons were selected to the All-State team.

A 13-15 year old girls’ softball team from Chillicothe won the Missouri State championship in 1976 and went to the National tournament where they took second place. Delbert Thompson was the coach. Team players were: Lori Stoll, Natalie Zachary, Missy East, Lisa Gabel, Jonie Powers, Thresa Schuler, Sherry Powers, Chris Wilson, Jackie Cooper, Debbie Newbrough, and Barbara Headrick.

Horseshoe pitching became a popular sport in Livingston County in the early 1970’s. Donald Plowman and Gilbert Cox organized a club composed of several teams. Lighted courts with concrete approaches were built at Clay Street Park. Leroy Dominique, Minor Gibson, Rick Gibson, Virgil Nibarger, Jerry Griffin, and Jerry Wooden are among those who have pitched regularly. Jerry Wooden has been a state champion.

1970 Wheeling graduate, Dennis Littrell, won the State Class A High Jump at the 1969 and 1970 Indoor Track meet as well as the 1970 State Outdoor meet. His 6’5” jump at the 1970 outdoor was a record at that time.

Shawn Benson of Chillicothe won the eight year old National Football Punt, Pass, and Kick Championship in 1974. Joe Shy was a 1974 member of the U.S. Masters track team.

In May 1976, Terry Cox of Chillicothe won the State Class 3A High Jump.

Bob Conrad and Jim Fairley coached the Chillicothe 10-12 year old Little League All Star team to a super successful season in 1976. The team won the Little League tournaments at Brookfield, Trenton, and St. Joseph. The players were: Kelly Mason, Bill Graham, Rob Coleman, Tim East, Charlie Fairley, Vince Hayes, John McCall, Kirk Peterson, Randy Riddell, Neil Surber, and Danny Thompson.

In the Bicentennial year of 1976, Bill and Charlene Coleman served as County Sports Chairmen. Many sports activities were held in July 1976. A partial list of winners of the various sports events were as follows:

Archery - Charlie Marriott, Chillicothe, Men’s limited freestyle; Eugene Ishmael, Wheeling, Pinsight Bowhunter; Mike Ewing, Chillicothe, Bowhunter; Steve Spears, Chillicothe, Young Adult.

Croquet - Johnnie Mammen, Chillicothe, Singles Play; Bill Coleman, Chillicothe, and Howard Hawkins, Utica, Doubles Play.

Horseshoes - Jerry Wooden, Dawn, A Class; John Stoll, Chillicothe, C Class; Jack Dickerson, Chillicothe, D Class; Ruth Jones, Chillicothe, Women’s; Scott Dominique, Chillicothe, Jr. Boys; Marilyn Plowman, Chillicothe, Jr. Girls.

Track and Field for School Age Only - Girls Softball Throw - Natalie Zachary, Chillicothe; Girls High Jump - Mary Nan Chapman, Chillicothe; Boys High Jump - Ron Williams, Chillicothe; Girls Shot Put - Mary Smiley, Wheeling; Boys Shot Put - Steve Riley, Chillicothe; Boys Running Long Jump - Wayne Marriott, Chillicothe; Girls Running Long Jump - Anne Gates, Chillicothe; Boys Football Punt - Allen Heck, Chillicothe; Girls Standing Long Jump - Jan Marlay, Chillicothe; Boys Standing Long Jump - Wayne Marriott, Chillicothe; Girls 50-yard Dash - Anne Gates, Chillicothe; Boys 50-yard Dash - Neil Surber, Chillicothe; Girls 100-yard Dash - Dana Symmonds, Chillicothe; Boys 100-yard Dash - Allen Heck, Chillicothe; Girls 200-yard Dash - Anne Gates, Chillicothe; Boys 200-yard Dash - Allen Heck, Chillicothe; Girls 440-yard Dash - Paula Coleman, Chillicothe; Boys 880-yard Dash - Wayne Marriott, Chillicothe.

Old Fashioned Races (Partial List of Winners) Boys Quartet Pole Race - Gary Agee, Delvin Jackson, Mark Sanson, and Kevin Wooden; Girls Quartet Pole Race - Louann Agee, Tammy Geist, Karina Kerr, and Angela Lyman; High School Boys 3 Legged Race Mark Miller and Greg Streiff; High School Girls 3 Legged Race - Paula Coleman and Natalie Zachary; 7th and 8th Grade Boys 3 Legged Race - Rick Craighead and Mark Hibner; 7th and 8th Grade Girls 3 Legged Race - Sheri Stoll and Lori Stoll; 5th and 6th Grade Boys Wheelbarrow Race - Robby Coleman and Neil Surber; 5th and 6th Grade Girls Wheelbarrow Race - Peggy Buckner and Joyce Sanson; 3rd and 4th Grade Boys Sack Race - John Marshall; 3rd and 4th Grade Girls Sack Race - Camille Clark; 1st and 2nd Grade Boys Sack Race - Travis Clark; 1st and 2nd Grade Girls Sack Race - Amy Dickinson; Girls Rope Skipping - Valerie Atwell; Women’s Egg Race - Judy Lyman and Jean Simmer; Women’s 3 Legged Race - Gloria Gabel and Melody Gabel; Women’s Sack Race - Laura Taylor; Women’s Pole Race - Julia Hecke, Francine Skinner, Laura Taylor, and Joan Parrish; Men’s Bowling on the Green - Jerry Parrish.

Swimming events were also held at the Simpson Park Pool.

Ted Hicks was graduated from Chillicothe High School in 1971. In the summer of 1976 he played on the State Softball Championship Roto-Rooter team from St. Joseph. Playing in the National Softball tournament in 1978, Ted had the highest batting average of any player and was selected the Most Valuable Player in the tournament. Hicks was then chosen to play on the U.S. Softball team which played in the Pan American games in 1979.

Chillicothe Student, Tracy Allen, placed third in the State High School Rodeo Cutting Contest in 1978 and in 1979 he won the State championship in that event. He competed in the National High School Rodeo both years.

Girls Track and Field has been a revived sport in Missouri during the 1970’s. Chillicothe’s Mary Nan Chapman won the State Girls High Jump in 1979 and Angie Rupp won first in the 400 Meter Run in 1980.

The Chillicothe High School Boys Golf team won the State Championship in 1980. Steve Arnold, Matt Arnold, Mark Ratliff, Dan Minnis and Kevin Whitworth were the team members. Lynn Leopard was the coach.

Neil Surber and David Brookshire advanced to State play in 1980 High School Tennis Doubles.

Other All-State and College athletes through the 1970’s included the following: Julie Waite, (basketball) Maryville 1975-76; Paul Littrell, (basketball) University of Missouri 1975-76; Mary Timmons, (Softball and Basketball) Mount Saint Scholastica 1975-77 and Maryville 1977-79; Mary Smiley, (basketball) Moberly Jr. College 1977-79; Debbie Stith, (basketball) Moberly Jr. College 1977-79; Laurie Littrell, (basketball) Moberly Jr. College 1978-80 (All-State 1976-78) and Kirksville 1980; Chuck Hinchey, (All-State 1978) (basketball) Washington State 1978-79; Lori Stoll, (softball) Texas A and M 1979-80; Sherm Smith Jr., (football) Notre Dame 1971-75; Mike Fair, (football) University of Missouri 1971; Brent Anderson, (football) University of Kansas 1971; Ardell Johnson, (football) University of Nebraska 1971-75; Chip VanLandingham, (football) Central Methodist; Ed Ashlock, (All-State football 1976-77) Maryville 1978; David Macoubrie, (All-State football 1976-77-78) University of Missouri 1.979-80; Kelly Smith, (All-State football) 1976; Mark Conway, (All-State football) 1977; Dana Macoubrie, (All-State football) 1976; Ron Keith, (All-State football) 1975, played tennis at Missouri Western; Rich Young, (football) Warrensburg 1979-80; Rick Benson, (football) University of Texas 1979-80; David DeVaul, (baseball) Maryville 1980; Doug Switzer, (football) William Jewell 1979-80; Dennis Gutshall (All-State football 1979) Missouri Western 1980; Scott Stephens (All-State football 1979) University of Missouri at Rolla 1980; Mitch Parrish, (All-State basketball 1980); Dan Ross, (All-State wrestling 1980) third in State 1980 in 175 pound class.

Joe Shy continues his amazing track career in 1980 at age 59. He was the Master National Indoor Triple Jump Champion and the International Triple Jump and High Jump Champion in the spring of 1980. He has now competed in track and field in six decades from the late 1930’s through 1980. Having won championships from the local to the international level, Joe Shy should be awarded the title of “Livingston County’s outstanding athlete of the twentieth century”. -- Bill Coleman

CEMETERIES OF LIVINGSTON COUNTY
During the 1976 Bi-centennial year Mr. Leo Hopper, Mrs. Elizabeth Ellsberry and Mrs. Mildred Sue Jones did a research of the cemeteries in Livingston County publishing and recording their data. The history prepared by Mr. Hopper appeared in four issues of the Constitution Tribune - January 2, March 12, May 7 and July 2, 1976. The records from Elizabeth Elsberry’s research are available in the genealogy section at the Livingston County Memorial Library. Mildred Sue Jones prepared a large map of the county pinpointing each cemetery and it is on display at the library.

For this publication, Mrs. Tom Oliver has endeavored to put some of their information into graphic form in order to delineate the name, location and present condition of each cemetery. Extra information was supplied by Mr. Frank Bonderer, a long time resident of the county. It included the names of the cemeteries where every Memorial Day an American flag is placed on the grave of a war veteran by the Vern R. Glick Post 25 of the American Legion Organization.

This information is also shown on the key and many people throughout the county perform this service each year.

It is gratifying to note the large number of cemeteries that are maintained and well kept. Money for this purpose is gained by some associations who have set up a perpetual trust fund and use the interest to pay for the care, others secure funds from private contributions and still others are cared for by interested parties with no charge. Whatever the means the well-cared for cemetery reflects the love and respect for those early residents of our communities who have helped to build the heritage of our county. 

– Margaret Oliver

KEY TO MAP OF CEMETERIES OF LIVINGSTON COUNTY

* decorated by American Legion No. location

F. fenced

M. maintained

1. Loney-Masters unkept

2. Coy-Brummett F. M.

3. Wall F. neglected

4. Davis F.M.

5. Davidson-Bethel unkept

6. Rossen F. 

7. Dennis 

8. Kirk Williams

9. Ramsey

10. Long, F.M.

11. Kenedy

12. Kesler no M.

13. Hicklin F. no M.

14. Boyle F. Limited M.

15. Hicks neglected

16. Brassfield well kept
 

17. Springhill M.
30. Edgewood F M.
 

18. Bills
30. Mt. Sinai F M.  

19. Mt Pleasant FM.
 

20. Ware

21. Pleasant Ridge FM.


22. Gibbons
.

23. Mt. Olive F.M.


24. Venable


25. Tiberghein F limited M.

26. Anderson-Smith F M.


27. Resthaven F.M. 
 

28. Hutchinsons F.M.

29. Forrest Park FM.

31. Gaunt F no M.

32. Shady Grove F. unkept

33. Rucker F no M.

34. Mooresville F M

35. Mooresville Christian M.

36. Kirtley F no M.

37. Mumpower

38. Shannon Compton

39. Utica F. M.

40. Toner F no M.

41. Bethel M.

42. McCroskie F M.

43. Gregory (Lawson) unkept

44. Christison F. M.

45. Anderson Pritchfield

47. Jarvis

48. Welsh F M. 

49. Collar FM. 

50. Blackburn

51. Gibbs no M.

52. Monroe F M.

53. Van Horn F M.

54. Ward F. M. 

55. Plainview F M.

56. Wallace F M.

57. May F.M. 

58. Ricket F. M.

59. Leopolis F M.

60. Ross F partly M.

61. Slagle partly F M.

62. Catholic F M. 

63. North F.

64. Jones F M.

65. Wheeling F M.

66. South F M. 

67. Burnside F limited M.

68. Monroe limited care

69. Bedford F.M. 

70. Matthews (destroyed)

71. Woltski/ no care

72. Silvey unkept

73. Avalon M. 

74. Walden unkept

75. Ireland

76. Macedonia F. M.

77. Lily Grove FM.

78. Black F limited M.

79. Curtis FM.

80. Stone F limited M.

81. Blue Mound F.M.

82.

83. Arkadelphia F M.

84. Fairland F.M. 

85. Mayberry no care

86. Guthridge

87. Perry F M.

88. Snidow FM.

89. Cameron F. M.

90. Leaton FM.

91. Deupree

92. Dockery

WHEELING CEMETERY HISTORY

Since the date of its inception by Henry Nay in 1866, the Wheeling cemetery has expanded in acreage from approximately one and one-half acres to the present 8 and six-tenths. The parcel of land given by Mr. Nay is located in the south and west part of the southwest one-fourth of Section 5, Township 57, Range 22.

For many years there was no official cemetery organization and there was no regular caretaker, the work at the cemetery, entailing the digging and filling of graves, was done by volunteers. Walter Scott was hired as the first regular caretaker. Logan Littrell, deceased, served the longest period of time, 17 years, caretaker, in that capacity. The present caretakers are the John & Lucretia Harper family.

Early in the 1890’s an association was formed, with Mrs. Minniq Wiley, president; Mrs. Sylvia F. Haynes, trbasurer; and Mrs. Nannie Wright, secretary. During thiair-administration, an acre of land, lying west and north of the first parcel, was purchased March 6, 1895, from Francis and Mattle Nay for the sum of $115.00.

Seven years later, April 1, 1902, a little more than an acre was purchased from Emma Littrell for the sum of $75.00. It lies west of the first two parcels.

Twenty-three years later, on May 2, 1925, approximately one acre was purchased from Albert and Mattie Norman for $310.00. It was west of the other two parcels mentioned.

The fifth parcel of land was purchased July 11, 1944, from J. D. and Lena Rice, consisting of two acres, for the sum of $550.00. This land lies west of the others.

In late 1979 six more acres of land was purchased from Mr. and Mrs. Harold Warren for $1,000.00 an acre. The Warren’s also gave land to widen the road on the north side of the cemetery.

Funds for the upkeep of the cemetery in the early years were raised mostly from community dinner proceeds given at regular intervals. Later, Memorial Day programs given at the cemetery have drawn many 60 people, who have contributed money to the gatekeepers stationed there for the occasion.

The cemetery association was incorporated in 1941, largely through the efforts of F. L. Smiley and H. J. Barnes, now deceased. This gave it the legal right to accept money for a trust fund or to use for future upkeep. To raise needed funds, a bond program was started: persons would buy $37.50 bonds for the association, which in 11 years, were worth $50.00; and it was voted to place one-half the price of lots sold into a fund, which practice continued until more land was purchased in 1955.

At a called meeting on August 13, 1955, those present voted to buy 88 acres adjoining on the west and north belonging to J. D. and Lena Rice for $15,400.00. The $5,000.00 down payment was met with the maturing bonds with a note given for the remaining $10,400.00.

In 1949 the Board purchased a power mower for $125.00. In the Spring, 1962, it was voted to pay off the remaining indebtedness. The obligations were met and the cemetery has been kept in excellent condition.

In the oldest part of the cemetery, lots consist of eight graves each and records show that some of these earliest lots were sold for as little as $5.00 each. In the newer section, lots consist of five graves each, ranging in price from $100.00 down.

Current officers Are:

President - Austin Biggerstaff

Vice President - Ernest Littrell

Treasurer - Dorothy Smiley

Secretary - Mabel Narr

Executive Board:

Chairman - Melvin Littrell, Wayne Seifert, Lucian Walkup, Kenneth Corzette

The cemetery has grown “from log-cabin days to seeing foot prints on the moon from our living rooms,” this statement was made by David Biggerstaff at a Memorial Day Service recently. There are 31 rows of lots north and south all being used, mowed, and cared for. The new addition of 443 lots opened up and marked off in 1979 and early 1980’s at the west end of the cemetery are also beginning to be well cared for. In 1979 three oak trees were set for a shaded rest area. The Baxters and Dudgeons have put in most of our gravelled roads through the cemetery.

The cemetery’s well-kept appearance, its beautiful, easily accessible location, and its unique assurance of adequate financial support for its upkeep in the years to come, make it a source of pride and consolation to those it serves. -- Lucian Walkup

CHURCHES

AVALON UNITED METHODIST CHURCH

The Methodist Episcopal Church at Avalon was organized as an appointment of the Bedford Mission in the spring of 1871 by T. B. Hales, pastor. The Charter members were J. H. Pultz, Sarah Pultz, George Mills, Mary Mills, J. A. Crook, Emaline Crook, Susan Williams, J. E. Jackson, Eliza Jackson, H. H. Wilkinson, Nancy Wilkins and Joseph Wolf.

In 1873 Reverend J. T. Stone succeeded Reverend Hales, followed by Henry Hooper in 1875. S. Weston had charge of services for the year 1876 and was succeeded by the Reverend W. H. Bassett for the next year and a half.

J. M. Pate pastored for two years 1878-79 and the Reverend Bassett returned in 1880. Dr. D. B. Dorsey of Chillicothe served until February 26, 1882, after which the presiding elder of the District, James Kelso, supplied the charge. He remained one year being succeeded by S. W. Jones in 1884.

In 1884, the membership was 24 with a congregation of approximately 150 persons. The only property which was held by the Church was a parsonage in the southwest part of town and was worth around $500.00. Services at that time were held in the Presbyterian Church building.

In 1875, the Presbyterian Church built a new church at a cost of $2200.00 and in 1890 sold the church building to the Methodists.

This church building was used continuously until 1959 but because extensive repairs were needed and also needing more classrooms the Board of Trustees, with the approval of the pastor, Reverend Charles Carr, voted to build a new church. District Supt. Clinton Chasteen met with the Trustees, and granted permission to raze the old structure and replace it with the present building.

Both the work of tearing down the old church and building of the new structure was done entirely by volunteer workers with the exception of hiring one head carpenter to oversee the building project.

By late fall of 1959 the new building was completed and Christmas Services were held in the sanctuary.

The total cost of the new building was under $9,000.00 and was paid in full on November 17, 1961 less than two and a half years from starting construction. Dedication Services were held on March 22, 1964, with Rev. Chasteen delivering the sermon.

On Septerner 12, 197 1, the church celebrated 100 years of Christian Service to the community. The Reverend Robert Barnett was the minister at that time.

For many years there has been an active Women’s Organization. Also Bible School is held each summer with a large number of children from the area attending. Early in 1979 a Prayer-Bible Study group was started on Tuesday evenings which has been beneficial and inspiring to those attending. The leader is Mrs. Mae Willis the wife of our minister.

At present the Avalon United Methodist Church is a part of the Hale circuit and the minister is the Reverend Ray Willis who with his wife, Mae and two daughters reside in Hale.

BAPTIST CHURCH, CHULA

On March 17, 1895, the following persons met for the purpose of organizing a Missionary Baptist Church in Chula: Isaac Baker and wife, J. W. Balman, wife and daughter, Anna, Hattie Holding, R. J. Green and wife, E. A. Exceen and sister Melissa, W. H. Moore and wife, Sarah Owen, Henry Johnson, J. H. Davis, Mr. and Mrs. Saunders Russell. These brethren were received as charter members by letters from different churches in the area: Union, Alpha, Browning, Galt, Liberty, Eversonville and Laredo.

The church council was organized, choosing J. K. Steen as moderator and E. L. Mulford, clerk. The sermon was preached by J. B. Harris. At this time, the council voted to recognize the church as a regular Missionary Baptist Church.

Another business meeting was held two days later, March 19, when it was voted to name the church ‘‘The Chula Baptist Church” and rules were formulated for church government. Plans were made to begin at once to erect a church building as soon as it was decided where to build. In the meantime, the congregation had services in the Chula Cumberland Presbyterian Church for 13 months with J. B. Harris as pastor for $75.00 a year, followed later by Rev. G. T. Hopson.

May 8, 1895, a warranty deed was made to the trustees of “The Missionary Baptist Church” for two lots on Main St. in Chula. August 8, 1896, dedication services were held at the new Chula Baptist Church with Rev. S. M. Brown preaching the sermon. The new building cost $1,065. with a debt of $312.98. In October a revival was held for two weeks with 13 additions. Sunday School was organized the first Sunday in April, 1897. By May, 1899, with Rev. J. P. Tolliver as pastor, his salary was increased to $100.00 a year.

In April, 1930, with E. M. Lands as pastor, remodeling of the church with basement was begun.

The first Vacation Bible School was held in May, 1947.

February 13, 1955, Rev. Cecil O. Hart was called as pastor but, February 15, fire broke out badly damaging the interior of the church. February 16, a business meeting of the church was held at the funeral home with Rev. Hart as moderator. Plans were made to go ahead with two weeks revival to be held at the Methodist Church. The Chula School Board gave the Baptists permission to meet in the school basement for Sunday School and Church services where they met for 25 Sundays. Work was begun immediately on the church building, and the congregation met for its first service there on the second Sunday in August. Dedication services were held June 24, 1956.

The church was incorporated in March, 1979.

Some of the past pastors have been: T. W. Medearis, C. E. Sharrah, E. M. Lands, Paul M. Walters, Harvey Rogers, Wilmer Calvin, George W. Hess, Deane Truitt, and Richard Singleton. Present pastor is Rev. Bruce Lundy.

Deacons are Richard Hargrave, Loyal Manning, and Taylor Hooker. Richard Hargrave has been Sunday School Superintendent for 30 years.

THE BETHEL A.M.E. CHURCH

Bethel A.M.E. Church was organized in 1868 on the corner of Henry and Violet, Chillicothe, Missouri. The trustees at that time were Ben Bland, Thomas Scott, B. J. Williams and Oscar Black. Their names are on the corner stone and one charter member, Iva Williams now lives in Kansas City, Kansas.

The church was active some years ago. Sunday School, A.C.E. League and Mission. Some of the past pastors have been Reverends C. J. Skinner, Glen C. Nelson, Macon McMillian (12 years), John A. Barnes Rev. Dailey and A. G. Thurman who was presiding elder until he retired. Mr. and Mrs. Thurman are members of Bethel Church.

Mrs. C. V. Taylor is the clerk and treasurer of Missions and Mrs. Leroy White is secretary of Stewardship Board.

BETHEL CHURCH (LUDLOW)

Northwest of Ludlow, at a crossroads, stands a small white church, known as Bethel Methodist South.

The families who settled this community were people of the Cumberland area of the states of Tennessee, Virginia, and North Carolina. Doubtless their political, beliefs influenced their religious affiliations, hence Bethel was Methodist, South.

This building once stood at a former site near the Roath Cemetery and at that time was known as “Austin Chapel”. It was dismantled, but reconstructed in 1868 on the site where it now stands.

On July 10, 1871 William C. Austin and wife Ann Elizabeth, for the sum of $30 deeded to the trustees of Bethel Church, Methodist Church South, one acre of ground for a church.

This building, no longer in use since 1951, was the church home and source of comfort in times of bereavement for people of the Bethel Community. Revivals were held here in mid-summer often of two weeks duration. Any number of young people made their commitment to Christ in this building. Many mid-week prayer meetings were held and many worth while sermons were preached to this rural congregation.

This small white building, shaded by large hickory trees, setting at the foot of a rolling encircling hill, holds a favored spot in the memory of older residents 62 of this community. As children, they attended Sunday School, listened to sermons delivered by Brother Hunt and Brother Davis and learned lessons which have proven beneficial in their adult lives.

Adjacent to the churchyard is an acre of ground acquired from William C. Austin and wife Ann Elizabeth to be used as a burial ground. The names of Anderson, Austin, Bryan, Glaze, Lyday, Sidden and Truitt are among those most frequently found on the tombstones, a silent testimony to the families once living in this area. There also stands in Bethel Cemetery a 100 year old cedar tree marking the grave of Mattiel Austin, William C. Austin’s daughter.

CALVARY BAPTIST CHURCH
In August of 1950, two ladies, who later became charter members of Calvary Baptist Church, were discussing the possibility of having a Wednesday night prayer meeting. It was decided to have the meeting in one of the ladies home.

In August of 1950, a prayer meeting was held with 22 members present. The first prayer meeting was led by Mrs. Jessie Alley with scripture taken from Psalm 121. The attendance from the first prayer meeting grew as they met in various homes to organize and conduct all organizations of the church.

In August of 1951, the group met in a home where the first prayer meeting was held and organized the Calvary Baptist Church, which was then incorporated in December of 1951, with 99 charter members.

The church then secured the Ritz Theater corner of Washington and Clay for a meeting place. The speakers were called from William Jewell College and the Baptist Seminary in Kansas City.

The property at Third and Locust streets, the site of the present church building was purchased in 1951. An army barracks was erected and served as a church until a basement was completed.

The present auditorium was dedicated on June 23, 1957. The present educational building was dedicated May 15, 1966.

Mrs. H. M. Grace (at her death) gave her home at 1201 Third Street to the church for a parsonage. It now is the home of the assistant pastor. A new parsonage was built in 1976 at 170 Crescent Drive.

Pastors who served Calvary are: Rev. Elmer Goss, Rev. A. W. Duncan, Rev. Harry Clifton, and Rev. Clifford Wrisinger. Rev. Ted Hubble was the first educational director.

The present pastor is Rev. Walter Cox. The assistant pastor is Rev. Elmer McCully. The present resident membership is 639. Our total membership is 878. Calvary Baptist Church – Scott Vorbeck

CENTENARY M.E. CHURCH SOUTH

Centenary Church was located on the northwest corner at the crossroads, a mile and one half south of Sturges. A rather large rectangular building with a steep roof, double doors in the south and three windows on the east and west sides. Long wooden seats ran through the center with an aisle on each side, then shorter seats to the wall. A wood and coal stove stood mid-way on each side with long stove pipes that went up and joined together near a high ceiling. There was a raised platform and pulpit at the north end. In the southwest corner was a small room that served as a kitchen and for storage. The building, located near the south side of an acre of ground was painted white. A combination wood shed and outhouse was west of the church and some large hedge trees which served as hitching posts were on the east line.

The cornerstone in the foundation bore the inscription “1884 Centenary Church Set apart from all unhallowed ground to the glory of God.”

The church was on the Chillicothe circuit. The pastor lived in the parsonage in Chillicothe and served four rural churches. He conducted services morning and evening at each church once a month. He drove a horse and buggy until autos came into general use. Some of the pastors were Rev. Smart, Rev. Riggs, Rev. Hornback, Rev. Wilson, Rev. Mathis, Rev. Mangold, and Rev. Mrs. Olive Fay.

A Ladies Aid Society met on Wednesdays for quilting and sewing and other activites to raise money to pay the preacher. They served public sales, held ice cream socials and oyster suppers. On Thanksgiving they served a big dinner and held a bazaar.

In 1914 a cyclone damaged the north end of the church. It served the community until 1950 when the circuit was discontinued and memberships moved to other churches. The church building was sold and torn down in 1951.

CHULA PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

The Presbyterian Church of Chula, Missouri was organized January 26, 1892. There were seventeen charter members with six more being added the next day. Rev. J. M. Ragan, who was responsible for the new organization was first on the list and also their first minister. Rev. J. H. Tharp gave the sermon at the dedication service.

Sunday School and worship services were held in the schoolhouse until a church building was erected in 1895. The land, Lots 17 and 18, Block 3 in the Village of Chula, located on the corner of Mansur and Broaddus, was bought from the Milwaukee Land Co. for the sum of $36.00.

The early session records from 1895 to 1902 were destroyed by fire. In 1906 when the Cumberland Presbyterian Church and the Presbyterian Church North united, the Chula church went with the union.

One member, Dale Gorman, became a Presbyterian minister and was ordained in his home church. Rev. August Thalman was ordained during his ministry in the Chula Church.

Since 1902, the church has been served by twenty-four ministers, many student ministers, and a number of lay ministers. The present minister, Rev. Michael Lewton, is an ordained Presbyterian minister.

The present membership is 80, with about 50 active in Sunday School, and 20 in the missionary group.

The active members of the Session are: Norman Thierne, Jack Thierne, Leroy Arr, Ronald Haas, and Minor Gibson. The present Deacon-Trustees are: Lloyd Jones, Sharon Arr, Frances Haas, Lorraine Gibson, and Ann Meservey.

In the spring of 1977, the congregation purchased new pews and hymnals. The purchase was made possible through the generous gifts of members, past and present. The hymnal racks were removed from the old pews, refinished and used on the new pews as they had been made by C. E. Parks and Garnett Pryor from lumber donated by C. E. Parks.

On the first Sunday in 1979, a Homecoming-Rally day was held and it is planned to make it an annual event.

CHURCH OF CHRIST

The Chillicothe Church of Christ had its beginning in 1910 with a few disciples meeting house to house. For one season they met in the office of Dr. T. G. Phelps. In July 1911, Floyd M. Edwards held a tent meeting at the corner of Commercial and Montgomery streets. In this meeting 22 members banded together: Floyd and Minnie Edwards, Charles L. and Sarah J. Phillips, George H., Melissia, Nellie, Lula, Lura, and Maud Carr, Dr. T. G. and Mrs. Stella, and Erma Phelps, Mrs. Frank Harrison and Roy Harrison, Mrs. Jennie Hossman, Gladys, and Edd Hossman, Golda Cramner, Brs. Ollie Meadoff, and Mr. Akers.

In December 1914, three trustees were appointed to purchase a lot on which to build. They were Floyd

Edwards, Ralph Acree and Frank Harrison. The wood frame building at the corner of Jackson and Commercial was begun in 1916 and finished in 1917.

In February 1922, Jess Knouse, F. O. Blunt, and A. A. Taylor were appointed elders. In January 1939, W. E. Ballinger of Hale, Mo. appointed Earl M. Sallee and Fern R. Bailey as elders, William F. Wigfield and Archie W. Bailey as deacons. In 1951, a new brick building was erected on the present site at 308 Elm street. The building site was a gift of Fern R. Bailey. In 1970 an addition was made to the building, and in 1980 the educational wing was extended. Russell Potter was ordained as elder in 1967. On August 15, 1967, Mr. and Mrs. James E. Maberry and family moved here from St. Louis to work with the church. John Emerson and Charles Fleener were installed as elders in 1968, and 1970 respectively.

At the time of this writing, there are 250 members with an average Sunday morning attendance of 325.

THE CHURCH OF GOD

Due to the drought and depression in 1934, J. J. and Ollie Burner and daughter Alice and A. M. Harkins moved from South Dakota to Chillicothe, Mo., to live. They were new converts and members of the Church of God in Lemmons, South Dakota, looking for a Pentecostal Church to worship in, they attended service where H. E. Bunton was preaching in the Old Milwaukee Hotel, on Webster Street. He had a good crowd attending but no organization.

Brother Barker of St. Joseph, Mo. district overseer of the Church of God, was contacted and he came to Chillicothe and set a Church of God in order in 1935.

Homer and Claradene Howe were the first 64 pastors, with H. E. Bunton assisting. An old two room house was bought at Second and Ryan streets. Everybody went to work selling candy, pies, doughnuts and bricks to pay for the new church. Homer Howe owned a saw mill and sawed the lumber and was master carpenter and Joe Alnutt put on the stucco.

The charter members were three Howe brothers and their wives, Doc and Edith Howe, Archie and Babe Howe, Bill Howe and their families; John and Ethel Cobb, Jess and Lizzy Cobb, Fred and Minnie Cobb, Nathan and Alice Cobb and their families.

Many others have become members of the Church of God down through the years. The Church of God was the First Pentecostal Church in Chillicothe and is affiliated with the international Church of God with headquarters in Cleveland, Tenn., and is the oldest Pentecostal church in America being organized in 1896. The Church of God, Second and Ryan streets has had an influence on many lives over the years, and prayfully will continue to do so.

The Reverend and Mrs. A. A. Lynch came to Chillicothe as the pastors in 1978 and the church is growing under their leadership.

CHURCH OF GOD IN CHRIST

The Church of God in Christ was started in Chillicothe in 1926 when Elder and Sister Fisher came to town, and obtained ground back of the Bethel A.M.E. Methodist Church on the corner of Violet and Conn streets.

They had services every night under a brush arbor. Soon people were attracted and began to come every night, mostly out of curiosity, because this was a new way of worshipping God, talking about the baptism of the Holy Ghost.

After a period of time, the church moved to another corner, the corner of Liberia and Waples streets, where they erected another brush arbor. They attracted both black and white membership and it was the first integrated church in town. A small church was built. Fish fries and tag days were held to raise money. Following Elder Fisher’s ministry, Elder Cleveland of Kansas City came and held meetings in his home on Third street. He was followed by Elder Fred Boone who started a Thursday night Bible Class. Elder Jones of Kansas City was the next minister of the church, and he was followed by Elder and Sister Campbell, who was in charge of the church until his death.

COMMUNITY BAPTIST CHURCH AT UTICA

Community Baptist Church of Utica came into being after many prayers, meetings and much planning by a group of Christian people who desired a church dedicated to God to fulfill the commission of Jesus Christ.

First Worship Service was held in the Utica firehouse on January 27, 1975 with 83 persons attending. On March 2, after a visit with persons at Central Baptist Seminary and talking with the Rev. Morris Dice, the congregation voted unanimously to affiliate with the American Baptist Churches of the Great Rivers Region. Charter memberhip was signed April 6, 1975 numbering 101; including 11 by baptism. Rev. Merris Dice performed the first baptismal service on April 6, 1975 at the Calvary Baptist Church in Chillicothe, Mo. Those baptized were: Bill and Margaret Cramer, Jeff McDonnal, Pam McIntosh, Charles Kromeich, Pam Eller, Donna Goucher and Betty, Connie, Randy and Gayle Dawkins.

The Rev. Jack Lawrence accepted the call to the pastorate of the church and began his ministry on July 13, 1975. Rev. Lawrence was a graduate of William Jewell College at Liberty and attended Midwestern Baptist Theological Seminary receiving his Master of Divinity in 1972.

Four acres were donated for the site of the church by Ralph B. McCain. A building committee was elected and much work was done by the contractor, Joe Weidmier, and lay persons.

The first service in the basement of the new building was held June 29, 1975. Vacation Bible School was held June 30 to July 11. The first service in the sanctuary was held December 14, 1975.

Members of the building committee were: Nolan Long, Bill Cramer, Ralph Ratliff, Melvin McDonnal, Bob Eller, Jerry Baldwin, Roy Seidt, Vencille Jones, Ralph McCain, Otis Ireland, and Otis Ireland, Jr.

Finance committee: Will Perkins, Mary Lee

Everett, Charles Hopkins, Mike Clark, Grace Stone, and Edgar Kohl.

Board of Deacons: Ralph McCain, Delvern “Mike” Clark, Edgar Kohl, Nolan Long, Melvin McDonnal and Vincelle Jones.

Board of Trustees: Otis Ireland, Robert J. Searcy, Paul McIntosh, Gordon Howerton and Bill Cramer.

First Church Officers were: Pastor, the Rev. Jack Lawrence; Treasurer, Mary Lee Everett; Clerk, Lois McCain; Music Director, Bob Eller; Organist, Marcia Cramer, Pianists, Dorothy Doosing and Mary Jane Everett.

Service of Dedication was held February 8, 1976 with Dr. Albert J. Gernenz, Executive Minister of the American Baptist, as guest speaker with the Rev. and Mrs. Merris Dice, as honored guests.

The second and present pastor, Rev. Roland P. Cooper, served as interim-pastor from December 1978 until the church called him as pastor on April 8, 1979. He received his B.A. degree from William Jewell College at Liberty majoring in history and political science. He received his Master of Divinity degree from Southwestern Baptist Theological Seminary in Fort Worth, Texas. He also has a B.S. degree in elementary education from Southern Illinois University, Edwardsville. He has served as pastor of Baptist churches in Missouri, Colorado, and Illinois. He is teaching sixth grade at Southwest Elementary School in Ludlow.

DAWN BAPTIST CHURCH

The Welsh Baptist Sunday School was organized by a group of Welsh people from Iowa, Ohio, Wisconsin, Pennsylvania, and Wales. In 1865, they met in the home of Thomas Lewis for Sunday School and prayer meeting. Rev. H. O. Rowland preached the first Welsh sermon in the home of Joseph Lewis in March, 1866.

Rev. William Rowland was the first pastor, many denominations worshiped together at first. The Baptists decided to organize the Welsh Baptist church on August 15, 1868, in the Thomas Lewis home by Rev. D. V. Thomas of Rulo, Nebraska, who became the second pastor. The church had 20 charter members and 22 more were added to their membership in 1870. Thomas D. Jones and daughter Margaret, were among those who joined in 1870 whose posterity still serve in and contribute to the church financially including Margaret’s grand children who live in Louisiana and Paul and Ellen Jones who live in the Dawn community and are great-grandchildren of Thomas D. Jones.

When the congregation outgrew the Lewis home they were given permission to meet in the Barry School house until 1876. The church was built across the road east from the school house, at a cost of $700.00 and was dedicated debt free. The foundation was laid by Thomas Lewis and sons. The church was plastered by Jonathan Sykes at a cost of $10.00. In 1888 a Cornish organ was purchased at a cost of $42.50. In 1895, the name was changed to “Cambrian”. It has always been a missionary church and was the mother church of Bethany and Mt. Carmel and later Bethel Baptist. All have since been abandoned. From these churches missionaries have gone, Miss Maggie Hughes and Mrs. Anna (Hughes) Jellum both to the state of Utah from Bethany. Rev. Everett Wilcox went from Mt. Carmel to Brazil and on October 2, 1912, Thomas M. Griffiths Jr. was ordained to the ministry and went to Monmouth, Maine, where he still resides as a preacher, teacher and writer.

Another young man also from Cambrian was ordained and went to Virginia, he was Oliver C. Perry, (now deceased).

On April 27, 1947, the church voted to move to the village of Dawn, ground was given by Mr. and Mrs. Albert Lowery. On June 29, 1947, the church celebrated the 80th anniversary. That fall the building was torn down, the Fairland church near Avalon was Dawn Baptist Church purchased and torn down and both moved to Dawn. Many cold hands and feet were felt that fall as worship services were in a tent. The Christmas program was held in the basement. On April 11, the name was changed once again to the “Dawn Baptist Church”. It was dedicated May 2, 1948, with an attendance of over 200.

The first Vacation Bible School was held during the pastorate of Tom Rehorn in 1950. Rev. Gerald Pitney the next pastor, was a great Bible student and an energetic person. His wife, Nadie, was a talented musician. Until 1954 the church had only had preaching every other Sunday. Brother Glenn Peters was called. He was a veteran who had lost an arm and leg in the service of his country. He asked that the congregation have full time preaching and it has continued to the present time. Following him was Rev. David Beal and his wife, Helen, who served the Church faithfully for three years. The church debt was paid off and the Avalon Chapel was started with some of the dedicated members leading there. The Beals are now serving in mission work in Atlanta, Georgia. Under Brother Alva Null Jr’s leadership new floor coverings and new pews were added and dedicated with Rev. David Beal bringing the message.

Brother Larry Johnson was pastor in 1968 when the 100th anniversary was celebrated. Two former pastors, Rev. G. D. Parrack and Rev. Tom M. Griffiths Jr. gave inspiring messages. Some other dedicated young men who came to the Dawn Baptist church as their first pastorate were Bro. John Hackworth with wife, Jeanie. They organized a youth prayer group that brought the young people together, with some talented speakers. Another was Bro. Randall Bunch and wife, Karan, who were pastoring in 1971-1973 when they felt the call for Home Mission work in North Dakota. They returned for a meeting in March 1980. Wayne Comes and wife, Carol, served for three years, and were led to Home mission work in West Virginia. During their pastorate a choir was formed. Brother Larry Hershberger is the present pastor. He and his wife, Joyce, do a great work. He preached from the roof of the church, March 23, 1980. In the 112 years of the church 30 pastors, 20 deacons and 5 clerks have served the church. The present clerk has served thirty-nine years.

DAWN FEDERATED CHURCH

In the early 1920’s, many of the churches in the Dawn area were finding it difficult to secure and support full-time ministers. Because of this an informal committee, representing the Congregational, Presbyterian, and Methodist churches, met in 1925 to discuss possible solutions. Following these discussions, the three groups decided to jointly hire one minister. The first minister hired was the Reverend S. G. Gutensohn, a Congregationalist and a person committed to this project. The real beginnings of the Federated Church took place with a formal organization in 1926, governed by a Board of Control. On Nov. 27, 1927 a committee of this Board proposed a set of By-Laws which established a Council and five committees made up equally from members of each congregation. Later all three churches began meeting as one congregation in the Methodist church building. (This building, still in use today, had originally been constructed as an opera house by Watson Fisher. It was purchased for use as a church building by community subscription, and converted to this use by the Methodists.)

The year 1927 also saw the formation of the church group with the longest life - the recently revived “T. M.’s” This women’s group chose the name “The More The Merrier” and has been active in church and community affairs ever since.

During the late 1930’s, the Federated Church joined with the Avalon and Chula Presbyterian Churches in being served by one minister. Then from 1945 until 1952 it was yoked with the Liberty Methodist Church.

The early 1950’s saw the beginning of the annual Lord’s Acre Sale or Harvest Festival. At this time the building underwent some major remodeling. A full basement was added, and a new furnace, pews, and pulpit furniture replaced the old equipment. The congregation also decided to hire a full-time pastor once again and this led to another construction project. The old Congregational parsonage was inadequate, so a new one was built, being finished in 1955.

In 1961 the church once again faced the difficulty of supporting a full-time minister. The Livingston County Larger Parish was organized, which included the Blue Mound and Ludlow Christian churches in addition to the Federated church. Within a few years the local Christians became a formal affiliate of the Federation. Over the years many changes took place in the Larger Parish: the Plymouth Methodist church joined and later left; the Blue Mound congregation left; the Mooresville Christian church joined; the Ludlow Christian church became the Community church through a union with the United Methodist congregation. The Parish dissolved in 1974 when all three remaining congregations decided to try it on their own again.

The Federated church is still loosely connected with the four constituent denominations and has been served by pastors from each of these. Membership has dwindled along with the population of the Dawn area, but it is still a strong congregation attempting to fulfill its ministry and standing as a witness for cooperation among churches.

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH CHILLICOTHE

In the early fall of 1844, the second courthouse of Livingston County located in the Public Square served as the meeting place for Baptists to have their first religious services. Here, perhaps not more than ten or a dozen Baptists, under the leadership of the Pioneer Baptist preacher, William W. Walden, organized the First Baptist church in Chillicothe and here the little church continued to meet until 1850, at which time they joined the Christian church people in worshipping in what was probably the first building used exclusively for church services in Chillicothe. It was located at the present site of the Masonic Temple. The two churches cooperated in holding their services until 1856 when the Baptists disposed of their interests to the Christian church. Soon after this, the Baptists began the erection of a splendid brick building at the corner of Elm and Webster streets. This church was formally dedicated in 1858.

The Civil War brought about a division in the church but the Baptists were able to overcome this Civil War dissension and in 1869 the two churches appointed committees to bring about a union of the two churches. The committee was composed of Rev. G. W. Rodgers, Deacon, J. M. Alnutt, Dr. E. S. Poindexter, Deacon J. C. Bernard, A. S. Stewart, and Z. N. Goldby. The committee devised a plan whereby the two churches were to reorganize under the name of First Baptist Church of Chillicothe, Mo.

This was a great day for the Baptists of Chillicothe for after the consolidation the church had a membership of almost one hundred. Two years later in 1871 under the leadership of their new pastor, Rev. L. M. Berry, the church held a revival with Elder Randall doing the preaching. There were 110 baptisms. The church actually doubled itself in membership. 

June 17, 1903, under the leadership of Dr. Ray Palmer, a contract was let for a new and modern building to be erected at Vine and Clay streets. The building was completed in less than a year at a cost of $16,525. Members of the church instrumental in raising money for the completion of the church were J. P. Hunt, F. A. Davis, R. M. Bruce, J. W. Botts, J. M. Dunn, C. E. Cornue, and C. 0. Hatcher.

The First Baptist Church had a continuous growth and in 1943 purchased the D. G. Johnson property across the street from the church at a cost of $3500.

They also voted to remodel the home to accommodate the Sunday School growth, and to finish the basement of the church for educational purposes.

In 1951 a division arose among our members and the Calvary Baptist Church was formed. Since then, the wounds have been healed and two strong churches have resulted.

A church educational building was erected or annexed in 1952, consisting of a basement and one story. A second story was added later.

In May, 1967, the foundation was laid for a new church building complex at 1601 Bryan, the lot being

purchased from Mr. and Mrs. Joseph Miquelon. The construction was completed and dedication services were held March 17, 1968 with over 800 people in attendance.

(The former church building located at Vine and Clay Street was torn down, leaving the educational building which was converted into apartments.)

The people of First Baptist Church of Chillicothe feel they have been blessed of the Lord both spiritually and financially in being able to have carried on so rich a heritage.

FIRST BAPTIST CHURCH WHEELING, MISSOURI

On May 3, 1875, the first services were held of the First Baptist Church, Wheeling, Missouri. The church had no building in which to meet at this time, so for a while they met at the Wheeling School house and later at the Wheeling Methodist Church.

During the year 1888, the church secured property in the northern part of the city of Wheeling where the present church stands today. The people erected a building and furnished it at a cost of $1860.00. Dedication services were held in January of 1889.

By 1890, they were having preaching services twice a month and were able to build a baptistry. In the early 1900’s, electrical wiring was installed in the church.

In 1923, the Baptist and the Methodist decided to call a pastor on the field to serve both churches.

The ladies of the church were very important in the early years as they would hold annual chrysanthemum shows in order to help support the church.

By 1929, the church was able to put a full basement under their building, to add three rooms to the north of the building, plus installation of a pipeless furnace.

In 1948, the Methodist church decided to hire their own full time pastor which led the Baptist to do likewise in 1954.

A parsonage for the church was acquired in 1953 when John Walkup presented the church with a gift of some property which presently, as through the years, serves as a home for the pastors of the church.

The church decided in 1959 to build an educational building at the north of the existing church and completion and dedication was in November of 1963.

Through the years a lot of beautification to the Lords House in Wheeling was done through gracious gifts left to the church by members and also through gifts given as memorials.

The church today is very active with a G. A. (organization for girls) which has been active since 1938; a W.M.U. (womens organization) which began in early 1924; and through the years they have had organizations for boys.

The present pastor of the church is Rev. Steve Pinnell. The deacons are Wayne Seifert and Winston Buckner. Trustees are Bob Kimmis, Clarence Arthaud, Cecil Buckner, and Hal Norwood.

FIRST CHRISTIAN CHURCH

The First Christian Church (Disciples of Christ), Chillicothe, Missouri was organized November 7, 1844, by Reverend J. S. Allen and the Reverend Thomas Thompson. The organization took place in the old brick court house, built in 1840, and located in the center of where the square is today. The church met there until 1856 when the first building was erected at the southwest corner of Clay and Washington streets. The first building cost $2,000.00.

In January 1864, David T. Wright became minister of the church here. Following a fire of a publishing house in Trenton, Missouri, Reverend Wright made arrangements to have the Christian Pioneer published in Chillicothe. The Christian Pioneer was the first state religious paper printed by the Christian Church in Missouri, and because of its publication Chillicothe became the central meeting point of the early Christian Church preachers in Missouri. On April 5, the second church building was erected by the congregation at the corner of Jackson and Cherry Streets (its present location) at a cost of $10,000. A few years later 1892 the first organ was provided for worship service.

During the years from 1892 to 1923 the church organized missionary circles, Bible Classes, various committees were formed to carry on the mission of the church.

On January 30, 1927, the third church building was dedicated” costing $90,912.15. The great depression of the 1930’s struck the church as it did our nation and because of heavy debt the bondholders foreclosed. For a time the church held its meetings in the Masonic Temple. By 1943 the indebtedness was paid and the members moved back into the building. The Alice Roe Chapel (now Memorial Chapel) was installed and dedicated on January 26, 1947. Dr. Kenneth Kuntz was minister during this period.

The congregation voted in, November 1966 to remodel the existing church, rather than purchase new land and construct a new building. A fund-raising campaign was held and over $73,000.00 was pledged.

On June 21, 1970 a re-dedication service was held with Dr. Lesster Rickman, General Minister and President of the Christian Church in Missouri as speaker. The cost of the remodeling was $183,457.19. A loan from the Board of Church Extension for $80,000.00 was secured to be paid in ten years. That debt was paid in five (5) years, with a mortgage burning service held June 29, 1975 to celebrate the event.

FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

The First Presbyterian Church of Chillicothe, Missouri was organized November 27, 1858, by the Reverend Ralph Harris, after a year of work by a small group of Presbyterians. James Love of Liberty, Missouri donated a lot at the Northeast corner of Elm and Ann Streets. A small brick building was erected and the Reverend Mr. Singleton supplied the pulpit for the first two years.

During the Civil War, soldiers took possession of the building and used it to house negroes, until a Presbyterian minister obtained permission to use it for a school. In 1866, the church was again organized, with the Reverend John Pinkerton as pastor. There were 27 members, and a Sunday School was organized.

In 1892, the second brick building was constructed. It was a large square building, accommodating 300 persons. There were tall stained glass windows in the west and south walls. On the southwest corner was a tall, square bell-tower and entrances on the west and south - a style commonly used in that period. Dr. George Miller supplied the pulpit until 1897.

In 1951 this building was razed and the present structure erected. In this interim, services were held in the Ben Bolt Theatre, with the Reverend James A. McNeilly as pastor.

The present building, of Williamsburg brick, is built on simple Gothic lines. With the balcony, the seating capacity is about 275. It was dedicated on April 20, 1952. In 1959 an addition was completed, to the north of the church. This added 5,000 square feet of space. A new entrance was provided into a hall between the two sections. Downstairs is a large hall for gatherings, with a convenient kitchen. The upper level provides a large study, a secretary’s room, a comfortable lounge, a large nursery and two classrooms. A library is now in the planning stage. The Reverend William L. Lindblom has served as pastor since 1963, being the longest period to be served by one pastor. He has initiated many changes and improvements. The church enjoys an outstanding music program; Mrs. Oscar M. Cooke as organist and Mr. Jack Brookshire the current director of music. In 1966 a new pipe organ replaced the one used for over 50 years; a church lounge was decorated and furnished; and in 1974 a dedication was held for 7 new stained-glass windows, depicting the “Symbols of the key acts of God as recorded in the Testaments.”

At the same time an eight foot cross of ash was dedicated, to grace the east wall of the chancel. This was built by W. L. Shaffer, Jr. and presented to the church by Mr. and Mrs. Shaffer.

FREE METHODIST CHURCH

In 1892, a Primitive Methodist preacher from Ludlow, Missouri by the name of St. Clair came to Chillicothe and held a meeting in a schoolhouse near Cowgill and Green Street. A class was organized and the church was built on the Southwest corner of Williams and Green Street.

In 1895, the Methodist Primitive folks sold the church to the Congregationalist people who moved the church to 223 Graves Street in 1896. The bell was donated by Mr. Broadbick, foundation stones were hauled by team and wagon by J. W. Simmons.

In February 1899, a Free Methodist General Conference Evangelist, W. C. Hanmer came to Chillicothe and held a meeting in the church. A class was organized and the building purchased from the Congregationalists. T. B. France served as supply pastor until conference. Charter members were Walter Simmons, Mr. and Mrs. Junnes, Marion Hughes, Mandy Hughes, Mr. and Mrs. Hull, Mr. and Mrs. Turner, Mr. and Mrs. Henry Wood, Mrs. A. E. Abbott, Wesley Rhinehart, Stella Sharp, and H. B. France. F. A. Reeves was the first appointed pastor at the 1899 conference.

J. B. France, local preacher and carpenter with Brother Simmons help built the parsonage rooms on the back of the church. Another addition was built by M. P. Andrews, a bath was put in by Eungene Layson. A basement was started during the pastorate of Forrest Hicks. In May of 1960 a re-location began. It climaxed with a new building at 1441 Jackson under the ministry of Joseph Humphrey. The cornerstone was laid August 7, 1966. Former pastors participating were: M. P. Andrews, Paul Willard, Truman Shepherd, Forrest Hicks, S. L. Gilkison and Alfred Kahlstorf. Dedication was held March 31, 1968, Dr. Stanley Walters of Greenville College was the speaker. In February 1969, property east of the church was purchased and in 1971 construction began on an educational unit. In June 1972, the building was first used for classes. In January 1976, property at 1426 Webster was purchased to provide space for future planning and expansion. The pastor, Donald E. Hoffman, and family moved there in July. The west wing addition to the church was begun in April 1979 and completed in April 1980, dedicated in May. About 90% of the work was done by the lay people of the church.

GRACE EPISCOPAL CHURCH

The church property was acquired in 1859 and the structure built in 1870. It is the oldest church building in use in Chillicothe. Many of the stained glass windows were installed long before the turn of the century and represent fine examples of 19th century church art. The church furnishings reflect the constant devotion and care of generations of Episcopalians who have worshiped there.

Founded during the great westward movement, Grace Church provides its people with the doctrine, discipline, and worship of the Episcopal Church which is the American branch of the world wide Anglican Communion. Its worship is formed by the Book of Common Prayer, first printed in 1549, and modified by succeeding revisions. The Episcopal Church possesses the Catholic and Protestant traditions of the past as living realities of the Christian faith. Grace Church was placed on the National Register of Historic Places on September 17, 1980.

HIGHVIEW BAPTIST CHURCH

For other foundations can no man lay than that is laid, which is Jesus Christ -- 1 Corinthians 3:11

On January 28, 1966 money was borrowed in the amount of $3500.00 to purchase property located at 711Milwaukee Street Chillicothe, Missouri. The property consisted of five lots and one four room frame house purchased for the purpose of having a Baptist Church. The partitions were removed and the interior of building was paneled.

On March 29, 1966 Rev. Jim Wells, Tina, Missouri, filled the pulpit at our first services. April 6, 1966 voted to call our church Highview Baptist Church and at the same meeting Rev. Jim Wells was called to be our pastor for full time; he served until August 14, 1966. Rev. Charles Turner, Kansas City, Missouri, was called August 21, 1966. On March 12, 1967 we were constituted as a Southern Baptist Church with 25 charter members. On November 8, 1967 we borrowed $4500.00 to build a basement; the cost of the basement was $5000.00. April, 1968, the basement was completed, services were held full time; the former building was used for Sunday School classes.

Rev. Charles Turner served until February 5, 1969 when Rev. Joe Turner, brother to Charles was called February 12, 1969; he served until February 12, 1971. Rev. Lawrence Hammond was called and served from March 7, 1971 to July 1972. Rev. Merlin Shively was called September, 1972. He is the present pastor. The note for indebtedness on the ground and building was paid and the note burned in 1974. On March 5, 1975 we voted to start on the present building as the money came in. The building was completed February 27, 1976.

Our present membership is 154 members.

LEOPOLIS CHURCH

The Leopolis community was among the first to be settled. Patrick Hogan, born in Ireland was the first to come with his family from Canada, in 1869. The place was first known as Hogan’s Settlement. Later the name was changed to Leopolis, in honor of Pope Leo XIII. Franklins, Halls, Regans and McKenzies came from Canada, and Feeneys, Martins, Kinsellas, Sheas, Lawlers and Fitzpatricks all had emigrated from Ireland except McKenzies, who came from Scotland.

St. Patrick’s Catholic Church was built and dedicated in 1884. Its three bells were given by Mr. and Mrs. Lawrence Kinsella and their grandson, Lawrence Lawler, pulled the bell rope for the first service. Pat Hogan and Lee Pendergast were the first to be baptized in the new church. Before the church was built, services were held in private homes and members formerly belonged to St. Columban’s congregation, in Chillicothe.

The Franciscan Fathers were pastors for many years and after them Father Henry B. Tierney, a noted poet and one of the best known priests in North Missouri, was pastor.

In 1890, a parochial school was erected and opened by the Sisters of Mercy. The school was given up in 1898. The plot of ground for the church and cemetery was donated by Mr. and Mrs. Thomas Hall.

LIBERTY UNITED METHODIST CHURCH

The community now served by Liberty Church was settled in the 1830’s. A log cabin schoolhouse was built in 1838, one half mile south and a half mile west of the present church. In 1843 Cap Bowen organized a Sunday School here called Union Sunday Brethern School. The first minister was a United Brethern from Avalon, local preachers, Reverend Linthecum and Reverend Swain also preached. In the winter of 1873, Reverend Mosher, a Methodist Minister who lived in Dawn held a revival. A church was organized with Brother Mosher as minister. Charter member families were: Seiberlings, Mosers, McKerlie, Coe, Stone, and Bean.

During hard times the minister left, so two of the women of the community, Mrs. Coe and Mrs. McKerlie took turns reading sermons, when a new minister was appointed these two women were appointed stewards and they visited each family in the congregation with a team and wagon collecting grain, vegetables, meat and fruit for the minister’s family.

The Liberty Church became a part of the Ludlow Circuit and Reverend C.A.B. Watson was sent to build a church. In 1884 a tornado at Blue Mound blew down the log schoolhouse, and the church services were held at Swain School until a new Kincaid School could be built. In 1888 Professor Bates of Avalon conducted a singing school for the young people so they could learn to read music. Thomas L. Jones gave the lot for the new church and building was started in 1892. A Christian Endeavor was organized in 1895, between Reese Chapel, Liberty, and the U. B. Church in Avalon, it became an active organization and later a Junior Christian Endeavor was organized with Katie Seiberling as sponsor. The church started a missionary program in 1905. Later Reverend C. C. Hartzler, student pastor at Liberty in 1909, became a missionary to Africa.

In 1908, a Ladies Aid was organized to help with church finances. In 1917, the church formed an orchestra and the first piano was purchased for the church. The church was one of the first rural churches to sponsor a 4-H club, starting in 1920 with W. D. Steele as a leader, when 4-H club work was reactivated in the 1930’s the name Liberty 4-H Club was chosen. In 1922, an Epworth League was started. By 1920, the church had outgrown the building, and an annex and a basement was built. It was dedicated on August 12, 1923. Further renovation of the old building was done during the 1920’s.

In 1940, following Methodist Unification, a Methodist Youth Fellowship was started and later the Ladies Aid and the Missionary Society became the Women’s Society of Christian Service.

The youth of the church started a choir, under the direction of Mrs. Maurice Livingston, during the late 1940’s and early 1950’s. The youth fellowship of the church embarked on many different projects in late years. They have participated in nine work camps, in Missouri, Oklahoma, Kentucky, under the leadership of Mr. and Mrs. Dale Whiteside.

In 1960, a new church sanctuary was built of brick. Lee Wray Russell was the minister at the time. The old frame church continued to be used for Sunday School classes until 1968 when an educational wing was built, and the old frame building was torn down. The educational wing was built during Reverend John Gooding’s ministry.

The present minister is Reverend Gilbert Evans. The church membership is 150 members. Mrs. Lena Bowen is church lay leader, Raymond Hoyt is chairman of the Administrative Council, Mrs. Beverly Reeser is chairman of the Council on Ministries.

The church has an active Men’s Club with Dale Whiteside as president. The women of the church belong to United Methodist Women with Mrs. Latimer Jones as president, and the young people of the church belong to United Methodist Youth with Evonna George as president.

There are nine Church School classes. Mrs. Pat Shuler is chairman of Church School work. Margaret Wood serves as Church School secretary, Ben Wood Jones is Church treasurer, Mrs. Willa Vee George is financial secretary.

LILLY GROVE CHURCH (1858-1980)

The Lilly Grove Church built in the years 1856-1858 by those residing in the area and who recognized the need of having a place where they could gather and be ministered to from the Holy Writ, and to give thanks to the great Creator God for their many blessings, still stands in northwest Livingston County, 14 miles northwest of Chillicothe, Missouri.

Built out of native lumber the floor is of rough sawed oak, the pews are native material; and the heat was from two large wood or coal stoves.

The ground was furnished by the Lilly family, therefore the name Lilly Grove.

Those who are believed to have helped in the building are the Lilly’s, George Washington Hobbs, Thomas Gann, Thomas Hutchison, John W. Boyle; and other names from the cemetery markers that may have helped in the building or in other ways are Phelps, Hosman, Lauderdale, Faulk, Moore, Shuler, Farrar, Caladine, Hand, Brown, Ott, Campbell, Lipke, Rose, Griffin, Gillilan, Tye, Wood, and others who were not buried in the Lilly Grove Cemetery. There are some of the markers so weatherworn the names cannot be seen.

During 1861 the Lilly Grove Area was a no-man’s land between the southern sympathizers and the

Union forces.

The Illinois 50th Cavalry visited Lilly Grove Church on a Sunday morning and created excitement. About this time a bullet hole was made in the door of the Church.

Former pastors were: Thomas Thompson, I. S. Allen, George Flint, Wm. Harriman, W. B. Carter, M. Peterson, Whaley, Pardonner, J. Edwards, J. D. Wilnot, Ben Matchett, U. S. Thader, W. D. Gordon,

Jacob Creath, R. M. Messick, B. Lockhart, E. J. Duncan, C. A. Hedrick, D. F. Bessett, Phelps and

Hawkins.

Denver Richardson was the minister in the 1930’s and the services were attended by many in the area, when there was a large number of young people living near by and they made it a must to go to Lilly Grove. Names of some attending at that time; Lovell, Rose, Swaithes, Wilson, White, Persell, Laffey, Black, Dickerson, Davidson, Robbins, Young, Gillilan, Schuler, Hicklin, Hochs, Gann, Thompson, Sneeden, Tout, Prewitt, Caddell, Long, Stottlemyre, Hutchison, Marlow, Lamp, Cox, Miller and Bates.

In the late 1940’s and early 50’s, it was rather quiet at Lilly Grove, but Mr. and Mrs. Johnnie Gann and Dora Hutchison never forgot the old church that was dear to them, and attended occasionally. Johnnie mowed the part of the cemetery where his relatives were buried and Alpha wrote the items for the Chillicothe and Jamesport newspapers.

In the mid 1950’s Mr. and Mrs. William Wigfield and others from Chillicothe and Gallatin started a twice weekly Bible study; during this time the building was painted, a new roof job and the front steps and porch renewed. Mrs. C. 0. Berden, Red Cloud, Nebraska had made money available for the improvements. She, I believe, was the daughter of one of the Hutchisons. Roger Peery, Harold Godman and Dave Lovell did the porch work.

A large crowd gathered for the centennial meeting in the summer of 1958, attending from far and near. Ernest Harvey was the speaker in the morning and Paul Ketcherside in the afternoon.

In the early 1960’s Mr. and Mrs. George Walker, Kansas City, Missouri promoted a nightly meeting for two weeks.

In the 1960’s William Wilson and Johnnie Gann started the occasional Sunday afternoon singings which lasted until 1973. William Wilson generally was speaker at these events with an occasional guest speaker among whom was Ron Palarmo and Dan Schiel who is now being heard over 2 or 3 radio stations and recently on television in the Houston, Texas area. Many attended from far and near and took part in music and song. The Lilly Grove Church has been standing for 118 years, was painted again in the early 1970’s but of course is showing it’s age. It has been a lighthouse down through the years, loved by many and frequently visited by many who live in other states and different parts of the country when they are here on vacation.

Beulah Gay, now deceased, had made a sufficient amount of money available for a trust fund to be used for the care and upkeep of the cemetery by and in back of the church building. There are several of Miss Gay’s relatives buried there including her grandparents on the Gann side of her family. The grounds are kept mowed at regular times through the growing season, the markers have been straightened where needed, and the grounds have been well fenced. The work being directed by John Peery who was named trustee; Roy Hicklin, Beulah Dunn and Lowell Moore the board members.

Much of the early history of Lilly Grove has been collected by Mrs. Nelle Parker, Trenton, Mo., with a

Mrs. Mays, Kansas City, Mo. Mildred Hutchison, Kansas City, who formerly lived near, and Mrs. Grace Cole who still lives in the area assisting from old diaries, notes that had been written in song books; etc.

In this bicentennial year of the independence of our great country, may we the people desire and search for the truth from God’s inspired word, realizing that from His word guided by the revealing of the Holy Spirit we can know the way, the truth and the life.

“Blessed is the nation whose Godis the Lord.” Psalms 33:12 -- William Wilson

LUDLOW COMMUNITY CHURCH

June 1972, the congregation of the former Ludlow Christian Church and Ludlow Methodist Church finalized the merger into the Ludlow Community Church. The new church was a partner in the Livingston County Larger Parish along with Dawn Federated Church and Mooresville Christian Church. Reverend Robert Barnett, former pastor of the Ludlow Circuit of the Ludlow Methodist Church was the pastor.

Officers were: Noah Gall, Mrs. Zeala Warner, John Busby, Carl Goll, Mrs. Helen Hughes, Mrs. Betty Wolcott, secretary, Mrs. Virginia James, treasurer and David James. The Larger Parish Committee: John Wolcott, Maurice Hatchitt and Mrs. Novella Robinson.

This organization remained until 1974 - 75. Then Reverend Barnett became pastor to the Ludlow Community Church, Mooresville Christian Church and Wheeling Christian Church of which he still serves (1980).

LUDLOW METHODIST CHURCH 1853-1972

In 1853, the Ludlow Methodist Church was organized with nine charter members: Peter Rudolph, Ella Rudolph, Benjamin Toner, Abigail Toner, Samuel Rudolph, Mary Rudolph, Mathilda Mafee, Mrs. Ella Rudolph and one other person whose name is not now known.

Shortly after the organization was completed Rev. Buren was called as pastor. He held a revival meeting and many were added to this band of worshippers. They had no church building in which to hold their services but overcame this difficulty by holding services in various homes. Rev. Witten was the next pastor. At this time arrangements were made to hold services in a log school house. These hardy pioneers thought nothing of walking four or more miles to worship services.

Services were held at several locations before members took steps to erect a church in which to worship. Services were held for a time at Austin Chapel which was known as the Treat schoolhouse that stood where the Baptist Chapel now stands. (Formerly Ludlow Christian Church).

The congregation erected its first church in 1873 on the corner across the road from the Monroe Cemetery and was called Monroe Center M. E. Church. In 1874 the average attendance at Sunday School-was 66 and Abraham Culling was superintendent.

In 1888, the members bought a lot in the town of Ludlow and moved their building there. Then in 1906-1907 with increased membership it was found that the old building was no longer adequate to meet the requirements of the growing organization. To make way for the new building, the old church building was again moved to the rear of the church lot and was used in that location until the new building was completed in 1907-1908. The new church building was dedicated Sunday August 16, 1908. The dedicatory sermon was delivered by Rev. P. J. McVeety. Rev. C. S. Dayoff was pastor at the time.

In June 1972, Methodist authorization was given on behalf of the Missouri West Conference by Rev. Paul White, district superintendent for the merger with the Ludlow Christian Church into the Ludlow Community Church.

LUDLOW CHRISTIAN CHURCH

The church was organized December 15, 1887, and services were held in what was once a school house built on land owned by Peter Copple who was the main leader of the church at that time. Original book of records was accidentally burned, but from inquiries has been collected the following names of the charter members: the families of Peter Copple and Ward Anderson, Mrs. Rebecca Critchfield, Mrs. Emma Copple, Mr. & Mrs. Henry Reed, Al Bryan, Mrs. Lee Barton, Mr. & Mrs. George Lenhart.

Preaching was held in the school house church and in 1892, a Sunday School was started by Franklyn Hatchitt, Mrs. Al Bryan and Mrs. Lee Barton.

The Milwaukee Land Company purchased the land in 1891 and the land where the old school church building stood was deeded to the trustees of the church.

In 1892 the members decided to build a new church but the lot was too narrow, so Franklyn Copple granted the use of a few feet of land on the south side to widen the space for the church building.

The members of the Church are glad to record having seen one of their young members ordained as a minister, Reverend LaVerne Rudolph.

As the Ludlow community grew smaller in numbers, two churches in town, Ludlow Methodist church and the Ludlow Christian Church, organized the Ludlow Community Church in 1972.

MOORESVILLE CHRISTIAN CHURCH

The Mooresville Christian Church was organized about July, 1879, and first met in the one room school building located just south of old U. S. Hwy. 36 and west of Main Street, and later in the Presbyterian church. About 1889 a ladies’ aid society was organized, mainly for the purpose of raising money for a new church building. The church located on the corner of old U. S. Hwy 36 and Jackson Street, was erected at a cost of approximately $1,200.00. The land was a gift from Humphrey D. Hudgins. Most of the labor was contributed by different men of the community. Thomas J. Ireland, Chillicothe, Mo. was employed by the ladies aid society to superintend the construction of the building. A Bible and pulpit from the first building of the Chillicothe Christian church were presented as a gift. Fourteen pews were purchased about October, 1960, at a cost of approximately $1,022.00. These pews, as well as the pulpit, communion table, chairs and two additional pews which were purchased about June, 1962, are still in use.

Needing space for social events, the Christian church purchased a building on Main Street in July, 1961, from George Hightower for $500.00; the building became known as Fellowship Hall.

Ground breaking ceremonies were held June 9, 1977, for an addition to the Christian church, consisting of a social hall, 3 class rooms, restrooms and storage space. The addition was completed in the summer of 1978.

Rev. Robert Barnett is the present minister of the church, having served in this capacity for about 8 years.

MOORESVILLE UNITED METHODIST CHURCH

The Mooresville Methodist Church South was organized the fall of 1867. There were 13 charter members. They were: Mr. and Mrs. Perry Stuckey, Mr. and Mrs. Mike Tomlin, Mr. and Mrs. L. Holden, Mr. and Mrs. A. T. Cunningham, Mrs. N. Cooper, Mrs. E. Rucker and Mrs. M. Hamblin.

The first minister was Reverend J. S. Shores. They held services in the Presbyterian Church (which was the only church building in town) until the Methodist Church was built. It was dedicated by Bishop McMurray in 1881. It was known as the Breckenridge Circuit at the time and Mooresville Zion and Bethel were on Circuit.

On September 18, 1886, trustees of the M. E. Church South and a committee appointed by the

congregation, known as the Christian Congregation, Town of Mooresville, agreed to hold church in the M. E. Church and each church was to keep up their portion of bills in order to use the M. E. Church to worship in.

W. L. Moore, Jessie Moore’s grandfather gave the ground on which it was built and he also gave the bell. It was erected at the cost of $1400.00. Later the entrance and belfry was erected about 1896. The bell was so heavy it made the plastering fall, hence the belfry was reconstructed.

Mrs. Mary Cunningham was the last charter member and she died in 1929. She was the last charter member to be buried from the church. At present, 1980, the church has a membership of 59 members. The present minister is Reverend Leroy Allison and trustees are: Leland Bowyer, Vance Phares, Frank O’Brien and Wayne Rockhold.

In 1979 the church was remodeled, new ceiling was lowered, walls paneled and wood work painted. The church has church and Sunday school each Sunday.

MOUNT HOPE CHRISTIAN CHURCH AT BLUE MOUND

On the 16th day of October, 1884, the Christians met at the Blue Mound School house and formed an organization by electing Bro. W. W. Campbell, M. W. Knox and G. H. Carr as elders, and Bro. S. M. Haynes, and John Sullivan, deacons, H. W. Marker, clerk. The name of the church proposed by sisters, Susie Knox and Leona Barkshire was Mount Hope, which was adopted.

On November 25, 1885, Charles M. and Margaret (Stagner) McAlear deeded 3/4 acre NE corner, NW NE 35-56-24 to B. F. Knox, H. N. Knox and John Burton, trustees, to build a church. The church was built in 1885 with donations of labor and materials. H. N. Knox was the first Sunday school supt., with a membership of 60. E. N. Ware was the first preacher.

The Church of Christ shared the church for their meetings before building their own building, also at Blue Mound.

Bro. Tinsley was hired as minister in 1922. He was from Chillicothe, MO. Bro. Floyd Edwards, Chillicothe, held several revivals. Rev. Lloyd Morgan, Wheeling, and later Bucklin, came twice each month for seven years as pastor.

Bill Hoyt is the present superintendent of the Sunday School.

MT. OLIVE UNITED METHODIST CHURCH

Services were first held in an old log school house, known as the Walker School House, in 1865, by Joseph Delvin. The school house was southeast of the present church site. Mt. Olive was designated as part of the Springhill Circuit by the Missouri Annual Conference held in Richmond, Mo. in 1865.

In 1871, the meeting place was changed to the Brown School House, located northeast of the present church site.

In December, 1875, citizens promised to pay amounts specified at the time to the Leeper class, Mt. Olive, Jamesport Circuit, Missouri Conference, Methodist Episcopal Church South to be used in erecting a church for public worship on the land of W. J. Gibbens; said church to be built near the north line on the first ridge W of the corner of the NE of the NE of section 25 township 58 range 25 Livingston County, Missouri. “Mt. Olive Methodist Episcopal Church South 1876” was inscribed on the north gable of the church. Deed was recorded on July 8, 1876.

The charter members included the family names of Beal, Dryden, Brown, Hale, Dunn, Williams, Breeze, Gann, McWilliams, Allnutt, Simmons, Walker, Elrick, Frazier, Munsy, Wilson, Gibbens, Robinson, Dawkins, Sanson, Mathis, Cooper, Rider, England and Boyle.

In the year 1892, the members began making plans to buy two acres for Mt. Olive Cemetery from J. R. Brown for a cost of $104.00.

In 1901, the church burned one Sunday night following the night service, presumably from an overheated wood stove. Members again held services at the Brown Schoolhouse. Although plans for the present building began almost immediately, the church was not dedicated until 1904.

The woman’s organization in the church was first called “Ladies Aid” and then “Industrial Society”. Later the “Woman’s Society of Christian Service” and now the “United Methodist Women”.

The first homecoming at Mt. Olive was held July 29, 1928.

With the completion of the basement in 1959, it made possible the modern conveniences we now enjoy. The basement was dedicated in 1960.

During the week of Sept. 26 to Oct. 3, 1965, Mt. Olive celebrated its centennial. The pastors that have served Mt. Olive from first to last have been: Rev. S. W. Cope, Rev. G. Y. Blakely, Rev. J. A. Hyder, Rev. J. W. Perry, Rev. A. L. Gribble, Rev. Willis E. Dockery, Rev. Faux (Fox), Rev. Kindred, Rev. Shackelford, Rev. Rice, Rev. Whitworth, Rev. Campbell, Rev. Carl Davis, Rev. Trotter, Rev. Smith, Rev. Sam Hawkins, Rev. Barret, Rev. Wm. Rutherford, Rev. Stanger, Rev. F. G. Seyforth, Rev. P. W. Henry, Rev. W. H. Allen, Rev. H. E. Burton, Rev. Harry J. McGrew, Rev. Edward J. Spears, Rev. E. E. Mangold, Rev. D. R. Davis, Rev. A. J. Rehkop, Rev. Ruby McLeod, Rev. J. W. Nelson, Rev. Geo. Wheat, Rev. Lawrence Wheeler, Rev. Don Cook, Rev. Evelyn Ezell, Rev. Geo. Borgeson, Ron Barr, Jay Vetter, Rev. Harry Rigsby, Lon Lewis and several Lay Speakers.

The present pastor (1980) is Robert Casady and the church has 72 members. – Oakland Douglas

MT. PLEASANT BAPTIST:

Mt. Pleasant Baptist church was organized July 23, 1852, at Frith School house (later known as Raulie School). Rev. James Turner and Elder Scott organized the church, land was donated by Benjamin Hargrave. James Turner first pastor, resigned April 1879 because of ill health. The first building erected in 1853, burned and was rebuilt in 1876, at a cost of $800.00. A committee appointed raised $368.50 by April1887, when debt was paid by assessing membership according to amount of taxes paid. Building burned again in 1889, was insured, and by June 1889, they met in new building which cost $654. A new addition was added in June 1917, and all debts paid before dedication January 15, 1919. Rev. T. L. Harris was pastor and also served as carpenter, members donated work and dug a cistern. In December 1946, a full basement was put under the building, a gas furnace installed in 1956, classrooms, kitchen and another heater. in the basement, white asbestor siding was put on and new chairs, tables, and paneling in the basement were added.

Some of first members were Henry Frith, Elisha Boucher, Benjamin Hargrave, John Hargrave, J. H. Street, James McCallister, J. M. Allnut, John Weaver, Sneed, Jennings, Cornelius, Sterling, Crews, and Brassfield families,50 members in all. Some descendents of these families are members today.

The church joined Livingston County Association in August 1874. The first Revival was held at the Frith

home for several weeks, and finally closed because Mr. Frith ran out of food and water. Families came by horse and wagon and stayed until revival ended. Another early revival was held at the Riley Brassfield

home and Brassfield school in 1858. In 1868 several members were dismissed to form another church at Zion. Biggest revival held was in a tent Uncle Henry Boon bought and donated to the County Association. T. L. Harris was pastor at that time. Ten men have been licensed to preach or ordained by the church: Wm. H. Boon, Bro. William Hughes, Bro. Albert Gallatin, W. C. Morgan, Charles C. Hargrave, George W. Mast, Albert Mast, Earnie Sneden, Frank Schwab, and James Wood.

Mid-week prayer meeting started in January 1887. The first Sunday School, organized in May 1890, with William H. Boon as the superintendent, has been held continuously since that time with attendance varying from 30 to 100. Baptist Training Union started in 1922 with Albert Mast as president, and a Women’s Missionary Union was organized in 1926.

The church went from half time to full time during March 1947. Mt. Pleasant Cemetery was donated by John Grouse in 1874, one acre in size. The family later donated another half acre on the south side and one row of lots was taken off the south side of the church yard.

The church today has a membership of 114 resident members and 67 non-resident members. Church has full time work, usually with student pastors. The members hold revivals, prayer meetings, and vacation Bible School in the summer with an average of 80 children attending. The members participate in activities and meetings of the Linn-Livingston Baptist Association of which the church is a member.

Two window air conditioners have been installed and in November 1979 the Rural Water System was put into the basement with new kitchen equipment, refrigeration, metal cabinets, sink, new range and lighting. The ceiling was lowered and insulated and new florescent lighting was installed. A new addition has been added to the front of the church including two restrooms and large entry way that is carpeted and paneled and new front steps with a railing. The church is free from debt. The full time student pastor is Jesse Greever. The church has Bible School, Cooperative Program, Baptist Women, Special Mission work, Home for Aged and Orphans Home, Refugee family and sponsors visits to the nursing home. The Sunday School enrollment is 57. The church auditorium has been newly papered and new blinds installed. The Linn and Livingston Association meeting met at the church in August, 1980.

Ola M. Noah Historian

Larry Seale, Treasurer 

Hazel Mast, Clerk

MT. ZION BAPTIST CHURCH

Mt. Zion Baptist of Chillicothe was organized by the Wood River Association of Wood River, Illinois in 1854. One of the organizers was a Reverend Dolin. The meeting places of the church in its early organization were in the homes, in the school and in an old tobacco factory on West Webster street. In September 1865, the North Missouri Association was organized by several ministers, since this is the oldest church north of the Missouri River, it is called the Mother Church of the Mt. Zion District.

In 1866 the present site was purchased from John Graves for $1.50. The first building was a crude one, 40 feet long and 20 feet wide. Later 20 more feet were added in length. The church was raised, a basement added, and a baptismal pool built during the pastorage of Reverend J. S. Swancy. Ministers preceding Reverend S. D. Saunder lived in rented houses. During Reverend Saunder’s ministry, the parsonage was purchased.

In the past 25 years, extensive remodeling and redecorating have been done, the women of the church have worked hard in every effort, dating back to pioneer women who helped to hew out logs that were used for sills in the church.

The church has had 35 pastors, the present pastor is Reverend John R. White. Jerome Botts is chairman of the Deacons, and other deacons are Benjamin Johnson, Jesse E. Dodd, Jr. Wymond Palmer is chairman of the Trustees and other trustees are Max Allen and Carl Kerr. Mary Johnson is clerk, and Darline Botts is treasurer.

OLIVE BRANCH BAPTIST CHURCH

In the year 1909, Rev. W. B. Alsbury, a Missionary came to the Linville School and held a revival meeting, which led to the organization of The Olive Branch Baptist Church. On April 11, 1909, they had their first meeting with Rev. Lee Hunt preaching. There was a business meeting following, with Rev. Alsbury as moderator and Earl Cox as clerk. The first deacons to be elected were J. C. Gallatin, F. M. Stein, C. E. Cox, W. L. Linville, Rev. F. P. Davidson gave the charge to the deacons.

On April 20, 1909, the deacons called a meeting, J. C. Gallatin acting as moderator. A motion was made and carried that Olive Branch Baptist Organization build a building on the Southwest corner of the Sam Thompson farm for a church. The lot cost $100.00, subscriptions $1726.78, Ladies Aid, $169.60, work, $200.00, a total of $2196.38.

Nine months later the first meeting was held in the completed building. There were 34 Charter members, 14 by letter and 20 by Baptism. By March, 1910 there were 45 members. The church was dedicated the fifth Sunday in January, 1910. The first pastor was Lee Hunt. In August of 1909, a letter was sent asking for admittance to the Southern Baptist Association.

The church continued to grow, having services through the years, with one-fourth or one half time preaching. In 1949, the Church voted to go to full time with Dudley Kern as the pastor. During this time rooms were added to make five Sunday School rooms, with a parsonage built one mile west of the church.

On December 8, 1955, the church building burned. A new building was erected on the same site as the old church. The first service in the new church was held in the basement in May of 1956. During the years improvements have been made, the most recent being the addition of stained glass windows. An interesting note, in March, 1910, the church voted to set out two evergreen trees, one of which is still standing today.

The following is a list of the pastors of Olive Branch Church: Lee Hunt, Davis, Turnage, Parker, Henry, Creekmore, Helb, McNelly, Sharrah, Patterson, Harris, Sharrah, Marrs, Barker, Lawson, Kern, Hatfield, Marrs, Earl Wood, Floyd George, Butterfield, David Cline, Greg McCune, Jim Engleman, Jimmy Whitlock.

The following is a list of the deacons of Olive Branch Church: 1914, Louis C. Smith, George Yeomans, E. B. Anderson; 1931, Robert Howe, William Christison; 1933, Charley Ishmael; 1941, George Darr, Georgie Ishmael, Reed Prewitt; 1953, Leonard Nibarger, Frank Little, Russell Bate.

The following are the present deacons of the Church: Doyle Whitmire, Carol Grimes, George Darr, C. S. Jones Jr., and Marion Still.

The following is a list of the clerks of Olive Branch Church: E. A. Cox, 1909-1912; C. B. Smith, 1912-1925, Ruben Linville, 1925-1930, C. B. Smith, 1930-1952, Helen Offield, 1952-1954; Russell Bate, 1954-1955, Mrs. Merle Street, 1955-1975, C. S. Jones Jr., 1975-1980.

PLEASANT GROVE CHURCH

The Pleasant Grove Methodist Church was organized in autumn of 1860 by Rev. Sam L. Alexander, assisted by Rev. W. G. Caples. The first meeting was held at the Wolfskill schoolhouse later known as Butler. Rev. John A. Mumpower preached in 1862. The first church building was built in 1872 with Rev. W. W. Jones as Pastor in charge and Rev. W. W. Jones as Presiding Elder. The building committee was composed of Joseph Wolfskill, Nathan Thompson, John Cleveland Jr, and David Mumpower.

The minister was Rev. M. G. Gregory. The original church building faced east. In 1924-1925 under the ministry of Rev. S. A. Smart the church was turned around to face south and a new basement was built. This building served the community for 103 years. For many years the church was included with Bedford, St. Paul and Centenary churches on what was known as the Chillicothe Circuit. In 1912 the circuit was divided and St. Paul and Centenary were put on the Humphries Circuit.

In 1952 a 92nd Anniversary and Home Coming was held at Pleasant Grove Church and James Stewart, Charley Stewart, Mrs. Fannie Price and Mrs. Carrie Jones were honored as 50-year members. There were eleven other members who had belonged for more than 40 years. Hugo Rolens was the pastor who planned this celebration.

A new church was built in 1963 at a cost of $35,000. Rev. John Gooding was the pastor. The one acre of ground was donated by Mr. and Mrs. Edward Colton, and the church was dedicated December 4, 1965. In 1966, Pleasant Grove was chosen Church of the Year.

In 1977 and 1978 the church received from the estate of Frank and Anna Hill the sum of $52,656.11. New siding was put on the church and the front of the church was enclosed and the doors were changed from the front to the side entrance at a cost of $13,400. A water cooler was installed and two coat racks were added.

Rev. Gilbert Evans has been pastor of church since 1978. He and his wife Lucille live in the parsonage at 1201 Alexander.

PLEASANT RIDGE BAPTIST CHURCH

The Pleasant Ridge Baptist Church, known as a Missionary Baptist Church in the earliest records, is located one mile north of Sampsel, Missouri, on what was known as the Uncle Tom Boucher farm, Mr. Boucher donated the land for the church. The church was erected in 1877 at a cost of $900.00 and the building is still in use, having been remodeled twice. The church was organized May 10, 1873. It was active in the Livingston Baptist Association in September 1975. Original members came from these families: Gann, Boucher, Clark, Gibbons, Ewen, Hughs, Breeze, Hughes, and Yates. Two descendents are members today, Paul Boucher and Geraldine (Wilson) Reeter. The Boucher Cemetery joins the church yard and both are well kept.

Some of the early pastors were: Peter Booth , Barton Robinson, F. M. Wadley, W. W. Walden, David Scott, Tom Harris, J. B. Harris, G. W. Ostrander, B. D. Weeks, and C. E. Sharrah. In 1920 the church. became inactive and it was organized again early in the 1940’s for four or five years, during this time the church was wired for electricity, but by the time the line was built it was inactive. In 1953 the church was repaired so it could be used by the community. In late fall Brother Lawrence Hammond who resided in the community held the first service in the renovated building. He continued to preach half time thru the next year. In August 1954, a Homecoming was held with an overflow crowd.

In July 1954 a Sunday School was organized, and that fall a revival meeting was held which increased the membership from 6 to 54. In 1956 a basement was built, a new furnace installed, and new doors added under Brother Hammond’s leadership.

Today there is a membership of 26. Brother Richard Singleton, a licensed minister is pastoring the church full time with Sunday School and worship services being held each Sunday. Other recent pastors have been Ernest Akers, Ed Darner, Robert Lafever, Rye Paris, Paul Wood, Larry Reeter, Russell Abbott, James Engleman. There have been only two weddings in the church. Geraldine Wilson married Albert Reeter in 1956 and the wedding of Darlene Plowman and Roger Lee. -- Mrs. Clarissa Wilson, Clerk.

ST. COLUMBAN’S CATHOLIC CHURCH

Father John Joseph Hogan left St. Louis in June, 1857, on a permanent assignment to Missouri missions. Arriving in Chillicothe he discovered one Catholic Family, Mrs. Eliza Bell and children. They arranged to have the first services held in. the Courthouse. John Graves, the oldest citizen in town, donated a lot for the church in the south part of town and a small frame structure was built in 1858.

Chillicothe became a mission center for Father Hogan, from which he traveled, at first on horseback and later by train, to towns within a hundred-mile radius. On May 17, 1860, the Reverend James Michael O’Gornan, D.D., Bishop- of Nebraska, administered Confirmation and dedicated St. Columban’s Church named after a patron saint of Ireland. Father Hogan was named Bishop of a new diocese on September 13, 1868, and was consecrated in St. Louis.

The Franciscan fathers came to Chillicothe in 1878, erected a church, a school, and built a monastery. Father Francis Moenning, the first Franciscan father to serve Chillicothe, purchased a block in the northeast part of town. Plans for the new brick church were made and the first part was built in 1879 at an approximate cost of $12,000. At that time there were one hundred-fifty Catholic families in the congregation.

By 1894, the parish had increased by two hundred-fifty families and the need for more space was evident. The transcept, sanctuary and sacristy were added at that time.

In 1895, Bishop M. F. Burke decided to divide the parish at Chillicothe into two congregations. Jackson Street was the dividing line, and St. Joseph’s Church was established for the south congregation. There were two Catholic cemeteries. St. Columban’s Cemetery, founded in 1873, was on Third Street, and in 1880, a new cemetery was acquired on Trenton Road.

The Sisters of St. Mary came to Chillicothe in July, 1888, and established a hospital. They had visited Chillicothe previously requesting donations for a hospital in St. Louis and Father Hugo, pastor of St. Columban’s, had convinced them there was a need for a hospital in this city. They purchased a lot at Eleventh and Broadway for $2,334. The first patient was admitted on May 17, 1889. In 1897, an operating room was added. It was established as a charity institution, a place where poor, unfortunates might be given the same attention that paying patients received.

St. Columban’s church was redecorated in 1913, and two murals were added. In 1916, men and boys of the church did necessary repair work on the building. Tie rods were installed in the choir loft, and the pilasters were built along the outside walls of the church, giving them added support, thus, the church was given the first necessary repairs to keep it structurally sound. The tall steeple on top of the bell was struck twice by lightning. In 1944 and 1945, the interior was redecorated. Father B. S. Owens was pastor of the church at that time. In 1957, the outside of the building received a “face lift” and major renovation and repairs were done in 1975 and 1976.

The church celebrated its Centennial in 1979, and published a book Saint Columban’s Church, 1879-1979. Further information on the history of the church may be found in it. Bishop Sullivan preached during the Centennial Mass. Other celebrants were Father A. Saathoff, O.S.B., Pastor; Father A. Luetkemeyer, O.S.B.; Abbott Jerome Hanus, O.S.B., of Conception Abbey; Father 1. Potts, O.S.B.; Father D. Saale; Msgr. R. Hogan; Fathers 0. North; L. Speichinger; J. Sheley, O.S.B.; C. Burbach, O.S.B. and J. Eldringhoff. Deacons of the Mass were Lawrence Schneider, Joseph Crookshanks, and Lou Falcon. Brother Blaise Bonderer, O.S.B., acted as master of ceremonies. Music was provided by the Monks of Conception Abbey.

ST. JOSEPHCATHOLIC CHURCH OF UTICA

(1877 - 1952) - 1959

The diamond anniversary of the St. Joseph Catholic Church was observed in 1952 with a jubilee celebration. The church was built in 1877. It was a mission church with Monsignor Mahoney as pastor from Hamilton. Priests from Hamilton took care of the sixteen families. The church was closed in June of 1959.

The parishioners were sent to St. Columbans in Chillicothe. Many descendents of the early families are still attending St. Columban’s. They are the following families: Anderson, Potts, Dietrick, Murphy, Ludwig, Braden, Culling, Sprague, Merriman, Bonderer and Umbarger. -- Mrs. Drury Bonderer

UNION BAPTIST CHURCH

On September 12, 1840, a small group of five men and one woman came from Indian Creek Baptist Church north of Sampsel to help a group of four persons to form a church. The four were William Garwood, Thomas Williams, Nancy Williams, and Zerah Williams.

A Church was organized and it became the first Baptist Church in Livingston County. This event took place on the farm of Thomas Williams about five miles northeast of Chillicothe near the location where the Bethel Methodist Church used to stand.

Thomas Williams had entered this land from the Government in October 1839. The church was to be known as the Chillicothe United Baptist Church of Christ. The first members were Isiah Austin, Polly

Austin, Frances Preston, James Pennington, Elizabeth Pennington, Elizabeth Moberly and Nancy Wilson.

Elijah Merrill was the first pastor. The church held regular meetings in private homes once a month until June, 1844. That same year a large hewn log house was erected about six miles north of Chillicothe known as the Macedonia meeting house. It had been built by the entire neighborhood as a meeting house for all denominations and for a school house. This was the first house of worship and the first meeting there was the second Saturday in June of 1844.

The first two deacons were ordained in March, 1845; a Mr. Botts and John May.

On the second Saturday August, 1859, the name of the church was changed from the Chillicothe United Baptist Church of Christ to the Union United Baptist Church and later dropped to Union Baptist Church.

Not long after the Civil War the church changed the meeting place to a school house about a half mile north of where it now stands. In 1874, a large frame house was built on the spot where this church now stands. The ground was donated by Jackson Perrin. In 1899, the present building was erected and dedicated in June, 1900.

The first clerk was Thomas Williams. The early treasurers included such names as - Steen – May - Hooker - and others.

In September, 1940, the church celebrated its 100th anniversary.

Six ministerial students have gone from Union Church to preach the Gospel.

The present pastor is David Cartwright and the following are officers: Sandy Hooker, clerk; Howard Meneely, treasurer; Lee Steen, Earl Benskin, Howard Meneely, deacons and Judy Eishler, Sunday School, superintendant.

Over the years the church has had many struggles to stay alive, but through the efforts of many faithful members it is still thriving.

Through its influence for good in the community many have been helped and many souls have been saved.

The effects of the spiritual ministry of Union Church can only be measured in eternity.

UNITED METHODIST CHURCH OF CHILLICOTHE

The Southern Methodist Episcopal Church was the first religious organization established in the city of Chillicothe, Missouri, Livingston County, in the year 1833. The first church built in the county was built in Chillicothe on North Locust Street, with Reverend William Penn as pastor in 1855, destroyed by fire in 1863.

Earliest records and traditions of 1833 give the first preachings in the home of John Graves, founder of the town and friend of Methodist ministers, and living in what is now called Gravesville.

The First Methodist Episcopal South, was organized in Chillicothe in 1846, by the Reverend Daniel Penney and their first Church was built on the west side of Locust Street about half way between Webster and Calhoun Streets in 1855. After the fire a second church was built on part of the Elm Street lot in 1866. In 1889 another part of this lot was purchased and The Last Elm Street Methodist Episcopal Church Cornerstone laid, April 5, 1901.

The First Methodist Episcopal Church in Chillicothe, Missouri was organized in 1862, with the first official board meeting on May 28, 1864, and Utica included in this charge. This church was located on the northeast corner of Locust and Ann Streets. The first quarterly conference for the Chillicothe First Methodist Episcopal Church alone was April 17, 1865.

In 1868 a new two story brick church was erected on the northeast corner of Webster and Cherry Streets, was torn down in 1903. The building is now owned by the Masons, and was dedicated on February 28, 1904,

The Fall of 1954, fact finding committees met for a possible merger of these two Methodist Churches.

After extensive efforts a combined Quarterly Conference was held September 12, 1955, with a Confirmed Merger, September 21, 1955.

On March 8, 1959, ground breaking ceremonies were conducted and services for The Laying of The Cornerstone, held September 20, 1959.

Sunday, June 26, 1960, the first service was conducted in the completed edifice by the pastor, Reverend Donald W. Cook, who later transferred to The Kansas Conference and Dr. Carl A. Bergsten and wife, came to serve as pastor until 1963, when Dr. and Mrs. Earl C. Griffith and their three young sons began serving this present church, at 1414 Walnut Street.

In 1968, the name of ALL METHODIST CHURCHES was changed to “The United Methodist Church”, and continues to be a “House of Prayer For All People”, where you may be a stranger only once, as the doors stand open wide for all to enter in and pray; to bring their needs, confess the sins, fresh courage take, then journey on their way.

The Methodist Church of Chillicothe, Missouri, Inc. became the United Methodist Church of Chillicothe, Missouri, Inc.

WHEELING UNITED METHODIST CHURCH

In May of 1868 a small group of Methodist families met in the home of Henry Nay, a pioneer from Wheeling, West Virginia. It was Mr. Nay who laid out the village of Wheeling, in 1865. He built the first frame dwelling and all denominations worshiped there. The Reverend Burr was the first pastor.

Mr. Nay gave ground for a building, the Methodists could call their own in 1874, the cost being $1600 and this was the first church in Wheeling.

In 1907, the building underwent remodeling, a room was added to the west side and new stained glass windows were installed. A few years later the Harmony Chapel Methodist Church building located six miles north of Wheeling was given to the members of Wheeling Methodist church and in 1921 annexed to the west side of the church.

John Goff willed his home to the church for a parsonage if needed, and if not the proceeds as rental property was to be used for the upkeep of the church.

The church has had a women’s organization since 1916.

Through the years many ministers have served the Wheeling church. The present minister is Rev. Rob Noland. -- Mrs. Elmer Lowe

UTICA BAPTIST CHURCH

During a meeting held at a school house in Jefferson School District about 2 1/2 miles west of Utica, the Utica Baptist Church was organized on August 27th, 1849. The organization was composed of eighteen charter members as follows: Asa and Mary Kirtley, Ellen Hinkle, Juliet Harper, George and Harriet Kirtley, Thomas Butts, Richard and Elizabeth Deering, Washington and Martha Bromel, John and Lavina Ogle, Agnes Bartlett, Kitty, a colored girl belonging to George A. Stone and Lovey, belonging to Spence Gregory. As the meeting continued the next day, six new members were received into the church. They continued to use this place of worship until the month of October at which time they moved to the school house in Utica. Brother Kemp Scott who conducted the meeting at this time of the organization, was then called as the pastor. At the close of the first year, the membership had increased to thirty-one. Brother Scott served as pastor for seven years. On March 16th, 1850, the first deacon, Brother Richard Deering was elected and was ordained in July. The church observed the ordinance of the Lord’s Supper for the first time in October 1850.

In the summer of 1854 the church brought up the subject of building a house of worship. They continued to hold services in the Utica School House until completion of their new house of worship in 1859.

A Baptist Sunday School was organized in 1861. Washington Bramel was its first superintendent.

The location of the church not being satisfactory, in October 1868 work was begun and a brick church at the cost of $2000.00 was built in 1872 at the site Where the present Baptist Church Recreation Room is located.

InA875 the church severed connection with the Missouri Valley Association and united with the Livingston County Baptist Association, of which they have always been members as well as affiliated with the Southern Baptist, Convention.

In 1880 the belfry of the church was destroyed by a wind storm and in 1882 the roof was partially destroyed by wind.

The effects of the Civil War was felt in 1864 when several Negro members disassociated themselves and consequently were excluded from membership. The church observed its 100th anniversary on August 29th, 1949, with about three hundred in attendance. Sunday School and morning services were held followed by a basket dinner served under the trees on the church lawn. Afternoon services as well as evening services were held. Reverend Thomas Rehorn was pastor at this time.

On March 18, 1951, the church held dedication services for a new 30 x 40 tile addition to their church building which was used for Sunday School rooms and a fellowship hall. The construction of this building was done in the past year by volunteer labor except the hiring of one brick layer and the inside plastering.

In 1955 a new brick home was built near the church to be used as a parsonage. The first pastor to live in the parsonage was Reverend and Mrs. Harold Garrett. Approximately 160 persons attended the 110th anniversary of the church on August 30th, 1959. Reverend Charles Stigers was pastor at this time. February 4th, 1961, the church purchased the former Utica School by being the highest bidder of three bids. The cost was $7,500.00. The brick school building had been built in 1947 at a cost of $39,000-00 replacing a school destroyed by fire on June 25, 1944. School was terminated in the building following the school term of 1958-59 due to school reorganization of Livingston R-1 School District. The congregation did much redecorating to the school building and held the first church service in the building on July 30th, 1961. The old brick church was torn down leaving only the addition built in 1951 to be used as a recreation room and which is now used as a youth center. In March 1966 the construction of a new 93 by 40 brick sanctuary was begun. The exterior is of rugged face brick to match the existing building and there is a covered walkway to connect the former school building which is used as an educational building. Most work was done by volunteer labor and the cost of the building was $40,000.00

A cornerstone ceremony was held for the new sanctuary on July 17, 1966. Reverend Charles Pitchford was the pastor at this time. The first service was held in the new sanctuary on December 18th, 1966. This sanctuary is a very beautiful place of worship and with the educational building is most adequate for the needs of the congregation. The church observed its 125th anniversary on August 25, 1974, with regular services, a basket dinner and held a note burning ceremony during the afternoon program. The debt of the new sanctuary being paid. Evening services were also held.

During the past 131 years there have been 54 pastors serve the church. The present pastor is Reverend Timothy P. Akers. Deacons are James Ragan, Howard,M. Hawkins, William Stamper, Gene Wever, John Stamper and Merrill Nibarger. Sunday School Superintendent is Gene Wever; Church Training Director, John Stamper; Treasurer, Patricia Nibarger; Church Clerk, Madeline Hawkins; W.M.U. Director, Delpha Romeiser; and Brotherhood Director, Robert Talbert.

One of the first sermons preached was from 1st Corinthians, Chapter 15, Verse 58 which reads: Therefore, my beloved brethren, be ye stedfast, unmoveable, always abounding in the work of the Lord, forasmuch as ye know that your labor is not in vain in the Lord. Just as these words have been our guiding light the past 131 years, this message still applies today and they can be a light unto our feet and direct the pathway of the members of the Utica Baptist Church in the future.

WHEELING CHRISTIAN CHURCH (DISCIPLES OF CHRIST)

On August 3, 1870, 23 Disciples of Christ met and formed an organization for the advancement of the cause of Christ and became known as the Wheeling Christian Church. Rev. H. C. Owen presided at this meeting and became the church’s first minister. Known charter members are: Mr. and Mrs. R. G. Arnold (present descendants are: Mrs. Elmo Guilford (Doris Dimitt), Robert Dimitt, Robert Dimitt Jr., and Lloyd Arnold Guilford), C. K. Warren, Mrs. Eliza Warren, Drury Wilson and Merideth Brown.

Preaching services were first held in the Wheeling School House, which was built two years before the church group was organized. Later they met for services in the Methodist Church. Revival meetings played an important part in the program of the church and a- membership increased, they were inspired to build the present church building, costing $2450.00. It was dedicated in 1890. On the same day of dedication the Bible School was organized.

The Christian Endeavor Society was organized in the early years of the church and is still functioning but with the name of Christian Women’s Fellowship. For a number of years there was a large, well-trained choir with Jim Ralston as director. Miss Emma Dimmitt, who later married A. D. Botts, was pianist and served in that capacity until her death in 1947.

In 1930 by means of contributions from members of the church, the church was raised and a full basement built, housing a well-equipped kitchen and dining room. Later, partitions were put in for Sunday School rooms.

The 50th Anniversary of the church was observed July 14, 1940. Invitations were sent to former members living miles away, and some were in attendance; however, only three members were present who had attended the dedicatory services: Miss Dora Hawker, J. E. Littrell, and Mrs. John Walkup. Records show an attendance of 173 on that day. One of the highlights of the afternoon program was the reading of the church history by Mrs. John (Jessie Dimitt) Walkup, which she had written. She also read this history 10 years later when the church observed its 60th anniversary.

Recognition suppers have been held honoring members for their church service. The first one held in 1957 honored Mrs. John Walkup, Mrs. Hattie Jones, and Marion (Doc) Butler for 60 years’ service. In 1958, the 35-year dinner recognized Leslie Dimitt, Mr. and Mrs. Herman Braun, Buel Littrell, Ernest Littrell, and Mrs. Chris Glamser. In 1960, the 25-year dinner recognized Mrs. Ollie Biggerstaff and Robert Dimitt. In 1979, Ollie Biggerstaff was honored at a fellowship

supper for 20 years of publishing The Beacon (the church bulletin) which was started in October, 1953 and published by the Young Adult class. Also, in 1980 a supper recognized Mr. and Mrs. Buel Littrell and Mr. and Mrs. Ernest Littrell for their years of church service. In 1961, the church board voted to start a Memorial Fund in memory of deceased members. The first donation was by Mrs. Lonnie Beaird of Chillicothe. As the fund grew, it was voted in 1966 to buy a stained glass window for the front of the church.

On August 2, 1970, the church observed its 100th anniversary when Rev. M. J. Dick was pastor and over 100 were in attendance. Rev. Phil Aeschilman, whose parents were former members of the church, was the afternoon speaker. The church walls had recently been painted white. New red carpet installed in the sanctuary, and the basement carpet helped accent the day, as well as the stained glass memorial window dedicated in March, 1967; the new floors, pews, baptistery, communion table, chairs, pedestals, pulpit, and offering plates in 1954, and the electric organ in 1953.

Present Sunday School officers are: Superintendent, Austin Biggerstaff; Ass’t Superintendent, Melvin Littrell, Secretary-Treasurer, Gerald Littrell. Teachers are: Mrs. Robert (Edna F.) Littrell, David Biggerstaff, William L. Murry. Church officials are: Elders, Buel and Ernest Littrell (Elders Emeritus), David Biggerstaff, Robert S. Littrell, William L. Murry; Deacons, Gerald Littrell, Bob Maberry Henry Morgan, Austin Biggerstaff, Glenn Littrell: Chad Murry, Wiley Meneely, Tom Morgan, David Maberry; Trustees, Melvin Littrell, Ollie Biggerstaff, Robert S. Littrell; Organist, Mrs. William (Marjorie) Murry; Pianist, Mrs. Lenos (Wilma) Meneely.

ZION BAPTIST CHURCH

Zion Baptist Church, Route 3, 10 miles northwest of Chillicothe, Missouri was originated in the Brassfield School House (later called Potter School), where services were held until their Church building was completed in February 1878. On November 6, 1955, fire destroyed the church, which was a staggering blow to the community. The members still had faith to carry on, and once again held services in the Potter School House. Members and nonmembers set out at once to rebuild.

The first services in the present building were held in the basement, the 3rd Sunday in June, 1956, by Reverend Cecil Hart. The first service, held in the auditorium, was April, 1956, by the Reverend Lawrence Hammond. The building was dedicated September 8, 1957.

On July 28, 1968, Zion Baptist had their 100th Anniversary at the Church. The Church was filled to capacity. The following pastors have served from 1868 to 1980. The Reverends; H. H. Turner, James Turner, P. G. Booth, John Harmon, F. M. Wadloy, N. M. Allen, E. R. Dowell, J. B. Harris, Clay Morris, E. L. Wendell, W. L. Housar, Homer Harris, W. B. Alsbury, C. E. Sharrah, G. A. Mitchell, Luther Rossin, F. A. Funk, LaVerne Wood, Avery Wooderson, Cecil Hart, Lawrence Hammond, Norton Feather, Charles Burrows, Ernest Akers and Sampson Long.

The Church doesn’t have a pastor at the present time, but Sunday School is held every Sunday. 

ORGANIZATIONS

AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF UNIVERSITY WOMEN

The Chillicothe Branch of American Association of University Women was organized in 1930 with fourteen Charter members: Corrine Fay, Faye Stewart, Mabell Cranmer, Virginia Botsford, Katherine Carlstead, Evangeline Wiley, Dorothy Bohn, Jennie Davis, Nancy Chapman, Mildred Morehead, Irene Roberts, Fae England, Josephine Norville, and Clara Milbank.

The organization’s purpose is to promote higher education for women and to provide college educated women with further opportunities for education, enrichment and action. The organization has sponsored book fairs, style shows, international dinners, and other events to support the AAUW Fellowship and Centennial programs which provide financial help to women pursuing advanced degrees. Miss Mabell Cranmer presented a $1500 scholarship honoring Dr. Blanche Dow of Liberty, Association president. Miss Francyl Rickenbrode also left a bequest to the fund. Named gifts of $500 each have been given in the names of Irene Roberts, Lena Smithson, Lycia Martin, Mabell Cranmer, Jean Miquelon and Ruth Seiberling.

Women who have served as AAUW presidents since 1930 are: Corrine Fay, Jennie Davis, Gladys McCall, Clara Milbank, Marie Miller, Grace Allen Boehner, Mary C. Preston, Evangeline Wiley, Beatrice Patek, Mabell Cranmer, Isabelle Ruddy, Mrs. Ronald Smith, Dorothy Meinershagen, Mary Pegues, Jean Miquelon, Ruth Seiberling, Peggy Chapman, Jeanette Mansur, Cleta Gibson, Betty McCoy, Ellen Miller, Lena Smithson, Fran Kaye, Lycia Martin, Betty Don Ernst, Pat Maiorana, Mary Lou Jackson, Pam Russell and Barbara Burton.

The AAUW was instrumental in setting up the Fine Arts Council and they sponsored the first Fine Arts Fair held in 1962 under the guidance of Mrs. Joan Krautmann, who later served on the State Fine Arts Council.

Margaret (Peggy) Chapman was elected Missouri Division President of AAUW in the 1963-65 Biennium, having previously served on the Missouri Division Board. Other Chillicothe members who have served on the Division board are Gladys McCall, Lycia Martin and Ruth Seiberling.

The Chillicothe Branch entertained the State Division at their biennial conference in April 1960, when Cleta Gibson was branch president. Jean Miquelon served as convention chairman, and Elizabeth Bates directed a pageant depicting the history of AAUW.

In 1974 the Branch sponsored a four night “Woman Today” seminar for women of the community to discuss the changing role of women in today’s world. A number of the study topics have been toward expanding women’s consciousness such as “Woman in Search of Self”, and “Women as Agents of Change”. The Branch has supported the candidacy of women for the local school board, and a member, Billie Fair, served as the first woman on the board for two three-year terms, beginning in 1970.

The membership of AAUW peaked in the late 1960s and early 1970s with 100 members. In 1980 there are 57 members. Mrs. Barbara Burton is president, Judith Shoot is first vice-president and program chairman; Pat Botts is second vice-president and membership chairman; and Letty Newkirk is third vice-president and publicity chairman. Kathy O’Bryan is secretary and Janet Hartline is treasurer. Study topics for this year are “Families Facing Change”, with Marsha Dedrick as topic chairman; and “Managing Resources for Tomorrow” with Billie Fair and Joan Krautman as topic chairman.

In 1980 for the first time AAUW awarded a local scholarship of $250.00 to a Chillicothe High School Senior. Diane Douglas was the winner, and the dictionary award went to Sheri Reeser.

AMERICAN LEGION

Shortly after World War I a group of veterans met and decided to form an American Legion Post in Chillicothe to take in all of Livingston County. The Organization would benefit all veterans to ensure that veterans would be taken care of, as well as their families and dependents. The first meetings were held in the city hall and the courthouse. The names of two Chillicothe boys killed in France in 1918 were submitted. They were Captain A. M. Elliott and Vern R. Glick. After a vote Vern R. Glick was chosen. It was the 25th Charter in the state and has been active in the affairs of the community since that time. 11ponsoring Boys State, American Legion Baseball, Oratorical contest and county government.

The charter was signed by 15 members, one of these Emma Evans, was a nurse who had served in W.W. I. Others were: William C. Zirkle, Robert W.

Browning, George H. Powell, Frank C. Gates, Nolan M. Chapman, Joe D. McHolland, Peter O. Rupp, Thomas Chapman, Leroy Van Hoosier, Louis H. Stein, Charles M. Cooper, Frank Batta, Elmer A. Axon, and Don Chapman, Senior. The charter was received July 19, 1919 and Louis H. “Judy” Stein is the only original charter member of the Vern R. Glick Post left. He attends some of the Post Functions and is still in business.

The present officers are Commander, Fred Collins; 1st vice commander, Robert J. Posch; 2nd vice commander, Roy White; Adjutant, Ed Cassity; Finance officer, Billy J. Coleman; Service officer, Russell W. Johnson; Historian, Howard Leech; Chaplain, James E. Ogan; Sergeant of Arms, Charles Merrill. Members of the Board of Trustees are Frank Bonderer, Dick Gilroy, Howard Leech, Kenneth Ross, Cecil Ashlock and Robert Wiehe.

There are nineteen members who have been in continuous membership for sixty-one years. They are: Grover C. Boggs, Frank E. Bonderer, Earl E. Carroll, Herbert E. Danielson (Our oldest Post Commander in Line of office, those preceeding are deceased), Earl Deardorff, Walter Forbis, Harry J. Kolbohn, Howard Leech, Arthur Lisenby, W. M. McClure, Holly W. Mitchell, Albert Pendleton, W. R. Perkins, Anthony L. Pfaff, Stanley R. Scruby, Louis H. Stein, Earle Teegarden, J. W. Tucker, and Murry N. Windle.

For sixty one years the American Legion Vern R. Glick Post #25, has been an active participant of all our Community Programs, and has worked for the veteran, his welfare, his dependents and his education, along with many programs geared to our youth, with our motto “For God and Country” working for the good of our comrades and our country. We have had many leading members of our community active in our American Legion post and hope to have many more as we work for a better America.

Past commanders are: L. Van Hoosier, 1919; Don Chapman, 1919-1920; Herbert Danielson, 1920-21; Irvin Putnam, 1921-22; Lloyd Sinnard, 1922-23; Sam H. Ladensohn, 1923-24; Joe Stewart, 1924-25; Sam H. Ladensohn, 1925-26; G. A. Sutor, 1926-27; Joseph J. Shy, 1927-28; Louis H. Stein 1928-29; H. S. Beardsley, 1929-30; Ernest Shannon, 1930-31; Max Blanchard, 1931-32; Elmer D. McCollum, 1932-33; Herbert Parsons, 1933-34; Ben 0. Jones 1934-35; Harry Mahr, 1935-36; C. C. Cooke, 1936-37; Frank E. Bonderer, 1937-38; Anthony Pfaff, 1938-39; Fred Carlton, 1939-40; Aurel Popham, 1940-41; J. Rex Donovan, 1941-42; William Killian, 1942-43; H. Earl Barnes, 1943-44; V. A. Collins, 1944-45; Donald M. Dowell, 1945-46; Robert Mahr, 1946-47; G. K. Meinershagen, 1947-48; Lloyd Relph, 1948-49; Earle Teegarden, 1949-50; Arthur Norman, 1950-51; John Neal, 1951-52; John Kaye, 1952-53; Ronald Somerville, 1953-54, Ray Cusick, 1954-55; Robert Wiehe, 1955-56; Cecil Ashlock, 1956-57; Russell Hughes, 1957-58; Leo Englert, 1958-59; Gilbert Oertwig, 1959-60; Flick Girdner, 1960-61; Clarence Archer, 1961-62; Richard M. Gilroy, 1962-64; William McCarthy, 1964-66; Howard Leech, 1966-67; Holly Mitchell, 1967-68; Melvin Baugher, 1968-70; Harry Kolbohn, 1970-71; Harold Wood, 1971-72; Edward L. Cassity, 1972-73; Virgil Hallenburg, 1973-75; Alvin J. Lyon, 1975-76; Edward L. Cassity, 1976-77; Franklin Bonderer, 1977-79; Fred Collins, 1979-81.

THE AMERICAN WAR MOTHERS

The American War Mothersis a National organization, and originated in 1917, from the Food Conservation Clubs of World War I. Alice French, of Indianapolis, Indiana, founded it by soliciting Mothers of servicemen to form a club, known as “The War Mother’s.”

On September 29, 1917, 200 mothers met in Indianapolis, to organize the first chapter. In August, 1918, the first convention was held, and a National Constitution and By-laws was adopted. Alice French was elected the first president.

The adopted Constitution provided: that to be eligible for membership a mother must be a citizen of the United States; the blood mother of a serviceman or woman, during World War I.

The American War Mothers was incorporated by a Special Act of Congress on February 24, 1925, and was given a Congressional Charter. The Charter was amended, by an act from Congress, in 1942 to include the Mothers of World War 2. In June 1953, another amendment went to Congress for approval to include all mothers of service personnel of all wars.

The objectives of the organization are: to keep alive, and develop, the spirit that prompted World service; maintain the ties of fellowship born of that service; assist andfurther any patriotic work; inculcate a sense of individual obligation to our country, state, and community; work for the welfare of the armed forces; assist within our ability, the men and women who served,were wounded, or incapacitated in wartime; foster and promote understanding and friendship between America and her allies.

In 1926, The American War Mother’s was granted the privilege of raising over the Capitol of the United States, their service banner of World War I. It is the only emblem that is ever flown there beneath the “Stars and Stripes.”

Since 1925, the War Mothers has been in charge of the services at the “Tomb of the Unknown” in Arlington Cemetery each Mothers Day.

Missouri has 30 American War Mothers Chapter in the State. There are five Veterans Hospitals in the State in which the chapter members can do personal volunteer work, or the chapters may send financial assistance to the State Hospital Fund to be distributed by the V.A.V.S. representatives, also a lot of mothers serve hours and hours of volunteer work in the hospitals.

Missouri has had one National President, Mary L. Brewer, of Rolla, Missouri, and at the present time, Missouri has a first vice-president, Ethel Rubick, of Kansas City, who will be the 1981-1982 National president.

Chillicothe Chapter, No. 23, American War Mothers was organized May 12, 1943, by Mrs. Olive Fay, and assisted by Mrs. Elva Patrick, of Brookfield. Mrs. Fay was elected the first president, and Mrs. Esther Mace was the first vice-president. There were 103 charter members. Some of the chapter presidents have been: Olive Fay, Esther Mace, Winnifred Boehner, Era Barnes, Georgia Butler, Laura Kesler, Nina Barnes, Mabel Mergenthal, May Archer, Gertie Wilson, Nellie Cox, Rosa Smith, Agnes Slee, Cora Miller, Dora Vorbeck, and others. Helen Roath is the 1980-1981 president. Eligible new members are always welcome.

-- Cora Miller

AUTUMN LEAVES CLUB

The Autumn Leaves Club was organized October 16, 1967, for the purpose of providing Senior Citizens, over sixty, an opportunity to enrich their lives and to participate in programs and activities of the community.

Seventy-eight names were signed as charter members, with Mrs. Harold Inman as the first president. She served two years.

W. H. Hamilton was honored at the first birthday party as having been the most useful member. He was responsible for getting many of the merchants to offer discounts.

The ministers have been devoted to the organization and bring a message each meeting day. They are extended an invitation to the Christmas party and luncheon.

Various church groups and Extension Clubs furnished cup cakes or cookies for the first four years to supplement the sack lunches.

In 1972 the Salvation Army provided rooms and helped to equip a craft center for senior citizens. Seventy people attended the open house and soon many classes were in progress, such as knitting, ceramics, candle making, egg carton craft, etc.

The VFW Hall was the first meeting place for the club, rent free. When the building became unavailable in 1972 a move was made to Park View Heights. Birthday Anniversaries and Christmas meetings were usually held at the American Legion.

Autumn Leaves Club has participated in many community projects: quilt to Historical Society, quilt and bake sale benefit for Coburn Building, donations to cancer, heart, kidney, Peter Pan, gifts and visitation to nursing homes. During the early 70’s, the club served an active role selling shares and memberships for OATS bus.

Carnations are taken to hospitalized members and cards are sent. In case of death of a member a red rose is taken to the family. Also a memorial is held at club.

There’s no “generation gap” nor lack of variety when it comes to good entertainment. Examples are: Sunday School Kindergarten Classes, grade schools, three generation family group, foreign exchange students, church groups, barber shop fiddlers, attorneys, travelog slides and films.

Mrs. Iva McDaniel, born September 7, 1878, and Edith Stone, born September 9, 1883, are the two oldest mothers. M. H. Melton, born November 14, 1878, and Jarrott Whyte, born March 5, 1886, are the oldest fathers. Mr. Whyte has a perfect attendance record for 1980. Mrs. Stone and Mr. Melton are charter members. He has not been able to attend recently.

The club’s second president was Mrs. Fred McCullough who served three years. Mrs. Charles McCarthy was president during 1973 and 1974, and William F. McCarthy 1975 and 1976. Mrs. McCullough was again elected and is still serving. Other officers now serving are: 1st Vice - Mrs. Jarrott Whyte; 2nd Vice - LaVee Barnes; Secretary - Mrs. Archie Campbell; Treasurer - J. W. Moore; Corresponding Secretary - Melba Williams; Program Chairman - Mrs. J. W. Tucker; Hostess - Mrs. John Tolle; Hospitality - Miss Faye Long.

The Autumn Leaves Club is looking forward to helping Charter Members, Rev. and Mrs. A. G. Thurman, celebrate their 75th wedding anniversary. They were married December 24, 1905.

“Autumn Leaves” was one of the many poems written by John Hoyt, a long time member of Autumn Leaves. -- Ethel McCullough

INDEPENDENT ORDER OF ODD FELLOWS

THE AVALON LODGE NO. 428 AND REBEKAH NO. 855

The Rebekah Lodge as used today, was built and used by the IOOF Lodge No. 428 in the late 1800’s.

The Avalon Rebekah Lodge No. 855 was started May 12, 1954. The following were charter members: Doris Bowes, Alta Dust, Flossie Keeler, Eliza Osgood, Ruth Osgood, Minnie Hoyt, Earl Osgood, Mary Dott Lisenby, Daisy Pennington, Lois Mantzey, Frances Mitchell, Grace Van Eaton, Dorthy Beever, Mary Foxworthy, Alma Runge, Edith May, Inez Davis, Minnie Duncan, Addie Mace, Bert Hoyt, C. L. Foxworthy, Theresa Denker, Jeanette Hussey, Frances Deardorff and June Clute. (A man can belong to the Rebekah’s but a woman can’t belong to the Odd Fellows)

Along about the early 1950’s the Odd Fellows started failing but the Rebekah’s started to slowly build the Lodge back up. The first year or so they didn’t have a kitchen or rest room or even an outside one. The school cafeteria was across the street in the building which is now the home of Mr. and Mrs. Alvie Watson. It was used for social activities of the Lodge members, work was started to fix the building. Chili suppers were held, members sold cards, and had bake sales to raise money. All work was done by the members. Things were slow but some progress was made.

Major improvements that had been made in the past twenty-five years have been: tiled floor downstairs, painted walls, two rest rooms, put in city water, a new gas furnace downstairs, painted and roofed the building, new curtains, storm windows upstairs, good used refrigerator and electric stove downstairs, tables, folding chairs and a lot of other necessary items.

Those that use the Lodge Hall are: Livingston Co. Coon Hunters, Cemetery Association, Township Board, County and School elections. It is rented for showers and family gatherings, and used to serve families when there is a funeral near by, Avalon Busy Bee’s 4-H put their display in the windows and use the lawn for local achievement. The Rebekah’s meet two times each month every 2nd and 4th Wednesday.

Members of Rebekah Lodge as of January 1980: Annabelle Bachman, Etha Barnhart, Lucy Bennett, Doris Bowes, Nellie Bowes, Reba Burnside, Geraldine Figg, Lorene Garber, Tabitha Gilbert, Anna Houston, Doris Hussey, Julia Hussey, Alta Johnson, Eliza Osgood, Ruth Osgood, Virginia Pilcher, Mina Russell, Myri Teasley and Lois Jones.

BOY SCOUTS

Boy Scouts came to Livingston County as early as 1912 or 1913, according to some who were members of that first troop. The Boy Scouts of America was chartered by Congress and came to America in 1912, so in only two to three years, the movement started in England by Sir Baden Powell found it’s influence being felt here.

A group of men came from the east and held a meeting with a group of boys of Scout age in the Luella Theater in 1912 or 1913 and from this was started the first Boy Scout troop in Livingston County.

The Rector of the Grace Episcopal Church, Rector Homburg is remembered as being the first Scoutmaster.

Some of the boys in that first troop were Palmer Milbank, Irvin Putnam, Virgil Wanamaker, Mac Henry, Grant Ashby, and Ralph Hicks, according to the recollection of Herb Danielson, also a member of the troop.

This first troop operated for a couple of years before disbanding, probably because of World War I, or the lack of a district or council organization to back it up.

The next Scout troop was organized in 1921 or 1922 and former Postmaster Joe Stewart was the Scoutmaster. There was no connective Scout organization in the area at that time, and Mr. Stewart had to send all his requests for information, badges, and supplies direct to the national organization at 2 Park Avenue, New York, New York.

During the intervening years, the Boy Scouts of America had organized by region and councils, and the Pony Express Council at St. Joseph came into being with H. Roe Bartle and later Lester B. Miller as Scout Executives. Districts were organized on county basis and we became the Livingston District.

During the years that followed, Joe Stewart, Judge Ira Beals, E. F. Allison (Supt. of Schools), Jack Marshall, Father Owens, Roy Lambert, Dee Sherrill, Holton Rickenbrode, Arnold Wade, Flick Girdner, Taylor Dowell, Lloyd Ogan, Earle Teegarden Sr., Bill Watson, Dr. G. K. Meinershagen, W. L. Shaffer, Wm. N. (Bill) McCoy, Vincent Moore, Dr. W. C. (Chad) McCoy, and many others kept Scouting going.

Many organizations have sponsored units over the years, St. Columban’s Church, Kiwanis Club, Lion’s Club, Rotary Club, V.F.W. Post, American Legion Post, Elm Street Methodist Church and Dewey School. Groups of individuals sponsored units in Wheeling, Avalon, Dawn, Mooresville, and Utica at various times.

In 1952 the Ma-Has-Kah district was formed, which included the Livingston District with the counties of Mercer, Grundy and Livingston. Later it was enlarged to include Caldwell, Daviess, and Harrison. Currently it includes Livingston, Grundy, Mercer, and Harrison.

As of December 1980 there are nine Scout units operating in Livingston County: Cub Scout Pack 502 of Utica, Mooresville, Dawn and Ludlow; Pack 122 sponsored by the Revised Church of Latter Day Saints; Pack and Troop 120 of the United Methodist Church, Pack and Troop 121 of St. Columban’s Church; and Pack, Troop, and Explorer Post 123 sponsored by the Chillicothe Lion’s Club. Some 350 boys are involved in Scouting in the county. -- Vincent Moore Historian

THE CHILLICOTHE BUSINESS & PROFESSIONAL WOMEN’S CLUB
The Chillicothe Business & Professional Women’s Club, organized February 23, 1925, presented Charter No. 620 by Alma Lohmeyer, National Vice-President, with thirty-five Charter members.

1927 State Convention held in Chillicothe. Assisted in the organization of Clubs in Trenton, Brookfield, Marceline, Macon.

The following have served the Missouri Federation: Dr. Vera L. Young - State President 1928 - 1930; Mary Hawkins, and Kate Buckman, and Audrey Newman, respectively, Corresponding Secretary; Margaret James Oliver - District 1 President 1936 1938; Louise Seidel - Recording Secretary 1939 1941; later Dr. Gladys Ingram - Health chairman advancing to 3rd Vice-president; Willa Jane Smith Director of District 1 1958 - 1960, Legislative Chairman 1960 - 1962 & 1963 - 1964, Recording Secretary 1962 - 1963 & 1965 - 1967; Ruby L. Robbins - District I - East Director 1971 - 1973 presented the Marjorie Garansson District Award, and represented the Federation at the 12th International Congress, Edmonton; Eunice Cassity - District 2 Director 1979 - 1980 & 1980 - 1981.

Rosa Simmer - State Essay Award 1962-1963; Bosses’ Essay Awards to Patricia Taylor 1978-1979 and Marjorie Tompkins 1979-1980.

B P W Woman of the Year Awards - Willa Jane Smith, Lora Helms, Mildred Poppenhagen.

A few of the Clubs activities:1955-1975 sponsored Easter Seals; 1961-1962 remodeled Ladies Rest Room at the Court House, and a Course in Medical Self-help; 1958-1959 Fund for Educational Loans; Bicycle Safety Class; 1965-1966 $100. For Library Fund and First Place Awards on Tray Favors at the M. H. A. Convention; 1968-1969 sponsored the winner, Kitty Hofheins, for the Jaycees Wives “Outstanding Young Woman” Contest, and July 16, 1969 observed the National Federation’s Golden Anniversary with an Inter-City Luncheon at the Strand; 1970-1971 took fourth place in the Christmas Parade winning $25.; 1971-1972 sponsored Miss Recil Skinner the first Runner-up in the Missouri Federation’s Young Careerist Contest, and sponsored Susan Kent, who became “Miss Missouri Rural Electric Queen” winning $50.; 1972-1973 raised $265; purchased four platform Rockers for the Hedrick Medical Center; 1975-1976 sponsored a “Personal Planner” Booklet and celebrated the Clubs “50th Anniversary” with an Inter-City Meeting with the State President - Hazel Korhing, present; 1976-1977 took part in the “Spirit of 76” Fourth of July Parade, sponsored a “Bi-Centennial” Zip Code Directory, contributed to the “Jerry Litton” and “Rupp” Memorial Funds; 1978-1979 sponsored a C P R Class; 1979-1980 “Year of the Child” contributed $100. to the Peter Pan School Fund, and honored Eunice Cassity, District 2 Director and Mary Wolf, Young Careerist with a Tea in Miss Niday’s home. 1967-1980 contribute to American Field Service and 4-H & F F A Fair programs; 1968-1981 “Senior Girl of the Month” project & the “Young Careerist” Program.

Past-presidents: 1925-1927 - Dr. Vera L. Young; 1927-1928 - Mrs. J. H. Bauer; 1928-1929 - Kate Williams; 1929-1931 - Margaret James Oliver; 1931-1932 & 1945-1946 - Ada Mae Thomas; 1932-1933 - Kate Buckman; 1933-1934 & 1939-1941 - Louise Seidel Michael; 1934-1936 - Dr. Gladys Ingram; 1936-1938 - Illa Summerville; 1938-1939 1942-1944 - Eva Lee Vosseller; 1941-1942 - Janet Hyre/L. S. Michaels; 1944-1945 - Clara Welch; 1946-1948 - Mabelle Mowry; 1948-1950 - Jewell Dowell; 1950-1951 - Violet Houser; 1951-1953 – Opal White; 1953-1955 - Eunice White; 1955-1957 – Willa Jane Smith; 1957-1959 - Elizabeth Ellsberry; 1959-1961 - Annabelle Hunt Lowry; 1961-1962 - Mildred Poppenhagen; 1962-1963 - Rosa Simmer; 1963-1965 - Hazel McWhirter; 1965-1966 – Fern Clodfelter; 1966-1967 - Faye Humphreys; 1967-1968 - Pearl Mitchell; 1968-1970 & 1976-1977 - Ruby L. Robbins; 1970-1971 - Hazel Baldwin; 1971-1972 - Betty Barrows; 1972-1973 - Alvina Fullerton; 1973-1974Kay Sommerville; 1974-1976 & 1977-1979Eunice Cassity; 1979-1981 –Iloe Lambert.

Approved by members June 24, 1980

Written by Mrs. Ruby L. Robbins

CHILLICOTHE CHAMBER OF COMMERCE

The Chillicothe Chamber of Commerce was organized May 11, 1911 and was incorporated under the laws of Missouri, September 25, 1920.

The incorporating officers were C. T. Botsford, president; B. T. Clark, first vice-president; M. F. Bench, second vice-president; Harry W. Graham, secretary; Joseph Walbrun, treasurer.

The original purpose of the Chamber was to foster, support and assist any movement or activity which means for the social, industrial, agricultural, benevolent, commercial, educational and religious betterment of the community and the general public.

The above wording was changed in 1975 to read: The Chamber is to promote, foster and encourage the industrial, commercial, civic, educational, sociocultural betterment and economy of the Chillicothe area; to create and maintain a compact representative and centralized agency for concerted action upon all matters affecting the betterment of conditions and the general welfare of Chamber members. The Chamber shall be non-sectarian, non-partisan and nonsectional.

Officers for 1980 are:

President Ed Turner

Vice-Pres. Doug Burton

Treasurer Bill Welch

Past-Pres. Armand Peterson

Exec. V.P. Ralph L. Moore

Board Members:

Jim Beemer

Butch Clark

Jack Dedrick

Dr. Jim Eden

Betty Don Ernst

Bob Fairweather

Darrell Haas 

Chuck Haney 

Darla Macoubrie 

Larry Richards

Vern Thom

CHILLICOTHE CULTURE CLUB

Sometime in the early “gay nineties” seven friends decided to go in for higher learning. The Chautauqua Course and Magazine were interesting to many at this time so they subscribed for the magazine. They met once a month with their mending, knitting, darning while one member read from the magazine.

This program failed to satisfy the members so the Chautauqua Course, an intensive course of history, art, travel, literature and science was discontinued because it would take four years to complete.

The membership was increased until in the spring of 1898 there were 28 faithful members, who, having completed the course looked for more worlds to conquer. All through the summer of 1898 the subject of a women’s club to take the place of the Chautauqua Circle was discussed whenever two or three women were gathered together. 

Mrs. Joshua Williams called a meeting in her home in the early autumn. Over 20 women responded and Chillicothe Culture Club was born. The motto “Unity in things necessary, Liberty in what is doubtful,

And charity in all things” was adopted.

The club met every Wednesday at 2:30 beginning in October through May with programs on current topics, music, readings, papers and book reviews. Each member prepared and presented her own programs. They soon joined the State Federation of Women’s Clubs. In 1899-1900 Mrs. L. E. Tracy and Mrs. Katherine Leaver were the first delegates to the state meeting. In 1904 the club entered the General Federation and 1920 the City Federation was organized with Mrs. Harry Minteer, a Culture Club member, as its first president. Mrs. Frank Fay of Culture Club served as president of City Federation as well as secretary of the State Federation.

During World War I and II each member helped in the various war efforts.

Culture Club has had a limited membership so it has not increased much numerically, but during the 82 years of its existence as Culture Club plus the eight years as Chautauqua Circle, it has greatly aided every movement for the moral, educational, and civic betterment of Chillicothe. This body of women has the highest ideals and motives and has left its impressions throughout Chillicothe’s later history.

CHILLICOTHE FINE ARTS COUNCIL

Under the leadership of Mrs. Edmund (Joan) Krautmen, the Chillicothe branch of the American Association of University Women sponsored a one-day Fine Arts Fair in November, 1962. It was a combined effort of the cultural groups and facilities existing in our community, and professional exhibits from other sources. The success of this one day event proved that there was and is a place and a need for more such cultural events in this area.

From the impetus furnished by this very successful one-day Fine Arts Fair, a non-profit organization was formed in December 1963, called, The Chillicothe Fine Arts Council, Inc. In February, 1964, by-laws were adopted and officers and directors were elected. John Irvin was elected president and Mrs. Krautman was given the office of executive vice-president. Robert A. “Bob” Smith was a vice-president and was largely responsible for arranging a plan for financing. His “Membership Plan” has proved extremely successful with only minor alteration during the past years.

Months of preparation went into the first week-long Fine Arts Fair held in April, 1964. Drama, films, music and visual arts were included in the varied program and merchants mounted displays of the Grand River Historical Society in the Downtown store windows.

An art and photography exhibition was held at the Armory all week, with a reception for Fine Arts Council members and the Missouri Governor’s Committee on Arts, artists, and visitors. Missouri University concert band held a concert at the Chillicothe High School Auditorium on Sunday, the first day of the fair.

A lecture by Giles M. Fowler, motion picture editor of The Star, was given and the film, “LaStrada”, was shown. The Hollander String Quartet from “Young Audiences” performed at various schools and gave a coffee concert at Bishop Hogan School.

The middle of the week was Painters Day with judging of amateur exhibits by William Unger and Melvin Olson of Kirksville State college. The film, “The Bridge”, was shown at the Ben Bolt Theatre.

The Chillicothe Community Orchestra performed and there was a concert by the Madrigal Singers of Washington University of St. Louis.

A film study, “Hamlet”, was held at the Livingston County Memorial Library. The week ended with a play, Shakespear’s “Julius Caesar”, by the Kansas City Circle Theatre which was performed on a special stage at Bishop Hogan High School.

John Irvin, first president of the Fine Arts Council, has continued his fine work for the organization. Through his company, Irvinbilt, he constructed and stored the display standards that were used at the art exhibits and also helped Arrow Rock with stage enlargement needed at the Ben Bolt Theatre. John also served a six-year term on The Missouri Council on the Arts and served as a member of the Board of Directors of the Mid-America Arts Alliance.

The 1965 Fine Arts Fair was the full week of April 25th to May 2nd. There were three events that deserve special mention. 1. There were two performances of the Glass Menagerie by the Missouri Repertory Theatre (University of Missouri at Kansas City). 2. The Arrow Rock Lyceum Players presented “Arsenic and Old Lace” at the Ben Bolt Theatre in July, 1965. An Arrow Rock Lyceum production has been brought to Chillicothe each year. “Godspell” was the production in July, 1980. 3. On the 13th day of October 1965, legislation became effective establishing The Missouri State Council on the Arts.

The Chillicothe Fine Arts Council is very proud of the fact that Chillicothe was selected as the site for the road production of “Madame Butterfly” by the Lyric Theatre of Kansas City on October 19, 1965. This was not only the first performance of the Lyric outside of Kansas City but the first co-sponsorship between the Missouri State Council on the Arts and a local organization. It played to a capacity audience.

At this point, additional credit should be given to Joan Krautmann. In addition to her leadership, from which resulted the one-day Fine Arts Fair, and the founding of the Chillicothe Fine Arts Council, she was on a committee that promoted the passage of legislation to establish the Missouri State Council on the Arts and was also appointed to serve a three year term as a member of the council.

The Chillicothe Council has been very appreciative of the financial help that has been furnished by the Missouri Arts Council during the past sixteen years. In some years additional financial help was received from the National Endowment for the Arts, a federal agency, and the Mid-America Arts Alliance.

An art exhibit of four to six days was held each year, beginning in 1964 and continuing through 1979. The Armory on North Washington Street was used as the exhibit site along with downtown, Southtown and Park Center shopping center buildings.

There was always an interesting ArtistIn-Residence who gave art demonstrations at the exhibit along with visits with the arts classes at the Chillicothe Schools. Attendance at the exhibits varied from 1350 to 3800.

Each fair grew in size during the seventies. School groups came fro ml all of the public schools in Chillicothe as well as the parochial school. Also, bus loads of youngsters arrived from the outlying Livingston County areas.

The artists over the two decades have worked in many media. Some of the more popular were pottery work, water coloring, metal sculpture and oil painting.

The guest artist usually followed a plan of visiting the schools for demonstrations during the day, and them demonstrating for the public in the evening at the fair.

The work of area school children has always been of special interest at the fair. Art classes in all the schools are encouraged to participate in the exhibits. The art work in each media is judged upon request, and one year a high school senior won the grand prize of best work exhibited at the show.

The growth and support that was so evident in the late sixties and seventies is expected to continue through the eighties. -- Bob Smith

CHILLICOTHE GARDEN CLUB

The Chillicothe Garden Club was organized in April, 1952 with 101 charter members. Any person living in Chillicothe or vicinity who is interested in gardening is eligible for membership and the fee for many years was $1.00. Because of the rise in prices for carrying out Garden Club projects the present membership fee is $1.50.

The purpose of the Garden Club is to stimulate interest in gardening, to further knowledge of gardening and to use the knowledge to create beauty for others to share.

Two meetings a month are held on the first and third Tuesday, beginning with the Membership Tea in March through the first Tuesday in October. The members enjoy many activities throughout the summer. The flower show which is held annually is an outstanding event and is free to the public. The beautiful specimens and arrangements are judged by qualified people and ribbons and trophies are presented as awards for outstanding exhibits.

Some of the trips recalled with interest are the one to Lexington where mansions rich in Missouri history were visited; to Kansas City to see some of the beautiful lawns and gardens of residents there; to St. Joseph where a bus load of Chillicothe members were met by members of their club and escorted on a tour of some of their gardens; to Meadville to see the floral display in Mr. Hatch’s garden; three trips to Kansas City to take the Wellesley Tour, and the yearly tours to visit gardens of Chillicothe homes.

Some of the beautification projects sponsored by the Garden Club include yard contests, flower boxes and baskets in the downtown area, planting of iris, and tulip bulbs at the south entrance to the city; erection of a white picket fence at Simpson Park announcing that Chillicothe is a Garden Club city; conducting the public dedication ceremonies of the Fair Oaks Roadside Park near Utica and the Manuel Drumm Park at the Chillicothe airport and holding a Clean-up week annually in cooperation with the city.

Early in the history of the club the red bud tree was selected for the city tree and the Eutin Rose for the flower. Evidence of these projects are seen throughout the city. In the spring of 1954 the club bought and planted three hard maples at the northeast corner of the hospital grounds and in 1975 planted eight dogwood on the south slope of Simpson Park.

At one time the Garden Club published and sold a book called “Garden Gimmicks” that contained general hints on the care of lawns, vegetable, and flower gardens.

In addition to the flower show the members enjoy a Garden Breakfast each year; a guest day, a spring plant exchange, a little rose show, and an arrangement and specimen showing at each meeting. A flower distribution committee takes flowers to shut-ins. Membership remains above 100 each year.

The first officers of the Garden Club were Mrs. F. M. McCall, president, Mrs. Ed Saale, vice president; Mrs. Earl Bradbury, treasurer, and Mrs. H. M. Hunt secretary. Present officers are President, Mrs. George Troeger; first vice-president, Mrs. Charles Fleener; second vice president, Mrs. Moren Jenkins; treasurer, Mrs. Tom Oliver; and secretary, Mrs. George Newbolt.

HEDRICK MEDICAL CENTER AUXILIARY

Organizing the Chillicothe Hospital Auxiliary was a project of the City Federated Clubs, which took place May 24, 1954, City Hall, with the following officers being installed: Mrs. Allen Moore 11, president, Mrs. Prentice Barnes, 1st-Vice, Mrs. Ada Cooke, 2nd-Vice, Mrs. Buel Staton, 3rd-vice, Mrs. Leroy Boehner, treasurer, Mrs. Tom Oliver, secretary, Mrs. Russell White, corresponding secretary, Mrs. Clyde Harper, president of City Federated Clubs, ex-officio member.

Other past-p residents: Mrs. Joseph Clark, Mrs. L. F. McWhirter, Mrs. Agnes Sweeney, Mrs. Rudy Eschenheimer, Mrs. George Cooper, Mrs. Ruby L. (Chester) Robbins, Mrs. Letha (Ralph) Marsh, Mrs. Evelyn (Earl) Griffith, Mrs. Shirley Thompson, Mrs. Neysa (Allen) Longenecker, Mrs. Jeri (Earl) Weeks, Jr., Mrs. Ramah (John E.) Hill, Mrs. Elnora Braun, also president for 1980-1981.

The members have purchased many items for the hospital and have served as hostesses for many functions along with projects of landscaping, library service, switchboard operation, sewing, interior decorations and in 1962, Junior Improvement League by Mrs. Eschenheimer, which became Candy Stripers in 1965, with Mrs. Hugh Innis as chairman. In 1965, Gift Shop or Cart, Gift Table at the Membership Tea and the Scholarship Award by Mrs. Robbins with Martha Rupp being the first recipient, since then there have been thirty-five other girls and Dr. Lycia Martin has served as chairman since 1968. Contributions have been made to this fund by Mrs. Anna Hill, by others and by several memorials.

In 1966, Mrs. Robbins and Mrs. Wm. Schauer started the ARC Hospital Volunteer Program.

Tray favors, a project of Mrs. Agnes Sweeney, won second and first place among the displays at the Missouri Hospital Association’s “Auxiliary Day”.

In 1968, Mrs. Ruby L. Robbins was appointed District-1 Director of Auxiliaries of the Missouri Hospital Association and was a representative at the 70th Annual Convention of the American Hospital Association, Atlantic City, N. J.

Name of Auxiliary transferred to Hedrick Medical Center Auxiliary. -- By Mrs. Ruby L. Robbins

CHILLICOTHE I.O.O.F. LODGE # 91

The Chillicothe I.O.O.F Lodge #91 was chartered, May 21, 1856, as a Subordinate Lodge under the jurisdiction of the Grand Lodge of Missouri by C. C. Archer, Grand Master of the Independent Order of Odd Fellows of Missouri. The Lodge owns its own building at 513 Washington Street. The building has three floors, the first floor being leased as a beauty shop and as office space for the MISSOURI Public Service Company. The top two floors are used for lodge purposes.

The Independent ORDER OF Odd Fellows is a Fraternal Organization with branches all over the United States, Europe and many other foreign nations. Odd Fellowship was established in America by Thomas Wildey, who established the first lodge on April 26, 1819 in Baltimore, Maryland. The name indicates an organization of men who are different (odd) in that they are pledged to help each other rather than selfishly pursuing their own way. The emblem is three chain links with the words, Friendship, Love and Truth as being the guides to the ultimate destiny of mankind.

The present officers of the Chillicothe lodge are; Spencer Hawkins, noble grand; HOWARD Simnitt, vice-grand; Hubert Stewart, secretary; Leonard Geier, financial secretary; Homer Stevens, treasurer. Trustees are John Marnmen, Harold Miller and Owen Walker.

CHILLICOTHE REBEKAH LODGE

The first Chillicothe Rebekah Lodge was organized May 20, 1870.

The first charter of the Chillicothe Rebekah Lodge still hangs on the Lodge hall wall and it reads as follows: Fail not, Falter not, Weary not. Granted the charter on the application of Ben F. Berry, Charles K. Mansur, Charles R. Berry, S. B. Thacker, E. A. Bement, David Burberry, S. England, J. B. Tanner, 1. B. Jones, C. J. Benson, James Grubb, Thomas H. Smith, Samuel Shoak Herman, C. P. Jones, W. H. Missman, J. H. Long, Joseph Hoffmann, A. Mendenhall, S. R. Richards, S. S. Mendenhall, Charles W. Sloan, R. Tisdale, L. R. Hibbner, Mrs. Marie Weaver, Mrs. May Shereve, to establish a degree Lodge of the Daughters of Rebekah of Chillicothe, Missouri in the name of D. March Lodge No. 15 of the said Lodge authorized to confer the degree on the wives and widows of Odd Fellows according to the laws and regulations of the Grand Lodge of the U. S. and the Grand Lodge hereby guarantees to said degree lodge all the rights, privileges and power appertaining to the degree Lodge of the Daughters of Rebekah; the twentieth day of May, 1870, year. Signed C. H. Mansur.

Because of the loss of interest in the Lodge it was reorganized May 23, 1890 and this charter is the charter used by our present Lodge. R. A. DeBolt, Grand Master of the Grand Lodge of the Independent order of Odd Fellows of the State of Missouri authorized by the Grand Lodge to empower our trusty and well beloved brethern and sisters of the Degree of Rebekah. Signed Mr. and Mrs. Z. B. Myers, D. Stewart, Miss Jennie Voris, Mr. and Mrs.J. B. Tanner, Mr. and Mrs. A. T. Benge, Mr. and Mrs. W. H. Missman, Mr. and Mrs. S. England, Mr. and Mrs. S. R. Richards, Mr. and Mrs. F. B. Porter, Mr.and Mrs. F. G. Turner, Mr. and Mrs. W. A. Henderson and Mr. and Mrs. E. W. Moorman, Mr. and Mrs.J. F. Sherman, Mr. and Mrs. J. B. Huffman, Mr. and Mrs. H. Cunningham, Mr. and Mrs. J. W. Pratt, Mrs.W. S. Urgichart, Berry A. Raffa, J. J. Wellis, Miss Sallie England, Miss Lillie England, Miss Annie Stewart, Miss Josie Clem, Miss Sadie Henderson, S. A. Stone, W. B. Coston, D. Hargrave, Charles Grittner, R. H. Haddock, Char!es A. Loomis, H. R. McVey, O. W.Edmonds, C. W. Missman, to be known as Daughters of Rebekah Lodge No. 43, City of Chillicothe, Livingston Co., State of Mo., 23rd day of May, 1890 and of our order of the Odd Fellows of the 72 years. Signed R. A. DeBolt, Grand Master and E. W. Sloan, Grand Treasurer.

The Rebekah Degree was organized and established by Schuyler Cofax, who was born in New York. Mr. Cofax was elected to Congress in 1854. He was elected speaker of the House in 1863. In May 1868 he was elected Vice President on the Republican ticket with General W. S. Grant. -- Patty Turbyfill

COMMUNITY HOMEBUILDERS EXTENSION CLUB

The Community Homebuilders Extension Club was organized in May, 1947 at the home of Mrs. George Seiberling, by home agent Miss Ruby Randall. Charter members who still belong to the club are: Mrs. Lena Adams, Mrs. Lena Bowen, Mrs. Bessie Whiteside, and Mrs. Ruth Seiberling.

The club purchased the Swain Schoolhouse when rural schools were consolidated into the Chillicothe system and has maintained it as a club house and community center. They have also assisted in sponsoring the Liberty 4-H Club and have helped with Achievement Days and other 4-H events. Several of the club members now live in Chillicothe, but most are formerly from the Liberty community in Blue Mound and Fairview townships.

Officers for 1980-81 are: President, Mrs. Gary (Joan) Brown; Vice-President, Mrs. Jim (Janet) Schreiner; Secretary, Mrs. Junior (Mildred) Hughes; Treasurer, Mrs. Archie (Helen) Nibarger; Reporter, Mrs. B. B. (Lena) Bowen; Game and Song leader, Mrs. Trenton (Lena) Adams; Cultural Arts, Mrs. George (Ruth) Seiberling; and Health, Mrs. Kevin (Kathy) O’Bryan.

Several members of the club have held office in the County Extension Club Council included are: Mrs. Bill (Mary) Schauer, Mrs. Trenton (Lena) Adams, and Mrs. Jim (Janet) Schreiner.

CONCERNED CHRISTIANS

Concerned Christians is a group of representatives of several churches and other agencies striving to meet needs of the people of the Chillicothe area. In 1967 eighteen members met and formed Concerned Christians to help provide and promote the spiritual, educational, mental and social services for the citizens of the community. The motive was to concretely demonstrate the good news of Jesus Christ and his love to all mankind. As a not-for-profit corporation Concerned Christians serves as a channel through which funds flow from the federal government to the local community.

Concerned Christians was organized in February, 1967, in the Community Room of the State Bank. Mrs. Dorothy Reed was the first president and Father Orlis North was the first vice president. Mrs. Shirley Humphrey was secretary and Lucille Klinefelter was treasurer. Mrs. Iva Williams was the historian. Fifteen churches were represented and they started a community center in a remodeled garage at the corner of Church and Leeper Street. It was called Cornerstone. The entire community worked to remodel the garage. Rummage sales were held and food and donations were accepted to get funds.

Mrs. Lura Heller, a Human Resources Development Corporation employee, was coordinator and had the H.R.D.C. office in the building. Vista workers were a source of help and much involved in the youth 94 program of Concerned Christians. Summer play

ground programs were sponsored. In 1973 Concerned Christians wrote a proposal for the Retired Senior Volunteer Program and became sponsor for it. Five months later they became the sponsor for the Congregate Meals program which became the Livingston County Senior Center. In 1978 they began to sponsor the Mental Health program and the Chillicothe Counseling Center.

Others who have served as presidents of Concerned Christians have been: Brother James Mabery, Reverend David Norbury, Reverend Don Hoffman, and Mrs. Mildred Bozdeck who is president in 1980. Mr. Earl Teegarden has been treasurer of the organization since its start. Mrs. Lucille Klinefelter and Mrs. Retha Emerick have also held offfce. Mrs. Fred McCullough is secretary at the present time.

Concerned Christians is presently involved in the renovating of the Coburn Building south side into a Senior Center. In recent years they have sponsored the Neighborhood Assistance Program, Crime Prevention programs, day camps, vacation Bible Schools, trips for the underprivileged, Thanksgiving dinners, classes in arts and craft special tutoring, home improvements, UNICEF Drives, Vial of Life Program, and residential on-going mental health counseling.

Concerned Christians remains the enabling organization for many federal programs in the county. 

DAWN LODGE #539 ANCIENT FREE AND ACCEPTED MASONS

Dawn Lodge #539 Ancient Free and Accepted Masons was chartered and held its first meeting in its building on the North side of Main Street on May 20, 1889 with 29 original members. The lodge was very active and membership soon doubled. On June 19, 1900, the lodge was moved to a building in

Ludlow, there to remain through two world wars and the great depression. On July 8th, 1949, the lodge moved back to Dawn, being upstairs in the Baxter building on the South side of Main Street. Following the death of Brother Baxter, the lodge purchased the building on June 7, 1962, and occupies it to this day.

THE DOMESTIC SCIENCE CLUB

The Domestic Science Club, M.F.W.C. was organized January 1901 by Mrs. Levi Tracy, the wife of an early physician in Chillicothe, Missouri.

The Club became a member of the State Federation in 1902 and the National Federation in 1924. When this club was organized it was the study of preparation of foods and life in the home, the reason for the name Domestic Science Club. As time passed on, all the clubs were using the programs of Art, Drama, Music, and Literature. These departments are required.

In the early years of the club a contest was conducted by Women’s Magazine, opened to all clubs and a prize given to the club whose drawing of a Modern Kitchen was judged to be the best. Mrs. Robert Stewart, a member of Domestic Science Club sent a plan she had drawn and won the prize for the club. Later it was shown in the magazine.

The club’s refreshments in the early years were elaborate and delicious, now would be called a luncheon, for instance the committee would serve creamed chicken, hot biscuits, a salad and a dessert. Usually, something served was prepared as a demonstration before the club members.

The club took the initiative in advocating and securing Manual Training in the Public Schools. The club managed clean-up campaigns, similar to the Garden Club work now. Flower seeds were given to school children to encourage the beautifying of yards. During World War I the club adopted and supported an orphan girl in France.

Domestic Science Club was very active in supporting the library and visiting nurse programs when they both were just getting started. In the early years Domestic Science club bought the milk for underprivileged children in school. With the help of other clubs, the Domestic Science Club was very active in organizing the Hospital Auxiliary and purchase of an incubator.

In early years, the club gave furniture and cleaned-up the Rest Room in the Court House so people from out of town would have a clean place to rest after shopping. In recent years projects have been to help Peter Pan School, Hope Haven, Cornerstone, Senior Citizens, Concerned Christians, Salvation Army, and in 1978-79 the Senior Citizens Community Center. State project is support for Girls’ Town of Mountain Grove, Missouri, which is a project for all Federated Clubs of Missouri. In observation of Arbor Day, the club has “Penny for Tree Day”, which was mostly $1.00 bills tied to the little tree branch, this was the club’s contribution to the Simpson Park Tree Fund.

There have been four 50 year members, Mrs. J. D. Rice, Mrs. A. W. Cies, Mrs. Raymond Russell and Mrs. Clyde Harper. Three are deceased and Mrs. Clyde Harper is in a Nursing Home in Riverside, California. She is an associate member now, has belonged to this club 65 years. Sixty-nine have died during these 80 years. There are 22 former presidents living and forty-one have passed on. The 1980-82 officers are: Mrs. Eunice White, president, Mrs. Ralph Marsh, vice-president, Mrs. R. B. Taylor, 2nd vice-president, Mrs. Virgil Mason, secretary, Mrs. Mabel Darcy, treasurer, Mrs. John Hill, parliamentarian.

EAGLES

Ladies Auxiliary to Fraternal Order of Eagles, Livingston Aerie 2428, was organized in 1949 by Mr. and Mrs. Vance Magee, with 41 charter members.

First Officers were: Madam President, Nina Magee; Vice-President, Ruth Grouse; Past Madam President, Vera Mast; Secretary, Annalee Taylor; Treasurer, Verlee Garner; Conductor, Elizabeth Schmidt; Chaplain, Florence Williams; Inner Guard, Jeanie Churchill; and Outer Guard, Ina Hoskins.

Meetings were held at various locations in Chillicothe over the past 31 years. Present Aerie home is owned and occupied at 200 East Jackson Street.

1980 Officers are: Past Madam President, Verna Baker; Madam President, Jean Grimes; VicePresident, Ruth Knouse; Secretary, Connie Thompson; Treasurer, Cleo Bondoski; Chaplain, Mildred Allnutt; Inner Guard, Joan Johnson; Outer Guard, Linda McCully; Trustees: Mary Minnis, Rose Marie Woodworth and Dorothy Smith; Conductor, Bessie Blattner.

There are eighty two members with Corinne Thompson the only surviving charter member. Activities are social and charitable. 

FACT AND FICTION CLUB

In the summer of 1929, Mrs. W. H. Brengle, wife of the Rev. W. H. Brengle, of First Baptist Church, was concerned about the young women she knew and she encouraged them to organize a sewing club. Three ladies, Ruth Brown, Blanche McGuire and Florence Parker invited Vera May, Esther Mallen, Bess Coulter, B. Coe, Doris Roach and on June 20, 1929, these ladies organized the Happy Hour Sewing Club.

They embroidered, crocheted and sewed while Ruth Brown read the book “The Woodcarver of Lympus” by Mary E. Weller. They also brought and wrapped gifts for the Industrial Home girls.

By fall, Mrs. Brengle and Mrs. Frank Fay, wife of a Methodist minister, encouraged the ladies to become a Federated Study Club. October 31, 1929 the club organized into the Fact and Fiction Club. The club was federated with the city of Chillicothe, October 31, 1929. Mrs. John May was president; Mrs. Ralph Mallen, vice-president; Mrs. Will Coe, secretary; Mrs. Leslie Coulter, treasurer; Mrs. R. R. Thweatt, corresponding secretary; and Mrs. A. M. Rhoads, reporter.

The name Fact and Fiction was chosen using the fact for learning and fiction for the lighter side. The Constitution and By-laws were approved and adopted. The colors green and white were selected and the flower chosen was a chrysanthemum. The motto was “Slumber not on the tents of your fathers, the world is advancing, advance with it.” The motto today is “Do Your Best.”

In 1930, the club was federated with the state and the GFWC. There were fund raising events including bake sales, rummage sales, selling greeting cards which were sold door to door. The programs through the years have been interesting and informative. A fun event the club enjoyed many times was ‘come as you are parties.’

Through the years the club has taken fruit and presents to the Industrial Home for Girls and to the Infirmary; helped with the USO; helped support a visiting nurse and library; gave quilts and baby clothes and made layettes; supplied milk for school children; subscribed to Pathfinder for the library, and had the Shopping Bag project. They have contributed to the Red Cross; TB Lung Association; Cancer Fund; Girl Scout Little House; Peter Pan State School Dabney School; Sophomore Pilgrimages; American Field Service; Care Program; Salvaton Army; and assisted with the needs of the Welfare Office.

The present membership is 24 and there is a membership limitation of 25. Members of the club are Mrs. Cecil Atkins, Mrs. R. W. Bellamy, Mrs. Hugh Campbell, Mrs. C. C. Canning, Mrs. Hugh Carlin, Mrs. Robert Carrol, Mrs. Roy Dupy, Mrs. Morgan Evans, Mrs. John Evans, Mrs. Harlie Gallatin, Mrs. Lester Gillespie, Mrs. Bob Gipe, Mrs. Hazel Gordon, Mrs. Lorene Grossman, Mrs. L. W. Hurst, Mrs. John Newcomer, Mrs. George Pittaway, Mrs. Ralph Ross, Mrs. Dorland Scott, Mrs. W. L. Wescott, Mrs. Orville Whitacre, Mrs. Ralph Wigfield, Mrs. Lewis Foster, and Mrs. Frank Plumb. -- Jean Carroll

THE FRIENDLY NEIGHBORS CLUB

The Extension Club of the Maple Grove and Risley Communities was formally organized October

7, 1936 at the home of Mrs. Charles Austin. To help with the first meeting Mr. Browning and Mrs. Newton Holt came from the Extension Office. Eugene Lee had talked about the clubs at a meeting at Maple Grove School earlier in the year. Twenty-two women were charter members and six young women were associate members. They included: Mrs. Charles Austin, Mrs. Carl Hawkins, Mrs. Russel Barlow, Miss Ethel Hawkins, Mrs. Raymond Bradley, Mrs. Robert Kirtley, Mrs. Frank Cramer, Mrs. Edward Murphy, Mrs. Herbert Cramer, Mrs. Charles Morse, Mrs. John Cramer, Mrs. Clint Neal, Mrs. George Culling, Mrs. James Needles, Mrs. Ira Culling, Mrs. James Regan, Mrs. Ralph Dome, Mrs. E. F. Shields, Mrs. Guy Hamilton, Mrs. Roy M. Shields, Mrs. A. P. Hawkins, Mrs. Curt Thompson, Miss Ruth Barlow, Miss Virginia Cramer, Miss Irene Murphy, Miss Helen Thompson, Miss Jewell Regan and Miss Hope Thompson.

Meetings were held twice a month for many years. Mrs. Austin was the first president and at one time was County Council president as was Mrs. Charles Morse.

For a period of years the Club actively supported the Molo-Bethel 4-H Club. Today, the Club is a social club and meet once a month but continues to support the 4-H and F.F.A. Fair.

Over the years comforters have been made for people who have lost homes by fires. Many things have been made for the children at Mercy Hospital. Other projects have included Ditty Bags for soldiers, work shirts for the Red Cross, favors for hospital trays and the young women made stencils and painted mail boxes. Yes, many things were done because the members were Friendly Neighbors first, then a club. 

GFWC SOROSIS MFWC

Sorosis was organized in Chillicothe, October 13, 1900.

In New York City, a group of women organized a club in 1868 and called it “Sorosis”, from the Greek word, “Soru”. They chose mulberry for their color and the pineapple for an emblem, meaning, many flowers bound together into one. It is also a symbol of hospitality, a motif used by silversmiths and craftsmen and adopted in many shapes and forms.

Mrs. J. W. Hawley was the organizer in Chillicothe, and its president for twenty years, when it flourished as a study club.

Among civic contributions in the early days, were nutritional aid to needy school children, support for the library, which was housed in a residence, and the important support for the visiting nurse. Various ways were used by Sorosis and other clubs to finance these undertakings.

There are three other Sorosis clubs in Chillicothe, the “Juniors,” “Tria” and the “Pledges,” a high school age group, sponsored by Tria. To get to know each other and to share our mutual interests, we plan meetings with each other during each club year.

The budget includes contributions to MFWC projects and scholarships provided annually to Missouri University for: Special Education, School of Forestry, School of Law, Mental Health, Music and Music Therapy. Many other programs are benefited.

“Girls Town”, a special project of MFWC,’was established in 1954 for homeless girls. A new facility has been started to accommodate a large number of girls.

The Sophomore Pilgrimage to the State Capitol, is a priceless remembrance for those who have been chosen to attend.

The budget includes local contributions to American Field Service, which sponsors exchange students from foreign countries. They have given us outstanding and informative programs every year. Camp Rainbow for the handicapped, has also been supported for many years.

Recently Sorosis was happy to help in the building of the new Peter Pan School, a special effort of the Knights of Columbus, of Chillicothe, who rallied the whole town, and were able to complete the building with generous contributions of time, labor and money.

So, from the original study club members have changed with the times. During the year, programs are planned to include a wide variety of interests. The state federations supplies and recommends programs on: Conservation, Education, Fine Arts, Home Life, International Affairs, Public Affairs, Free Enterprise and others.

Many, many, happy and fun times together come to mind, as Sorosis reviews 80 years of history.

LIVINGSTON COUNTY GIRL SCOUTS

Girl Scouting in Livingston County has been increasingly active in this century especially in the last decade. In 1944, which is the oldest record that can be found, the officers were Mrs. Belmont Bradley, commissioner; Mr. Otis C. Korslund, treasurer; and Mrs. Ross Diehl, registrar. Some women who were active before this charter were: Mrs. Ed Dolan, Mrs. John Rupp, Sr., and Mrs. Paul Rupp, Sr. Among others who contributed to Girl Scout leadership were: Mrs. Jessie Wright, Mrs. Ernest Wood, Mrs. Lloyd Ogan, Mrs. Lee Jackson, Mrs. Lee Fitchett, Mrs. John E. Yeoman’s, and Mrs. James Maberry.

One of the most significant boosts to our program was the drive to raise $9,000 in 1957, to build the Little House in Simpson Park. This land, 11/2 acres, was donated by Murrey Windle. The successful drive was headed by Ed Wolter. We had approximately 350 scouts registered then and we were in dire need of a central meeting place. A year after we had constructed the building it was suggested by National that we join Midland Empire Girl Scout Council in St. Joseph, Missouri. This necessitated turning over our assets to the Council. This met with opposition from some of those leaders who had worked on the drive. However the advantages of this merger would be profitable to us, including professional assistance, and help with maintenance and training. Women who were active in Scouting during this 1959 merger were: Mrs. Mike Alt, Mrs. Emory Brown, Ms. Ann Cleaveland, Mrs. Jo Shy, Jr., and Mrs. Bill Coleman.

Some distinctions Neighborhood Twenty has had are: Delegates to National Conventions - 1972 in Dallas, Susan Murphy and Charlene Coleman and 1978 in Denver, Paula Coleman. Some trips that girls have taken are: Soul Flaritage New York, New York a GSUSA - sponsored opportunity, Kathy Campbell; Maine Schooner Trip and Our Cabana, Becky Thatcher G.S. Council sponsored trips and HikeA-Peak at Nat’l Center West, Ten Sleep, WY, a GSUSA - sponsored opportunity, Rosemary Teegarden. The Community Action Patch has been earned by: Norma Hussey, Janet Thompson, Dana Thompson, Paula Coleman, Charlene Coleman 4nd Cindy Meek. Our Council Trainers are Charlene Coleman, Mary Dusenberry and Eleanor Schmidt. 1980 Council Board of Directors are Janet Thompson and Renetta Teegarden. A selection was published in the 1980 Senior Handbook by Paula Coleman. Council Program Services Committee members are: Charlene Coleman - 1972-1980; Eleanor Schmidt 1975-1978; Paula Coleman 1977-1979; Mary Dusenberry 1978-1979. Counselors at Camp Woodland Albany, MO have been: Paula Coleman, 1977-1979; Becky Ernst, 1978-1979; Janet Thompson, 1978; Barbara Wolf, 1980; Shelly Hussey, 1979; Counselor for Heart of Missouri G.S. Council Lake of the Ozarks, in 1966 was Donna Jo Weston. Counselor for Dogwood G.S. Council Ozark, Missouri in 1972 was Christa McCoy; Claudia McCoy took her Counselor in Training in 1972 in Becky Thatcher G.S. Council Hannibal, Missouri. Jane Moss in 1972 took her Counselor-in-Training at Heart of Missouri G.S. Council Lake of the Ozarks and was on staff at a Camp Siedeman Girl Scout camp near Leon, Kansas in 1973-1975. Participants in the 1978 Wyoming Trek to National Center West, Ten Sleep, Wyoming were: Paula Coleman, Sherri Meek, Melanie Eden, Mary Beth Schnitkner, Janet Thompson, Barbara Schmidt, Eleanor Schmidt, Charlene and Bill Coleman. The Thanks Badge, which is the highest award for adults, has been awarded to Carol Ingraham, Pat Meek, Betty McCoy and Charlene Coleman. Our Neighborhood has earned the distinction of selling the most cookies in our council the past three years. Norma Hussey, our Neighborhood Cookie Chairman, reports that in 1980 we sold 1,306 cases or $19,590.00 worth of cookies at $1.50 a box.

We are proud that Neighborhood 20 has had the largest Senior Troop that has ever been registered in this council and as far as records indicate in this country. Under the direction of Betty McCoy, Charlene Coleman, Eleanor Schmidt and Terry Wedlock there are 80 registered in the troop this year. Our most recent achievement has been a new bridge built behind the Little House the Fall of 1980, by Lloyd Wedlock Construction Company. Poles for the bridge were donated by Farmers Electric Cooperative, Inc. Dedication was December 2, 1980.

Neighborhood 20 Service Team members are: Mrs. Earle Teegarden, Jr., Neighborhood Service Unit Director; Mrs. Trent Gann and Mrs. Don’ Tullos, Organizers for Chillicothe schools; Mrs. Ralph Ratliff, Organizer for Southwest school at Ludlow; Mrs. Lois Turner and Mrs. Thomas Olson, Brownie Troop Consultants; Mrs. Richard Canterbury, Junior Troop Consultant; Mrs. William Hulett, Cadette Troop Consultant; Mrs. Dale Price, Senior Troop Consultant; Mrs. M. R. Dusenberry, Program Consultant; Mrs. Floyd Gabel, Registrar; Mrs. Jack Hussey, Secretary; Mrs. Don St. John, Publicity; and Mrs. Bill Coleman, Camp Promoter. In October 1980, we had nearly 300 girls register in 17 troops and 134 adults. There are 10 Brownie Troops, 5 Junior Troops, 1 cadette, and 1 senior. For the past seven years Neighborhood 20 has offered a Summer Program for Girls. The girls have had the opportunity to take a variety of classes including macrame, horseback riding, swimming, crafts, singing, learning about Girl Scouts around the world, and ceramics. Also, for the past eight summers Neighborhood 20 has held a five day Day Camp at Ki-Li-Ro-Co, which is a camp for youth of Chillicothe, located northwest of town about five miles. Renetta Teegarden has been the director or assistant director all eight years. The last several years we have served about 200 girls in Livingston and Caldwell counties at this Day Camp.

Hundreds of other people in our community have contributed to the successful and exciting world of Girl Scouting whose goals are to honor God, Country and Mankind. -- By Charlene Coleman and Renetta Teegarden.

GRAND OAKS BAPTIST CAMP

On August 26, 1945, LIVINGSTON Baptist Association met at Zion Baptist Church, a camp site for R.A.’s and G.A.’s was being sought, and it was announced that the old Campbell’s Country Club was available. It consisted of 57 acres, a lodge hall made of hewn logs, a caretaker’s home and several cabins, located 4 and one-half miles N.W. of Chillicothe on the banks of Grand River. The price was $7,000.

An option on the property would cost $500.00, but no money seemed available. A blind man, G. W. Midyett from Missouri Valley Association rose and said he felt led to offer $500 that he had laid aside for burial purposes. Others spoke up and money was raised and a motion was made to appoint a committee and empower them to secure an option of six months on a proposed camp site. The committee appointed to secure the option was Lee Steen, Burl Beckner and Rev. A. S. Day.

By June of 1946, the assembly had progressed, pipe lines were laid, electricity installed, 200 beds had been purchased, and kitchen equipment obtained. Campers brought their own blankets and pillows and the first assembly was held in a large tent on July 4, 1946. Thirty-five thousand dollars was paid on the 98 debt the first year with A. S. Day as president and Lee Steen as treasurer. Those attending that first assembly shared the beginning of something that has become a great blessing to this area of our state, as many a young person has found and accepted the Lord Jesus Christ there. The camp ground was incorporated in 1955. In 1968, the Assembly board composed of fifteen cooperative Associations in North Missouri commended Howard Judah of Maryville for his seven years service as president and Herman Shiflet for his 17 years as treasurer. Earl and Inez Moore are the present caretakers. We are proud of “Grand Oaks” and hope the future will make it a greater blessing than in the past.

LIVINGSTON COUNTY HISTORICAL SOCIETY

In the summer of 1954, George W. Somerville, a Chillicothe resident, since 1921, with a reputation as a Missouri historian, began conversations that led to a called meeting that November, to set up a temporary organization for the founding of a historical society and museum for Livingston County and the surrounding area.

This meeting was attended by Mr. and Mrs. Somerville, Mrs. Ira Hedrick, Miss Roberta Perrine, Howard Rion, Joseph Stewart, Miss Kate Johnson, Miss Mabel Cranmer, Mrs. Alice Kesler, Mrs. John Elliott, Mr. and Mrs. Julius Meinershagen, Mrs. Harriett Casebeer, Harry Cole, Bill Cole, Kirk Marshall, Leo Hopper and William Stilwell. Mr. Somerville was elected president of the new society, Mrs. Hedrick vice-president, R. S. Casebeer, second vice-president and Leo Hopper, secretary-treasurer. The name of Grand River Historical Society and Museum was adopted, by-laws written, and the purpose stated, “to provide a place for the safekeeping of articles pertaining to the history of this area.” Mr. Somerville served as president of the society from 1954 to 1966 and the society became well established as an educational and service organization to the community.

Mrs. Catherine (Meek) Racine served as president from 1966 to 1968, Earle S. Teegarden Sr. served part of the term of Mrs. Racine’s and the following year. Harry Cole was president 1969-1970 and Howard Leech has served as president from 1970 to the present year, 1980. Leo Hopper served continuously as secretary-treasurer to 1977 and then as treasurer to the present.

In 1969, the society was granted the use of rooms, rent free, in the remodeled library located in the former government building and post office at 450 Locust. Historic items were received and exhibited here as the beginning of the museum collection of the society.

In 1972 the Society was bequeathed a $25,000 gift from the 1. W. Waffle estate, providing the sum would be matched by the community within a ten year period. Also, the residue of the estate would be placed in an escrow account to provide interest income for operation and maintenance of the Museum.

In 1973, a gift of three lots and a 40’x 80’ building on Irving Avenue was received from M. N. Windle.

In 1976, a fund drive, headed by Dr. John R. Neal, was successfully conducted and the money from the Waffle estate was received. The board of directors voted to proceed with a building program to remodel the Windle building and the Irvinbilt Company completed the project in 1978-79.

In the summer of 1979, the museum collection was moved from the library to the new location and the Society held the dedication and formal opening in October of 1979. Judge Ronald L. Somerville, son of the founder, gave the dedication address and Richard S. Brownlee, director of the State Historical Society of Missouri and Mayor Tom Oliver cut the ribbon to make the opening official.

The museum has been dedicated to our forebearers in appreciation of their perseverance, ingenuity, craftsmanship and love of freedom. The museum will serve to perpetrate these qualities to future generations.

HOSPITAL VOLUNTEERS

Due to the interest of the Hospital Auxiliary members in the American Red Cross Hospital Volunteer program, Mrs. William Schauer, executive secretary of the Livingston County Red Cross Chapter, Mr. Hugh Ennis, hospital administrator and Miss Janet Neel, Red Cross Area representative from Kansas City, met with the Auxiliary Board, and it was decided to take on the project of the Hospital Volunteers, and they named Mrs. Chester F. (Ruby L.) Robbins, who was president of the Auxiliary at that time, as Unit Chairman.

The project got under way on Monday, January 17, 1966 with forty enrolling. Classes were set up and after two days of class work, thirty-seven were presented Certificates on Tuesday, February 1, 1966. They were Mrs. Catherine Beckett, Mrs. Hugh Larkin, Chula, Mrs. George Collins, Mrs. Sherman (Connie) Smith, Mrs. Pearl (Buel) Staton, who can be remembered for her many “Famous German Chocolate Cakes” which were sold by Mrs. Virginia Rion on Radio Station KCHI to aid the Auxiliary Scholarship Fund, Mrs. Evelyn (Earl) Griffith, Mrs. Robert Seidt, Mrs. Fern (Emory) Brown, Mrs. Cathern (George) Darr, Mrs. Elizabeth (Lee) Meek, Mrs. John Duer, Mrs. George Cooper, Mrs. Minnie (Bert) Hoyt, Mrs. William Schauer, Mrs. Helen (Jerry) Broyles, Mrs. C. R. DeLarm, Mrs. Warren Morse, Mrs. Marjorie (Ernest) Beier, Mrs. Alva Mast, Mrs. Bud Howsman, Mrs. Kathryn (George) Churchill, Mrs. Ruby L. (Chester) Robbins, Mrs. Ramah (John E.) Hill, Mrs. Dorothy (Joe) Painter, Mrs. Alta Summerville, Mrs. Elsie (Rudy) Eschenheimer, Mrs. Ruth (Paul) Whyte, Mrs. Bess Lightfoot, seven from Breckenridge - Mrs. Mildred Herrick, Mrs. Norma Newman, Mrs. Katie Curnow, Mrs. Beverly Hargrave, Mrs. Charles Moorshead, Mrs. Jean Scanlon, Mrs. Helen Pitts, from Lock Springs - Miss Helen Cook, and Mrs. Velma Patterson.

With an attendance of over 200 people on Sunday afternoon March 13, 1966 at a Capping Ceremony held at the United Methodist Church, thirty-two of the Volunteers were presented Red Cross Caps. Those not completing the required Hospital service were Mrs. John Duer, Mrs. Rudy Eschenheimer, Mrs. Mildred Herrick, Mrs. George Cooper, and Mrs. William Schauer.

Instructors for the classes were Miss Virginia Botsford, Mrs. Buel Ireland, R.N. director of nurses, Mrs. John Rodgers, LPN, Mrs. Betty (Lyle) Stitt, administrative assistant of the Greater Kansas City Chapter of the American Red Cross.

Dr. George K. Meinershagen was the chairman for the Livingston County ARC Chapter.

Monday afternoon, November 3, 1980 seven ARC Hospital Volunteers, who will have completed fifteen years in January of 1980 were presented Certificates and fifteen year pins. They were Mrs. Catherine Beckett, Mrs. Ernest Beier, Mrs..Evelyn (Earl) Griffith, Mrs. Ramah (John E.) Hill, Mrs. Minnie (Bert) Hoyt, Mrs. Ruth (Paul) White and Mrs. Ruby L. (Chester) Robbins. Mrs. Marge Lytle of the Kansas City Chapter was guest speaker.

Miss Willa Jane Smith is the Livingston County A R C Chairman, Mrs. Mabel G. Banks the executive secretary, Mrs. Evelyn Griffith, chairman for Hospital Volunteers, and Mrs. Ruby L. Robbins, ARC coordinator and auxiliary director of hospital volunteers. -- Mrs. Ruby L. Robbins

JUNIOR SOROSIS

The Junior Sorosis Club of Chillicothe was organized and federated (with the Missouri Federation of Women’s Clubs) in 1926. This action was voted in the Sorosis Club due to the interest and effort of Mrs. Jonathan Hawley. Six young girls, daughters, sisters or nieces of Sorosis members, were selected to be charter members; Catherine Sheetz, Betty Booth, Dorothy Orr, Marjorie Barclay, Marjorie Caesar, and Harriet Kirby (who is presently still a member of this club). These girls then selected Nell Shearer, Lois Fee, Jane Lillis, and Mary Holmes. Mrs. Hawley gave the first breakfast in her home in September 1926. In October, eleven more were added to the roll: Susanne Macdonald, Margaret Cameron, Betty Mansur, Lorraine Clark, Ruth Anderson, Virginia Botsford, Dorothy Minnis, Julia Woodson, Elizabeth Peery, Dorothy Tucker and Artis Miller.

The Sorosis color, Mulberry, and its symbol, the pineapple, and the club object, “Mutual Improvement” were adopted. The meetings were held twice a month, in the evenings, and the programs followed a “course of study” adopted for the year. Philanthropy was ever a principle concern. Mrs. Hawley was sponsor for the first two years, followed by Mrs. Oneita (Skeet) Bird. The first president was Catherine Sheetz vice-president, Mary Holmes; secretary, Nell Shearer; treasurer, Harriett Kirby.

The “young ladies” were expected to join the 100 Sorosis Club when age 40 was reached. A group of high school girls were formed as “pledges” to later join Junior Sorosis.

In 1928 the club began giving annual Christmas dances to make money for charities. These were beautiful and popular affairs, which were continued for over forty years. In the early years, the proceeds went for stuffed Christmas stockings for needy children, layettes for use by the county nurse, and help to local libraries. Later, causes were selected each year. Parties have been given, in holiday seasons, for Senior Citizens and Hope Haven workers. Money is given to such worthy causes as Hope Haven Industries, Peter Pan School, and other local charities.

Harriett Kirby, charter member, served as president in 1976, for the club’s fiftieth year. She was earlier president in 1933.

The present officers are Rose Welch Harris, president, (who also served in 1935); Mary Helen Shepard, vice-president; Annabelle Tharp, secretary; and Jerry Beardmore, treasurer.

Junior Sorosis has always enjoyed three lovely parties during the year: a “breakfast” for the traditional opening event in the fall, a Christmas party, and a party in early spring to include all Sorosis Clubs. For some years another party has been added in the spring, to include the husbands.

The club has seen many gradual changes in its 54 years. The enrollment has grown to include forty members; the meeting time has been changed to afternoon; and more than half its members, far from qualifying as “Junior”, are grandmothers! But the same enthusiastic participation in “Mutual Improvement” continues to hold the attention and claim the interest that it did so long ago!

KIWANIS

The Chillicothe Kiwanis Club had its official organization meeting on November 17, 1921 at the Leeper Hotel (now Lambert) and the official charter presentation was on Jan. 31, 1922 in the parish house of Grace Episcopal Church. A. E. (Arthur) Gibson was the club’s president and the charter was presented by Gov. E. L. Chase.

In addition to Gibson, first officers of the Chillicothe club were H. A. Hedges, vice president, V. J. Gladieux, secretary; Allen O. Glore, treasurer, and Harry W. Graham, trustee.

The Chillicothe club has been active in many service areas throughout the years and has emphasized boys and girls work. It has helped many underprivileged children, has sponsored Kids Day Parades, marble tournaments and poultry shows when these events were popular, Pied Piper parades, a Boy Scout troop, was a sponsor of Scout Camp Ki-Li-Ro-Co which was dedicated in 1941, and was the first civic club to sponsor free meals for underprivileged school children in days before state and federal assistance. The club purchased the first portable X-ray machine at the Chillicothe Hospital, equipped the first laboratory at the hospital, furnished the first blood typing machine there, and furnished a room in memory of a long-time member, Dr. R. R. Barney. The club has been active in many other areas.

Club presidents have been: 1922, A. E. Gibson; 1923, J. M. Gallatin; 1924, H. A. Hedges’; 1925, A. T. Weatherby; 1926, F. B. Norman; 1927, J. D. Rice; 1928, Dr. Reuben Barney; 1929, A. O. Glore; 1930 Ed McCollum; 1931, Hal Beardsley; 1932, Frank Thierfelder; 1933, Howard Reed; 1934, Dwight Townson; and Roscoe Place; 1935, Frank McCalmont; 1936, H. R. MCCall; 1937, V. E. Stephens; 1938, John Cook, Sr.; 1939, W. B. Jennings; 1940, C. E. Herriott; 1941, Emery Burton; 1942, B. R. Harris; 1943, Dr. M. E. Elliott; 1944, Mort B. Cathey; 1945, Forrest Roberts; 1946, Otis Korslund; 1947, Eldon Hoover; 1948, Ted Barnes; 1949, Don Schooler, Sr.; 1950, Elton Norman; 1951, John Irvin; 1952, Dave Cone; 1953, Robert Kaye; 1954, Roy Youngblood; 1955, Lee Meek; 1956, Sam Long; 1957, Bryce Allen; 1958, Hilton Skinner; 1959, Louis G. Renfrow; 1960, Dr. J. R. Neal; 1961, Walter Miller; 1962, Frank Fendorf; 1963, Neil E. Beardmore; 1964, Roy Rodebaugh; 1965, Bob Moss; 1966, William Altheide; 1967, Bill Stilwell; 1968, Barney Savage; 1969, Don Hofheins; 1970, Vaughn Murray; 1971, Stan Patton; 1972, Earl Weeks; 1973, John Cook; 1974, Bill Maupin; 1975, Don Lancey; 1976, Jim Walters; 1977, John Evans; 1978, Howard Marshall; 1979, Bob Goss; 1980, Lee Larson.

Charter members of the Chillicothe club are: Henry S. Adams, Frank W. Ashby, Dr. Reuben Barney, Frank Batta, M. F. Bench, J. F. Boehner, Don Chapman, Sr., Mervin Cies, F. W. Cornue, J. A. Dailey, Ben Dienst, Dr. N. W. Dowell, H. W. Druen, Dr. M. Dummitt, D. L. Eaton, W. G. Englehart, Frank C. Fay, J. M. Gallatin, A. E. Gibson, V. J. Gladieux, Allen 0. Glore; J. Gordon Grace, Harry W. Graham, A. D. Gray, F. W. Gunby, H. A. Hedges, Virgil B. Hunt, A. E. Mellenger, Bland E. Miller, John U. Mitchell, Byron Morris, F. C. McCalmont, Dr. J. M. McKim, F. B. Norman, W. J. Olenhouse, Dr. C. W. Palm, F. G. Peters, J. D. Rice, M. J. Rice, D. H. Sawyer, Russell Scobee, Roy C. Snodgrass, H. E. Tharp, S. C. Turner, H. H. Warner, 1. W. Atkins, J. E. Watkins, J. A. Wisdom, and Judge A. T. Weatherby.

KNIGHTS OF COLUMBUS

St. Columban’s Council 1084 was chartered on Feb. 4, 1906. The first Grand Knight was Raymond F. McNally. The known past state officers from St. Columban’s Council are as follows: Ed Saale - State Treasurer, E. J. McClure - State Program Chairman, Raymond F. McNally - District Deputy, Con Clifford - District Deputy, E. J. McClure - District Deputy, Joseph Anderson - District Deputy, Leo C. Hartnett - District Deputy, Vincent J. Wolf - District Deputy.

Supreme Insurance Representatives have been Joseph A. Reardon from 1954 to 1969 and Leo C. Hartnett from 1977 until the present.

During the World War I, the council was active in assisting Brother Knights who were called into service. They supported the War Fund. In 1956 the Council held its 50th anniversary, with William T. Riley the only charter member present.

Many worthy causes have been assisted by the council. In the 1950’s the Notre Dame band was brought to Chillicothe.

In 1952, the council was contacted by Airman Robert C. Trager who was stationed in Germany and requested assistance for German orphans. The council conducted a drive for food, clothing, and toys which were sent to Germany and Brother Trager distributed these gifts. For the past 20 years, the council has been an active supporter of the mentally retarded, and through proceeds from carnivals, birthday calendars, and Tootsie Rolls, has given money to Peter Pan School, Hope Haven, and State School 20 of Chillicothe. State School 20 of this city has been housed in the Knights of Columbus building since 1958.

The council purchased their first permanent home in 1958. The old Field School building, located at Polk and Easton Streets, was purchased at a price of $4,000. To obtain the loan from the Citizens National Bank, 16 members of the council signed a note for this amount. Full payment was made to the owners of the property on September 16, 1958. The 16 members who signed the note were: John R. Thompson, Paul L. Rupp, Frank E. Bonderer, Dr. Joseph C. Conrad, Raymond C. Riley, Don Saale, Louis Holloway, E. J. McClure, Leonard J. Pfaff, Dr. E. T. Dolan, Sherman Smith, Frank Trager, L. F. McWhirter, Henry Zosso, Chris F. Gier, and Francis B. Pfaff.

The Paul Rupp, Sr. Award was started in 1967 and was to be presented each year in October, to a member of the council who contributed outstanding effort to the council for that year. This award was started by Mr. Rupp who felt a member should be honored. Upon the tragic death of Paul Rupp, Jr. and his son, Paul Rupp, III in a plane crash in 1976, the award has been continued by Mrs. Dorothy Rupp in the names of all three of these outstanding men who contributed to the Knights of Columbus and to our beloved St. Columban’s Church.

In April 1979 there was a ground breaking ceremony for the new Peter Pan School and the Knights of Columbus. Grand Knight Bob Trager, Dick Gilroy and others participated.

Peter Pan Center, a development program for the handicapped, at the beginning of its twenty-second year began a new era.

Dick Gilroy acted as sponsor of the drive and he stated that the $83,000 drive would be successful. “The Christian people of the community will build Peter Pan Center,” Gilroy said. Some 100 persons attended the ceremony with city and county officials, members of the Peter Pan organization and the Knights council taking part in th6 symbolic turning of the soil. The building was completed in March, 1980. Classes were begun in Peter Pan on October 22, 1979. -- Leo Hartnett

LION’S CLUB’S

The Lion’s Club’s first organizational meeting was April 11, 1938. The first Charter meeting was June 30, 1938. The sponsoring club was Carrollton Lion’s Club of which Wade Maupin was instrumental in its organization. The first slate of officers were: President - Ivan Haston, also first District Governor, 1940-41, Vice President - Luster Carter and Hugh Slifer, Secretary - Denver Brittian, Treasurer - George Devers, Tail Twister - F. A. Lionberger, Lion Tamer - Gilbert Olenhouse, Directors - Lee Jackson, John Ford, R. V. (Hippo) Owsley, John Dupy, Flavel (Flick) Girdner, Charles Cornue. Other charter members were: Oke Austin, Earl Crandall, Theron Cruse, Ted Davis, John Ford, Russell Johnson, Herbert Lawrence, Herbert Parsons, Kenneth Sankey, Carl Shirley, Louis Stein, Dick Taylor, Levere Tennison, Harold Way, Walter White, Ernest Wiseman. 1980-81 officers and directors are: President - Dave Seiberling, Immediate Past President - Terry Deatz, 1st v-Pres. – Larry Vaughn, 2nd v-Pres. - Mike Epperson, Sec’y. - Treas. - Larry Gatson, Lion Tamer - Elmer Schnittker, Tail Twister - Lyle Noblitt, Directors - Leroy Mills, Larry Meek, Hugh Campbell, Vern Wiseley.

The Lion’s Club participates in the following activities each year: We contribute to Lion’s Eye Tissue Bank and associate with local Eye Conservation. We own and operate a portable concession stand which we operate at various community events. We sponsored first Chillicothe Balloon Derby (Flight for Sight) and sponsor a Boy Scout Troop. We send band students to Lion’s International Convention and assisted in CROP Community Clean-up. We conduct Radio Day - The Tuesday following the first Monday of March on KCHI Radio, We collect used eye glasses to be turned in to Lion’s International for use by the needy. We sponsor a boy for Boy’s State and we sponsor a girl for Girl’s State. -- David Seiberling

LIVINGSTON BAPTIST ASSOCIATION

The Livingston Baptist Association was organized on December 6, 1872. There were five delegates from the Chillicothe Church, three delegates from Mt. Pleasant Church, two delegates from Harmony, two delegates from Fairland and six delegates from Zion. The convention was called to order by Elder W. W. Walden of the Chillicothe Church, who was chosen moderator. W. T. Harper, from Harmony Church was chosen clerk, and a permanent organization was set up. In 1875 Utica, Dawn, and Wheeling churches were received into the Association and Union and Pleasant Ridge reported. In 1876 the Farmersville Church was received into the Association. In 1877 the Ebenezer Church was admitted, in 1878, Farmersville Church 102 merged into the Union Church.

The organization stressed mission work, education with contributions to the Grand River College at Edinburgh and William Jewell College at Liberty, and Sunday Schools. The Bethel Baptist Church at Dawn was received in 1884, and in 1889 the Dawn Welch Church, a former member was readmitted, as was the Walnut Grove Church. In 1891, Olive Branch and Bethany Churches were received. In 1894, Northwest Calvary Church was received and the Constitution was changed to read “The Livingston Baptist Association” Chula and Mt. Carmel churches were received in the year of 1895. In 1906 the Vaughn Dale church joined the Association.

In 1920, Hazel Hurst was received into the Association. In 1945, a committee was appointed to secure an option on a camp site known as Campbell’s Country Club. Non-existing churches removed in 1949, were Cambrian, Fairland and Hazel Hurst. In 1951, Chillicothe Calvary Church was admitted. In 1952, Bethany was disbanded. The Avalon Baptist Chapel was organized during the 1950’s. In 1967, the Highview Baptist Church of Chillicothe was received into the Association. In 1964 and 1966 the churches participated in the Australian Crusade and the Missouri Australian Crusade. Mt. Carmel and Avalon Baptist Chapel closed, but several churches including Union, Zion, Dawn, First Baptist, Chillicothe, and Mt. Pleasant had celebrated their Centennials. -- From the First Century of the Livingston Baptist Association 1872-1972

LIVINGSTON COUNTY CHAPTER OF THE AMERICAN RED CROSS

The Red Cross Chapter was chartered on April 4, 1917 as the Chillicothe Red Cross Chapter. On December 7, 1917 the name was changed to the Livingston County Chapter. The petition was signed by Inez Duffield, W. H. Ellett, Dr. H. M. Grace, Dr. A. J. Simpson, T. C. Beasley, J. C. Shelton, 0. P. Clark, Mrs. Ida Bryan Eastman, Josephine Norville and Laura Schmitz. The first officers were: Chairman: Rev. George F. Rixey, Vice-Chairman: Mrs. John Milbank, Second Vice Chairman: Mrs. T. D. Jones, Treasurer: Mr. T. C. Beasley, Secretary: Miss Inez Duffield.

Livingston County Chapter owes its existence primarily to the far sighted vision of Miss Duffield, who had seen the necessity of an organization such as this, and together with Miss Norville had formulated plans for its inception. (Miss Norville, a high school English teacher in Chillicothe for over 40 years, died in 1956). These plans materialized in March 1917. Branches that were established were: Bedford, Central Chapel, Chillicothe Colored, Chula, Dawn, Grace Church, Ludlow, Mooresville, North Chillicothe Township, Rich Hill Township, Sampsel South Chillicothe Township, Spring Hill, Sturges, Utica, and West Cream Ridge.

Through the years the chapter has, served well during war and peace. The Chapter served through World War II, Korean War and Viet Nam War. Many bandages were rolled, garments made, ditty bags assembled and supplies shipped. Mrs. Irma Sigler, executive secretary, received many urgent messages in the middle of the night during World War II and would be accompanied by her daughter, Mrs. Bernard Rupp, to the office on the 2nd floor of the court house and to the depot to send telegrams.

The records are incomplete but it appears that Mr. & Mrs. Harry Patek were the first director & executive secretary. They were followed by Mrs. J. G. Sigler 1942-1953, Mrs. Clarence M. Grace 1953-1956, Mrs. Ernest Hamilton 1956-1962, Mrs. Mildred Hunt 1962-1964, Mrs. William Schauer 1964-1968, Mr. & Mrs. Albert Pendleton 1968-1980 and Mrs. Mabel Banks 1980.

The hospital Volunteer program was started at the Chillicothe Hospital February 1966 with 37 women participating. It was organized by Mrs. Ruby L. (Chester) Robbins. It continues today at Hedrick Medical Center with Mrs. Earl (Evelyn) Griffith as the chairman. The Candy Stripers work through the summer months. The chapter stresses safety in swimming lessons and first aid classes. The American Red Cross occupies a unique place as a popularly supported agency, acting in accordance with the Treaty of Geneva and under charter from the Congress, its service to the Armed Forces and its responsibilities in time of disaster requires that it act promptly and fully in time of emergency. The chapter operates with local contributions and hours of volunteer services.

The National American Red Cross is celebrating its centennial year in 1981, having been organized in 1881 by Clara Barton.

Current officers for 1980 are: Willa Jane Smith, chairman, George Fish, vice-chairman, Dick Gilroy, secretary and Earle Teegarden Jr, treasurer.

LIVINGSTON COUNTY HEALTH COUNCIL

The Health Council was a project of the Livingston County Extension Club Council with Mrs. Eddie Lay as president. They thought that there was a need for a Health program that would combine the Health activities of the various clubs and organizations into one group which would work together carrying out the needs of the community. After contacting the County Superintendent of Schools, Howard Leech, the County Home Extension Agent - Mrs. Ruth Lieberam, and a local doctor - Dr. Donald M. Dowell, M.D., they decided that a County Health Council would be the answer.

April 6, 1956, a meeting was held in the County Court Room with representatives from 30 clubs and P.T.A. groups. Officers named were Mrs. Edgar Kohl, R.N. - president, Mrs. Frances (Joe) Kinsella – Vice-president, Mrs. Grace (John) Meek - secretary, Mr. Howard Leech - treasurer, and Mrs. Ruby L. (Chester) Robbins - projects chairman.

The Council received assistance from the Hospital Administrators - Mr. McLeod and Lee Stillwell and from the Missouri Health Council members - P. F. Rector - education director, Mrs. Eva Moen, Chester G. Starr. They aided in the Incorporation of the Council.

Some of their projects were: polio clinics with 507 shots given during the summer and 641 in the fall at the High School, chest X-rays with nearly 5000 persons responding, blood-typing clinics with 1690 responding in the first 24 hour session and 388 in the 103 next session of 16 hours; A Health Unit for Livingston County. Petitions were mailed to 115 Clubs and organizations with the response of nearly 1000 signatures which was more than enough to have it voted on. Judge Frank Bonderer and other members of the County Court and June Morgan agreed that the Health Unit could be voted on in the General Election in the fall. While the group waited for the election they continued to have polio clinics with a report that out of the 5087 eligible children 5015 had been given shots, Mrs. Kinsella, Mrs. Meek and Mrs. Robbins were busy getting news articles concerning a Health Unit ready for the Constitution and Radio Station KCHI. The Health Unit needed a two-thirds vote to pass and it was reported that it failed only by a simple majority.

In 1967, they tried to reorganize the Health Council to work for a Health Unit. However, today we do have a Health Unit. -- Mrs. Ruby L. Robbins

MASONIC LODGE, UTICA

Benevolence Lodge 170 AF and AM at Utica was chartered on May 30, 1857, however meetings were held prior to that date. The earliest recorded meeting was July 17, 1856. John S. Harper was the first Worshipful Master, A. J. Austin was first Junior Warden, and William Hiron was the first Senior Warden. The Centennial was observed in 1957 at the Mooresville High School with a recorded attendance of 258 persons representing 40 lodges in Missouri, Iowa, and Kansas. Hubert Walz was Worshipful Master at the time of the Centennial. Present officers are Otis Ireland, worshipful master; Mike Clark, senior warden; and John Stamper, junior warden. Richard Sidden is secretary. Meetings are held on the second and fourth Mondays of each month in the original Masonic Hall Building.

MOORESVILLE COMMUNITY BETTERMENT ASSOCIATION

The Mooresville Community Betterment Association was organized in March of 1977. Each citizen of Mooresville is a member with nine board members being the governing body. The current president is Butch Thomas. Kathy Jones and Betty Mosher are past presidents. The Association is a non-profit organization which does not support any religious or political group. It was established solely for the purpose of bettering the community.

Two major improvements are:

1.Fair Park: On a two acre area located east of town is Fair Park. This was so named in memory of Lester J. Fair for which the land was donated. The park has play equipment in the way of teetertotters, swings, and a basketball goal. There is also a back stop and bleachers where kids spend a good deal of time playing ball.

2. Porter Building: Another accomplishment is a new Porter building which is located on Main Street. It is jointly owned with the Fire Department, township and city.
For the past three years in September the Association has had a fun day. This is a money making project as well as having fun, in the community. Throughout the day there is a parade, baby show, crafts, on display, country store, bingo, cake walk, and a program in the evening. Each citizen does his part on this day and everyone has a good time.

Future plans include modernizing the Porter Building and a shelter house for the park.

Citizens of Mooresville are very proud of their town and community and the accomplishments they have made in such a short time.

MOORESVILLE STUDY CLUB

The Mooresville Study Club was formed around 1948 after branching off from the Livingston Co. extension club which had been established some years before.

The Study Club is composed of 18 active members. Each member entertains her fellow club sisters in her home and also has the lesson on any subject of interest to her.

The Club meets the fourth Thursday of each month. Winifred McCreary serves as club president. Annually there is a salad luncheon, club picnic, club trip, and a Christmas party.

When death occurs in the community, Mooresville women prepare a meal for the bereaved family. The Study Club is in charge of organizing this service.

The club anticipates to continue for many years due. to the varied activities and endeavors of the club members to present topics of wide spread interest.

NEW YORK CLUB STORY
In the community of the New York School District, north of Wheeling, a club was organized in 1922, rightly named, “New York Community Club.” Charter 104 members were Mrs. Charles (Rosie) Blust, Mrs. Ernest

(Nellie) Timmons, Mrs. W. H. (Florence) Morrison, Mrs. Carl (Susie) Braun, Mrs. A. E. (Emma) Lawler, Mrs. Sam Moore, Mrs. Elmer Powers, Mrs. Joe Dooley, Mrs. John Fitzpatrick, Miss Coral Goff, Mrs. Katie Kinsella and Mrs. Mel Edwards.

Through the years much help was received through the Agriculture Extension Office. However, the club was not organized as the “New York Extension Club” until spring 1933. Eugene Lee, County Extension Agent, met with a few ladies of the Wheeling area in the Smiley Drug Store in Wheeling and explained the new plan, our club members eagerly adopted this. By having sponsored 4-H work they were becoming more familiar with what was available through the extension work of the University of Missouri. In the late 1930’s the club received a telegram of congratulations from President Roosevelt.

Family parties were a great joy and two a year became the custom. A picnic on the Sunday nearest the 4th of July and an oyster supper on Friday night after Thanksgiving. Since the 60’s the picnic is held in August and the soup supper in January.

In the early days of the club they presented a set of silver tablespoons as a wedding gift to each member getting married. They presented a blanket to each new baby born to a club member. An interesting thing here is that Mrs. Timmons, after she had received her third blanket, made a rule that there should be a limit of three gifts to any one mother. She could have been the recipient of eight.

Our club has ‘been active all through the years except for a brief time during World War II when we thought it more patriotic to go along with the rationing period.

When we reorganized, our new president was Mrs. Jeanne Timmons Coslet, youngest daughter of Mrs. E. W. Timmons. At this time our president is Mrs. Clarence Arthaud. We meet the second Thursday of every month.

Our members at present are: Mrs. Clarence (Luzenia) Arthaud; Mrs. Donald (Lucille) Bauermeister; Mrs. Dean (Carren) Bowman; Mrs. Felix (Helen) Buckner; Mrs. Emmit (Norma) Cummings; Mrs. Steve (Leanna) Howe; Mrs. Robert (Linda) Kimmis; Mrs. Jerome (Janice) Hunter; Mrs. Pat (Dee) Kinsella; Mrs. J. F. (Julia) Lawler; Mrs. Jim (Donna) Lowe; Mrs. Terry (Donna) Littrell; Mrs. Bud (Debbie) Neptune; Mrs. Gilbert (Pam) Romesburg; Mrs. Wayne (Shirley) Seifert; and Mrs. Omar (Bertha) Toedebusch.

Our club motto has always been “To Make This Community a Better Place in Which to Live.”

We try to keep up with what’s new in today’s homemaking and in the world about us, knowing full well that Today’s Home Builds Tomorrow’s World.

THE PEPPY PROMENADERS SOUARE DANCE CLUB
Western Style Square Dancing has been popular in the Chillicothe area for the past twenty-five years with a succession of square dance clubs and callers. The present club, known as the Peppy Promenaders dances twice a month and sponsors square dance lessons each year at the ChillicotheVocational-Technical School. The instructor for these lessons is Bob Borgemeir of Kidder, Missouri. Former callers who have worked with the club are Bobby Lightfoot of Slater, Missouri and Dr. Myron Redd of Marceline.

Officers of the Peppy PROMENADERS ARE: President, Clyde and Phyllis Garber; Vice-President, Kenneth and Nancy Fries; Secretary-Treasurer, George and Cleva Roth; Reporter, John and Dottie Yeomans.

Warren and Rozelle Brewer are in charge of the food committee; Bob and Ruby Moss, Paul and Lucy Murphy are the auditing committee; Paul and Ruth Whyte and Don and Lucille Head are the calling committee. Lowell and Clara Mae Grimm and Marvin and Pat Critten are the committee to arrange for callers, and Paul and Lucy Murphy serve as the courtesy committee.

PROGRESSIVE ART AND STUDY CLUB

The Progressive Art and Study Club was organized October 29, 1929 in the old Garrison School, 209 Henry Street, by the late Mrs. Mildred W. Boone, who was at that time secretary of Missouri State Association of C.W.C.

The following women met and formed the organization. Mrs. Clementine Bland, Mrs. Marjorie (Banks) Brown, Mrs. Sadie Johnson, Miss Bessie Banks, Mrs. Blanche (Miles) Austin, Mrs. Helen Shields, Mrs. Lottie Montgomery, Mrs. Iva Williams, Mrs. Ruth Banks and Mrs. Kimpie Gibson.

June 30, 1939, the club became a member of the Central and National Federation Inc.

The purpose of the organization: To aid women in becoming more thoroughly acquainted with various kinds of work that properly come before them and within the scope of women’s club, namely: Charity, Education, Citizenship, Physical Development and Aiding others to advance. Club colors were blue and white, the flower was a pink carnation and the motto was “We live to serve”. Meetings are held bi-monthly and scheduled to study art, literature, music, history, home economics, family relationships and current happenings.

The first president in 1929 to 1931 was Mrs. Blanche (Miles) Austin. Following her were these presidents: Mrs. Marjorie (Banks) Brown, 1931-32; Miss Bessie Banks, 1933-1942; Mrs. Mae Lee, 1942-46; Mrs. Lucille Williams, 1946-48; Mrs. Pauline Anderson, 1948-49; Mrs. Effie Brown, 1949-50; Mrs. Eileen Price Scholls, 1950-53; Mrs. Iva Williams, 1953-54; Mrs. Marjorie Brown, 1954-56; Mrs. Catherine Rucker, 1956-60; Mrs. Darline Botts, 1960-62; Mrs. Mary Johnson, 1962-64; Mrs. Edna Shields, 1964-66; Mrs. Doris Steward, 1966-70; Mrs. Henrietta Johnson, 1970-72; Mrs. Eileen (Price) Scholls, 1972-75; Mrs. Linda (Steward) Dodd, 1975-78 and the president at the present time is Mrs. Elizabeth Thissen. She began her term in 1978.

A few of the outstanding programs and projects are assisting with Cancer and T.B. unit, making a yearly contribution to Ellis Fischell Hospital and to Kidney Foundation, sponsoring the Pilgrimage to Jefferson City, Mo. for a sophomore at Garrison School, sponsoring the Girls Busy Jewel Club, Temperance Union Department, Annual Club Breakfast, Founder’s Day, and having programs by outstanding artists, Mrs. Zenobia H. Wilson, Miss Lucille Bacote of Kansas City, Enos Stambaugh of Meadville, and Mrs. Harwell of Kansas City.

An anniversary skit was composed by the 17th President, the club purchased supplies for the art department at school, and purchased negro books. Negro books were given to the Public Library. The club has always aided those who suffered misfortunes, has entertained the District Association 16 times and the State Federation 6 times. The girls club furnished six state presidents, Mrs. Frances (Hilbert) Oliver, Mrs. Elizabeth (Bland) Reed, Mrs. Mary Ann (Botts) Dunlap, Miss Brenda Botts, Mrs. Linda (Steward) Dodd and Mrs. Karon Shields. Many of these girls furnished the adult clubs as guest speakers. Three charter members still living and affiliated with the organization are Mrs. Iva Brown, Mrs. Clementine Bland and Mrs. Marjorie Brown. Several members are serving as officers of the state and national organizations.

-- Eileen Price Scholls

QUEEN OF THE SOUTH CHAPTER NO. 18 O.E.S.

The Queen of the South Chapter No. 18 O.E.S. sponsored by Golden Rule Lodge No. 77, was organized in 1898, in the old Garrison School on Henry street, by the late Joe E. Herriford who was a Mason of Lodge No. 77 and principal of Garrison School. The Chapter, composed of daughters, widows, wives, sisters and mothers of Masons, at the time of the organization was a member of the United Grand Chapter O.E.S. of Nebraska, Iowa and Missouri, but later years became a part of Harmony Grand Chapter, O.E.S. Missouri and Jurisdiction Inc. F and A.M.

Through these 82 years we have been able to keep up obligations in the Grand Body. We have had many officers in the state organization both elected and appointed.

To date the Queen of the South Chapter has eight members living in Chillicothe namely: Clementine Bland, Gold Star; Eileen Price Scholls, Lucille Williams, Catherine Rucker, Mary Johnson, Doris Golden, Alice Pettigrew, Linda Dodd and the following out of town members: Bernice Galloway, St. Joseph, Missouri; Carrie Neal, Triplett, Missouri; Edna Guthridge, Brookfield, Missouri; Maxine Allen Scholls, Citrus Height, California. The Worthy Patron is Carl Kerr.

RICH HILL HOMEMAKERS CLUB
The Rich Hill Homemakers Club of Rich Hill Township Livingston Co. Mo. was organized in Jan.

21, 1920 as a Red Cross Club. The twelve charter members were Mrs. A. C. Annin, pres.; Mrs. W. G.

Mumpower, 1st vice-pres.; Mrs. J. V. Beazell, 2nd vice-pres.; Mrs. Raymond Ducey, secretary; Mrs. H.

C. Brenneman, Mrs. Leonard Olenhouse, Mrs. H. J. Bauer, Mrs. W. B. Popham, Mrs. Floyd Cranmer, Mrs.

Mel Holms, Miss Clarissa Walz and Mrs. Chris Brockman. The members meet twice a month at 2:30

P. M. on Thursday. The club dues were .50 per year. By 1921 there were 25 members.

In 1928, the Red Cross charter was taken away from the club so they organized as a Woman’s Extension club. It was organized for the purpose of promoting a greater interest in home making, community welfare and social activities both for children and family.

At a meeting with Mrs. W. B. Popham July 31, 1930, there was a much needed rain. The drought was broken.

On Dec. 12, 1930, in the home of Mrs. A. W. Bradford, the president, read an outline of the work for the year 1931 sent in by the Extension Dept. to the club members to follow if they keep the club up to standard. They received Standard Achievement Certificates from 1936 - 1963, the first under Eugene Lee, County Agent. Since the Club meets as a social club, meetings are held on the 2nd Wednesday of each month.

In Jan. 1922, Mr. Forrester, Co. Agent, called and asked the Club to elect members to represent the club in some work he would have in his office. Members elected were - Mrs. Mumpower - serving, Mrs. Ducey - furniture, Mrs. Mervin Jones - millinery, Mrs. Bradford, first aid.

On Jan. 10, 1953, the Homemakers Club celebrated its 25th Anniversary as an organization with a dinner at the Country Club. The dinner was prepared by the club members and the program consisted of introduction of guests, group singing, a reading by Annabell Metzner, short talks by Ruby Ice, Home Demonstration Agent and Robert B. Kaye, Co. Agent.

At the time only four Charter members were living, Mrs. Popham, Mrs. Cranmer, Mrs. Beazell and Mrs. Ducey. The first charter member Mrs. Mumpower passed away April 11, 1930.

A Certificate of Appreciation was presented to Rich Hill Extension Club for contributing Participation in the Citizenship Training Program Girls State, sponsored annually by the American Legion Auxiliary, Vern R. Glick Unit 25.

The club has contributed to Father Flanagan Home for Boys; Sponsored a 4-H Club; sent a first case of eggs to Mercy Hospital in 1943; contributed to Red Cross, Cancer Crusade, Salvation Army; had four good times each year including all the families; helped with projects requiring money by having food markets, serving sales and rummage sales; membership to 4-H and F. F. A. Fair.

Mrs. Cranmer is the only living charter member in 1980 of the Rich Hill Home Makers Club.

THE ROTARY CLUB

The Rotary Club of Chillicothe was admitted to membership in Rotary International on May 1st, 1920. The first officers of the local club were: PRESIDENT, Will Keath; Vice-President, Thurman Moreland; Secretary, Allen Moore 11; Treasurer, Will Ellett, Jr.; and Sergeant-at-Arms, Warren Roberts.

The object of Rotary, which is the oldest of the service clubs, is:

(1) The development of acquaintances as opportunity to serve.
(2) High ethical standards of business and progression.
(3) Application of the ideal of service by every Rotarian to his personal, Business, and community life.
(4) The advancement of international understanding, good will, and peace through a world fellowship

of business and professional men united in the ideal of service.

During the decade of the 70’s the local Rotary Club made its primary contribution through support of, and contributions to, the Rotary International Foundation program. The two main areas in which the Foundation operates are: The granting of international fellowships for students at both the university and graduate level; and the exchange between countries of international study teams.

Through the local club, gifts to the Foundation of $1,000.00 each have been made honoring some of our outstanding local Rotarians. Those so honored are: Will Keath, Allen Moore, Ed Wolter, Ken Rinehart, Ralph Moore, and Robert A. Smith.

In 1974 a club member, William Lindblom served as Team Leader for the Missouri-Iowa Group Study Exchange Team to Australia.

ROYAL NEIGHBORS LODGE, WHEELING

On December 4, 1904, the state deputy organizer for Royal Neighbors of America came from Kansas City to Wheeling, Missouri for the purpose of organizing a camp, resulting in the following organization.

The first meetings were held in the hall of the Woodsmen’s lodge. The name was to be White Rose Camp No. 3968.

On December 21, 1904, the Royal Neighbors of America, Auxiliary of Modern Woodman, was issued the following charter:

“We come with neighborly greeting and do by these presents grant unto our beloved neighbors, here-in named, this charter, conferring upon them and their successors all the rights, powers and privileges of a duly organized camp of Royal Neighbors of America, and local camp shall be known as White Rose Camp No. 3968, and is located in Wheeling, Missouri.”

Regular meetings are still held each month by the camp.

STURGES COMMUNITY CLUB

The Sturges Community club started doing extension type work in 1910, at that time they were the Domestic Science Club and club minutes show programs were arranged from month to month, by a committee appointed by the president. Typical subjects were: “Arbor Day and its Significance”; “Turkey Raising”, “The House, Its Plans, Decoration and Care.”

Some of the members since 1910 were Mrs. C. B. Williams, Mrs. Raymond Russell, Mrs. C. C. Gordon, Mrs. Florence Beal, Mrs. Stella Kriner, Mrs. Ola Bowman, Mrs. Frank Kriner, Mrs. Tom Wilhite, Mrs. Fern Pennington.

In October, 1917, the club organized a Red Cross unit of the Livingston County Chapter andspent two

years doing war work. In the fall of 1919, with the war over, they organized as Sturges Community Club with Mrs. Lilly Patterson as the first president. They continued to arrange programs from month to month, had an ice cream supper for the families in summer and an oyster supper in the winter.

Mrs. Nellie Thompson was the second president of the club and she was followed by Mrs. Raymond Russell, who remained its president until 1951 when Mrs. L. F. McWhirter was elected. The club earned the Standard of Achievement Certificate for many years and has taken part in all programs sponsored by the extension club. At one time the club sponsored the Rich-Ridge 4-H Club and assisted them with their fund raising projects.

The club donated to local drives, CampbellHarrison Fund, Student Loan Fund, and 4-H Council.

Only one of the Charter members of the club is still living, Mrs. Stella Kriner. Present day officers are: Ada Tolle, president; Cora Moore, vice-president; Geneva Goucher, secretary and LaVee Barnes, treasurer.

VIRGINIA DARE CHAPTER, COLONIAL DAMES XVII CENTURY
The National Society of Colonial Dames XVII Century was organized in July 1915 during the meeting of the International Genealogical Congress at the Panama Exposition to aid in the establishment of a College of Heraldry, the founding of chairs of Historical Research in Colleges and Universities and to commemorate the heroic deeds of the founders of our great Republic, in order that men and women may be inspired to follow their example.

The Virginia Dare chapter of Colonial Dames XVII Century held a Charter Signing meeting at the Carriage House Inn, Strand Hotel on August 10, 1979, on the anniversary of its organization. Mrs. E. L. Lay, organizing secretary, was the first president of the chapter.

Charter members are: Mrs. Lawrence F. Arthaud, Mrs. Earl C. Aurwarter, Mrs. George M. Baggott, Mrs. Edgar B. Barnert, Mrs. Marjorie Erickson, Mrs. Maurine Fields, Mrs. Donald Floyd, Mrs. James Girard, Mrs. Howard Haas, Miss Mary Hawkins, Mrs. John Jones, Mrs. E. L. Lay, Mrs. John Lewis, Mrs. Kenneth Lovelady, Mrs. Ruth McWilliams, Mrs. Phillip Middleton, Mrs. Lee Meek, Miss Virginia Page, Mrs. Maude Pearce, Miss Celia Rosenwald, Mrs. E. C. Rosenwald, Mrs. Earl M. Sallee, Mrs. Bob Staton, Miss Grace Stone, Mrs. Richard Sperry and Mrs. Claude Walker.

Mrs. LeRoy Lewis, State Organizing Secretary, presented the Virginia Dare chapter members their charter on October 27, 1979, at the Fall Conference of the Missouri Society of Colonial Dames XVII Century, held in Higginsville.

The Missouri Society, Colonial Dames XVII Century, has three active chapters, Kansas City chapter; Mary Chilton Winslow chapter, Marshall and Virginia Dare Chapter, Chillicothe. Mrs. Claude Walker has been honored by the State Society, serving as 1st vice-president, 1975-76; treasurer, 1977-78 and president, 1979-1980.

Any American woman of good moral character, eighteen years of age or over, is eligible to membership, provided she is acceptable to the Society and is the lineal descendant of an ancestor who lived in one of the eleven British Colonies in the Continental United States of America prior to 1701 as an immigrant colonist or a descendant of one.

WHEELING COTERIE EXTENSION CLUB

The Coterie Extension Club of Wheeling, Missouri was organized September 21, 1937, and is still active today making this organization 43 years of age this September. The first meeting was held in the home of Mrs. Chris Love with twelve members. Miss Margaret McClellan, Home Demonstration Agent for Livingston County, was present to aid with the organization. In Extension Club work women work together to make better homes and community life. Education from extension work is made up of Home Management, Nutrition, Health and Child Care, Gardening, Flower Growing and Safety. Other topics have been taken up through the years. Mrs. Alfred Love was elected the first president to serve this organization. The word “Coterie” was selected for the name of the club. Its meaning “a set” or “company”. Motto selected was “Aim High And Strive To Reach The Goal”. Club colors are green and gold. By-laws and duties were set to help members to make themselves a group to help others. Those first members were: Mrs. Jack Whitaker, Miss Mary Pahmeyer, Mrs. Chris Love, Miss Olive Whitaker (Mrs. Harold Miller), Miss Lizzie Pahmeyer, Mrs. Alfred Love, Mrs. E. M. Norman, Mrs. Ira Hulburt, Mrs. Fred Lowe, Mrs. John Hayen, Mrs. Ed Pahmeyer and Mrs. J. H. Achenbach. Two visitors at that first meeting were Mrs. Jack Love and Mrs. Frank Smiley, Jr. Mrs. Mont Warren (Mrs. Herman Braun) attended the second meeting and was appointed Child Development Leader.

Throughout the years this club has been a loyal club to its community, to one another and their families. Members have served as 4-H Leaders, on Wheeling Election Boards, Community Projects, Sunday School teachers, officers on Livingston County Extension Council, Church officers, Parent Teacher Organizations, Hospital Auxiliary and many other projects that served a need in any way.

They have made money to aid in Cancer Drive, Heart Fund, Mercy Hospital, Peter Pan, Red Cross, 4-H and FFA Fair Memberships and assisted with many other projects throughout the years. Lap robes, cancer capes, bandages, cancer tote bags, quilts and many other items were made. These are things they enjoyed working on together and were given to help someone else.

A Coterie Extension Club float has been present for many years in the annual Wheeling Homecoming parades.

Today, members of Coterie Club are still active in learning, and doing and helping others. They have a membership of eleven and Mrs. Harold Warren is serving as their president. Members are: Mrs. Herman Braun, Mrs. Winston Buckner, Mrs. Marjory Canning, Mrs. Ralph Head, Mrs. Anna M. Howe, Mrs. Lloyd Howe, Mrs. Herb Jones, Mrs. Dovie Melte, Mrs. Ross Rader and Mrs. Harold Warren.

Mrs. Alfred Love, charter Member, passed away April 1980.

WHEELING GET-TO-GETHER CLUB
On April 5, 1933, a small group of women met in Wheeling to organize a club for farm women. The name chosen was “Wheeling Get Together”. Their slogan, “if it’s good, pass it on”. Meetings were to be held the second Wednesday of each month.

In 1947, through the efforts of some of these women, the first Wayside lunch table between Macon and Hamilton was erected by the Highway Department, at the foot of Packers Hill. This table was chained and padlocked to a tree for protection. It remained in use until 1966 when the State Highway destroyed the tree and the table when the new highway was built.

There are no charter members living now, but the club still meets each month on the second Wednesday. It is no longer a farm womens club. At the present time there are eighteen members who still try to live up to the slogan selected by the women who chose it at its organization.

W.O.W. EXTENSION CLUB
In October, 1934, a group of women in the Blue Mound community met in the home of the late Mrs. J. M. Hoyt, to organize an extension club. Mrs. A. J. Saunders, the only woman present with previous experience in extension work, was appointed chairman. Eighteen women from a three square mile area became members. The name chosen was the BLUE Mound Homemakers Club and Mrs. A. J. Saunders was the first president. Mrs. Rex Brown is the only charter member still living.

Many of the members moved away and when the women of the Vaughn School community expressed a desire to join the club, they migrated east and held meetings in the Vaughn school house for a time. Because of the two communities involved, the club name was changed. Mrs. Homer Wheeler suggested Women of Wisdom, which was unanimously adopted. The name was shortened to W.O.W. Extension Club. In 1971, it was voted to discontinue the extension work and be a social club. One of the highlights of the club was in the middle 1950’s when a style review was given, and the husbands dressed as women. A mock wedding, and “The Old Family Album” were also presented. All proceeds went to the Heart Fund. 

-- Mrs. Rex Brown, President

XIX CLUB

In the spring of 1893 nineteen women met to organize a study club. Article I of their constitution read “For intellectual, cultural and general improvement.”

Since nineteen women were present, they chose the name XIX Club. Over the years the active members have increased to 25. Six associate members and eight life members.

The original dues were 500 and if not paid by January, the secretary read the list of delinquent members and they were suspended. The club became federated in 1903.

The members took their studies seriously and maintained a reference library which they dispensed with strict rules and fines. Papers were prepared and read on Shakespeare, Browning, Wagner, America Opera, Greek and Roman mythology, Current Events, and Parliamentary Law. Each member was to be prepared on the subject to participate in the discussion.

In close cooperation with other clubs in the city, Federated XIX Club helped with visiting nurse program and established a city library which in recent years has become the Livingston County Library.

XIX Club for almost 90 years continues to carry out the programs of the General Federation of Women’s clubs and works for the betterment of the local community.

BUSINESSES

ANDERSON, T.B.A. INC.

John C. (Jack) Anderson began business in a small service station at the corner of Locust and Calhoun streets on June 15, 1946. He was 22 years old and had just completed a three year tour of duty with the U. S. Army Engineers during World War II. For three years he was owner operator and sole employee, doing all the work of selling gasoline and oil, and repairing tires. In 1952, the station was torn down and a new building was erected. In April 1950, John started his wholesale business known as Anderson’s TBA. He added a truck and route salesman at that time and called on businesses throughout north and northeast Missouri selling Goodyear tires and auto accessories. The business grew and in 1962 he purchased the former Henderson Produce building at 801 Locust street and remodeled it to serve as a warehouse until 1964 when the retail store was opened. With a complete line of Goodyear tires and auto accessories, he also added speed equipment. Business continued to grow and more space was needed and so in 1977 two of his houses north of the building were razed and a new building was erected. The Anderson firm moved into the new building in January, 1978. It was on October 1, 1979, that his two sons, Michael and Patrick, joined him in the business. The corporation, now known as John Anderson T.B.A., Inc., is perhaps the biggest Goodyear Tire and Speed Shop in north central Missouri. -- Jack Anderson

B & M JANITORIAL SERVICE
Byron and Mary Lee Copple, Utica, Missouri, owners of the B. & M. Janitorial Service, have been doing janitorial work since 1978. In January of 1980, they officially formed the partnership of B. and M. Janitorial Service. They now operate with two cleaning crews. B. and M. does the janitorial work for several businesses in Chillicothe as well as public facilities and private homes. They offer a complete service consisting of both indoor and outdoor maintenance. Among the equipment owned by B & M is a “Billy Goat”, an industrial vacuum powered by an 8-horsepower gasoline engine which is used to clean all types of debris, dirt, leaves, etc., from driveways and parking lots, warehouses or grassy areas.

Plans for the future include the purchase of more equipment to enable B&M to expand the types of service now offered and to better serve the needs of the community.

BARNES BAKER MOTORS
The long record of service to the community by Barnes-Baker Motors goes back to 1932 when Prentice Barnes purchased Miner Chevrolet changing the name to Barnes Chevrolet.

Mr. Barnes had operated automobile dealerships in Elk City, Kansas, and Brookfield, Missouri, before 11o moving to Chillicothe with his wife Bernice and two children, Ted, age sixteen, and Mary Lee, age seven.

The dealership was first located at the southwest corner of Jackson and Vine, but moved to a new location - the northwest corner of Locust and Calhoun in 1933. Among the earliest employees were - Jack Wilkerson, William “Mac” McCarthy, Ray Cusick and Earl Barker.

Ted Barnes and his wife, the former Eloise Saale, joined Barnes Chevrolet as a partner in 1941. Ted graduated from Chillicothe High School in 1933 and from Kansas State University in 1938 with a degree in civil engineering. He served in the U.S. Navy from 1942-1945.

Prentice Barnes retired from the business in 1946 but remained active in business and civic affairs until his death in 1958.

Jim Baker and his wife, the former Judy Barnes, joined the business as a partner in 1962. Jim served in the U.S. Marine Corps from 1956-1958 and graduated from the University of Missouri journalism school in 1960.

In 1963 Barnes Chevrolet added the Oldsmobile franchise. Soon after, in 1964, the dealership was moved to a new building on highway 65 north and the name of the company was changed to Barnes-Baker Motors.

Of the numerous honors and awards received by many of those associated with Barnes-Baker Motors, the dealership is especially proud of the Time Magazine Quality Dealer Award given to Ted Barnes in 1973. This is an annual award to new car dealers in the U.S. “for exceptional performance in their

dealerships combined with distinguished community service.”

Mr. Barnes served as president of Missouri Auto Dealers Association in 1974-1975. He was semiretired in 1976 promoting Jim Baker to President of Barnes-Baker. Ted passed away in 1977.

Barnes Chevrolet began in 1933 with sixteen employees and Barnes-Baker employs thirty-six people in 1980. The success of the business is due to a great extent to the many loyal employees both past and present. Fifteen members are currently active in the Barnes-Baker Ten Year Club which was formed in 1970. Many of the employees have service records extending 20, 30, and 40 years.

BEARDMORE INTERIORS
Mr. and Mrs. Neil E. Beardmore started a radio repair shop in Chillicothe on January 2, 1944. Neil came from Glasco, Kansas and Virginia came from Jamesport, Missouri. They purchased the Chillicothe Auction House in 1948, from Oliver’s and expanded into television and sold antiques for about seven years at 609 Clay. They purchased the present location at 505 Elm Street and completely rebuilt and remodeled so they could move in by September, 1955. The appliance and television business was moved into this building and an interior decorating service was started by Virginia. The front of the new building was Roman style brick in pastel shades ranging from buff to pink with ceiling high plate glass. The brick extended inside the display room and matched the paneling of driftwood. The building has a center divider extending from floor to ceiling of brick and driftwood. Nearly 1,000 people registered on Grand Opening Day.

The television store was passed on to son Robert about 1970 and was sold in 1975, when Robert moved to Winnipeg, Canada to work for an Electronics Company. The business presently is an interior decorating store still operated by Neil E. and Virginia Beardmore.

THE BURTON TYPEWRITER COMPANY

Emery E. Burton left home at the age of 14 to secure employment at St. Joseph, Missouri. After a year of odd jobs, he was hired by the Underwood Corporation, a typewriter manufacturer, as office errand boy. Mr. Burton was born at Hollowell, Kansas, March 23, 1897. Mr. Burton advanced from errand boy to service manager, to sales manager. At one time the Underwood Corporation had in the St. Joseph office seven full time repair men and a large force of sales men. The St. Joseph office sold only typewriters and service.

Mr. Burton married Effie May Walter at Troy, Kansas on 29th of January, 1916. They had two children, Ella May, born July 21, 1918 and Donald R., born October 13, 1922.

In 1936, Mr. Burton left the Underwood Corporation to start his own business in Chillicothe, Mo. He secured an agency for the Underwood Corporation selling their typewriters in 11 counties in the north central part of Missouri. His company was known then as the Chillicothe Typewriter Company. He traveled back to his home in St. Joseph every week for one year. In August 1937, he moved his family to Chillicothe. Ella May left to enter the University at Ann Arbor, Michigan, where she graduated with a B.A. in music. After graduation, she married Alex Lewis and lived in Michigan until her death on March 10, 1970, they had three children. Donald Burton entered Chillicothe High School and graduated in 1940.

A large part of the income for the Chillicothe Typewriter Co. was from rental typewriters. From 1936, to the early 1940’s, Mr. Burton had better than 200 typewriters rented to students, schools and business. In the early part of World War II, the government needed office machines and requested that owners sell the machines to the government. Mr. Burton sold his entire stock of rental machines to the Federal Government. As no new machines were produced during the war years, this left his only income from service, repairs and supplies.

During his high school years Don helped in the business cleaning and repairing typewriters. On December 18, 1940, Don enlisted in the Army Air Force at the age of 18. He was sent to Delago Trade School at New Orleans for 14 months training on repair and maintenance of aircraft and the B-24 Bomber. He then joined the 27th Bombardment Squadron, 30th group as flight engineer, attaining the rank of Master Sergeant. The 30th Group left for the South Pacific October 9, 1943, where it did battle in the Central Pacific, Air Offensive Japan, Eastern Mandates and Western Pacific. Don returned to the U.S.A. on August 19, 1945, and was discharged August 26, 1945. He entered Chillicothe Business College in September 1945, taking a course in accounting and business. In March of 1946, he left college to join his father in business.

On April 6, 1947, he married Patricia Lindsey, a native of Chillicothe. They have two children, Susan Goff and Jayne McCoy.

In 1949 Don, was given 13 weeks training with the Underwood Corporation at Hartford, Conn. on the Sundstrand adding and accounting machines. Now, the company had machines other than typewriters to sell.

In 1952, the name was changed to Burton Typewriter Co. and a building was built at 720 Cherry St. In 1953, the building was enlarged to accommodate other lines of office equipment. During this growth period, additional personnel was added and given training on repair and service to the many machines, even to this day training is a very important part of the every day business of supplying service to the many customers.

Emery Burton was very active in the National Office Dealers Asso., metnber of the Chillicothe Kiwanis Club, Chamber of Commerce, Boy Scout Camp and served as secretary-treasurer of the Chillicothe Industrial Development Corp. for a number of years.

Emery Burton retired from active business in 1961 after selling his interest to Don who continues to run the business. Emery Burton passed alay January 11, 1977.

Mrs. Effie Burton resides in Chillicothe and is very active in her club, church and art work.

CHILLICOTHE BUSINESS EOUIPMENT COMPANY

This year Chillicothe Business Equipment Company celebrates its 20th year in business in the Chillicothe area. Mr. Don Hofheins present owner, began this operation out of his basement and garage 20 years ago.

Don began alone but aided by his wife, Kitty. They have one son Donnie.

Don sold typewriters for the most part in the early years. He then repaired typewriters at night after the 112 work day was over. Don gained experience by working with his father earlier while attending high school and college. Charles Hofheins owns and operates Sedalia Typewriter Company, Sedalia, Missouri. This firm has been operating since about 1940.

After the business began to expand, Don had to seek larger quarters than his home on Cooper Street. The new location was obtained at 817 Washington and leased through Jerry Broyles.

After several years of operation at this location, and the addition of more lines of business equipment, it became necessary to move again.

This move was made about 1975 to 503 Washington Street, Chillicothe, Missouri. This time the building was purchased. It is an “L” type building with the back entrance on Clay Street across from the Strand Hotel, and the main entrance on the East side of Washington Street presently next door to Christison Real Estate and Flowers by Howard.

The firm now has six full time employees and one part time employee. To celebrate the 20th Anniversary, Chillicothe Business Equipment hosted an Office Machines and Office Products Show which was held September 9, 10, 11, 1980 at the Strand Hotel.

Chillicothe Business Equipment Company now sells typewriters, copy machines, cash registers, dictating equipment, calculators, duplicators, papers forms, office furniture, and office supplies. The firm offers free consultation service to businesses in setting up new offices or remodeled offices. The firm now operates in a 60 mile. radius of Chillicothe.

PRESENT EMPLOYEES:

Don C. Hofheins, Owner

Steve Goodman, Sales and Service

Bill Walker, Sales and Service

James Slattery, Service

Jo Ann Thompson, Secretary

Bryan Oswalt, Stock Boy

Jimmie L. Durham, Sales and Advertising

CHILLICOTHE STATE BANK

The Chillicothe State Bank opened its doors for banking business at its present location at 600 Washington Street, Chillicothe, Missouri on November 22, 1937, after receiving its charter on October 19, 1937. U. E. Sidebottom was the first president of the organization, A. B. Kammerer, executive vicepresident, and Eldon Hoover, first cashier. At that time, the bank had a capital stock of $50,000.00, a surplus of $20,000.00 and undivided profits of $10,000.00, making a total capital structure of $80,000.00.

Directors of the newly formed bank were Sidebottom, A. B. Kammerer, Allen Moore, B. T. Clark, George W. Somerville, G. C. Carnahan and F. M. McCall.

After the death of Mr. Sidebottom, Mr. Kammerer became president of the bank and served in that capacity until his retirement in 1948, at which time Truman W. Richards was named president.

In 1950, the controlling interest of the bank was purchased by Leonard Simmer of Manley, Iowa.

It was at this time that the bank made the first loan in America under the Water Facilities Act to an Ex-G.I. farmer. This law, which permits loans for improvements to mortgaged farms, was proposed by the bank and guaranteed by the Farmers Home Administration. Mr. Simmer stated “A man can borrow money to improve his land under this law to help pay off his mortgage. We can help fellows we never dreamed of helping before.”

During this time, Paul W. Louden became associated with the bank as vice-president specializing in farm and city real estate loans and later became president after Mr. Simmers death in 1957.

Also, in 1957, Mrs. Rosa Simmer, wife of the late Leonard Simmer, became actively associated with the bank as vice-president and served in this capacity until her death in 1972.

In addition to being the first bank in the United States to make a soil and water loan under the F.H.A. Title legislation, the Chillicothe State Bank has continued to grow while offering many firsts to its customers over the 43 years it has operated here. It has been the first bank in the district to adopt the following:

First to install Recordak Equipment having been on the market only since April of 1939.

First bank to have a separate department for installment payment loans.

First bank to provide a community room for use of the public.

First bank to provide a drive-up window for transacting business from vehicles.

First bank in Chillicothe to display Tim6 and Temperature Sign and to give time and temperature by telephone 24 hours each day.

First bank in Chillicothe to offer its customers three modern banking facilities (two drive-in, walk-in banks in the north and south parts of the city and the modern main bank). The main bank has been completely remodeled and expanded into the adjoining building.

After starting the bank with total resources of $80,000.00 in November of 1937, the total assets by the end of 1937 were $178,237.35. By December of 1947, the total assets were $2,294,496.74; December of 1957 total assets were listed at $8,657,715.37; and by December of 1965 the total assets were $16,607,343.14.

When the bank celebrated its 30th year in 1967, total resources were listed at $18,224,171.00. In 1975, the bank listed total resources at $33,557,000.00 and at the end of 1979, the bank showed total resources of $52,384,494.63.

Presidents, other than those already mentioned, have been Gilbert C. Coleman, Robert K. Popple, Vernon E. Whisler, and Fred K. Simmer, who became the bank’s ninth president in 1979 and is serving in that position at the present time.

Other officers of the bank are Kenneth R. McIntyre, vice-president and cashier; Len A. Simmer, Vice-President; Gary J. Constant, Steven E. Koehly and Vicki Silkwood, asst. cashiers; Ruth Benson, Charlotte Edmundson, and Dana Moss, customer service officers; and Alice Swartz, auditor.

Directors of the bank at the present time are Paul Steele, chairman, W. L. Altheide, Joseph F. Gale, Woodrow F. Kline, Kenneth McIntyre, Walter T. Miller, Allen Moore III (son of original director) W. L. Shaffer 111, Fred Simmer, Len A. Simmer, and Ronald W. Somerville (son of original director). Honorary directors are Paul W. Louden, Merl Jones and John A. Cusick.

The bank presently has 38 employees and officers.

CHRISTISON REAL ESTATE

Christison Real Estate is owned and operated by a husband-wife team, Robert and Jeralene Christison. They first opened for business in April, 1960 at 500 Washington Street, in what was formerly the lobby of the old Ritz Theatre. In 1965 they purchased the building across the street and, after extensive remodeling, moved their office to their new location at 501 Washington Street, from which they still operate.

Both Robert and Jeralene are brokers and members of the North Central Missouri Board of Realtors, the Missouri Real Estate Association and the National Association of Realtors. Mrs. Christison has served as president of the North Central Missouri Board of Realtors and has also served a number of years as a director of the Missouri Real Estate Association.

CLARK’S FURNITURE

The Clark business was started in Utica in 1947. It began with Mike Clark selling appliances at his grocery store. In 1951, televisions were added. As the appliance and television business grew more space was needed for display. In 1956 the grocery department was closed out and furniture was added. In 1962 Clarks purchased an appliance business in Chillicothe. Butch Clark joined his father in the business in 1965 and managed the Chillicothe store. Mike closed the Utica store in 1967 and joined the store in Chillicothe. Noel Glidewell became a member of the partnership in 1969. 1973 saw the construction of a furniture store with Mike operating the furniture and Butch and Noel the appliance and TV business.

In 1980 there was a major change in the business operation of Clark’s. The furniture store underwent a complete remodeling with the display space more than doubled in size. Individual room groupings were constructed so customers could have a better idea of how the furnishings would look in their home. The appliance and TV-business was sold to Steve and Ed Nigh. Mike and Butch Clark along with Noel Glidewell are partners in the furniture business.

The basic philosophy of maintaining complete customer service has remained unchanged. Clarks is dedicated to providing the people of the Chillicothe area with quality merchandise at reasonable prices, and backed by the finest service possible.

THE COMMUNITY BANK

EXCERPTS FROM “NOT MUCH OF ANYTHING”,

AN AUTOBIOGRAPHY WRITTEN BY JOHN M. HOYT

“In the year of 1919, 1 was helping Elmer Perry thresh grain when Luther Williams and Abner Cunningham came to me and asked if I would be interested in a new bank at Dawn, so I borrowed $550.00 and went into the banking business. Had I known what was before us, I would have certainly declined.

“We had several meetings and the following board was selected: George Timbrook, Robert Jones, John Williams, Wood Midyett, Ed Murphy, Luther Williams and John M. Hoyt. John Williams stayed on the board a very short time - he went to Kansas City - and Reece Hughes was selected to take his place. As time went on one by one passed away, they too, were rep!aced.

“Later the board included Elmer Perry, Lewis Jones, Gomer Jones, James Baxter, James Condron, Kirby Condron, Bert Hoyt, Leonard Simmer and George Somerville, all now deceased, and F. M. (Pat) McCall, who resigned in favor of Gary Dickinson, who bought stock in the bank in 1969.

“Abner Cunningham was selected as our first 114 cashier and Frank Reed as assistant.

“Things went on beautifully for a while. At one time there were two banks in Dawn. There was a little flurry in the mid-Twenties. Then the 1929 crash came and the banks began to close all around us. One day I was in Chillicothe and I heard on the street that the Community Bank had closed. Shortly after that, a minister got up in the pulpit in Blue Mound and told us that he had heard that day that the bank at Ludlow and also the Community Bank of Dawn had both closed their doors. It began to look like the rumors were about to get the best of us.

“Then Roosevelt came on the scene and closed all the banks in a bank moratorium. I well remember that they sent a government man named Brown with the FDIC and he told us if we wanted to open our bank there were a few things we would have to do. One of these was put in $18,000.00. We pleaded with him, but he was a very firm man, and it was finally raised by Elmer Perry, Louis Jones, Gomer Jones, James Condron, Abner Cunningham and Albert Reidel. (I raised a measley $100.00; and others raised $17,900.00.)

“It seemed like he was pretty attentive and visited us often. During those hard times, our bank could pay our cashier only $80.00 a month. The assistant was getting $75.00. We got nothing for our directors meetings.

“Our bank rode along for many years without paying the stockholders anything and our help worked very cheap, but in the end it was one of the three that stayed open out of the 21 banks in the county.

“It has finally become possible to expand and we are able to move our Charter to Chillicothe and still

retain our branch bank at Dawn.”

Following is a list of the present directors, officers and employees of the Community Bank of Chillicothe.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE COMMUNITY BANK CHILLICOTHE, MISSOURI 64601

Gary Dickinson, Chairman

Larry Richards

Kenneth Griffith

Howard Mantzey

Ralph Condron

Tom Otke

John Irvin

Don Chapman Jr.

Edwin Clark

OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES OF THE COMMUNITY BANK

Larry Richards, President, Lee Keith, V.P., Ben Jones, V.P., Shirley Ann Carey, V.P., Helen Condron, Cashier, Emma Wood, Assist. Cashier, Shirley Shannon, Assist. Cashier, Sherry Reeter, Assist. V.P., Cheri Owens, Secretary, Carol Nigh, Exec. Assistant, Gladys Stark, Teller, Kathy Rennells, Teller, Vonnie Narr, Teller, Sharon Barnes, Teller, Harriet Griffith, Teller, Helen Williams, Teller, Frances Harrington, Teller, Michele Ferguson, Teller, Pat Willis, Head Bookkeeper, Janie Klingenberg, Bookkeeper, Kelly Walker, Bookkeeper and Bonnie Mann, Bookkeeper.

CONSTITUTION-TRIBUNE NEWSPAPER

The Chillicothe Constitution-Tribune is in its 120th year of service to Livingston County and like many of the former publications of this community, which date back to 1843, newspapers have played a vital role in the development of our county and area.

From the early 1880’s until 1972 The Constitution, and later The Constitution-Tribune, was edited and published by the Watkins family. The newspaper was sold in April of 1972 by the late Charles E. (Watty) Watkins, publisher and majority stockholder of The Constitution-Tribune.

Chillicothe Newspapers, Inc., publishes an afternoon daily newspaper six times a week, Monday through Saturday, and the Chillicothe Shopper, a free distribution shopper each Wednesday. The Constitution-Tribune has a daily circulation of 6,800 plus and the Chillicothe Shopper is mailed and delivered to 10,500 homes (not including the city of Chillicothe) in Livingston County and parts of five other counties.

The Constitution was established in 1860 at a time when many newspapers were operating in the county, and the Tribune came about in 1868 after a group of men purchased The Spectator. The consolidation of The Constitution, a paper which had Democratic leanings, and The Tribune, a Republican newspaper, became effective on March 1, 1928.

James E. Watkins, grandfather of the late Watty Watkins, became editor and publisher of The Constitution in 1912. Clarence E. Watkins, son of James E. Watkins, became the sole owner of The Constitution-Tribune shortly after consolidation of The Constitution and The Tribune and he continued to publish a daily and weekly Constitution-Tribune until his death in the early 40’s.

Charles E. (Watty) Watkins returned to Chillicothe to become publisher and editor following his discharge from the Armed Services in 1946 and continued in that role and as the majority stockholder until 1972.

Douglas Pearson became the publisher in April of 1972, coming here from Cedartown, Georgia, when Inland Industries, Inc., of Lenexa, Kansas, and Smith-Walls Newspapers, Incorporated of Fort Payne, Alabama purchased the newspaper. The Smith newspaper group owns or manages twenty-two daily and weekly newspapers, including five in Missouri.

Pearson resigned in April of 1980 to return to the South and a large newspaper and Charles (Chuck) Haney, a native of Chillicothe and a member of the C-T staff for sixteen years, was named president of Chillicothe Newspapers, Inc., and editor and publisher of the Constitution-Tribune and its weekly Shopper.

The newspaper business office and plant have operated from its present location at 818 Washington, just a block north of the downtown business square since 1958. Shortly after the newspaper was sold in 1972, a new offset printing press and the most modern computerized phototype-setting equipment was installed.

In late 1979 and in 1980 the newspaper updated its operation again, adding a complete computerized newsroom and composing room. Its bookkeeping and mailroom departments were also placed under a computer operation, giving the newspaper and its customers the most modern system available.

Today, there are twenty-one fulltime and eight part-time employees at The Constitution-Tribune. The newspaper also employs nineteen area correspondents who report news from their communities and has an award winning woman columnist, Harverna Woodling, who writes a weekly column. There are thirty-eight boys, girls and adults who deliver and distribute the area’s largest and most modern newspaper and shopper.

The newspaper recently has undergone some cosmetic changes featuring standard headlines, photos of some of its staff writers on sports and outdoor columns and new standing headlines calling attention to our sports, people, opinion, television and church pages. These changes were done to make the newspaper easier to read and to standardize all of our headlines throughout the paper. The ConstitutionTribune over the years has featured strong local and area coverage of news and sports events and has won awards from The Associated Press, The Missouri Press Association and Missouri Sportswriters and Sportscasters Association for its news and sports coverage.

COOKE SALES & SERVICE

The Allis-Chalmers franchise in the Chillicothe territory was purchased July 7, 1944, by Oscar 0. Cooke and his brother, Ernest Cooke, and was named Cooke Bros. Both partners had several years experience as employees of the Allis-Chalmers Manufacturing Co. and had made their way through the ranks to reach management positions. Oscar O. Cooke was manager of the Omaha branch and Ernest Cooke was a special representative spending several years in Australia, later returning to the Kansas City branch in a sales capacity.

In 1945, Oscar O. Cooke purchased his brothers share of Cooke Bros. and the company name was changed to Cooke Sales & Service Co.

At this time Cooke Sales & Service facilities consisted of a small building located in Chillicothe, Missouri.

In 1952, branch facilities,were built in St. Joseph and Sedalia, Missouri. In 1966, land was purchased on the southeast edge of St. Joseph and the existing building on the Belt Highway was moved to the new site.

In February of 1955, Oscar O. Cooke sold Cooke Sales & Service Co. to his son, Oscar M. Cooke.

The following December Allis-Chalmers awarded eight new counties to the franchise and existing facilities established at Fulton, Missouri by Cooke Tractor Company was purchased by Oscar M. Cooke and added to Cooke Sales & Service Co. as a branch.

Since 1955, employment has risen from the 30’s to over 150 employees.

A recreational area consisting of 50 acres was purchased, located seven miles northeast of Chillicothe. A lake and several raising ponds were constructed, providing swimming, private picnic grounds, and fishing for all employees.

In 1968, 5600 feet of additional shop space was erected at Chillicothe for rebuilding used equipment. In 1969, 1500 feet was added for cleaning and painting. This building was also equipped with an automatic paint stripping machine. In 1972, 2500 feet was added to the rebuilding department for welding and fabricating.

In 1976, a complete new undercarriage facility was built on the east side of Washington Street in Chillicothe. This building consists of 4500’ of shop space and 3900’ of warehouse space. Also, the existing building on this site was remodeled for an undercarriage sales office and warehouse for small parts.

Cooke Sales & Service has been recognized by many of the companies they represent as being their outstanding Dealer of the Year, including winning the Top Dealer prize in 1962, for the best overall performance in service, parts, and sales penetration. They have also been recognized as being in the top ten for the United States, Canada, and Mexico in gross volume sales, and in 1979, were rated the top Fiat-Allis dealer in the United States, based on market potential.

Several tracts of land were purchased on both sides of their current location on North Washington Street in Chillicothe and added to their existing facilities.

Cooke Sales & Service continues to grow by adding such facilities as fuel pump rebuilding stand, dynamometer for running in both construction and farm engines, a substantial increase in investment in better equipped service trucks, including air compressors, generators, special oil reservoirs, cranes, etc. to maximize customer service, and a separate operation for rebuilding components such as engines and transmissions.

DARR’S HOME FOR THE AGED

Darr’s Home For the Aged, located at 300 J. F. Kennedy Avenue, is a Licensed Nursing Home, giving care to those that are unable to care for themselves.

The Home was originally Fitzpatricks Home For The Aged. Mr. and Mrs. George Darr purchased the Home in October of 1968. They resided in a mobile home located on the same grounds and have cared for several aged persons from Chillicothe as well as surrounding areas. Mr. and Mrs. John Gallatin resided in the Home for many years. The oldest resident was Ida Leavell who was 105, and there have been many others that were near or past the century mark.

Of the present nineteen residents ten are past ninety. With God’s blessing it is a service we desire to continue to give to those that cannot do for themselves.

DR. PEPPER - ROYAL CROWN BOTTLING COMPANY

In 1939 W. L. Shaffer, Jr. purchased the Nu-Icy Bottling Company, 1201 Washington Street, from A. G. Moyer, and re-named the business the Dr. Pepper Bottling Company.

In 1970 W. L. Shaffer, 111, joined his father in the business, which includes the W. L. Shaffer and Son Vending Company.

In 1978 the business moved to a new location on 415 Harvester Road and is known as the Dr. Pepper-Royal Crown Bottling Company. Other products include Canada Dry and Seven Up.

EMERSON - PFAFF REALTY

Emerson-Pfaff Realty, a franchisee of the Gaslight Real Estate Corporation, is located at 448 Washington Street, Chillicothe, Mo., and was opened August 1979.

The Gaslight Corporation now has 30 offices in Western Missouri and Kansas. The owners of the Emerson-Pfaff Realty are John Emerson and Mrs. Toby (Marge) Pfaff and the secretary is Miss Sharon Pence. The Real Estate Associates are: Mrs. Cherry Evers, Mrs. Shirley Carr, Bud Griffin, Mr. Benny Littrell, Ms. Marsha Slater, and Rick Walker.

Mr. Emerson has had an extensive agriculture experience in North Missouri, having been a field representative for the Olin Corporation for 18 years. Prior to entering the real estate business he was associated with Golden Harvest, Columbiana Seed

Company, as a Regional Sales Manager. Emerson graduated from the University of Missouri, majoring in soils. He is currently the 1979-80 North Central Board of Realtors president.

Mrs. Pfaff was formerly with the Gaslight Corporation and the Eugene Brown Company in the Kansas City area. Her residential sales repeatedly placed her in the “Million Dollar Producers Club.” She served on the Eastern Jackson County Board of Realtors from 1972 to 1977, as a director on the Missouri Real Estate Board for two years, and on the Independence Chamber Board of Directors. She is a native of Livingston County and is the daughter of Clyde Alexander, Chillicothe.

ENGELMANN’S SHOES

In February, 1936, a new family shoe store opened in Chillicothe, in part of the present Penney Store location. The owner was Randolph Holt, of Maryville, Missouri. In 1938, a partner, J. D. Engelmann, joined the business. A native of Kansas, he had been associated with shoe stores in Oklahoma and Nebraska. In 1944, Mr. Engelmann went into the U.S. Navy and served in the South Pacific area. His wife, Ursula, operated the store, with two local employees, and some part time Chillicothe Business College students. In 1946, Mr. Engelmann returned, and the business prospered in the post-war years. Shoes were rationed during the war and continued to

be very scarce and hard to acquire for some time afterwards. In 1949, the Engelmann’s purchased Mr. Holt’s interest in the store, and changed the name to Engelmann’s Shoes. Their principles of providing excellence in fitting service, with quality merchandise proved successful. Brand names like Red Cross Shoes, Cobbies, Nunn Bush, Child Life and Miller Barefoot Freedom were added to the well-known lines already carried, including Trim Tred, Poll Parrot, Rand and Star Brand. In 1952, Engelmann’s acquired Leon’s Shoe Store, and operated it also, as J.D.’s Shoes for two years, before combining both stores in the present location at Webster and Locust Streets.

In 1964, Engelmann’s Shoes was honored with the prestigious Brand Name Shoe-Retailer-of-the-Year Award, given by the National Brqnd Names Foundation of New York, for the successful promotion of Brand Name merchandise. This award enabled Engelmann’s Shoes to further promote, through newspaper, radio and direct mail advertising, their merchandise and services available to the northcentral Missouri trade area.

Russell’s Sport Shop, at the rear of Engelmann’s became available, and was acquired to enlarge the store in the early 1960’s.

In 1975, Darla Macoubrie acquired the store, and it continues to operate with the same quality products and professional service, including prescription fitting of orthopedic shoes. The store presently employs five people, with a total of eighty years experience selling Engelmann’s shoes. They are Darla Macoubrie, 5 years; Frank Shannon, 30 years; Larry Saale, 29 years; Mary Frances LaFever, 15 years and Tammy Atwell, 1 year. Mrs. Keith Beardmore is the bookkeeper.

FARMER’S STONE - TRAGER OUARRIES CO.

Farmer’s Stone - Trager Quarries Company’s main office and yard is located in the Stone’s Addition in the western part of Utica, Missouri in Livingston County. This company is made up of two corporations in joint venture, Farmer’s Stone Products Co. and Trager Quarries Inc.

Trager Quarries Inc., originated from Frank Trager Contractor in 1958 when Frank Trager Sr. divided his company into the construction division and quarries division. Frank Trager originally started in business in Kansas City in the early 1930’s with the delivery of material in dump trucks. This was followed by the assembling of his rock crushing plants. These plants were used in many parts of Missouri, Kansas, Arkansas and Illinois in the crushing of limestone by the Trager firm. In the late 1950’s the firm settled northeast of Chillicothe, Missouri and west of Trenton, Missouri to establish permanent quarries for the production of road stone and agricultural limestone used for local sales. Many projects of the local highway system were built by the Trager firm. In the mid 1960’s quarries between Braymer and Cowgill, Hamilton and Gallatin, and north of Gilman City were opened for local sales. In July, 1966, the assets of

Farmer’s Rock and Lime, Inc., Cecil Moore and Howard Barnhart, officers and owners, was purchased by Frank Trager and his son Robert Trager. The firm was named Farmer’s Stone Products Co. and had quarries located northeast of Mooresville, Missouri, and northeast of Nettleton, Missouri. Later Farmer’s Stone Products Co. built a fertilizer blending facility in west Utica, Missouri. In 1974 Trager Quarries Inc. opened another new quarry in north Daviess County near Pattonsburg, Missouri. This later proved very convenient for the work involved in the fifteen mile construction of 1-35 in 1975 and 1976.

The firm now operates seven quarries and one sand site from the Utica office. There is one quarry and a sand plant located in Livingston County. Three production crews are maintained by the firm which travel from one location to the other depending upon which side needs material produced. 67% of our total employed staff comes from Livingston County.

The material produced by our firm is used in the construction of Missouri State Highways, city and county roads, parking areas, airport facilities, concrete structures, filter material, river protection stone and agricultural limestone.

HARDEN, CUMMINS, MOSS & MILLER

Harden, Cummins, Moss and Miller, Certified Public Accountants, was founded in the fall of 1947 by Ted J. Frick. Mr. Frick came from Kansas City to begin the one man operation, called Ted J. Frick, C.P.A., in the firm’s present location on the southeast corner of the square in the Citizens Bank and Trust building.

When Frick opened his office, he hired William G. Cummins to manage another office in Maryville, Missouri. Cummins was later admitted as a partner and the name was changed to Ted J. Frick and Company.

In the early 1950’s, Kenneth E. Harden, a Kansas City CPA and attorney, purchased an interest in the firm. During this time, Walter T. Miller and Bob R. Moss joined the firm as employees and were admitted to the partnership after obtaining their CPA certificates.

In the mid-fifties, Frick left the firm and the name was subsequently changed to Harden, Cummins, Moss and Miller.

In the early sixties, John E. Cook and W. Thomas Brown joined the firm as employees and subsequently became partners. Brown later transferred to Kirksville to manage a new office.

Michael R. Council, a former staff member of the Denver office of Arthur Young and Company, joined the firm in 1975 and was later admitted as a partner.

HCMM has grown in thirty-three years from a one man office to seven partners and thirty employees in the three offices which are located in Chillicothe, Kirksville and Maryville. The current partners are K. E. Harden, W. G. Cummins, B. R. Moss, W. T. Miller, J. E. Cook, W. T. Brown and M. R. Council.

HEDRICK MEDICAL CENTER

Since May 17, 1889, when the Sisters of St.,Mary received their first patient in a frame building on these same grounds, the Hedrick Medical Center (formerly named the Chillicothe Hospital), has strived to provide the finest patient care available. The Sisters enlarged their frame hospital twice, added new equipment and operated the hospital until 1916, when Drs. H. M. Grace and A. J. Simpson bought the hospital and continued its operation. In 1936, Dr. Grace and Mrs. Simpson donated the entire hospital plant and its grounds to the city of Chillicothe. A new 3-story brick hospital was built on the land adjacent to the original frame structure and that construction was completed in the following year, 1937. Two new wings were added in July, 1954.

Additional property was acquired to the north, and in 1972, an entirely new 80 bed hospital facility was completed adjacent to the older building. At the new hospital dedication ceremony, the institution’s name was officially changed to “Hedrick Medical Center” in honor of Mr. Ira G. Hedrick and Mrs. Minnie B. Hedrick, founders of the Hedrick Foundation which made construction of the new multi-million - dollar facility possible. Following completion of the new hospital, the 1937 3-story brick structure was renamed Hedrick Office Building, renovated, and rented for physicians’ offices.

INVESTORS (CHILLICOTHE) FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN

Few businesses in the United States have a more interesting history thanthe savings and loan institutions.The first savings and loan institution in the United States was organized in 1831 when Andrew

Jackson was president and there were only 24 states in the Union. Its birthplace was Frankfort, Pennsylvania, a borough of some 2,000 inhabitants a few miles northeast of the city of Philadelphia, then the United States of America’s largest city.

The Chillicothe Federal Savings and Loan Association was organized on the3rd day of April,

1934.

The following were the original subscribers at the organization meeting: J. D. Rice, Roy Moore, W. B.

P. Atwell, Earl Bradbury, Don Chapman, John Cook, E. O. Welch, F. M. McCall, Dr. R. J. Brennan, Fred

Cornue,George Somerville, John Sigler, Marvin England, Ernest Shannon, F. A. Meinershagen, F. W.

Gunby, Dick Curry.

The location for the new association was in the Gunby Abstract and Insurance office, 712 Washington

Street, with Fred Gunby as the managing officer. ChillicotheFederal Savings andLoan Association

grewsteadily under the guidance of Mr. Gunby for thirty years. At the end of the first year, the association’s assets totaled $10,142.46 and in 1940, the association reached over $100,000.00 in assets. In 1944, at the end of ten full years of operation, assets had grown to $135,282.51. In 1954, at the end of twenty full years of operations, assets had grown to $811,647.32 and the next year the association had over $1,000,000.00 in total assets and had over $2,000,000.00 by 1960. On December 31,1963, assets totaled $2,819,022.20.

In1964, Mr. Gunby passed away and Earle S.Teegarden, Jr. was employed to replace him. Mr.

Teegarden, a Chillicothe nativeand graduate of Chillicothe High School, had been previously

employed by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation as an Assistant Bank Examiner since his

graduation in June of 1960, from the University of Missouri in Columbia, where he earned his B.S.

degree in Business Administration.

Growth in assets, employees and service to the community continued and by 1969 assets were over $5,000,000.00. The $10,000,000.00 mark was achieved by 1972 and the $20,000,000.00 mark by 1976. By 1978, the association had over $30,000,000.00 in total assets and the present footings exceed $38,000,000.00.

On May 25, 1965, the association’s board authorized the purchase of the library building at the southwest corner of Washington and Jackson streets from the Livingston County Memorial Library, and after extensive remodeling, moved into the present location of 522 Washington Street in September, 1966.

On September 25, 1974, a special meeting of the members of the association was convened. The purpose was to change the name of the association to Investors Federal Savings and Loan Association. This name change would enable the association to establish branches in nearby communities and use a neutral name.

The first branch office was opened April 15, 1975, at 305 North Davis, Hamilton, Missouri, and the next branch was opened for business May 18, 1978, at 104 East Grand, Gallatin, Missouri.

The following have served as Chairman: Allen Moore, 1977-1978; Robert T. Fairweather, 1978.

The following has served as Vice Chairman: Edward P. Milbank, 1980.

The following have served as President: F. A. Meinershagen, 1934-1949; J. D. Rice, 1949-1958; George W. Somerville 1958-1966; Allen Moore, 1966-1977; Earle S. Teegarden, Jr., 1977.

The following have served as Executive Vice President: Fred Gunby, 1964; Earle S. Teegarden, Jr., 1972-1977.

The following have served as Vice President: J. D. Rice, 1934-1949; George W. Somerville, 1949-1958; Claude Botsford, 1958; Allen Moore, 1958-1966; Robert T. Fairweather, 1967-1978; Edward P. Milbank, 1978-1980; Larry Johnson, 1980.

The following have served as Secretary-Treasurer; F. W. Gunby, 1934-1964; Earle S. Teegarden, J r., 1964-1972; Larry Johnson, 1977-1980.

The following have served as Treasurer: Mildred Thomas, 1972-1976; Dale L. Bowe, 1980.

The first Board of Directors was as follows: F. A. Meinershagen, 1934-1949; F. W. Gunby, 1934-1964; Claude Botsford, 1934-1958; George W. Somerville, 1934-1966; J. D. Rice, 1934-1958; R. J. Brennan, 1934-1936; John G. Sigler, 1934-1939; F. W. Cornue, 1934-1967; W. G. Keith, 1934-1935.

Other directors have been: E. W. Shannon, 1935-1938; F. M. McCall, 1936-1973; Don H. Wiggins, 1938-1949; Robert E. Blaun, 1950-1953; Lee Meek, 1953-1965; Allen Moore, 1958-1978; Ted Barnes, 1958-1977; Earle S. Teegarden, Jr., 1964; Tom Botts, 1966; Robert T. Fairweather, 1966; Morris Willis, 1968-1980; Edward P. Milbank, 1974; Armand J. Peterson, 1978; George Shepard, 1978; Rex Smith, 1980.

The present officers are as follows: Chairman, Robert T. Fairweather; Vice-Chairman, Edward P. Milbank; President, Earle S. Teegarden, Jr.; Vice-President and Secretary, Larry Johnson; Assistant Vice President and Treasurer, Dale Bowe; Assistant Vice President and Branch Manager, John Saccaro; Loan Officer and Assistant Secretary, Charley Merrill.

Other employees are: Patsy Ripley, Debbie Surber, Ruth Pennington, Mari Lynn Estabrook, Sandy Wheeler, Janet Adkison, Dixie Vanatta.

The men and women working in and charting the course of this financial institution have had one basic assurance which surrounds the future with light even if it could not present a crystal ball. They have found the strength and the wisdom to surmount the many difficulties and grasp the unparalleled opportunities presented in the last 46 years. There is every reason to think that they will not be daunted by the new decisions faced in the years ahead and that Investors Federal can become yet a more effective instrument for improving the lot of the citizens of those communities in which it serves, as the 20th Century rolls into its last two decades.

JOHN GRAVES FOOD SERVICE, INCORPORATED

John Graves Food Service, Incorporated, was founded by John Graves with one truck and one assistant, Wilbur Parrish, in Chillicothe, Missouri. Mr. Graves, formerly employed as a salesman for Swift and Company, moved to Chillicothe with his wife, Evelyn, and a six year old son, Jon Richard (Dick) to go into business for himself in the late summer of 1947.

In 1951, a building for the business was erected at 245 S. Washington Street. In 1968, a move was made to a new location at 725 Industrial Road, where the Corporation now in 1980 operates with 35 employees and 18 vehicles, including one tractor trailer, seven sales cars and ten delivery trucks. The business, during the years, has changed from service to local grocers and restaurants in Chillicothe and surrounding towns to Institutional trade in Missouri, Iowa, Illinois and Kansas.

The John-Graves family, in 1948, added a daughter, Lynn, to its numbers. At the present time, May 1980, Jon Richard (Dick) maintains a residence in Jefferson City with his wife Suzy and three children, Chip, Lolli and Tucker. Lynn resides in Houston, Texas, with her husband, Robert M. Hardy, Jr., and one daughter, Anna.

Dick in 1976, purchased John Graves Food Service, Inc. from John and Evelyn, and plans to continue its activities. Dick has also, during the past nine years, founded a similar food service company known as Menu Maker in Jefferson City. His present plans are to continue to operate both plants in the future. 

-- Mr. and Mrs. John Graves

IRVINBILT COMPANY

Irvinbilt Company originated in 1934 when its founder, John Melvin Irvin, son of Maude and Clifford Irvin, and a native of Chillicothe, Missouri, began contracting farm improvements for the Prudential Insurance Company. Mr. Irvin was graduated from Chillicothe High School in 1929 and attended the University of Missouri. On September 21, 1935, he married Miss Virgie Kibler, daughter of Mr. and Mrs. J. C. Kibler of Chillicothe.

His first job was at Blair, Kansas. He finished the job in one week and made a profit of fifty dollars, which in 1934 was a lot of money. Laborers earned one dollar per ten-hour day. Carpenters and other craftsmen made twenty to thirty cents an hour. Meals cost only fifteen cents or so and a night’s lodging was twenty-five to fifty cents.

The new company did not own much equipment - just a saw and a hammer. Concrete was mixed by hand, shoveled into a five gallon can and carried to the forms. That was easier than using steel wheelbarrows on rough farm ground. They later rigged a concrete mixer on a truck and used a washing machine motor to power a table saw - and were pleased with their equipment.

John Irvin continued doing farm building improvements until 1939-40 when he returned to Chillicothe to contract, design and build houses. He later began to design and build on a commercial scale.

After Pearl Harbor, the only building done was in connection with the war effort. During 1941-45, he manufactured wagon boxes, scoop boards, hog feeders, hog houses and baler blocks which were sold all over the United States. Thus, the name “Irvinbilt” was originated.

In 1948-49, he built the present Ben Bolt Theatre in Chillicothe. From then on he had at least six jobs going all the time.

In 1948, there was a terrific demand for new schools, as few had been built since 1930. There was also a shortage of contractors and Irviribilt Company expanded to meet the need. By the year 1977, Irvinbilt Company had built over sixty-five schools, seventeen under one architect.

Irvinbilt Company was incorporated February 23, 1955, by John Irvin, Virgie Irvin and Mabel Matson. The corporation rented the premises at 304 Clay Street for offices and a-cabinet shop. Lowell Burghart, a mechanical engineer and graduate of Kansas State College, and Morris B. Willis, an electrical engineer and also a graduate of Kansas State College, became shareholders and officers of Irvinbilt Company ‘in April, 1955.

A profit-sharing plan for the benefit of employees of Irviribilt Company was adopted February 25, 1957.

In the minutes of June 17, 1957, it is recorded that Irvinbilt Company would not pursue additional contracts at the time, due to the pressing needs of supervision on the existing work they were doing. This helps explain their consistently high quality of building.

On May 29, 1961, Irviribilt Company was authorized to conduct business in Iowa as well as Missouri and Kansas.

The company’s office was moved to 10 Hickory Street in March, 1967. Miss Mabel Matson, due to illness, resigned as secretary of the corporation on March 18, 1968, after working for Mr. Irvin twenty-one years. Miss Matson died in the fall of that year.

On August 16, 1971, Irvinbilt became an equal opportunity employer and also committed itself to the goal of continuing to provide the best possible working conditions with respect to safety and health.

John Irvin, at the age of sixty-six, resigned as chairman of the Board of Irvinbilt Company on September 20, 1977, and Morris B. Willis was elected to that position.

At the time of this writing, Irvinbilt Company builds schools, hospitals, sewage disposal plants, water plants, power plants, industrial buildings, banks, offices and shopping centers.

It is significant that the Irvinbilt Company now employs ten superintendents, all of whom started as carpenters or laborers in the early years of its formation. They are: Larry Alexander, Marvin Alexander, John Case, Norman Case, Dale Inman, Bob McCollum, Bill McNally, Doug Reeter, Jack Thierne, and Wilbert Treon.

The present owners and officers are:

Jeff Churan, an engineering graduate of the University of Missouri. He began working for Irvinbilt Company as a carpenter in 1962 and became majority shareholder and President in 1973.

Don Garrison, a graduate engineer from the University of Missouri. He joined Irvinbilt Company in 1972 and was elected vice-president in 1973.

Ron Clevenger, a graduate of Central Missouri State University. He began working for Irvinbilt Company in 1973 and is the current secretarytreasurer.

KANAN ABSTRACT COMPANY

Kanan Abstract Company, Incorporated, is located on the North side of the square at 703 Webster Street, in the building constructed by the First National Bank in 1887, for a bank. It has been an Abstract Office for sixty-nine years and was opened by Jno. A. Ryan and B. V. Gill January 2, 1911.

In August, 1924, Grover C. and Maude Carnahan purchased one-half interest in the business and in 1942, purchased the remaining interest, and operated the Abstract Company until September, 1947 when title was transferred to V. F. Kanan.

In 1951, Carl Kanan, who had been employed in Washington, D. C. by the Civil Service Commission f or twenty-four years returned with his family to Missouri, and purchased one-half interest in the Abstract, Real Estate and Insurance business. In December 1953, a Corporation was formed and later Mr. Kanan purchased all of the outstanding shares. Along with the other business interests, he was appointed the agent for Cameron Savings and Loan Association for the agency in Chillicothe.

Carl Kanan and Dorothy Fraley were united in marriage at the St. Columban’s Catholic Church in Chillicothe on June 10, 1967. Together, they continued to operate the business until the death of Mr. Kanan on September 10, 1979. After the death of her husband, Mrs. Kanan became the owner and president of the Corporation.

Mrs. Myrl “Frances” Wilson, an Abstractor and close friend, who has been associated with the organization since 1963 when she was employed by Mr. Kanan, has continued with Mrs. Kanan in the business of Abstracts, Title Insurance, and the Agency for Cameron Savings & Loan Association.

Mrs. Anita Fisher is an apprentice abstractor. Mrs. Wilma Hamilton and Mrs. Louise Courtney are part time employees.

KCHI RADIO

KCHI-AM Radio Station began its first broadcast day on March 3, 1950. The 252 foot tower and broadcast studio facilities were located on highway 65, about one mile south of Chillicothe.

The station was only the fourth radio station to begin operation in Missouri north of the Missouri river. KCHI-AM operates from local sunrise to local sunset with a broadcast signal that reaches over 100 miles in all directions.

Cecil Roberts owned the.station, and Howard Rion was the manager with Russell Walz as chief engineer.

In 1966 the studios were moved to 917 Jackson and a remote system was installed to operate the transmitter from the down town location.

The radio station was offered for sale, due to the ill health of Mr. Roberts, and a corporation was formed to buy the station by Ron Hatten, Ted Griffin, and Dick Lindman. The name of RONTEDICK was used and the corporation purchased the station effective October 1st, 1974.

Mr. Hatten planned to move to Chillicothe to manage the station; however ill health prevented this and Jerry Peterson was hired as manager from 1974 until 1976.

In October 1976, the FM Broadcast station was added when a new FM transmitter was installed three miles northwest of town. The FM allows longer broadcast hours and is authorized to stay on the air 24 hours per day when needed.

After the death of Mr. Hatten, Eugene. and Marjorie Vaughn of Moberly purchased the stock he had owned and assumed management of the station late in 1976.

The station purchased the old bowling alley building at 421 Washington and moved the studios there August 1st, 1979, to gain additional room for broadcast studios. KCHI is 1010 on your dial.

L & O SALES COMPANY

Two good friends, Gilbert R. (Gibby) Olenhouse and F. A. (Mossy) Lionberger, were talking one day and decided that it would be a good idea to start a salvage outlet store in Chillicothe. They found a salvage stock of fountain pens and tools which they bought and peddled this stock to the public, Mossy selling from his auto salvage yard, and Gibby selling from the trunk of his car on his territory which he covered while representing Hibbard, Spencer, Bartlett & Company, a hardware jobber in Chicago. This was during the years, 1947 and 1948, and in 1949 they thought it was improved enough they bought more stocks and rented a basement room under what is now Fletchall Office Supply and opened up this one room to the public. Polly Banta, wife of Lloyd Banta, who was then head of the Maintenance Department of the State Highway Department in Chillicothe, was in charge of the sales room.

By 1950, sales had improved to the extent that Lionberger built a building at 109 S. Washington for the L & O Sales Company, which is the south part of the building the L & O still occupies. Business continued to improve and in 1953 another room was added on the north side of the first building to enable them to add furniture, appliances and other items.

In 1952, they leased a building at 202 S. Main, Brookfield, Missouri, and opened the second L & O Sales retail store. This continued to operate until Mr. Olenhouse became ill in September 1973, and the store was closed October 23, 1973.

Carl Nichols, a son of A. C. Nichols of Chillicothe, Missouri, was a friend of both Gibby and Mossy, and after he had moved to Boulder, Colorado, the three decided that a similar store would operate good in that location. The store was opened in 1952, and operated under the name of L & O Sales with Mr. Nichols as the manager and the other two as partners. In 1954, Olenhouse and Lionberger sold their interest to Mr. Nichols in order that they could devote more time to their local businesses.

In 1953, they branched further out by leasing a building in Trenton, on Main Street, and opened the third L & O store. They operated on this location about three years, then leased a larger building and added more to their items or merchandise.

In April 1956, Mossy Lionberger sold all of his interests in all L & O stores and merchandise to Gibby Olenhouse, and since that time Gibby and his wife, Claire, continued to operate the three stores. In 1961, lots were purchased in Trenton and a new building was built to house the L & O Sales at 1937 East 9th. This was the location of the L & O at the time the Trenton store was closed July 8, 1974, when Mr. Olenhouse became critically ill.

Since the death of Mr. Olenhouse in November 1974, the one remaining store, the main store, at Chillicothe has been continued and operated by Gary B. (Butch) Olenhouse taking over the duties of his father, and Claire continuing as bookkeeper and supervisor of the office and personnel. This arrangement still continued in 1980, with the addition of Marsha, the wife of Butch, being added to the office staff as secretary and assistant bookkeeper. At the present time they have 15,000 sq. ft. floor space for retail sales and approximately 16,000 sq. ft. ware house space - CONSIDERABLY LARGER THAN A TRUNK OF A CAR, isn’t it?

LIGHTNER INSURANCE AND REAL ESTATE

The Lightner name has been in Livingston County since the mid 1800’s. Chapman Lightner was a large land owner in the 1840’s and his grandson, Richard Lightner, was a banker, land owner, and stockman in the Chula area of Livingston County. Bill Lightner, his son, is now the owner of Lightner Real Estate and H & R Block franchise in the Chillicothe area.* He started his business in Chillicothe in 1959. Denny Lightner, a grandson of Richard Lightner, joined his father and took over the insurance part of the business in 1973. The present location of this establishment is at 415 Washington and has been since 1973.

Some of their regular employees at this time are: Pam Bruce, Mary Lightner, Willa Vee George, Burl Williams, Sharon Linville and Joyce Lightner.

In recent years the continued growth of the Lightner business has established it as an economic addition to the Livingston County area. Bill Lightner is a member of the North Central Realtors Association and in 1980, he and his wife Mary, were awarded for their fifteen years excellent service at the H & R Block annual awards banquet. Bill attended Chillicothe Business School and has thirty years accounting experience.

Denny Lightner is a member of the North Central Realtors Association, a graduate of Life Underwriters Training Council, Vice-President of the North- Central Missouri Life Underwriters Association, two years National Quality award winner and a member of the Independent Agents Association of Missouri. Denny is a 1971 graduate of Central Missouri State University with a B.A. in Political Science and Law Enforcement toward Pre-Law Study

LINDLEY FUNERAL HOMES
In 1867, D. F. Chapin and George Fobis started a furniture business which was in the 400 block of Locust Street. Through the latter 1800’s the business had other partners. In 1871, a Mr. Baker became partners with Mr. Chapin and in 1895 Mr. Chapin and his son A. F. Chapin bought out Mr. Baker.

In 1899, I. M. Greer and F. A. Meinershagen started a funeral business at 507 Washington and a furniture store at 509 Washington which was also owned by these partners.

After Greer’s death Mr. Meinershagen was joined in business by his son Julius. In 1943, they purchased residential property at 910 Washington from Louis Stein and moved their funeral home business to that location. This structure was built in 1889 by the Leeper family and was later owned by the Wallbrunn family. Mr. Stein acquired the property through the Wallbrunn estate.

In 1958, Mr. and Mrs. Earl Keeney bought the funeral business. Nine months into their operation, Mr. Keeney died. On June 1, 1959, Mrs. Keeney sold the funeral business to Mr. and Mrs. B. J. Lindley of Nevada, Missouri. Jack was born and raised in Cedar County, Missouri, where he was a member of the First Christian Church Disciples of Christ. He was a 1945 graduate of Stockton High School and served one year in the United States Navy. He married Dorothy Kohler, the daughter of John Harold and Dora Kohler in Harrisonville on April 24, 1949. He completed his degree from the St. Louis College of Mortuary Science and received his Missouri Funeral Directors and Embalmers License in 1951. Jack worked for the Runninburger Funeral Home, Harrisonville, Missouri from 1949 to 1951; and later the Langsford Funeral Home in Lee’s Summit, Missouri in 1951 through 1955. While living in Nevada, Missouri from 1955 through 1959, he worked at the Ferry Funeral Home. Mr. and Mrs. Lindley and their children, Becky, Scott, Bruce and Tim made their residence in the upstairs apartment of the Funeral Home for 17 years. In expanding the funeral business, Mr. and Mrs. Lindley acquired the Robertson Funeral Homes at Laredo and Chula, Missouri, in 1965, and the Austin Funeral Homes at Hale and Tina, Missouri, in 1968.

In the spring of 1974, after receiving his degree in applied science from Forrest Park Community College in St. Louis and acquiring his Missouri Funeral Directors and Embalmers License, Scott Lindley returned to Chillicothe to become a partner in the firm.

To modernize the funeral establishment to better serve the community’s needs, the existing structure at 910 Washington was razed, and a new facility was completed and dedicated in Oct. 1976.

In August of 1977, Bruce Lindley completed his degree from the Dallas Institute of Mortuary Science and returned to Chillicothe to join the firm. After serving a one year internship, Bruce received his Mlissouri Funeral Directors and Embalmers License.

The present family members are Jack, Dorothy and Timothy Lindley of the home at 911 Cherry St. Mike and Becky (Lindley) Ransdell and son Michael, Trenton; J. Scott and Deborah (Masters) Lindley, Chillicothe and Bruce and Susie (Gardner) Lindley, Chillicothe.

The Lindley Funeral Home has the distinction of being the only family owned and operated funeral business in Chillicothe and Livingston County.

LIVINGSTON TV and APPLIANCE
On April 1, 1972, Steve Keuhn of Trenton and Jim Schreiner of rural Purdin purchased Bowe Radio and TV at 709 Locust from Russell Bowe.

They chose the name of Livingston County TV and carried the Quasar line of TVs and stereos while servicing all makes of electronic equipment.

A short time later they enlarged their business to carry more stereo equipment and then added the Magnavox and Zenith lines.

In 1974, they expanded to 707 Locust in order to enlarge their line of stereo equipment. In the fall of 1975, they purchased the Baldwin Furniture building from Jim and Hazel Baldwin located at 619 Elm Street. This made a much larger area for display, service work, and warehousing.

In July of 1977, Livingston County TV added the Whirlpool Appliance line and revised their name to Livingston TV and Appliance.

In March of 1978, they purchased Klinginsmith TV and Appliance in Trenton, Missouri, from Raymond Klinginsmith and changed the name to Livingston TV and Appliance. Tom Klinginsmith manages the store and offers the same merchandise and service as does the Chillicothe store.

Jim and Janet Schreiner (part-time secretary) reside on Route 2, Chillicothe and are the parents of two children: Angela 4, and Anthony, 17 mo.

Steve and Marjorie Keuhn (part-time secretary) reside on Route 5, Chillicothe. They are the parents of one child, Philip, 3.  

LUDLOW NATIONAL BANK
The Ludlow National Bank opened for business on August 31, 1889, and has been in continuous operation since that date except for the bank holiday in 1933, when all banks in the country were closed for a time by presidential decree.

The bank was first organized as a state bank and titled the “Farmer’s Bank”, but on April 22, 1907, it was granted a national charter and became the “Farmers National Bank”. Then in 1929, a reorganization was effected and the present title was chosen. The bank has been in its present location since 1917, when a new building was constructed. Prior to that time, it was housed in a building adjacent to its present site.

The first stockholders of the bank were: Samuel Berry, Frank Copple, N. S. Copple, J. R. Dalby, J. M. Davis, C. Fink, Manloff Gregory, Fred S. Hudson. A. Johnson, B. H. Kite, R. R. Kitt, R. J. Lee, F. A. Stouffer, George W. Timbrook, J. P. Welsh, Alonzo Wells, Horace Wightman and D. C. Wilson.

Charter depositors were: J. P. Welsh, Perry Borders, J. M. Buckman, Franklin Copple, N. S. Copple, Pierce Copple, Dr. C. O. Dewey, Evan Evans, C. Fink and son, B. H. Kite, Horace Wightman, and the First National Bank of Chillicothe. The first day’s business consisted of deposits totaling $5,229.59. At the end of the first year, deposits totaled $62,943.94.

Richard Lee has been given credit as having been the most instrumental in organizing the bank and was its first president. Upon his death in 1904, his son R. J. Lee was named as president. He served in the capacity until his death in 1938. His nephew, M. E. Lee, was then elected to the office. Following his death in 1951, B. B. Lee, son of R. J. Lee, was elected and served for a time. Since then, three others have served the bank as president; L. R. Hamblin, Joe Cherry, and David James, who holds the office at the present time (1980).

Fred S. Hudson was the bank’s first cashier. He was followed by Lee Barton and Joe Messenbaugh, each of whom served for only a short period of time. Fred Wightman served from 1896 to 1905, Joe Dusenberry from 1905 to 1923, J. E. McNabb from 1923 to 1937, Carl Goll from 1937 to 1960, Tom Johnson during 1960, Joe Cherry from 1960 to 1971, David James from 1971 to October 1976 and Clithro L. Anderson since that time.

Since beginning its first year of service with $62,000.00 the Ludlow National Bank has now grown to $7,000,000.00. Heritage is deep in the bank’s history, as many of the charter depositor’s families still do business there.  

KENTUCKY FRIED CHICKEN

“Seems like a nice town, don’t you know,” the late Colonel Harland Sanders said of Chillicothe during a visit in June, 1975 to Kentucky Fried Chicken.

Colonel Sanders came to present a special award to the restaurant, 1200 North Washington Street, and owner Del. Newkirk.

Kentucky Fried Chicken, which opened for business in February, 1973, was the second restaurant in Missouri and among the first twenty in the nation to win the special cleanliness and sanitation award. The Colonel had started a White Glove Program and wanted to present the placque in person. During his visit he posed for pictures with local residents and taught employees the fine art of gravy making with his solid gold spoon!

Since 1975 Chillicothe Kentucky Fried Chicken has won the award anew each year. The Chillicothe restaurant was recognized by Kentucky Fried Chicken as raising the most money for an individual restaurant in the 1979 March of Dimes/Kentucky Fried Chicken campaign. Photographs of fund raising activities by the local staff were a feature in a company magazine distributed nationwide.

Chillicothe Kentucky Fried Chicken was remodeled in 1979 to the new image of brown and light beige instead of the familiar red and white stripes. The restaurant has seating for 42 and also features catering for many sizes of groups.

The restaurant participates every year in the coop student program by employing high school students.

Mr. Newkirk is a director in the Missouri Restaurant Association, a member of the National Restaurant Association, and a founder and officer of the Kansas City Kentucky Fried Chicken Advertising Cooperative, a group of some fifty restaurants in Kansas and Missouri.

Mr. Newkirk and his wife, Letty, also own Kentucky Fried Chicken restaurants in Brookfield, Trenton and Cameron, Missouri and in Olathe and Leavenworth, Kansas.

MIDWEST CONCRETE AND ASPHALT COMPANY

Midwest Concrete and Asphalt Company was formed October 30, 1961, at 304 Clay Street, Chillicothe, Missouri, Livingston County.

On June 29, 1962, the original company was reorganized with John Irvin, Virgie Irvin and Maude Irvin being the directors. John Irvin was the president. Shortly thereafter the corporation acquired the Redi Mix plant and asphalt plant belonging to AtkinsonWindle and leased the real estate at 10 Hickory Street with option to purchase, this acquisition permitting them to expand into paving of roads, general excavation, engaging in the general contracting business, buying and selling lands and real estate and otherwise working in or with building materials of all kinds, gravel, steel, and any and every other material necessary for or convenient in construction, engineering or maintenance.

In September, 1962, the registered office was moved to 10 Hickory Street, Chillicothe. Officers were John Irvin, president, Maude Irvin, vice-president, and Virgie Irvin, secretary-treasurer. Carl Elliott was the superintendent.

On January 25, 1964, Morris B. Willis became a director and was elected to the vice-presidency. In January 1965, Carl Elliott retired and Morris B. Willis also became superintendent of operations. May Hougland, who had been with Atkinson-Windle for some twenty years, served as office manager. At that time, concrete sold for $16.50 per cubic yard.

On March 1, 1969, Midwest Concrete and Asphalt Company exercised their option to purchase the real

estate at 10 Hickory from Atkinson-Windle Co. Shelby Flowerree, who stayed with the company through all changes in ownership, was the head mechanic. Neal Corbin headed up the asphalt crew and Bob Maberry had taken the position of assistant plant superintendent. Glenn Ashlock, manager of the sand plant, E. S. (Buster) Campbell, equipment operator, and Mickey Childs, superintendent of the asphalt plant and the dry mix plant, were key employees.

On December 22, 1969, the corporation purchased the assets of Cooley Gravel Company which included a sand plant and three hundred sixty acres of land. The company processed sand there until October 18, 1976, when they moved the sand plant to Grand River on leased ground. During this time they started rehabilitating the land and installed a small cattle operation.

On January 4, 1974, the corporation purchased an additional three hundred acre farm from Mr. and Mrs. Horace New and began to concentrate more in farming. In October 1975, they became involved in the production and marketing of Dry Mix products and enlarged the plant in 1976.

In December 1977, John Irvin resigned as president, and became chairman of the Board. Morris B. Willis became president and Bob Maberry became the general manager.

In January 1978, the assets of the company, except for farms, were sold to Chillicothe Ready Mix. The registered office of Midwest Concrete and Asphalt Company was then moved to R917 Jackson Street, Chillicothe, Missouri and at that time the company became primarily a sand, excavation and farming operation. Miss May Hougland, who had been secretary- bookkeeper in the construction business for forty years, retired.

John Irvin is now chairman of the Board, Morris B. Willis, president, Virgie Irvin, vice-president and Dottie Yeomans, secretary-treasurer.

MILBANK MILLS

The HISTORY of Milbank Mills in Chillicothe begins in 1867, when George Milbank came to Chillicothe to found the first merchant mill in the area.

Operations of Milbank Mills in Chillicothe have continued under the ownership and active management of the Milbank family through four generations.

Today, Edward Milbank is president and general manager of Milbank Mills, while John Palmer Milbank is chairman of the board.

Originally, Milbank Mills was a flour mill, with the by-products from the flour being used to manufacture feed for livestock. One of the distinctions of Milbank Mills when it was first founded in Chillicothe in 1867, was that it provided the first cash market for wheat in the area.

The flour produced by Milbank Mills was shipped by rail as far as Florida, Texas, Nebraska and Chicago.

The first location of Milbank Mills was at the corner of Washington and Bryan Streets, where the Taco Tico and Kentucky Fried Chicken buildings now stand. In 1867, this site was a field of oats, outside the city proper. A dam was erected across a ravine, which created a pond. The water was used to operate a steam engine, which in turn operated the mill, through a series of drive belts and line shafts. In 1903, the original steam engine was replaced with a new and improved model that had first been exhibited at the St. Louis Worlds Fair. It furnished power for thirty years until being replaced by a more modern diesel engine. The mill pond also served as a swimming hole, fishing hole, skating rink and baptizing ground.

The first light in the mill was furnished by whale oil lamps. Later a small electric generator, driven by the steam engine, was used for lighting only.

The first telephone in Chillicothe was a one-line system, connecting the office at Milbank Mills with the home of George Milbank. The first copying machine in Chillicothe was a hand-operated “wet press” which took two hours and a strong arm to produce a copy. The first moisture tester for grain in the area was at Milbank Mills. The first dump for automatic unloading of grain was a hand-operated hoist which raised the front wheels of the wagon off the ground.

In 1960, after 93 years of continuous flour milling operations at the same location, a decision was made to halt all flour milling and to concentrate on the production of animal feed. In 1963, a feed mill of slip form concrete construction, fully equipped with automatic machinery, was built in south Chillicothe. In 1964, the original mill location was destroyed by fire. Since that time all operations of Milbank Mills have been headquartered at 1 Brunswick Street in south Chillicothe.

Today, Milbank Mills continue to provide a daily cash market for grain, just as they have done for the past 113 years. The original cash market for wheat has been expanded to include a cash market for all types of grain. More than 80 different Silver Moon feeds are manufactured, for all types of livestock and poultry.

No business is complete without its people. Throughout the years, Milbank Mills has been fortunate in the caliber of its people, and the contributions made by past and present employees should be recognized.

Key personnel at Milbank Mills today include, John E. Yeomans as sales manager; Delmar Keller, Jr., as production manager; Paul E. Jones, as customer services manager; and Paul Lamb as manager of technical service. June Thompson serves as personal secretary to Edward Milbank; and Susan Applebury heads the computerized accounting department. Max Helms is assistant sales manager, while Charles Emerich serves as mill superintendent and head of maintenance. These key people are backed up with a total staff of approximately 35 additional people.

With the experience of its dedicated employees, together with the support of its loyal customers, Milbank Mills confidently looks forward to serving the agriculture of this area in the century ahead, just as it has in the century past.

MISSOURI DISTRIBUTING COMPANY

LAMBERT MANUFACTURING COMPANY
It all started in 1933 by Joe H. Lambert just after he graduated from Raytown High School. He was born March 28, 1912 in the Missouri Bootheel at Benton, Missouri, and his family moved to Lee Summit and then to Raytown where his father owned grocery stores. Jobs were scarce so he started peddling sundries and a few gloves from the back seat of his old car. Soon he was making $15 to $20 per day which was really something in the “Big Depression.”

In 1934, he and his brother, James S. Lambert, born also at Benton, Missouri September 24, 1908, decided to make Chillicothe, Missouri their base. Manufacturing was not dreamed of at this time, however the move to Chillicothe proved to be a fortunate one.

In 1936, the brothers formed the Missouri Distributing Company and moved their merchandise from cars to trucks. “We Deliver the Goods” became the slogan. As more sales routes and trucks were added, work gloves became the major item. During the early 1940’s and World War II, gloves were hard to obtain. The Lambert brothers decided to manufacture their own gloves.

The Lambert Manufacturing Company was organized in 1944, and Plant #1 was opened at 5011/2 Jackson Street, Chillicothe, Missouri, They made cotton gloves. As the demand became greater, Plant A2, was built in 1947, in Kirksville, Missouri to manufacture Jersey gloves. By 1949, they purchased a building at 1016 Washington Street in Chillicothe and opened Plant #3, which produced leather work gloves.

Caps had become a big sales item and in 1953, they decided to begin manufacturing their own line. Plant #4, was started in November 1953, in an old store building in Gallatin, Missouri with seven employees and moved into a new building in 1954, with a total of 27 employees. Demand increased and the plant expanded in 1959, and again in 1967, and were then employing 140 people. In August, 1970, the second cap factory was started at Bethany, Missouri which was Plant #5, and in 1974 Plant #6, opened at Maysville, Missouri.

Joe Lambert sold his half interest in Lambert Manufacturing Co. and Missouri Distributing Company to his brother, James S. Lambert in 1962. At the death of his brother in 1965 Joe purchased a substantial interest in the original companies to see that they were operated in the Lambert tradition until his nephew, James W. Lambert, son of James S. Lambert, was in a position to enter the business. James W. Lambert was born July 19, 1946 in Chillicothe, Missouri.

In the meantime, Joe Lambert started the Mid West Glove Corporation and Lambert Sales, Inc. in a new building at 835 Industrial Road, Chillicothe, Missouri on January 14, 1963. They manufactured both cotton and leather gloves. It was for the remarkable success of these businesses that Joe Lambert was chosen Small Businessman of Missouri in 1966.

In 1966, the policy of keeping trucks on sales routes was discontinued and salesmen were put in cars.

Joe Lambert, due to ill health, sold his interest in both companies to his nephew, James W. Lambert in 1972. The companies have continued to grow and with the addition of catalog service sales cover all 50 states and several foreign countries.

James W. Lambert is currently the president and sole owner of both companies which employ approximately 600 people.

MISSOURI MOBILE CONCRETE INC.

The Missouri Mobile Concrete Inc. was founded in June 1977 by the owners and founders, Robert D. Day and R. Wayne Cunningham. They have three trucks, both owners drive trucks and their other employees are David Bradley, driver and Susan Cunningham, secretary. The business is located at 507 McCormick Street.

The Concrete-Mobile is a combination materials transporter and mobile concrete mixing plant, .mounted on a truck that carries sufficient unmixed, dry, bulk cement, sand, coarse aggregate and water to any job site to produce fresh concrete mixed to design specifications. It is a precisely calibrated mechanism that enables a competent operator to produce concrete that will meet and exceed A.C.I. standards for design strength.

With the Concrete-Mobile, concrete can be produced in the exact quantity needed, as it is needed, right on the job site, up to five yards per truck. The operator can deliver concrete made to many designs or specifications without moving the Concrete-Mobile or causing delay.

Ordering concrete is simplified because only a rough yardage estimate is required. Each truck is equipped with a meter that indicates the exact amount of concrete that has been mixed. There will be no unused concrete to be paid for because of over-estimated yardage, or waiting because of an underestimate.

MOORE, SAALE & SHEPARD INSURANCE
The Allen Moore Insurance Agency was the initial venture into the insurance business by Allen Moore 111. The agency was started with the purchase of the M. J. Rice Insurance Agency on January 1, 1953. The insurance office was housed at 5011/2 Locust Street in what, at that time, was known as the Boehner Building. Mr. Rice had been engaged in the property and casualty insurance business since 1922.

The agency was moved to 511 Washington in 1960. Moore purchased the Flick Girdner Insurance Agency in May of that year; the Girdner Agency had been in existence since 1939. The operating name of the agency was changed to Allen Moore and Associates after the Girdner acquisition. In 1961 the Mervin Cies Agency was purchased; Mr. Cies had been in the insurance business for over forty years.

In 1971 George D. Shepard joined the agency as a partner. He had served as an insurance company representative prior to his joining the firm. A branch office was established at Lexington, Missouri, June 1, 1976, under the name of Braswell Insurance Services. The Don Saale Insurance Agency was merged into Allen Moore and Associates January 1, 1977, and the operating name of the insurance agency was changed to Moore, Saale and Shepard. Mr. Saale had been in the property and casualty business twelve years prior to the merger.

The existing agency presently represents twentyfive insurance companies and writes all types of property and casualty insurance in addition to life and health insurance. Today it’s one of the largest independent insurance agencies in North Missouri.

THE MOORE MONUMENT COMPANY
The Moore Monument Company was founded by George W. Moore in Hamilton, Mo. in the back of a blacksmith shop in the year 1890. In order to obtain more capital, a partner was taken into the business in 1892, and it operated as a partnership until the partner’s death in 1900. During the time the business operated in Hamilton, memorials were placed from Missouri City and Orrick on the Missouri River to as far northwest as King City and Stanberry, and as far east as Brookfield.

In order to gain better shipping facilities, the business was moved to Chillicothe and the present plant and facilities were built in 1924. When the move was completed in 1924, the company employed 16 to 18 people in the shop, plus office and sales personnel.

Vincent Moore joined the business with his father after he graduated from high school in 1937, and following the death of G. W. Moore in January of 1946, assumed full-time operation of the business.

In 1965, the firm purchased the Fulkerson Monument Co. of Brookfield and still operates it as a sales outlet. In 1970, a sales display and showroom was opened in Carrollton, Missouri, and this year a sales outlet was placed in Milan, Missouri. The firm currently furnishes memorials from the Iowa line south to the Missouri River, east to Bevier and west to Cameron.

Mildred Moore became secretary-treasurer of the business in 1967 and David Moore joined the business with his father in 1971, becoming sales manager.

The company is affiliated as a member of the Monument Builders of North America, and International Association of Retail Memorialists in the United States and Canada. Vincent Moore served as president of the Monument Builders of North America from 1965 - 1967.

The firm attempts to furnish memorials of symbolic and reverent design which truly represent the lives of the individuals they are intended to commemorate. “Monuments are erected not because someone died, but because they lived.” “A monument says you are remembered.”

NORMAN FUNERAL HOME

The Norman Funeral Home was founded by F. B. Norman in 1916 at 437 Locust. Mr. Norman’s brother, Earl Norman, joined him later that year. In 1924, Chillicothe’s first exclusive funeral home was built on the grounds of its present location.

Mr. Norman’s sons, Elton F. and Ralph V., joined their father in the funeral business in later years. Elton joined the firm in 1936, and left in 1942, to serve in the Armed Forces. He returned in 1945, and remained until retirement in January, 1979. Ralph joined the firm in 1942 and remained until retirement in 1975.

F. B. Norman was active in the firm until time of death, March, 1941.

Earl Norman was also active until time of death, April, 1944.

Tom Otke joined the firm in March 1965, and purchased the stock from Ralph V. Norman in 1975.

James K. Wagy joined the firm in 1976, as a stockholder, and later purchased the stock from Elton F. Norman in 1979.

In 1976, the funeral home was completely remodeled and a new chapel, family room, music and flower room and foyer added.

James K. and Patricia A. Wagy purchased the remaining stock from Tom and Mary Otke in May, 1980.

In September, 1980, the final phase of remodeling was completed with the new casket showroom and preparation room, with all the latest equipment installed. Upon this completion all the funeral facility is on the ground floor.

HENRY OVERTON MOTOR SALES
Mr. and Mrs. Henry Overton came to Chillicothe in 1936 and bought the lot where the business is located on North Washington Street from Ross Bryan. They started building the filling station and garage as a 24 by 24 with a 14 foot lean-to for living quarters. These were depression days and times were hard.

Business was good, so another fourteen feet was added to the building including a bedroom and bath to the living quarters. In 1945, the Overtons bought their home at 402 Kennedy Avenue and put a 40 foot tile building on the north side of the original building and the living quarters were converted to parts and office space. The present building is 78 by 40. As the business continued to grow, in 1961 a trailer court was started in back of the garage.

In 1964, a fifty foot lot was purchased from Bill Stillwell joining the property on the north, and three additional places for trailer homes were added there plus an overnight hook-up for people driving through with campers.

The business does general auto repairing, small engines and welding and-is a Standard Oil station. They sell Lawn Boy Lawnmowers and service them with a good business. In 1960, the Overton’s son Donald began working as a mechanic. In 1975, he became a partner in the business and takes care of the mechanical work. Leon Ireland started as a mechanic in 1961, and has been with the firm for almost twenty years.

PABI’S PATCH

PaBi’s Patch, a gift and decorative accessories business, opened October 1, 1977, in Chillicothe at 914 Calhoun. The business is owned and operated by Bill and Patti Stewart of Chillicothe. The unusual name for this gift shop was derived from taking the first two letters of each owner’s first name and combining them for Pa Bi’s.

Unique gift items are available at Pabi’s Patch as well as special decorative accessories for the home. A variety of items designed in brass, copper, pottery, pewter, crystal, and ceramics are displayed in casual surroundings (atop orange crates, under cedarshingled canopies, on brass adorned French baker’s racks, or nestled within wicker etageres at Pabi’s.)

Special promotions during the year include an October 1st anniversary celebration when PaBi’s Patch plays BINGO by spinning the cage to determine % off the purchase price of all merchandise in the store. B-10%, 1-20%, N-30%, G-40% and O-50% off.

During the Christmas season, PaBi’s Patch is decorated with garland, lights, wreaths, and several Christmas trees that display tree ornaments from around the world. The Christmas advertising campaign uses “Magoo”, the Stewart’s old English Sheepdog, as spokesman for the store. “Magoo” invites everyone to visit the store to see the special gifts available for those “hard to buy for” on Christmas lists. After Christmas, PaBi’s Patch holds a “Meet Magoo Day” for everyone to shake hands with “Magoo” in the store.

Special services at PaBi’s Patch include free gift wrapping in colorful patchwork paper, free delivery in Chillicothe, a bridal registry and wedding arrangements and wrapping for mailing. Throughout the year, Patti Stewart provides programs to community groups about flower arranging, holiday decorating, dinner napkin folding, and antique printer’s drawers personalized with miniatures.

This unusual retail business is located off the beaten path (not on the town square) but can be easily found by driving one block west of city hall at 914 Calhoun in Chillicothe.

PETTITS 

Pettit’s Store, located at 506 Locust, was originally started in the fall of 1945 as a combined appliance and paint and wallpaper store. It was opened by two brothers, Phillip and Reginald Pettit. It was the first store in Livingston County to offer television sets for sale and picked up television from St. Louis before Kansas City T.V. stations were on the air.

In January 1961, Phillip and his wife Margaret, purchased his brother’s share of the business and are the sole owners and operators of the store. They dropped the appliance lines and went strictly into paint, wallpaper, and interior decorating. In 1971, they added picture framing to the business and are staying with this decor until the present time. The accompanying picture shows the store front as it appeared in April, 1950.

PURCELL MERCANTILE COMPANY

June, 1890, Dawn, Missouri: Some things I remember about the business in Dawn usually referred to as Purcell’s store.

Officially for a short time known as Purcell Brothers (Bert and Ralph) then for a short time as Purcell and Ferril (Bert and Ernest) and as Purcell Mercantile Co. for many years as well as the present time.

The store opened for business in the I.O.O.F. building on June 1, 1921, on the south side of Main Street and continued at that location until 1931. Then it moved to its present location on the north side of Main where it is now. A new building was erected in 1931 and enlarged several times over the years. It has been mostly a general store, groceries, dry goods, hardware, meats, etc. A food locker plant became a part of the operation and is a part of the business at the present time. At the close of the second World War, C. J. North, Patricia, his wife, Lee Lewis and Helen, his wife, became associated with the business. After my retirement, C. J. North became the official head of the business and remained so until his death at an early age. Patricia having found other work more to her liking remained a full partner but Lee having officially retired left Helen as head of the firm which she is now. Over the years plumbing, in and outdoor work, became a part of the business. This was sold at C. J.’s death and continues under other management at the present time.

The Purcell Store has been and still is one of the very best of small town stores in Livingston County. May it continue for many more. In the decline of the county stores we are losing one of the threads that has held the small communities together and made them a vital part of the larger communities.

POULTRY HOUSE

The Harkins family, A. M., and Alice and their six children, Milo, Mina, Sherman, Everett, Kelly and Audrine bought the business from the Jack Johnson family in 1952. It was located between Macklin

Bargain Store and Raymond Smith’s Cream Station at the corner of Ann and Locust Streets. They bought the present building at 105 North Herriford from Ole Parker. The upstairs was made into living quarters and the family moved there in 1957.

Mr. Harkins died in 1958, and Mrs. Harkins and the children carried on with the poultry work with the help of Ray Bate. In 1960 Mrs. Harkins became Mrs. Ray Bate and the business name was changed from “Harkins” to “Alice’s Poultry Dressing Plant”.

This was the only poultry dressing plant in northern Missouri. Poultry came from all around to be cleaned. The poultry house also bought live chickens from farmers as well as eggs. A hen house was built to care for the chickens until they were butchered and also raised to be sold as fryers. Poultry and eggs were sold to grocery stores, restaurants and individuals.

A yearly occasion was the “Wild Goose and Duck Season”. The family really kept busy and had to hire outside help. Because Chillicothe has good food, lodging, and entertainment, hundreds of hunters from about every state in the union have patronized “Alice’s poultry” to get their wild birds processed. The business building was to State specification. After Mr. Bate had two heart attacks in 1972, Mrs. Bate’s daughter, Mina and her family, Ron, Alicia, Cynthia and Killi Lea managed the business for five years. Betty Breeden had it for one year and now Mrs. Bate’s grandson, Rodney Harkins, is running the business. He also has a body shop at the Herriford Street location.

QUEEN CITY MOTEL AND RESTAURANT

The business is located in block one of the Weed and Curtiss addition at 310 South Washington in Chillicothe. Elmer and Carole Fowler are the present owners of the business (July, 1980) and have owned the business since May, 1973. Frank G. and Patricia A. Clark are the present managers of the business and have been managers since May, 1973. Other employees are: Cooks: Carol Howe, Dorothy Green, Robert Kerns and Bonnie Nally; Waitresses: Rowena Staples, Andree Doosing and Christine Doosing; Kitchen assistant Cindy Beetsma; Motel Maids: Etta Batson and Cindy Beetsma.

The business consists of a modern thirty room motel with room phones, air conditioning, cable color TV, electric heat and a family type restaurant with a seating capacity of eighty in the main dining room. The restaurant has a party room downstairs which seats forty-five and a party room upstairs which seats twenty-five. The restaurant features American foods and has built up a reputation for delicious food with that home-cooked flavor and goodness including home-made rolls, pies, meat loaf, noodles and salad dressings. The restaurant is open from 7:00 a.m. to 8:30 p.m. Monday through Saturday and from 7:00 a.m. to 2:00 p.m. on Sunday. The business also has six rental spaces for mobile homes.

The business was originally started by T. J. Wisehaupt and was known as the “Midway Tourist Court”. The house which is occupied by the restaurant was built as a personal residence by Mr. Wisehaupt in 1949, according to the blueprints. The business was later owned by F. A. “Mossy” Lionberger and Gerald Vinson under the name of “Lazy L Motel”. Cleo and Edith Sisk purchased the business from F. A. Lionberger and later sold it to Carole and Elmer Fowler.  (See Also Midway Cabin Camp)

QUEEN’S RANSOM
Queen’s Ransom located in Park Center Shopping Center was opened in October, 1975, to bring specialty items to Chillicothe and surrounding areas. Several designer lines are featured in clothing, accessories and fragrance. Also available are swimwear, robes, outerwear, maternity wear, lingerie, sportswear, and formals. Prices range from moderate to more expensive. A large lounge area provides a place for friends waiting while customer tries on clothing.

REEDS SEEDS, INC.

Reeds Seeds, Inc., consists of wholesale and retail divisions, as well as cleaning plants and warehouses, located at Chillicothe and Jamesport. There is also a warehouse at St. Joseph for the conveniencet of their small bag dealers.

Reeds Seeds had its beginnings forty eight years ago in Jamesport when the present owner, Charles Reed, and his father, W. L. Reed, started a produce, feed and seed business. They handled seed on a retail basis, as well as buying seed from farmers and selling  it on an uncleaned basis until the first seed cleaner was purchased in 1939. 1942 saw the first major expansion when the Reeds purchased an old tile elevator in Jamesport, converting it into a seed plant. They also added two more cleaning mills and a seed laboratory. The next enlargement was in 1950, when they added three more cleaning mills as well as more warehouse and office space. 1956 brought major changes. At that time the business was incorporated and the wholesale seed division was separated from the feed and grain divisions. In that year, also, a 60 x 100 foot warehouse with office space was built in Chillicothe. The Chillicothe facility was increased in 1959 with two cleaning mills, bulk unloading facilities and bulk storage bins, and again two years later with a 60 x 60 foot warehouse. More storage bins and another cleaning mill were added in 1963. In 1976, a 60 x 140 foot warehouse was constructed, and in 1978, a fescue cleaning facility was added with a new mill and Carter Discs. Also in 1978 Reeds installed an on-premise computer system, with terminals at each of the facilities in Chillicothe and Jamesport and two printers in Chillicothe. One printer is used exclusively for making the tags which go on each bag of seed sold by Reeds. Reeds outgrew its present location in 1979 and moved two blocks north for the construction of a 100 x 200 foot warehouse and seven grain bins.

The business consists of the feed and grain divisions at Chillicothe and Jamesport and wholesale seed divisions in both towns, the head office being located in Chillicothe. The present owner, Charles Reed, has been joined in the firm by his sons, Blackie and E. L. Reed. The eldest great-grandsons of the original owners, Darren and Robert Reed, began working in the business during the summer of 1980, making four generations of Reeds in the business, and a total work force of some forty-six employees.

The main products handled by Reeds are seeds of all types, feed, chemicals and twine. The wholesale division works with contract growers who use seed stock provided by Reeds to produce wheat and soybeans -which are then cleaned, bagged, processed and sold to dealers all over the United States, Canada and South America for use as seed stock. Other small seeds produced in this area are purchased directly from farmers and handled in the same way. Seeds not grown in this locality are purchased already cleaned and bagged for resale to dealers in the area, including seed corn which comes from Columbiana Seed Company in Illinois. Twine and farm chemicals are also purchased in truckloads or carlots for resale to area dealers. There are completely equipped seed laboratories at Chillicothe and Jamesport staffed by analysts who sample all seeds coming into Reeds. They are tested for purity and germination and tags prepared for every bag according to state and federal requirements.

The retail divisions handle feed, equipment and lawn and garden chemicals, as well as, carlot grain, which is sold to processors for various uses, including food for human consumption.

Reeds Seeds, Inc., hopes to continue its growth and service to the agricultural industry of the area for many years to come.

SAVAGE GROCERY

The first Savage Grocery was established in 1945 by Edward Barlow Savage in Chillicothe at 401 Polk Street. This was a small neighborhood store which had free deliveries. The family’s home and the store were in the same building. Mr. Savage’s wife, Grace, and his children, Billie Norma and Edward Barney, helped in the business. In 1947, the store was sold to Ray Saale.

On December 4, 1947, Mr. Savage and his son, Barney, opened Savage and Son Grocery at 813 First Street in Chillicothe. They carried groceries, meats, and vegetables and had free deliveries. The hours of operation were 6:00 a.m. to 10:30 p.m. six days a week and 7:00 a.m. to 12:30 p.m. and 4:00 p.m. to 10:30 p.m. on Sundays and holidays. In 1980, the store is still open these same hours.

E. B. Savage sold his interest in the store to his son, Barney, on January 1, 1964 who carried on with the business at 813 First Street until his accidental death on October 7, 1978. Barney’s four sons, Edward Bryan, Dennis Wayne, Andrew Carter, and Timothy Dan all worked in the grocery store while attending school.

Today the same Savage Grocery at 813 First Street, Chillicothe, Mo. is being operated by Dennis Savage and Andrew Savage.

SCRUBY HARDWARE

The first Scruby store in Livingston County was in Wheeling where William Scruby who had moved to Wheeling Township in 1872 started a store in partnership with Dr. William Wilbur Edgerton. They sold machinery and implements and had a general store. When Dr. Edgerton sold his share, Fred Wiley became William Scruby’s partner. In 1888 William Scruby moved to Chillicothe and in association with his sons, purchased the Wes Jacobs Implement 136 Company which was located on the present Strand Hotel site. In 1893 the father and sons purchased a lot, and the sons built with their own hands and some hired help the building located at 508 Washington Street, the present home of Scruby Hardware. The business was known as Scruby Brothers Grain and Implement Company. The business was incorporated in 1905. The Scruby brothers sold and bought grain, sold a line of International Harvester equipment, and handled such implements as plows, cultivators, binders, buggies, surries, spring wagons, harness,

and windmills.

In 1926 Stanley Scruby purchased the wholesale and retail feed and grain business from Scruby Brothers. In 1929 he also started buying and selling livestock. In 1932 Stanley and Horace Dwight Scruby, his cousin, formed a partnership to start the Independent Provision Company, a wholesale meat and butchering firm. They continued in this business until about 1945. In the meantime, they had also opened a retail fuel business called Scruby Coal Company, later Scruby Fuel Company, when oil was added to items for sale.

After William Scruby’s death in 1942, Horace and Stanley leased the Grain and Implement building to Mr. Belmont Bradley for a hardware store. When Mr. Bradley became ill around 1959, they again made it Scruby Hardware. Horace and Stanley dissolved their partnership in 1963, with Horace retaining the hardware store, in association with his daughter, Eleanor and her husband, Robert Fairweather, the present owners.

SINGER LOCKER SERVICE

The Locker Plant in Chillicothe had its beginning in February 1939. It was started by Walter S. Ratcliffe, who came here from Terre Haute, Indiana, and was called Chillicothe Locker Storage. He started the business with 35 lockers at 433 Locust and grew to 1018 lockers and expanded to the adjacent building at 435 Locust.

On July 15, 1954, Ratcliffe sold the business to Mr. & Mrs. H. E. (Joe) Singer, Jr. of Hale, Missouri, who are the present owners of the business. Ratcliffe, also, owned the Locker Plant in Hale and Joe had managed that plant for two years before going into the U. S. Marine Corps during the Korean conflict in March 1952. Ratcliffe sold the Hale Plant which the Singers had hoped to buy, because he could not get adequate help. Upon Joe’s return to civilian life, Ratcliffe offered to sell the Chillicothe plant to the Singers and they bought the business two weeks later.

The locker business was very much a part of the agricultural community in the beginning as it is today; however, a lot of changes have taken place. Many garden fruits and vegetables were packaged, frozen, and stored in the lockers. Butchering of beef and pork was seasonal being done in the winter time by the individual farmers with the locker doing the processing. After World War II, the deep freeze became the way of life and as fruits and vegetables were prepared more by commercial companies, people began to have less done by the locker and began to butcher more meat.

The Singers knew that the locker needed slaughtering facilities to make their business complete and less seasonal. In 1959, they purchased the Independent Provision Company building at 412 Madison, remodeled it, and began slaughtering operations there, hauling the meat to the locker building to be processed. The dual operation was not the best as the business grew, the Singers felt they could operate more efficiently and economically if the plant was all under one roof. In 1965 the building at 412 Madison was torn down and a complete new 50’ x 96’ pre-fabricated steel frame building was built. The building consists of a locker room with 384 lockers, an office, lobby and processing area, sharp freeze, curing room, aging cooler which holds 40 cattle, pre-chilled room which holds 30 cattle, lard and smokehouse room, offal and hide room and a complete slaughterhouse. Also, under roof and enclosed are the holding pens which hold 55 animals. In addition to processing, the Singers also sell frozen meat. The entire operation is under federal inspection.

The name of the business was changed to Singer Locker Service and the new plant was opened in October 1965. The Singers celebrated their 25th year in business with open house for the community and surrounding areas in July 1979.

Mr. and Mrs. Singer have two sons, Randy, a salesman for John Sexton Food Company, and Ronnie, who is serving a four year enlistment in the U. S. Marine Corps. Both Mr. & Mrs. Singer have been active in their church, school and community activities.

THE SUMMERVILLE INSURANCE AGENCY
The Summverville Insurance Agency was founded in 1910 by James Floyd Summerville. Floyd was the son of Azel Freaman Summerville, who was born in Penniylvania, the 8th child of James Summerville and Sara (Scott) Summerville. Floyd lived on a Missouri farm and Oct. 6, 1909, married Alta Mae Steen. After a year of farming, he established the Summerville Insurance Agency in a log cabin on his father’s farm. In this log cabin his only child, Clifford, was born May 9, 1911. As Secretary of Farmers Mutual Insurance Company of Livingston County, Floyd sold insurance by traveling in a two wheeled cart pulled by his horse, Dock. He often had supper and spent the night with the farmers he visited. After Floyd moved his family to Chillicothe, his office was in the court house for several years where Alta was his secretary. Later he moved to the Citizens National Bank building (now known as Citizens Bank and Trust), where it remained until his death. The agency’s office is currently at 1211 North Washington.

Thirty six years after the founding of the Summerville Insurance Agency, Cliff joined his father in the business. Floyd Summerville died in 1948. Cliff was appointed Secretary of Farmers Mutual and continued the Summerville Agency until 1971 when his son James Clifford joined him as the third generation of insurance agents.

VINSON AMUSEMENT SERVICE

During the late 1930’s Elbert V. “Pop” Vinson, owner of small cafes in Chillicothe, started placing jukeboxes, games, slot machines, and Charlie Boards in a few locations. Gerald E. Vinson joined his father February, 1943. The father-son operation opened their first shop (600 squ. ft.) at 107 Elm, present location of Boss Mfg.’s new addition. During the days of honky-tonks and roadhouses, service calls were answered 24 hours a day, 7 days a week at home by Gerald’s wife, Ann. For a short time Pop and Gerald moved the business to the 700 block of South Washington. Pop and Gerald built the present location in 1947 at 104 Elm. Giving their growing amusement service 5400 sq. ft. May 1953, Vinson Amusement Service became the first radio dispatched service in the state of Missouri. The 2-way radio communications between routeman and office improved service and customer relations. Due to the changing of Missouri laws, Charlie Boards and other types of machines were abandoned. Vinson’s pursued other lines of vending. Cigarette and candy machines were added in 1954. Cigarettes vended for 250. Actual cost 230, the customer received 2 pennies in return inserted between the pack and cellophane, placed by a small hand operated machine. Candy bars were 50. Business grew till the need for the two man operation to expand to six. Pop died September 1, 1956. Gerald assumed sole ownership from 1956 to July 1, 1980 when Vinson’s incorporated, naming Gerald, president, Ann, vice-president, Tom, treasurer, and Nancy, secretary. Gerald hired his son Tom, January, 1971 making the 3rd generation in the business. The first woman routeman, Tom’s wife, Nancy, was hired January, 1979. Pop and Gerald started out with Wurlitzer jukeboxes, a nickel played one of the 24 selections of 78 rpm’s records. The 78 rpm made room for the smaller more popular 45 rpm’s in 1950. This change increased the selections offered to 100. During the mid-50’s small albums were used, but discontinued because of public non-acceptance.

The new microprocessor jukeboxes offer 200 selections, one play for a quarter. The first pinball games gave you five balls for a nickel to maneuver down the playfield into a hold by body-English. The flippers were added to pin games in 1943 on Gottieb’s Humpty-Dumpty. Electro-mechanical games advanced, adding score reels, thumper-bumpers, and tilt controls. The flipper game evolved overnight in 1977 to a computer controlled, solid state digital read out, sophisticated machine. Pinball was reborn. Video invaded the game industry in 1975. Variations of T.V. pong lead the way to advanced computer logic space therned games. While mechanical experience is necessary it’s not sufficient in the vending industry. Training and understanding of electronics are vital. “Pop” and Gerald worked hard in the beginning,-hand counting nickels to build a good family business. Satisfying and giving the customer the best service available was their number one priority then and still is today. The business has grown from a few pieces of equipment and locations in Chillicothe to a full line of vending equipment servicing 15 surrounding counties.

WESTLAKE HARDWARE
Westlake Ace Hardware, a multi-store group of Ace Hardwares, opened in Chillicothe, Mo. in October of 1971. The 18,000 sq. ft. building located in the Southtown Shopping Center was built new for Westlake’s by the Dannen Corporation of St. Joseph, Mo. Westlakes has continued to operate at the same location for the last nine years.

The Chillicothe operation was the eighth Westlake store in the chain when it opened. Since that time the group has grown to include stores spanning Central Missouri on west to Lawrence, Ks. including four outlets in the metropolitan Kansas City area. In 1980 Westlake’s opened a store in Raytown, Mo. and scheduled to open in October is the new St. Joseph operation located in the Mitchell Avenue Shopping Center. Westlake’s is completing a new store in Shawnee, Ks. which is expected to open later this year.

The operation of Westlake Hardware Co., the retail division, and the Westlake Hardware Supply, Inc., the whole-sale and transportation division, is headquartered at Moberly, Mo. where the president, F. K. Westlake, maintains his office.

The Chillicothe as well as the St. Joseph 138 operation are co-owned by F. K. Westlake and Doug Burton, Westlake’s nephew and grandson of the original founder, W. I. Westlake. Westlake’s is currently celebrating its 75th anniversary having been founded in 1905 with the first store in Huntsville, Mo.

In the fall of 1905 W. I. Westlake, a young clerk in a hardware store in Clifton Hill, and his new bride Miss Scottie Knox of Clifton Hill, bought the Bagby interest in the Bagby-Doyle Hardware store at Huntsville. Two years later Mr. Westlake purchased the Doyle interest in the firm and the store was named Westlake Hardware, which W. I. Westlake managed until his death in 1959.

Mr. Westlake’s only son F. K. Westlake followed him into the hardware business. By the time F. K. was 12 years old he was participating in the management of the store. Following graduation from the University of Missouri School of Business in 1936, F. K. Westlake purchased his first store in Shelbina, Mo. Soon after his arrival in Shelbina he met Kenneth Dickson, who was to become his partner in numerous business ventures. The first partnership was in the formation of the Uregas Service, Inc. beginning as a small propane gas company they opened at Moberly. Westlake, well pleased with his Uregas Co. formed the Westlake Hardware Co. which handled hardware, appliances, and served as the local distributor for Uregas. The Westlake Hardware in Moberly, the first store opened under the new company, was something new for its times, being set up for self selection with open displays. Special emphasis was given to “do it yourself” items for the homeowner and the farmer. Between the years 1959 through 1980 the company has expanded into a multi-store operation. Doug Burton, like his grandfather and uncle, followed his family in the hardware tradition. Burton’s parents, Mr. and Mrs. Nathan Casto, operate Brunswick Hardware which was formerly a Westlake Hardware. As Burton was growing up he worked in the Brunswick business. Soon after graduation from Central Methodist College with a degree in business, he began working part-time for Westlake’s in Columbia while attending graduate school at the University of Missouri. Doug began working full-time for Westlake’s and before coming to Chillicothe he held the position of assistant manager of the Mexico operation where he took a key role in merchandising the new store there. The store in Chillicothe continues to carry on the Westlake tradition by offering high quality hardware, electrical, and plumbing supplies. The store also features a gift department with Hallmark cards and items. Westlake’s is known for being the home of 25,000 items.

The Westlake store in Chillicothe presently employs ten people: Doug Burton, co-owner and manager; Art Romeiser, assistant manager; Kenneth Stodgell, Dale Thomas, Jim Clemens, Annabel Stuver, Mickey Cox, Wanonia Gardner, Sherry Shockey, and Marcie Plowman. Westlake has grown to become the nation’s largest group of Ace Hardware dealers. In 1973 the Westlake Hardware Group was named National Brand Names Retailer of the year. This award is often compared to the motion picture industry’s “Oscar” and is based on outstanding retail citizenship, consumer information, and brand name merchandising programs.

WINKELMEYER FURNITURE INC.

In December, 1945 Kirk R. Winkelmeyer opened Winkelmeyer Furniture in the building formerly occupied by Singer Sewing Machine Company at 445 Locust Street, presently the south half of the first floor. Later, in 1946, the north half of the first floor - McClintock Grocery - was acquired.

Later expansion was done, the basement was opened up to access from the first floor. In 1955 the second and third floors that had formerly been a hotel were included in the operation. Some of the original rooms were left for display rooms. There has been much remodeling done and there are still many plans for the future.

In June of 1959 Kirk Winkelmeyer died suddenly. Amy Winkelmeyer continued on with the business, and in September of 1959 Rex J. Smith joined the firm as manager.

In September, 1970 Susan Winkelmeyer Boehner returned to Chillicothe to work in the family business. At that time Winkelmeyers started offering design services.

Winkelmeyer’s have remained in the same location, with expansion, for 35 years. They are looking forward to more growth and modernization over the next 35 years.

OLD TIME TALES

FARM LIFE 

By J. M. Hoyt

THRASHING

At first we used what they called a cradle to cut grain, then they had a reaper, it would cut grain and lay it on a platform and a sweeper would rake it off in bunches where men would come along and bind the straw. When Father got a self-binder, it made a five foot cut, and took five horses to pull it. It stood up at least six feet in the air and it was my job to ride one of the lead horses.

I remember in the fall of the year they would begin to get ready for the thrashing. The group consisted of three men and their teams. One team hauled the thrashing machine, one the horse power, and one the trap wagon. The three teams the machine men brought and two teams the farmer furnished. One man pitched bundles and they had a boy to cut bands. I have cut bands, also my thumb.

All of the hands stayed for supper, as well as the big meal we had at noon.

LIGHTS

On the farm we had no lights, only the candle. When I was a small boy the coal oil lamps came on the scene. We boys slept upstairs, when we went up in the dark, we had no lamp in our room. Our room was cold, weather boards were all the siding we got, we could see the underside of the shingles. One of my ears got frozen in bed in my sleep. I rolled over and thawed it out. When I awoke the ear felt as big as three ears and felt hot as fire. My brother told me that h4 thought it might come off, which caused me some worry at the time. We awoke with snow on our bed, and made barefoot tracks in the snow on our way downstairs.

WOOD STOVE

Back in the days of the wood stove, when the days began to cool the day would finally come when they would have to put up the stove. It was a time put off as long as possible. I don’t remember of a time when there was not trouble when they tried to get the stove pipe to come together. It seemed that the pipes were the same size, or seemed so, and how to get one to go inside the other when it seemed that both were the same size! I am sure that more tempers flared on that job than any other on the farm. Then each day there would be accumulation of ashes which had to be carried. They used to have what they called an ash-hopper, it consisted of boards set up in a V-shape around five feet high. They would close the ends and have one end lower than the other, fill it with ashes, then pour water in the ashes. They would have it up off the ground, the water ran through the ashes, and with a bucket under the drain they could catch the lye and they Would have the material with other materials to make soap. I have known the ash-hopper to fall apart and crush a child.

THELEPHONES

I was a boy when the first telephone came in our neighborhood. I was going to school at Vaughn as they came by setting the poles and stretching the wire, which I supposed was hollow. They were going to Avalon from Chillicothe. Mr. Vaughn, a wealthy man had one installed in his home. Not so many years after that there was a switchboard at Dawn one at Blue Mound and Avalon. The dues were twenty-five cents per month, or three dollars per year. They were farmer owned and they soon went by the board and we were without phones for years.

WAGON TRAIN
By Ethel Whitney

One time between the years of 1860 and 1865 Porter Minnis and his wife Florence started with their young son, Eddie, across the plains from Kansas City to Denver, Colorado, with a wagon train. My grandfather, Porter Minnis, who had been hired to haul supplies from Kansas City to Denver made preparation by finding enough people who wished to cross the plains to make up a wagon train which consisted of a dozen or more covered wagons pulled by oxen. There were always a few men on horseback who went along. They crossed the plains seven times.

My grandfather was captain of the crew. In case of emergency he was in command and there were a number of times when drastic decisions had to be made.

One incident I recall was a young man on horseback who vowed he would kill the first Indian he saw. My grandfather pleaded with him and threatened to make him turn back if he insisted on taking that attitude toward the Indians. None of the band thought he would, but they had not gone far into Kansas when they saw an Indian woman (squaw) sitting with her baby (papoose) under the shade of a tree. The young man on horseback raised his gun and shot and killed the squaw. The wagon train traveled on, but before they were out of sight of the dead woman they could see the Indians gathering around her body. The child she was holding was killed also. My grandfather warned the band there would be trouble and soon they could see some Indians riding toward them. It was the chief and several warriors.

The wagon train was stopped and the Indian Chief asked to see the white chief which in Indian language was my grandfather. The Chief asked for the man who had killed the squaw and he was taken by them. The young man had pleaded hopefully to be protected but there was no choice; he had committed murder and must take the consequence. They never saw him again.

The westward-bound caravan moved on and at the close of a day they formed a circle with their wagons, placing their horses inside the ring and leaving the cattle outside to graze on the buffalo grass which at that time covered the plains. They would then make a campfire and the women would prepare the evening meal, after which they would rest through the night after their long weary day of travel. Early in the morning they would arise and make ready for another day’s journey.

After many days of travel they arose at dawn and could not see or hear their cattle. The captain told the men to saddle their horses so they could look for them. By the time they were ready to go, they could see off in the distance the cattle which were being driven away by the redskins. My grandfather told the men to put their horses into a run and overtake and surround the cattle, but to stay together. Most did, but there was one man who was frightened, or his horse ran away. Anyway, he started riding in the 336 opposite direction as fast as his horse could run. The Indians left the cattle and took after him, but not until they had shot some arrows at the men. My grandfather reached to the horse beside him and pulled an arrow from its hip. They took the cattle back to camp; then some of the men rode back to find their companion. They found where the Indians had scalped him.

My grandmother was fond of pets and had with her a parrot which learned to say several words. When the wagons were loaded and ready to go my grandfather would ride by and say “all ready,” and the man in the wagon would answer with the words “all ready.” The parrot learned to say “all ready” and would holler “all ready” before they were ready to go. The oxen would start to go as they were accustomed to starting at this call. Some of the men got so disgusted with the parrot, they threatened to kill it, but I don’t think they did.

My grandmother was a rather large woman with blue eyes and dark hair, nice looking and of Scottish ancestry. One day when my grandfather was talking with an Indian Chief, the chief could see my grandmother holding Eddie, a pretty baby with big blue eyes and dark hair. My grandmother noticed the chief staring at her which put a fear into her mind. But she did not know the chief was asking my grandfather to swap squaws and papooses, which in English meant wife and baby. My grandfather told him no, no, no swap, he could not swap his squaw and papoose, so the chief went away. But the following day he followed them with three squaws and papooses for my grandmother and the baby. My grandfather again told him no, he could not swap so the chief and his family went away. The third day they could see in the distance some Indians approaching, so my grandfather stopped the wagons and told the men to get their guns ready in case they would need them. Sure enough, it was the same old Indian Chief, this time with seven squaws and more papooses, I don’t know how many, and he asked my grandfather to swap the seven squaws and the papooses for his squaw and the blue-eyed papoose. He always spoke of the baby as the blue-eyed papoose. By this time my grandfather had lost his patience and told him to leave and if he followed them anymore he and his men would kill him. My grandfather tried to make friends with the Indians and not have any trouble with them but this was too much. The Indians did leave and they never saw them again.

My grandmother was so frightened that night, she sat up in her bed and-called out “There he is .... .. There he is?!” My grandfather sprang from his bed and grabbed his guns and looked about only to find she was talking in her sleep.

When they would reach Denver they would not start on their return trip for a while, as there were some of the people who had gone to stay and they would have to find enough wagons coming east to make a wagon train. At one time during their stay in Denver, Bill Cody (known as Buffalo Bill) was there.

My grandparents knew of him but did not know him personally. My grandparents called him “Old Bill Cody, the meanest man in the west.” One day my grandfather saw two men fighting and, as was the custom those days, he and several other men gathered around them. One of the men asked “who is that?” Another answered and said “Why that’s Bill Cody.” The other man who was fighting, apparently was winning the fight, but when he learned he was fighting Bill Cody he jumped to his feet and ran.

My grandfather had a younger brother who accompanied them on one of their trips west. He rode horseback and followed along behind the wagons. He was not afraid of the Indians and would stop and try to trade or dicker with them. My grandfather scolded him and tried to make him conduct himself so as not to disturb the Indians, but he would not listen. One day they were traveling along and as usual Uncle Lonnie was lagging along behind and was out of sight of the wagons, so my grandfather became uneasy and mounted a horse and rode quite a distance back to find Uncle Lonnie. He was down in a hollow or ravine a short distance from the trail with two Indians. He was off his horse and had given up his gun. They were demanding all his possessions. My grandfather rode to where they were and holding a revolver in each hand motioned for the Indians to stand back, which they did. My grandfather told his brother to pick up his gun and get on his horse and ride on. My grandfather held his gun on the Indians until he had started, then he turned and rode with Uncle Lonnie back to the wagons. After that my grandfather did not have any more trouble with Uncle Lonnie. He stayed close behind the wagons.

Their last overland trip by wagon they decided to locate in the west and purchased a piece of land, a portion of where Denver now stands. But they later became homesick and sold their property and returned to Missouri, where they settled on a farm in Livingston County and reared seven children to be grown men and women. If this couple were living now, they would be enjoying the companionship of 40 living grandchildren, most of whom live in North Missouri.

THE CLAIM 

By Ethel Perry

(This story was told to me by my father E. E. Perry who was 6 years old at the beginning of the story.)

In 1883 my grandfather, Thomas Jefferson Perry who lived in Jumner County, Kansas, decided to take a claim in Western Kansas. In those days it was wild country. He went in a claim wagon with provisions such as food, clothing, bedding and a revolver. During the, day he met a couple of men also in a covered wagon. They used muzzle loading guns then. Tom went over there and they seemed very nervous. They wanted to get rid of him and take his wagon. He saw a rancher’s house near, so after dark he went to the rancher, told him his troubles and borrowed a gun for the night. He got in a place where he could watch his wagon and horses. In the early part of the night one of the men got up on Tom’s wagon tongue and yelled. The next morning Tom asked them which way they were going. When they told him, he said, “This is where we separate”. He went on, took his claim of 160 acres in Commanche County about ten miles from Coldwater and ten miles from Greensburg.

He made the trip back to Sumner County for his two oldest sons, Will, 11 years old and John 9, and more provisions. They then helped him build a sod house. Later on he went back for Grandma and the other children, having John and Will stay with a hired man. The boys carried water in a churn placed on a little sled which was easily pulled on the prairie grass. They were at this task when they saw the wagon coming. They left the churn and ran to the house to clean up. When Grandma saw the churn she worried for fear it was ruined, not realizing that it had been out only a short while.

In Kansas it was very dry with hot winds and the new ground didn’t hold moisture. After the first year Tom sold his level 160 acre claim, with its sod house and 100 feet well with no water for $900. He bought another place about three miles away for $400.00. He made a dugout house in a draw, filled the ends and roof with sod. He dug a well down 30 feet and got water. Here at a nearby creek the boys went fishing and swimming. The children walked about one mile to a sod school house. They lived in this part of Kansas about four years before they decided they couldn’t take any more crop failures. Tom and family went off and left the second place. He had money when he first went to western Kansas but lost a good part of it there. He came to Livingston County, about twelve miles southwest of Chillicothe with two other families. Here the family stayed and many of their children and grandchildren still live in this area.

THE GIFFORD’S CAME WEST
By Amy Casebeer as told to her by her mother, Sylvia Gifford Casebeer

Up in the Great Lakes region spring thaw comes late and it was in mid-April, 1865, that the Giles Gifford family set forth on frozen roads to make a new home in the west. We had a covered wagon with essentials for cooking and camping on the way - a water barrel was fastened to the side of the wagon - trunks and wooden boxes were placed in the bottom of the wagon containing clothing, a few keepsakes, seeds, tools, etc. for the new home. Bedding was placed on top of this. Besides my Mother and Father, there were four of us children: George, Charles, Elmina, and Sylvia. The three women slept in the wagon, the men on the ground. Along with the wagon we drove 300 sheep. Father had a good team of horses and an extra pony for George, our scout, to ride. Travel was slow of course. The sheep were allowed to graze and we had to get them to water, a creek or smaller stream, every evening. We stopped at or near a village store to get food for ourselves and the team while the flock grazed on the open plains. My two older brothers did most of the herding, but sister Elmina and I helped when needed. My Mother would say, “Many hands make light work”. Cooking and carrying water was the big item when we camped for the night. One day while at the spring to get water we met twin girls about my own age. We talked with them and they said they would meet us there the next day. On the way next morning Mina said, “Can you tell the twins apart, Myrtle from Maria?” “Yes, Myrtle had a tear in her right sleeve.”

A boy we saw there teased my brother Charles about his red hair. He said, “Jerry Simpsons come to town, one sock up and one sock down.”

In Illinois we stopped at a convenient place to shear the sheep. This was done by hand and was hard work. We were there three weeks. The wool was sent to Chicago to be sold. The price of wool was low after the war. While it was in storage there, a fire broke out in the building and the wool was burned. Father went to Chicago to see if anything was left of it, but it was a total loss. There was no insurance.

It was during this delay that we got word that President Lincoln had been assassinated, three weeks after it happened. Mother and Father were very sad when they got the news.

Finally we broke camp and continued westward. We crossed the Mississippi River on a ferry boat. Nothing exciting happened to us, but one sheep jumped overboard and was drowned,

Now, in Missouri, my Father began to look for an improved farm. He finally found a beautiful place in Livingston County. It had a two room frame house, a small field fenced in with a rail fence, and beside the house was a dug well, a cistern about 30 feet deep, plenty of water for home use. In low moist places prairie grass grew tall, sometimes tall enough to hide a man on horseback. On the hills and around the house blue grass was native, no weeds. There was only one spot of bare ground that was the place where the people before us poured out their buttermilk. About a mile west was a timbered tract of land with a creek that provided water for the sheep. They lay in the shade during the heat of day. It was Charles and I who took the sheep to Honey Creek each morning and brought them back when the sun was low, letting them graze as we went. I sure did dread that daily trip, especially as autumn came and the mornings were frosty. I remember we used to take along a short piece of board to stand on; we would 338 run a few yards then stop and stand on the board to warm our shoes. I took along a hymn book and my New Testament so I could memorize verses. I got the prize - a Bible with gilt edges and a clasp.

It was August 15, 1865 when we got settled in our new home, and how we loved it. We were ten miles from the nearest town, Chillicothe, but we were near a stage line. The stage brought the mail once a week, when the roads were passable. The Post Office, Grassy Creek, was kept in the home of a neighbor named Selby about one half a mile away, on the old Chillicothe, Trenton road. (This Post Office was later moved to Farmersville). Later when the land was surveyed the Range Line 23 W. ran about one fourth a mile to the West of our house and along the West side of our farm. This is now the Chillicothe-Trenton Road. (National Highway 65).

Osage hedge was set on the property lines for fence. It made a good stock fence but required trimming several times a year. We also had some rail fence called “Stake and Rider” fence. I later thought these were very picturesque, especially in winter when snow covered everything.

We had an apple orchard and had lots of good apples. I remember we picked them and put them into the farm wagon, then early the next morning these were taken to Chillicothe to be sold, Mother was a good planner so she would plan to have two or three jars of butter and several dozen eggs and anything else that was surplus product to sell at the same time, since a ten mile trip in a farm wagon over rough rutty roads was a long tiresome journey.

We milked 14 cows, and made butter to sell. Father built an ice house, and put up ice from a large pond. The ice was packed in sawdust, and was used to keep the milk and butter sweet. We later built a cellar with a large room over it. We called it the cellar room. One corner was petitioned off for a smoke house. In that we smoked the hams, shoulders, and side meat after the meat had been in strong brine for several weeks. We used hickory wood to make a smouldering fire -under the meat that hung from the rafters.

We raised a big garden with all kinds of vegetables, some of these were dried for winter use. Much of the fruit was dried also. Plenty of applebutter, potatoes, pumpkins, apples, squash and onions were stored in the cellar.

Once I drove a team of oxen all day to harrow the ground in preparation for planting because of the need to get on with the work. Mother had all of us working at an early age. My sister Elmina did the housework, sewing, and a great deal of the cooking. I was the outdoor girl. I did the chores, took care of the chickens, fed the pet lambs, and worked in the garden and flowers.

In the fall, Mina, Charles, and I went to school in the old log Ward Schoolhouse. It stood on the corner of the John Bell farm. We walked one and one-half miles across the fields from our home every day. In summer the grass was high, in winter we went through rain and snow.

One year Mr. Bell taught the school. He inspired us to do our best and to be friendly and courteous. He said, “Say Good Morning” when you come into the room. “if no one is here say good morning to the stove”. I was so eager to be the best speller I remember that I went to a cold quiet corner of the school room to study my spelling. I soon was able to spell down all the pupils, and at contests between other schools, I could also get the prize.

One November day that first year (1865) we came home and found we had a tiny baby sister. How proud we were of her. Father named her Florence Mary, but we called her “Pet”, and she was known by that name all over the neighborhood even after she was grownup. I had the care of Pet a great deal. I carried her to Sunday School which was held in the Schoolhouse. Later when she was school age I often carried her to school on my back.

New Providence Church was organized in 1855 but the church was not built until 1876. The church was placed very near the Ward Schoolhouse, where church services had been held. The church has been kept in good condition for one hundred years and is still used for services. At this time the school was a subscription school. The parents of the children paid a sum per month for each child who attended the school. Some paid by boarding the teacher.

My father died in 1872 of a fever. Father never had been healthy and strong. I remember one year the Doctor told him to leave the farm and see if he could regain his health. He peddled “notions”, all summer, he drove a horse hitched to a cart and called on farm homes all over the county. He had asthma as did the eldest child of each generation in the Gifford line. I remember my Mother getting up in the night when Father was awakened by a seizure of wheezing. She had to heat water to get steam for him to inhale to get relief. I recall seeing her go barefooted to the woodpile to get fuel to make a quick fire.

Many of the early settlers had “Ague” a kind of malarial fever. They called it the “chills” because the chills preceded the fever. Some said it was caused by the mold or mildew, on the tall prairie grass stems near the ground. As soon as the grass was all plowed up there was no more ague.

Later (1874) Mina and I went to the Avalon Academy, which was a few miles Southeast of Chillicothe. Then the next year we changed to the Normal School for teachers at Kirksville, Missouri. Mina went home that spring and taught part of that year then returned to Kirksville and finished the course, graduating in 1878. 1 taught for three years altogether, Tolle School, 1874; Center School, 1877, for $25.00 per month, and Gordenville School for three months, May to July. I loved to teach and always had a curiosity to learn. The many verses, poems, and songs I had stored in my memory were a great help and satisfaction to me.

I was married on September 6, 1881. We lived in Grundy Co., for three years, then bought the Gifford homestead in Livingston Co., that had been my home for so long. The farm was divided among the heirs. I kept my part and we bought the other four shares. Here we made our home and reared our children. We rented the farm in 1919 and moved to Chula.

INTERESTING FACTS CONCERNING THE JAMES BROTHERS
By Leota Elliott

Many years ago Thomas Jefferson Wells and his family were living on a farm near Greensburg, Missouri. This is located between Edina and Memphis, Missouri, which is now on Highway 15. Among the family of children, were a pair of little twin boys, John and Ben. One day they were watching their father and other members of the family dig up a sealed barrel of apples. These apples had been buried deep in the ground several months previously, which, prevented them from spoiling or freezing. It was an extremely cold and disagreeable day and the promise of even worse weather seemed apparent.

Suddenly the family was aware of two strange horsemen, neither of whom they had ever seen before. They had ridden up and dismounted, and looked very tired; and they were cold and no doubt hungry. Immediately, the Wells family invited them in their home to get warm and also extended an invitation for them to join the family for dinner which was nearly ready. Also, their horses were taken to the barn and fed.

In the course of conversation, the two strangers learned that the two little boys were twins. Although the same size they didn’t resemble each other too much in appearance. Upon taking their leave, one of the strangers handed each of the twins, a silver dollar. A silver dollar in those days - was an enormous sum of money for a small boy!

Later it was learned that these two men were actually Frank and Jesse James - the notorious outlaws! Further developments resulted in the near future, that all the stores close-by were robbed, with the exception of the Jeff Wells’ General Store! This was when the Wells family fully realized who had been their strange guests! Possibly the moral of this previous episode would be - “do unto others, as you would have them do unto you.”

Years later, Frank James, who had served his sentence and reformed became a streetcar motorman in Fort Smith, Arkansas. For several years, he was a celebrity, and was requested by patrons of various Fair Boards to start the popular horse races throughout the Middle West.

One day before the Fair started at Memphis, Missouri, Frank James was talking to some of the men. Among them was Ben Wells, a village blacksmith from Greensburg. Frank was reminiscing, “Many years ago, when my brother and I were in this area, I recall a family that had just opened up a hole of apples that were sealed in a barrel. They were the best danged apples my brother and I ever ate - sure tasted good, for we were hungry and froze to the bone; we enjoyed a delicious meal and that family fed our horses. We’d never laid eyes on them before or since. I recollect a pair of twin boys -”, Ben Wells interrupted, “Well sir, you’re looking at one of them right now! You gave each of us a dollar - a silver dollar!”

These James brothers, had been members of the well known outlaw gang with the Daltons. The Daltons lived in the vicinity of Bible Grove, which is near Greensburg, Missouri. Uncle Ev and Aunt Lillie Kennison, who was a sister to Ben Wells, were neighbors of the Dalton family. Some of the Dalton Boys rode with the James outlaws. None of the outlaws ever bothered Uncle Ev’s family or any of their neighbors.

TALES FROM GRANDFATHER

By Hazel Fair

My father’s grandparents, John Hawkins and Elizabeth Dale Hawkins were both born in England in June 1812.

To this union two children were born. Ann Hawkins on March 27, 1835 at Towchester, North Hamptonshire, England and Henry, born in Lanchester, England on September, 1837.

John Hawkins and his family, set sail for America in 1858 from Hampshire, England by sail boat. Adverse winds set them back a great distance on their journey, but after a long, hard trip they finally landed at New Orleans.

They continued the trip by steamboat up the Mississippi then into the Missouri River and finally landed at Weston, Missouri, then the farthest outpost of the larger navigation of the West.

A brother, Fred Hawkins had preceded John to America and was living near Gower, Missouri. John left his family and belongings they had brought from England and set out on foot for his brother’s home, to get a wagon and team to transport their belongings to Clinton County.

When grandfather reached the Platte River it was at flood stage so he stripped off his clothes, bound them on his back and jumped into swim to the other side. The tie loosened and his clothes drifted away into the stream.

This dauntless Englishman reached the other shore safely. Just think of being in such a predicament! His family back at Weston, his clothes gone and he knew no one to ask for help.

He hid in the bushes along stream. Later in the evening a farmer came to the pasture to drive-up the cows. Great grandfather “You-whoed” the farmer down and explained his predicament. The kind farmer went to the house and brought some clothes back to him. He took him to his home and gave him supper, a bed for the night and after a good breakfast the next morning, lent him a team and wagon to drive to his brother, Fred’s home.

John returned to Weston for his family and came 340 back to Clinton County where he farmed.

The son, Henry met a young lady on board ship by the name of Sarah Hawkins. They could trace no kin so they married December 25, 1859.

To this union 12 children were born. Three sons and a daughter died in infancy. Five sons and three daughters grew to adulthood.

The eldest son became an engineer for the Burlington Railroad in Colorado and later in Sheridan, Wyoming. Thomas, Samuel, John and Charley Dale became farmers and owned their own farms in Clinton and DeKalb County. The girls became teachers and homemakers. One taught in Colorado and the youngest attended Cottey College in Nevada, Missouri and became interested in Physical Education. She taught in Y.M.C.A.’s in cities like Chicago, Detroit, New York City and in her later years she worked in a Children’s Hospital with Polio victims in Bloomfield, New Jersey.

Grandfather’s sister Ann, married an Englishman, Emmanuel Binstead. They lived at the end of the 6 mile lane out of Plattsburg. Uncle Emmanuel, like all of the middle class Englishmen put the H’s where they didn’t belong and took them off words where they did belong.

One day the mail carrier met him at his mailbox and asked him where he was going. He gave the carrier this answer, “Ho, Hime going Hup Haround the I edge to look for ‘og ‘oles”. Grandfather Hawkins always told people his name was Enry Awkins. He called me “Azel”.

Grandfather and I were such good friends. He taught me the English Nursery Rhymes by singing to me. I knew most all of them before I started to school.

Descendents of these early emigrants still live around Gower, Plattsburg, Stewartsville and Osborn, Missouri.

AN OLD LETTER
By Zeola Austin Warner

John Austin was my great grandfather and I would like to share with you some information taken from a letter written by Dr. R. L. Wood, St. Joseph, Missouri, May 18, 1849, to Andrew N. Austin who was the oldest son of John Austin.

John Austin had started with a company to the Gold Rush in California and was as far west as St. Joseph, Mo. when he was stricken with Cholera. Dr. Wood was called to see him on Saturday after he became very ill on Friday. Monday he was thought to be out of danger. Monday at twelve o’clock the company started leaving, but John had given up the trip and intended to return home as soon as he was able. Before they left he walked about the room and out of doors before returning to bed. He soon was in more severe pain than ever and gradually grew worse. The Dr. sent across the river for some of his friends but could not find them, so he called a Wes Crane and they attended him all night, doing every thing in their power to stop the disease. On Tuesday night about 10 o’clock he died, but suffered intense pain for several hours before death.

He talked to the doctor about his family, friends and religion and gave him charge of his trunk and money which amounted to $104.00.

The doctor gave this information in a letter addressed to A. N. Austin, Austinville, Livingston, Co., and said his father wanted him and Mr. Hidgins to come and attend to his business. This letter has been preserved during the years by a great grandson. So far we’ve been unable to locate the burial spot of John Austin.

GREAT GRANDMOTHER CATHERINE JONES
By Margaret Bonderer

My favorite memories of childhood are visiting my great-grand mother, Catherine Jones. I loved to hear her talk and sing in Welsh. She often read her Welsh Bible to me, though I did not understand the words. She told stories of the old world, how her people were coal miners and how difficult it had been to leave her parents to come to the new world. When my sister, Mildred and I visited her we always played “Millinery Store”. The hats were possessions of Aunt Ollie’s and included not only the ones she allowed us to play with, but her new and very best ones. Needless to say, our favorite time to play was when Aunt Ollie was away from home. Grandmother and great-Uncle Bill Jones would be our customers. The hats could be sneaked up the backstairs when we heard Aunt Ollie coming. As we combed our hair and tried on hats, great grandmother related stories of her life. Her favorite story which she relived and retold many times was about crossing the ocean.

She came from Wales in 1859 to join her husband, Daniel Jones who had come on ahead with other Welsh people to prepare a home in the new world. At the time of Daniel’s leaving the arrangements had been made that a brother would accompany her and her two babies, Hannah and Anna. As the boat was ready to leave the dock, her brother decided the trip was too dangerous, he was not coming. He and Catherine’s parents tried to persuade her not to come. She said “Daniel is already there with friends, I shall go as we have planned”.

Catherine, who had brought all personal things allowed such as dishes and preserves, soon found that traveling with two small children was long and tedious. Many people, especially the children became ill. One day someone sighted what they called the “sea monsters”. The captain said that the sea monsters were after the ill children and would destroy the entire boat if they didn’t give up some children to the monster. He took two children from a screaming mother, tied them in a gunny sack and tossed them overboard.

Immediately Catherine took her children, Anna and Hannah to her small cabin below and stayed there for the rest of the journey. “if they fed any more children to the sea monsters it wasn’t going to be mine” she often said.

She joined David in Pennsylvania and later that entire Welsh community moved to Dawn, Missouri where they prospered. Names such as Jones, Hughes, and James are very common among the descendents of these early settlers. To Catherine and Daniel six more children were born: Dave, Tom, William, Mary, Catherine, and Jennie.

The Welsh people were hard workers, they had great perseverance. Catherine’s husband died and she continued on with the farm with only the help from the children. Anne, one of the girls born in Wales had married Charles Thorn and at an early age died of cancer, leaving two daughters Ruth age six and Olive, age four. Catherine also raised these girls and saw to it that each child got a high school education. When the home was completely destroyed by fire, she built it back on the same location. Each child had their special work to do. My mother, Ruth Thorn who married Fred Grouse, was the seamstress for the entire family when she was at home, sewing all the work clothes as well as “Sunday” clothing.

Catherine broke her hip at the age of 89 and Dr. Morse from Ludlow did not try to set it because of her age. He did not feel she would survive this ordeal, but she fooled them all. Her death came in 1931 at

the age of 96. Never did she give up the reign of her home and farm. She could get out of bed in a wink, get into her rocker fixed with rollers and make it into the dining room or kitchen to see what was going on.

She loved company and her children coming home. Her home on Sundays was always filled with friends and neighbors. They gathered to talk in Welsh and sing the Welsh songs. All funerals were in Welsh and the cemetery was at the end of the lane. Her brother, who had later come to America, became a minister. He came from Pennsylvania to preach the Welsh funerals which were always conducted from the home.

Auntie “Cottace” as she was called, Catherine in Welsh, was loved by all - - especially by one great granddaughter named Margaret.

PETS OF THE PAST
By Margaret Oliver

During the past, members of the Chillicothe Fire Department have adopted a pet to add a bit of extra interest to while away the long hours of inactivity. With the burning of the City Hall in 1925 nearly fifty pigeons, pets of the city employees, lost a happy home. During the fire, the pigeons were seen to fly over the burning building for some time, seemingly reluctant to fly away to find a new home. The pigeon gets its name from the Normans and belongs to the dove family. It has been used for centuries as a passenger to deliver messages during periods of stress; it is a symbol of peace. Pigeons in flocks of great numbers can also become a nuisance. At one time a “shoot out” took place in Chillicothe to rid the Courthouse roof of too many of them. But the pigeons of the City Hall employees, before 1925, were pets, fed and cared for by the City Firemen.

When Walter Forbis was fireman from 1937-1952 the alligator was the pet of the employees. Many groups of school children were taken to view the animal so unusual in this locality. Robert Frith, a Chillicothe lawyer for many years, had practiced law in Florida for a year following his graduation from law school. When he returned to Chillicothe, his home, he brought “Oscar’, the alligator with him and gave it to the Fire Department. This was in the late twenties and Oscar lived until after Mr. Forbis resigned in 1957. Its home was a big tank built especially for him and his eating habits, which were a bit unusual. He died at his Chillicothe firehouse home.

“Bosco” the squirrel, another pet of the Fire Department, had the run of the station and knew no other home having lived there since it was a tiny animal. He became a pet to all visitors; was the subject of an article in the Constitution News Press, and finally was turned loose in a corn field by Mr. Forbis.

From 1947-1979, when Merle Hatfield was Fire Chief, “Gypsy”, a black and white Dalmation dog, was the mascot of the department. A Dalmation is sometimes called a “coach dog”. Perhaps that is why he liked to accompany the Chief on every run and sit up in the driver’s seat beside him. When a call came in for a fire, it was “Gypsy’s” signal to hop to his position. Gypsy died in 1970 and is buried on the City Hall lawn; a tomb stone marks his grave.

Joe Rinehart, Fire Chief since 1979, says he has fifteen pets, all employees of the fire department.

CHILDHOOD MEMORIES
By Elnora Braun

I’m in my 70’s now and a scene from my childhood comes back to me. It was not quite daybreak when I was aroused to a familiar sound. (You see I often spent the night with my grandparents.) Grandfather was lifting the lids from the shining, black cast iron stove in the kitchen. I heard him rake the ashes out and place a handful of dry shavings at the front of the fire box. No, I couldn’t actually hear all this procedure, but I had watched him many times and knew what each sound represented. He always kept a dry pine board behind the pantry door from which he whittled the shavings at night before going to bed.

On top of the shavings, he placed a few dry corn cobs, then split sticks of hickory wood. As I lay half 342 awake in my bed, I heard him strike the match and then the crackling sound of the fire as it burned and blazed it’s way up through the wood, over the oven and up that black stovepipe which led to the chimney.

Grandfather clicked the damper at the back of the stove and instantly Grandmother’s feet were on the floor. I can see her yet, in her long white muslin gown and nightcap. Her hair was beautiful, dark and naturally wavy. She wore it wound into a large smooth knot in the back. To make it shine, about once a week she would rub a little unsalted butter (saved from her churning) on the palms of her hands, then over her hair and follow with a brisk brushing.

The next thing I knew, Grandfather had slipped out to the barn to feed the team of work horses which he had brought in from the farm the day before and Grandmother was in the kitchen. More familiar sounds

emanated and pleasant odors too, as ham sizzled in the castiron skillet and the oven door opened and

closed. Grandmother called, “Elnora, get up and dress, it’s time for prayers”. As this was summer, each sat on a kitchen chair near the table. (In winter we sat in rockers forming a semi-circle about the heater in the living room.)

Grandfather took his wellworn Bible from the top of the cupboard and announced, “Our reading this morning will be Psalms 121”. As he reverently closed the Book, each knelt by his chair and Grandfather began - “Our Lord and Heavenly Father . . . “

After prayers, Grandmother quickly took the ham and gravy up in dishes, the biscuits from the oven and placed them on the table.

As Grandfather rose from the table he said, “Now Maw, get ready as soon as you can, we have to go help Bert thresh wheat today”. He went out to hitch the team to the wagon while we hurriedly did the dishes and I remember my Grandmother saying to me, “We will wear our bonnets, we’ll be needing them when the sun gets up a little”.

CHILDHOOD MEMORIES OF GRACE SAALE
Our family name was Thorp. My mother had taught school before she married my father, and had sung alto in musical programs. After my grandmother died, my mother’s father came to live with us. He kept busy splitting kindling for the big kitchen stove and for our big rock fireplace in the living room. Our one and a half story house was located near Pond School.

I was the youngest of three girls. My older sisters, who were 4 and 7 years older than I seemed to know everything. I was not allowed to start to school until I was seven years old. My first teacher was Miss Shipley. Once on the playground all of the students were playing “Crack the Whip” and the little boy on the end fell and ran weed stubble in his eye. That put his eye out.

My mother made her own soap from lye and grease, when the soap was set, she would cut it up and wrap it in paper. We would use it for laundry, baths and shampoo. Wash day meant heating boilers full of water and washing with a wash board and two tubs. We had a long clothes line in the yard, but in winter time we hung ropes on the back porch and dried our clothes.

We raised chickens for our own use. Mother baked bread and churned cream and was always busy cooking or doing farm chores. We had a lot of wild life on our farm. I was especially afraid of snakes. I once saw a hoop snake that rolled like a hoop.

When both of my older sisters were in high school, our family decided to move to Chillicothe. The high school was on the upper floor of the old Central Building. When we moved to town, we had our first telephone. We lived on Herriman Street and had the only phone for several blocks, so the neighbors came in to use it. That is the way we got acquainted with our neighbors.

Papa joined the “Modern Woodmen of America” which was a lodge. That was the way to buy insurance in those days; Mama joined the Royal Neighbors which was the Women’s Auxiliary. Papa got to be secretary-treasurer for Modern Woodmen, and mama was secretary-treasurer of Royal Neighbors, so this was one reason they needed a phone. The lodges put on musical programs. I remember singing “in the Good Old Summertime” with a group of children.

My girl friend’s father was a conductor on a freight train and he sometimes let my girl friend and me ride the caboose of the freight train to Kansas City. It was an all day trip. He had a very important job keeping track of the freight and knowing which to put off at each town.

I remember the first movie I ever saw. It was Cinderella. It was shown by a man cranking a box. All of the children who got to see the show paid 10 cents for the privilege.

A TRIP TO TRENTON TO SEE A BASKETBALL GAME

By Mignon Sparling

I was a senior in high school the winter of 1909-1910 and my sister Belle Lowe, my brother John Lowe, and three friends, Mary Tucker, Ethel Perriman, and Thomas Lyon and I decided we would like to attend the basketball game at Trenton on a Saturday afternoon. I do not remember how the basketball team traveled to Trenton in those days, I suppose they probably left early Saturday morning in a horse drawn coach, but I do remember how we the fans traveled. We had to leave school early on Friday afternoon and catch the 2:30 Wabash going west. We four girls were really dressed up for the occasion in our long billowing skirts, our high laced shoes, our heavy coats and last but not least our huge picture hats which were the style in those years. Our train ride to Gallatin Junction was apparently uneventful and we got out at the Gallatin Junction which was on the northeast side of the West Branch of Grand River. It was going to be several hours before we could catch a train to Trenton, so we decided to cross the river on the railroad bridge and walk on into Gallatin. It was a cold day and the station was too cold to sit around and wait, so we set off double file across the railroad trestle. When we were half way across the bridge, my brother John, who had keen hearing, apparently heard a train coming behind us. I was beside him in the lead and was suddenly aware of the fact that we were in danger. Immediately John shouted back to the rest . . . “We’re playing a game . . . step up front, go a little faster . . . sing it as you go.” With that John started chanting “Step up front, go a little faster” and set off at a fast pace . . . I realizing that he did not want to alarm the rest of the crowd, joined him in singing “Step up front, go a little faster” . . . and soon all six of us were racing across the bridge, singing as we went. The singing made enough noise, that none of the other four heard the oncoming train. As soon as the bridge reached solid ground, John and I dived off of the trestle and those behind followed our example. It was just then that the west bound train whizzed by, our hats blew off, or at least the brims blew up, if our long hat pins kept the crowns firmly anchored. We all realized what a narrow escape we had had.

When our hearts started beating again, we continued our walk into Gallatin. We eventually caught the train to Trenton.

I don’t remember whether the Chillicothe team won that game or not, but there were six loyal fans to shout encouragement. After the game, we went back to my aunts for supper and to stay all night. At 3:00 a.m. Sunday morning we were back at the Wabash train station to catch a train to Gallatin. This time we rode all the way into Gallatin and found the station ice cold in the pre-dawn winter morning. We had to spend most of the day in Gallatin, since the train to Chillicothe didn’t leave until 4:00 that afternoon. We found a warm church and stayed there for several hours. At noon we ate a prolonged dinner in what to my memory was McDonald’s Tea Room. (Although not the same version that Virginia McDonald had much later). We caught the train at 4:00 o’clock and by bedtime on Sunday evening, we were back home in Chillicothe.

THE BONFIRE PERFORMANCE
This story happened to me many years ago. At the time I was only eight or nine years old and we were the only black family in town and so all of our playmates were white children. My mother would go on this interurban car which ran right behind where we lived. She was visiting my Aunt Bertha the day that this incident took place.

Our neighbors had a little girl that was my age and we called her Honey, and a little boy, whose name was Carl. They played with me and my little brother Herbert. We made this bonfire in the back of our yard; it was my idea!

My dad was part painter and part gardener and he had these different cans of paint, red, white and some blue, all sitting at the back of the house. I decided all of a sudden, as I picked up this long feather from a rooster, to strip off our clothes and

we did. Then I took the paint brush and began to paint - on the white kids I put red and blue paint across their foreheads, on their chests and all on their backs. On myself I painted white. I put a band on each one of their heads and stuck feathers in the band and we really were having a beautiful time around the bonfire. Of course, you know how the Indians go “Wa-hoo, Wa-hoo!” It was a wonderful time for us all until the interurban car showed up, coming around the curve. Everybody on the streetcar was horrified. They were jumping up and looking out the window, and of course, I saw my mother’s face. She did not even get off where she was supposed to - she rode on a block and walked back. When she came into the yard, she screamed bloody murder. That was one of the worst fannings I ever got on a bare behind! Oh, to be innocent like that again.

MEAT AND SLAUGHTER HOUSE

By Leroy Boehner and Mrs. Charles Lessing

The Boehner slaughter house and pond were at the north end of town on land now owned by Murray Windle, but it was near the Fairgrounds and the Normal School in earlier days. The pond was a favorite spot for ice skating in winter and swimming in summer. The slaughter house had an ice house overhead. Ice was cut from ponds and rivers and stored in sawdust and would last most of the summer. The water from the pond was heated with steam to get hot water to butcher and render the tallow and lard from the meat.

Our family home was on the west side of town at the corner of Dickinson and Calhoun. A negro named Peter White lived on the west side of Calhoun just south of us. He was a good neighbor and an untrained “horse doctor”. If our cows or horses got sick he could usually cure them. We cooked and heated with wood stoves and we had to cut the wood. We had a barn in the back yard where we milked cows. We kept most of our cows and horses on the farm on west Polk Street. After milking we would take the cows back to pasture. We boys got 50 cents a month for taking the cows back and forth. The streets were all dirt and mud roads in those days.

The Boehner building was built in 1888. It was three identical store buildings built side by side with the Boehner Meat Market in the center and a grocery store on each side. Dad taught all of his sons to

butcher and the meat market would open at 5:30 or 6:00 in the morning. People bought meat just a few hours before they cooked it. The two grocery stores both ran delivery drays.

DANCES

By Mabel M. Inman

In nearly every home in northeast Livingston County, Wayne Stucker and Michael Gilbert provided music at some time or another for a dance. At times serious sentiment was aroused and protest made that dancing was harmful; then the boys had trouble to induce the girls to attend. They made concessions the girls need only look on. To see that this was observed, the girl’s mother went with them, but vain resolutions, when the musicians struck a waltz or a quick step the mother fell on the arm of the first gent seeking a partner, and then the girls followed their example, and all danced in a revel of mirth till the break of day.

THE MULE DRAWN STREET CARS 

By Mignon Sparling

One of my earliest memories of Chillicothe is of the mule drawn street cars. They furnished transportation around town, any place you wanted to go for five cents. When the streetcars reached the end of the line, they unhitched the two mules from the front of the car and hitched them to the other end and started back the other way. I’ve heard a relative tell about what a thrill it was for her as a child to ride the railroad train to Chillicothe from Sumner where she grew up, and be met at the train by the mule drawn street cars. I especially remember her telling about how they rode the street car to the city park, which was the square in the middle of town (where the courthouse now stands) for a big fourth of July celebration. One of the main attractions of the fourth of July was the town band which played music from the “bandstand in the middle of the park.

When I was growing up, my mother and father and all of my brothers and sisters and I lived on the Lowe farm which was five miles northwest of town. My father was a school teacher as well as a farmer, and he wanted his children to have a good education, so we went to high school in town, even though it meant walking the five miles some of the time or riding horseback the rest of the time.

Mama said it was the Four Hundred who used the streetcars the most; she explained that “The Four Hundred” was a slang term but it meant the society ladies of the town who would dress up in their fanciest clothes and ride across town to their Ladies Aid meetings, their teas, and their newly organized social clubs.

The streetcars went down Walnut Street to the fair grounds which are now the County Club golf links; they traveled to the end of Fair Street which was the Normal School, (later Chillicothe Business College), they went to both depots and met every train, and came around the square. Locust and Webster were the most traveled streets, and each time the street cars went through town they stopped at the Leeper Hotel (now the Lambert), which was the meeting place for everybody in town.

JOHN HERKIMER YEOMANS, MY GRANDFATHER
By Norman Yeomans

My grandfather was John Herkimer Yeomans. As a young man John Herkimer sailed to Australia in 1849 when that country had a gold rush. He seems to have acquired his gold by carpentering, Dad said to the amount of $75,000. He must have worked his way over and back as a sailor, as he could splice halter ropes so well my Dad couldn’t tell where they had been broken. The ship seems to have stopped over at Hong Kong China, on the return trip. While there, Grandfather visited a tailor shop and ordered a Broadcloth suit made. He left one of his old suits so the tailof could make the new one like it. The old one had a patched hole in the coat, so behold the new one did too. A brother who was along on the trip found a gold nugget which he had made into a ring and gave it to his brother - my grandfather.

Upon returning home they went into business on my grandfathers money, as I understand it, and it didn’t last too long. Grandfather had told his son, my Uncle George, that among other things they dammed up a small river in order to start a water powered saw mill. A very heavy rain washed out the dam and as they didn’t have the funds to rebuild it, John Herkimer had to keep or. carpentering to support his family, two girls and a boy, my father.

He came to Chillicothe and helped to build the building still standing on the northeast corner of the public square. That would be the winter of 1865-1866. It seems he liked the climate, and perhaps the town, so much, he sent for his family and we, his descendents have been living here ever since. Having purchased an eighty acre farm some five miles southeast of town, he moved his family - a wife and five children, out there the spring of 1877.

While still living in town, Grandfather, of course was busy carpentering and had his eleven year old son drive a one horse delivery wagon for the stores, after school of course, and Saturdays. This caused this boy, who later became my Dad, to be well acquainted with the businessmen of the small town. An acquaintance helped pick up small sums delivering notes and messages while on his delivery routes, a great deal of which was from young men desiring dates with young ladies. Telephones did not exist as yet. It seems one of these “old storekeepers” took enough interest in my father to order him a new double barreled shotgun soon after he moved to the farm saying, “Take this out there and pay for it as you can.” Game being plentiful in those days, that was accomplished in due time - this might have been the beginning of the payment plan so popular these days. Being new at farming, the family seemed to have had a rather hard go of it that first winter. They had a cow, plenty of cornmeal and the game, Johnnie, my Dad could bring when not in school.

Two years later the father came down with a stroke and from then the son had to do most of the work and pretty much manage the farm. Grandma and the two oldest girls were of course a great deal of help. They planted an orchard and a good many shade trees. They kept cows, pigs and some chickens. Grandma was not a good hand with chickens, so they got very few if any, eggs during the winter months.

THE NEW CARRIAGE
By Earle S. Teegarden, Sr.

As the Teegarden family increased in number and the children grew larger, it was impossible for all of us to go visiting to town or any place in one vehicle unless we went in the big “wagon”. So it was necessary that we buy a carriage. It was perhaps about 1910 or 1912 that we secured a new one at the cost of about $100.00.

1 am sure that Dad “looked around” and finally decided to order one from Montgomery Ward and Go. I well remember the Sunday morning when we went to Nettleton to get it. It came “knocked down” and that necessitated considerable unpacking, sorting and assembling various parts. It was quite a job but I think we had some volunteer assistance. You can usually find some men in a crowd who are willing to lend a hand. They had assembled to meet No. 4 or the “Ten O’clock” train and several lingered to help after the train had departed. Even at that I remember we had a late Sunday dinner.

The carriage was well built and very sturdy and strong. The top was not the one with the fringe on top. It rather resembled the shape of a buggy top which gave more protection from the sun and rain and also added to the appearance of the vehicle. The seats were roomy and covered with leather. An attractive sturdy stop at the back seat served as a fender and enabled the passengers to get in and out without difficulty. The wheels were much heavier built then for a buggy and the tongue, doubletrees and singletrees were well constructed. It was black in color and was a carriage of which we were all very proud.

In the winter or if it was raining a complete set of side curtains were provided which were reasonable effective in keeping out the cold and rain. A large covering was so constructed that it was fastened over the dash board and covered the laps and legs of the occupants of the front seat from the elements.

The family used the carriage a great deal and I recall having gone many places in it and it served its purpose very well. The horses that pulled it were only farm animals but the carriage itself would have been appropriate for a smooth city boulevard rather than a country road. Dad kept the carriage in the barn or in a shed so that it retained its good color and appearance for many years.

One Sunday evening as we were returning from Grandmother Schneiter’s, we were about one half mile south of the home of Sam Towne and along the east side of the Wolcott 100 acres when we met Fred Dolan who was driving their cows home from pasture. Fred made one observation and said “A wagon load for a dime.” I think that mother resented the brash remark but Dad got a big laugh out of the boys remark.

Incidentally this remark appeared on the cover of pencil tablets which we used in school. It contained many sheets of cheap paper for 10 cents and along with the slogan was a picture of a wagon load of children in a cart pulled by one horse so the remark was not original with Fred. One final observation, the new carriage displeased our old dog Bounce and at first he refused to follow it. I have often wondered why the old dog reacted to it in such a manner. He loved to go with the horses but he did not seem to understand about the carriage. That was one way to keep him at home when many other methods failed as he was very insistent in accompanying us when we left home.

After some months, Bounce, began to follow it again and was probably as proud and happy about it as all the Teegardens were.

ENTERTAINMENT
By J. M. Hoyt

Saturday nights we had Literary. This was the only get-together that we had as there was no church nearer than five miles, and we just didn’t go, except on Sundays. 

The men took part in the debates. Most everyone of them would get up and talk, and if there were any of them that didn’t care to talk they would use them for judges. The men sat on one side of the house and the ladies on the other - no mixing up in those days. I feel that I really gained a major part of what little

knowledge I have from that Literary at Vaughn.

In the old days when the population was mostly rural, on the fourth of July there would be a picnic in most of the rural neighborhoods. In our community we usually went to Dawn. If it rained on that date we boys felt we had about lost a year. I remember a colored man named Dennis Wolfscale would ride the horse-drawn swing most of the day with his banjo. One of the songs he would sing was “Kitty Clide”. Most of us sat in the bottom of the wagon box. If the family could afford a spring seat Dad and Mother occupied it, but we were really glad to go as it was the most exciting day of the year. They would have footraces, sack races (tie a sack around one’s waist with his feet in the sack. It was a slow race but exciting as the runner was down most of the time.) Then we had lemonade. I don’t think soda pop had arrived on the scene. Then they played horseshoes and baseball. Most every neighborhood had a baseball club. I remember my father after harvest would let us boys play ball on Saturday afternoon. Baseball in those days was very unpopular with many people.

Back when I was a boy we traveled what they called the Jimtown Road. Just before the farmers reached the river bridge, there was a man named Finley who lived near the bridge that ran a saloon, where the residents south of the river got their final drink for the day. I think his place being the last chance caused more people to drink than would have had he not been there. I heard one man say that he took his last drink at Finley’s. Just before he arrived home, he met a neighbor lady and thought he would make a polite bow, but he fell out of the wagon on his head. He said that was the last time he was drunk.

THE CIVIL WAR 

By Ethel Perry

My grandmother Elizabeth (Lizzie) (Ruddick or Reddick) Perry was born in Benton County, Arkansas, July 14, 1851. Her Mother was June Fitzgerald Ruddick and her father John Ruddick, died with ague while she was small. Her stepfather, a doctor, never returned from the Civil War.

Grandma liked to talk about her girlhood home, with a fireplace in every room, even upstairs. She told about the springhouse, that kept food cool, as the water ran through it on the way to a tank for livestock. During the war they took up floorboards and hid salt, a precious commodity, from robbers. These robbers, called bushwhackers, were outlaws who didn’t fight on either side, but came through, and stole from the old men and women, while their husbands and sons were in the war. They burned buildings, destroyed property, and killed many people for no reason. When Lizzie saw them coming she would get on her pony and ride away, to keep them from getting him. Bushwhackers forced her Mother to cook food for them, and then taste it, before they ate it.

Before the Battle of Pea Ridge which was fought, in part, on the Ruddick farm, they were told to move out of their house. It was later burned. They went to the Elk Horn Tavern where her sister lived. During the battle, Lizzie described the noise as sounding like corn popping. After it was over she went with her mother and gave coffee to the wounded soldiers. Afterwards the dead soldiers were buried in shallow temporary graves and later moved. One time Lizzie remembered her Mother covering a protruding hand.

On March 28, 1869, Lizzie and Thomas Jefferson Perry were married. He was a Civil War veteran. They first moved to south Missouri, then Kansas and in about 1888 came to Livingston County, Missouri in a covered wagon. Here they reared their 10 children. They were both good in all kinds of sickness, and helped their neighbors and friends when needed.

T. J. Perry died July 18, 1924 and Lizzie died May 30, 1932. They are buried in the Blue Mound Cemetery about eleven miles south of Chillicothe.

FUN TIMES IN THE EARLY 1900’s 

By Mignon Sparling

Sometimes my grandchildren have asked me “What did you do for fun, Grandma, when you were growing up?” I don’t tell them, but I don’t think this generation knows what fun really is. We made our fun ourselves and usually it involved getting together with a lot of other people.

Box suppers and pie suppers were really exciting events in those times. The Linville Community where I grew up had a lot of them, but sometimes we would venture further from home. Floyd Thompson, one of our neighbors taught school up in American Bottoms west of Chula and a big wagon load of us decided to go up to a pie supper at his school house and to stay all night at the Thompson house. Each of the girls took a pie and after the fun at the pie supper we went to Floyd’s parents’ house and stayed all night. The girls took their own blankets and slept upstairs on the floor, the boys slept downstairs or in the barn. There were twenty-three of us there for dinner the next day.

We decided to go to the Ward Church for services that morning. The Ward Church at that time had planks for seats. Whenever you went to a different church or school event, you had the opportunity of meeting new friends. The young men of that day were’ very competitive with their horses and buggies, and the fellow who made the most progress with the girls was perhaps the one with the best buggy and the matched team. One time we had a Leap Year’s party in the Linville Community and the girls had to take their family’s horses and buggies and go after the boys. A few girls were lucky enough to ask nearby boys who could be walked after. I’m sure the older generation of our day said “What’s this world coming to?”

MISTAKES DO HAPPEN
The following material should have appeared on earlier pages of the book. We beg your forgiveness.

MIDWAY CABIN CAMP
The Midway Cabin Camp, now Queen City Motel and Restaurant, was established on the property owned by George and Emma Smith, parents of Cora (Smith) Wisehaupt, in 1928. George and Emma Smith lived in the old house located on the southwest part of the property. The old house faced Graves Street and the rest of the lot was used as a corn field by the Smiths.

T. J. (Tom) Wisehaupt and Cora (Smith) Wisehaupt acquired the property in 1928. They built a building to house a grocery store and gas station and three cabins in 1928. The store building was located on the southeast part of the lot and facing highway 65. They added five more cabins in the early 1930’s. They built 27 modern brick cabins in the early 1940’s. The original wood frame and metal cabins were removed from the property in the 1950’s.

The store building was ]eased to Chris Boehner in the 1940’s and later to a feed company. After the feed company moved their business across the street to their own building, the Wisehaupt’s remodeled the store building in the early 1950’s.

The brick house on the northeast part of the lot was built by T. J. and Cora Wisehaupt in 1949. Cora died before they moved into the new house. T. J. Wisehaupt, his son Maynard, and his uncle Benjamin Wisehaupt, owned and operated the tourist camp until 1961, when it was sold to F. A. Lionberger.

Mr. Lionberger remodeled the cabins into motel rooms and operated a restaurant in the brick house. The business was operated as the Lazy L. Motel. Mr. Lionberger sold the business to Cleo and Edith Sisk in the late 1960’s. They operated the business under the name of Queen City Motel and Restaurant. Mr. and Mrs. Sisk sold the business to Elmer and Carole Fowler in May, 1973. Mr. and Mrs. Elmer Fowler are the present owners, (July 1980) and operate as Queen City Motel and Restaurant under the management of Frank G. and Patricia A. Clark.

Rickenbrode Family (family write-up included in Family History section). 1903 Back row: Clyde Imhoff, F. W. Rickenbrode, Annie Rickenbrode, Holton Rickenbrode, Hanah Rickenbrode. Seated: Susan Imhoff, S. Rickenbrode, Mary Rickenbrode, John Rickenbrode.

Gier Altar Factory Workers built altar for St. Columban’s Church. From left to right: Engelbert Gier, (2 unknown men) Emil Gier, John Gier who came to America in 1871, (unknown) Henry Gier and Aloys Gier.

The old Graham Bridge and Mill (1866) on Ben Hur Highway, Chillicothe, Mo.

The Ben Hur Highway followed an old Indian trail, shown on Franquelin’s 1684 map as “Fields Troco” 3 miles northwest of Chillicothe.

The bridge built in 1866 duplicated a former bridge burned by Civil War soldiers to retard progress of pursuing enemy. John M. and James

Graham erected the mill in 1866. it was salvaged in 1915. (Picture from Velma Johnson’s collection.)
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